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Pityrosporum ovale, re-
garded by many leading
authorities as a causa-
tive agent of infectious
dandruff.

As a precaution against infectious dandruff,
thousands combine Listerine Antiseptic and
massage with their regular hair-washing.

HIS simple, easy, wholly delightful

treatment acts as a precaution against
the infectious type of dandruff, and as a
highly efficient aid against the condition
once it has gotten a head-start.

Listerine Antiseptic treats the infection
as infection should be treated . . . with
quick germicidal action.

It kills millions of the stubborn "bottle
bacillus” (Pityrosporum ovale) which often
grows in vast numbers on the scalp. This
ugly little invader is held by many a der-
matologist to be a causative agent of in-
fectious dandruff which afflicts so many.

Find outhow quickly Listerine Antiseptic,
used regularly twice a day, helps to get rid

ofthose disturbing excess flakes and scales;
How it alleviates itching!

Your scalp glows and tingles, and your
hair feels wonderfully fresh.

Remember, in clinical tests 76% of dan-
druff sufferers showed marked improve-
ment in or complete disappearance of the
symptoms of dandruff after 30 days of this
treatment.

Getinto the habit of using Listerine Anti-
septic systematically It has helped so many
. may help you. Remember—Listerine
Antiseptic is the same antiseptic that has
been famous for more than 60 years in the
field of oral hygiene.

LAMBERT PHARMACAL CO, St. Louis, Mo.

At the first symptom of trouble LISTERINE ANTISEPTIC— C ?tf/cfcf
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| Will TrainYou at Home to Earn
a RADIO Technicians Pay

Here’s yonr op-
portunity foo get a
good job fn a busy
field with a bright

peacetime future!
Mail Coupon. Get
my “4-page book, “Win Rich

Rewards in Radio”—FREE.

Big Demand Now for Well Trained
Radio Technicians, Operators

Keeping Radios working is boom-
ing Radio Repair business. Affcer-
the-war prospects are bright too.
Think of the boom in Radio Sales
and Servicing when new Radios
are available—when Electronics and
Television start their postwar ex-
pansion!

Broadcasting Stations, Aviation
Radio, Police Radio, Loudspeaker
Systems, Radio Manufacturing all
offer good jobs now—and most of
these fields have a big backlog of
business that has built up during
the war.

M/ ffmlio Course Includes:
TELEVISION - ELECTRONICS
FREQUENCY MODULATION

Many Beginners Soon Make $5, $10
a Week EXTRA In Spare Time

The day you enroll | start sending you
EXTRA MONEY JOB JpEETS that
help show how to make EXTRA money
fixing Radios in spare time while still
learning. You LEARN Radio funda-
mentals from my easy-to-grasp lessons—
PRACTICE what you learn by building Radio
Circuits with parts | furnish—PROVE what
you learn by Interesting tests on these circuits.

Find Out What N.R.I. Can Do For Too

MAIL COUPON for my hoofs. Read details
about my Course—"SO-SO" Training Method"—
6 Experimental Kits—EXTRA MOSfcET JOB
SHEETS. Bead letters from men | trained
telling what they art doing, earning. No obli-

ation. MAH/ COUPON" In an “envelope or
asted on a penny postall—J. E. ITH,
President, Dept 4JM, National Radio Insti-
tute, Washington 9, D. C.

By the time you’ve conducted 60 seta
of Experiments with Radio Parts |
supply — have made hundreds of meas-
urements and adjustments — you’ll
have valuable PRACTICAL experience.
The superheterodyne circuit shown
here is just one unit you build. It will
bring in local and distant stations.

' BOOK HAS SHOWN HUNDREDS
HOW roOM AKI GOOD AfOH ir

I. E. SMITH, President Dept. 4M,
National

Radio institute, Wa&hinflton 9, D. C.

Mall me FREE, without obligation, your 64-page book: “Win

Rich Rewards In Radio.*"

can

(No salesman will calL Write plainly.)
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E HAVE a prediction to make. This issue
Wcontains a story that you are going to

read twice | And maybe more times1 We
make this prediction because we are presenting
one pf the most amazing and sensationally good
murder mysteri® of a different type that we've
ever seen. 92-plus thousand words . . . but words
that have more than just a story in them. Your
editor has already read this story four times in
the process of buying it and preparing it for
MD’ pages—and when he gets time to settle
down and go through it at one sitting, he’s going
to read it again!

“T'HE Metal Monster Murders” is that kind
of a story—the more times you read it, the'

more you find in it. But before you read it the

first time, let us give you a few fair warnings.

THIRST, when Sir Arthur Conan Doyle wrote

his famous "Hound Of The Baskervilles,” he
may have felt that he was introducing a wierdness
and strangeness into his story whidi had never
before been equalled. And he might have won-
dered how it would be received. We all know how

“I'm all caught up with my work, Butch. Mind
if 1 run off a few ration books for the wife?”

it was received; readers of detective fiction like
the eerie and the strange in their mystery stories!

XTATURALLY, we do not intend to infer that

“The Metal Monster Murders” is anything
like Doyle’s famous story, nor is it a take-off. This
new story is as different and new to the mystery
field as Sir Arthur’s classic was in its time. And
therefore, we want to warn you to be very care-
ful when you read that you do not jump to con-
clusions. Dont believe all you read—and by the
same token, be careful what you disbettevel

TTERE, we say, is a story that is one of the
finest mystery plots ever conceived. And we
say too, that it is one of the most logical, convinc-
ing, and completely worked out murder stories
ever written. Its author, David V. Reed, is noted
for his uncanny ability to tie up threads of plot
complication into neat, unassailable bundles. He
is also noted for his thoroughness. But most of
all, he is noted for his imagination. So, be warned!
When the monster strikes, be careful what your
reason tells you to believe. You might be wrong.

XTEXT, we believe this story to be correct in

’ its technical background to an amazing degree.
It is an education in the psychology of a murderer,
and it is a revelation of the workings of the minds
of ordinary people under the stress of that which
they cannot understand, and which they fear.

T ASTLY, we believe that in this story you

will find a murderer building up the most
unusual alibi ever conceived—and we predict that
you will not be able to “solve” either the crime
or the “alibi” in advance. Yet, all the clues are
there, and we gleefully invite you to “stick your
neck out.”

XI7HEN the story is over, you will find that
"' you will be able to go over it again, and ferret
out hundreds of new dues even the author has
been unaware existed. Your editor is still having
a barrel of fun digging them out 1

A SA last remark, when we call Mr. Reed the

“author” of this story we are overstepping

our responsibility. Some of this story—how much

we dare not hazard—is truel And we firmly be-

lieve that that is why it is so perfect in its construc-
(iConcluded on page 8)
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GOLD SEAL

POLICY

Far LOSS OF TIME!
Accident Disability Benefits a
mp to (100 a month for as' e
b»S as 24 months, or . . .. .

DONT TAKE CHANCESI . . . Accidents

happen to 20 persons every minute of every day; and
sickness strikes when least expected' . . . bringing
doctor bills, hospital bills, loss of income and press-
ing demands for cash, all at the same time. Why take
chances? Why delay another single day? NOW you
can enjoy the ALL AROUND insurance protection
you need and should have at a price anyone can
afford . . : just $1 a month.

CASH BENEFITS THAT ARE BIG

ENOUGH TO BE WORTHWHILE!
This is no =penny ante* policy. It’s benefits are big
enough to do some good! Policy pays on ALL acci-
dents, ALL common sicknesses, even for minor in-
juries; all according to liberal terms of the policy.
Disability benefits start the very first day, no wait-
tag period.

AOT TODAY! TOMORROW MAY BETOO LATE!

SICKNESS BENEFITS , i
For Loss of Time doe to J
Sickness, a maximum * '
Monthly Income of . . . .

HOSPITAL EXPENSES
for Sickness or Accident, in-
cluding S53X) a day for hos-
pital room,opto . . . ..

NO MEDICAL EXAMINATION

required! No red tape! Policy issued B Y
MAIL at BIG SAVINGS. Ages 15 to 69.
Actual Policy sent for 10 Days’ FREE
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today. No cost No obligation. No sales-
man will call. Use coupon below. Do it
[today!
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* 450-D Service Life Bldg. Omaha, Neb.

m Without copt or obligation. send your HOLD REAL $1-A*MONTH
J Policy for 10 DAYS' FitEE INSPECTION.

« Address___ - R
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Not supervised by the Insurance Department of N. Y. State.



(Concluded from page 6)

tion. It has the ring of sincerity that only truth
can have.

1X7HEN we had the cover painted for this issue,
*7 we selected a story other than the lead novel
—because we felt that it would be unfair to place
a limitation on the imagination you will need to
read the lead story. Also, we quite frankly could
not find an artist who could create anything with
a brush to equal what Mr. Reed has created with
his typewriter. A false initial impression of this
story would be a serious handicap to the reader.
However, the story we did pick is a fine one also.
“Come Home To Murder,” by Bruno Fischer (who
wrote one of the most popular novels to appear
to date in Mammoth Detective—“Murder Wears
A Skhrt” which was later published in book form)
certainly should appeal to you.

TN ADDITION to a longer-than-book-length

novel in this issue, and two novelets, we have
eight short stories. We’ll just list them with no
comment except to say we liked them and we
think you will too . . . and to point out that you
still get your money’s worth no matter how long
the novel.

“T ADY In Black” by Vincent Aagard—here we

have another yarn by an author who needs
no prodding of your memory to make you recall
who he is. A newcomer to Mammoth Detectives
pages is Paul Selonke, with a brilliant novelet
called “The Red-Headed Murder Maker” which
is one youll have a lot of fun figuring out. It has
some neat twists, and a clever surprise—plus lots
of suspense. “Clean Slate” by H. Wolff Salz is
the kind of short-short detective fans have come to
expect from this clever writer. Stan Knowlton
cemes in for his share of honors in the short-
short department with “Not Suited For Murder.”
Incidently there’s a little story behind this yarn
that we can’t tell in full because it would give
away the story for you; but when the art depart-
ment delivered the illustration it was a dead give-
away! We fixed it up with a hacksaw 1 Those
artists . . . just the one thing they shouldn’t put
in, they add, gratis!

TAEITH EDGAR shows up in Mammoth De-

tective with “Stained Fingers” which is one
of those “war-plant sabotage” stories with a new
twist. Richard W. Bishop gives us a “Feature
Attraction—Murder,” which takes place in a pic-
ture theater atmosphere. If you think th#y don't
mean if when they say “smoking in the outer lob-
by only” read this one! William Lawrence Ham-
ling—recently out of the army (where he served

as a lieutenant of infantry) because of a land-
mine explosion—contributes (naturally!) a mys-
tery with a wartime slant. It’s called “Death
IlUdes A Convoy.” The lineup ends with Ted
Stratton’s dramatic pronouncement of doom “Die,
Mr. Spraggins!” Poor little Spraggins . . . never
harmed anybody in his life, and he’s got to die 1

1HE ALWAYS like to know the facts about how

' " the other half lives. This issue we have No.
63511 of the Ohio State Penitentiary giving us the
lowdown. “I Know A Thousand Burglars” he
says, and proceeds to give us the true story of
how they operate. You’ll learn a lot about how
to safeguard your own property from burglars
by reading this true story.

\7TSRY unusual news for wartime is the an-

’ nouncement of a new magazine. But we are
very pleased to be able to do just that. Mammoth
Detective has a new brother, and the Ziff-Davis
family of fiction magazines (which include Amaz-
ing Stories and Fantastic Adventures as well as
MD) becomes an even bigger family. Mammoth
Mystery is the title of the new magazine, and it
is a direct answer to the demand of readers of
Mammoth Detective for more mystery stories.
Now you can get them, and a lot of them, in a
brand new magazine.

TTERE’S a few tips on what the first issue, which
A at this writing is scheduled to appear about
September IS, will contain. John Wiktach (co-au-
thor of Cecil B. DeMille’s “The Plainsman;” author
of Paramount’s “Under Cover Man;” Fox’s “Night
Hawkt” besides numerous novels and magazine
Stories) contributes a 70,000 word novel called
“Murder By Magic.” Bruno Fischer presents
“Bones Will Tell”; Robert Bloch offers “Son Of
Rasputin” as his part in launching a brand new
book; gnd David Wright O’Brien takes time be-
tween flights in a B-29 to write “Case Of The
Cockeyed Cat.” Then we have Tom Marvin with
“Let’s See Somebody Bleed!”; Frances M. Deegan
(yes, a lady, but lads, a tough one!) with “Bread
And Fury”; Stuart Friedman with “The Blind
Man’s Ears” , . . which is enough to give you the
general idea, which is to be sure you get your

copy!

/"\F COURSE we have plenty of our usual fea-
tures and departments in this issue. Your
letters tell us you like—so we make with more!

TUST as we were writing this column, David
Wright O’Brien (one of the characters in
David V. Reed’ novel in this issue!) walked into
our office. On special furlough, he informs us he
will be off for the censored theater of action in a
few days. Best news was his delivery of a manu-
script written in the radio room of a B-17 enroute
to Chicago! Yes, a future issue will contain a
detective story written in the air! We’l point it
out to you when it appears in these pages. Rap.
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“The 7 Keys to Power alleges to teach,” the author says, “All the Mysteries of Life
from the Cradle to the Grave—and Beyond. It tells you the particular day and hour to
do anything you desire, whether it be in the light of the moon, sun, or in total darkness.”

Be claims. "The power to get what you wfent revealed at marvel# were almost beyond belief. Yon, too, can learn to de
last, for the flr*t time aiuce the darwn of creation. The Tory them all with the instructions written in this Book.” Lewis
rame power which the ancient Chaldeans, Cuthie, Priest*, ds Claremont claims. "It would be a shame if these thing*
Egy?li‘ands. Babylonians, and Sumerians used is at oar dis- could all be your* And you failed to grasp them."
posal today. i o . i o )

Me tuy*. “Follow the simple directions, and you can do He claims, "It 1* everyjnan™s birthright bp have these things
anything” you desire. No one can tell how these Master of life: MONBYI GOOD HEALTH | HAPPINESS! I_f)/ou lack
Forces are  used without knowing about this book, but with It any of these, then tbis book hai an important pje”sga for
you can mold anyone to your win.* you. No matter what you need, there erists a *pijltual power

From this book. Me says, "You can learn the arts of an which is abundantly able to bring you whatever  things you

phi Science as practiced by the Ancient Priestly Orders. Their need.”

\wum/nxiusma*MmM4i1U3m

ARE YOU CROSSED IN ANY WAY?

The Seven Keys to Power, Lewis de Claremont says, shows you
how to remove and cast it hack.

The Book Purports to Tell You How to—

Gala t*a loee of tha opposite seat. Get any lob 5011 we”L
t>nite people for marriage*. Cast a”ipell on anyone, no mat-
Obtain  psopexty. o ter where thgy are.
Make people do your bidding. Get people oat of law suits.
Make any person’ love you. court*, or prison.
Make people bring back stolen Banish all misery.
goods. Gain the mastery of all things.
Make anyone Iuck?/ In any game*. Begaha y#ur youth and rigor.
Cure any kind of sicknfsi with- Choose words according to an-
out medicine. eieul, holy methods.

THE ONLY TRUEBOOK OF SUPREME MASTERSHIP/

T%It is the Power, He say*. from which the old man*era gained their
knowledge and from which te%suld limitless portlona to cerfain favored
Kings, Priests and others at high price#, bat never to berevealed Under
a vow, the violation of which entailed sever# punishment.

THE VOW HA« NOW BEBN BROKEN
Thie book, bp claims, show* you the secrets of old which wbm prop-
erty applied makes you able be control the will of *11 without their know-
ing_it. If g<m have a problem and yofci w-Isb ta solve It,he #«yg, dim™
hesitate. Advertisements cannot describe nor dp this wonderful ‘hook jus-
tide.,, You must read It and digest its meaning, to really appreciate  its

woeth

GUARANTEED TO SATI8TY OR YOUR MONEY REFUNDED
Qily a liitrtfod number available fer «»!* so dont wait.
It is ‘'worth many ttmv it* nrl« If you are wise, you win
rush your order for this book NOW.

MR. LUCK S CURIO CO., Dept. 700.
<07 N. Michigan Avan**, °
Chicago, Hlinoi*. € 1

Thigh,ooupen la worth $1.00 1© you. Attach a Money Order for $1 z
to this coupon and we will send you your copy of The 8uvea Key* to ®
Tower—Regularly $2 for oaly $L "
[ ]

Name J
1

Address [
1

CW» J
SEND NO IfiJNE?) 1

ft you with we Trust Ton. ,. . PuiPoetnvm 11 oa drtl’crj ptai « m
tew (wasle. Po«t«e. Ch«4 Sure f). gJH



F | HAD known that some Americans

would be using pockets to hold all the
extra money they’re making these days, |
never would have invented them.

Pockets are good places to keep hands
warm.

Pockets are good places to hold keys ...
and loose change for carfare and newspapers.

But pockets are no place for any kind
of money excgpt actual expense money
these days.

T'ae place—the only place—for money
abov e living expenses is in War Bonds.

Bonds buy bullets for soldiers.
Bonds buy security for your old age.
Bonds buy education for yoUr kids.

Bonds buy things you’ll need later—that
you can’t buy now.

Bonds buy peace of mind—knowing that
your money is in the fight.

Reach into the pocket | invented. Take
out all that extra cash. Invest it in interest-
bearing War Bonds.

You’'ll make me very happy if you do.
You'll be happy too.

ZIFF-DAVIS PUBLISHING COMPANY

This is an official U.S. Treasury advertisement—prepared under auspices of Treasury Department
and War Advertising Council
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11l You Let
Me PROVE

ew

LET ME START SHOWING YOU RESULTS LIKE THESE

5 inches
of new
Muscle

Here’s what ATLAS
) didforME/ j

What a
inference.

quick results
scornmend

, J b CHARLES
wr atlas

Here's What Only 15 Minutes a Day Can On For You

DON'T care how old o ¥oung
you are, or how ashame_dj_)o your
present physical condition “you

may be. | ¥0u_can S|mJ)Iy raise

our arm and flexit I can add SOLID
E to your biceps—yes. on
each arm—in” double-quick time!

Only 16 minutes a day—right in

your own home—is all the time | ask

pf you! And there’s no cost if | fail.

I can broaden your shoulders, strengthen
our back, develoq_g/uur whole muscular system
~ANSIDE and OUTSIDE! | can add Hashes to
your chest, give you a vise-like grip, make
those legs of yours lithe and powerful. | can
shoot new strength into your old backbone,
exercise those inner organs, help you mm
your body so fuU of pep, vigor and red-blooded
vitality ‘that you won't feel there's even
“stan |nF room” left for weakness and that
lazy feelingl Before | get through I'll have
your whole frame "measured” to a new,
beautiful suit of musclel

What's My Secret?

" Dynamic Tension!” That’s the ticket! The
identical natural method that | myself devel-
OEEd to change my body from the scrawny,
skinny-chested weakling | was at 17 to my
present super-map physique! Thousands of
other fellows are becoming marvelous physical
specimens—my way. | give you no gadgets

or contraptions to fool with.

When you

have learned to develop your strength

Dynamic Tension/
laugc at_artificial muscle-makers.

you can
You

simply fitilize the. DORMANT muscle-
power in your own God-given budg—watch

it increase and mulliplsy dou
into real solid LITE MUSCLE.

My method— “Dynamic
turn”the trick for you. N
exercise is practical. And
Spend only 15 minutes a <
home. From the very start you’ll
be using my method at " Dynamic
Termon™ ‘almost unconsciously
every mipute of the day—welk-
ing-beriddéhlg overrate.—to BUILD
MUSCLE and

FREE BOOK

"Everlasting Health
and Strength™

In It | talk to you in straight-
frotn-the-shoulder language.
Packed with inspirational pic-
tures of myself and pupils—fel-
lows who became NEW M in
strength, my way. Let m
you what | helped THEM
what 1 cani do for YOUl For a
real thrill. _ ' for this book
today. AT ONCE. CHARLES
ATLAS, Dept. 9-3, 115 East
ﬁlSrdY Street, New York 10,

A

lo-aulok

CHARLES ATLAS, Dept. *j
US E. 23rd Street, New York, 10, N. Y.

I want the proof that your system of “Dynamic
Tension" will help make a New Man of me—give me

a healthy, husky bod
ment. Send mo your
and Strength."

and big muscular

(Please print or write plainly)

Address

ree book, "Everlasting Health

City
O Check here if vn&er 16 for Booklet A.

State. . .
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DISTANTt
SIGHTS}

LARGE
PRECISION
GROUND,
OPTICAL
LENSES

SUPER-TELESCOPE ho» t.v.r-
tjiaimd highly polished lenses,
ds ta4 feet in length, giving dear

It is light in weiat
mely constructed, with a wide
nification held. You don't have to
know anything about telescopes to use
ft. Simply hold it to your eye. extend
barrel, and all the wonders oi scientific
vision will be close up to yeur eyes. Be-

------- duction economies, w t~

low price. See birds, bail gomes,------ -
events, beauties on the beach, si .

planes, in lull detail. See eople when
ttsv cannot see you. See wild hie. moun-
s. the heavens in their lull natural
etail. the price ol the GIANT
SCOPE is $2.98 with
Most telescopes of
i and size sell up
assure you that the

capply will lent *o you BumM ad fad!

5 DAYS FREE TRIAL-
RUSH COUPON

fust send coupon with $8*00 and get ydur
GIANT TELESCOPE and FREE CARRYING
CASE postage paid. Il you pxeler, just
send coupon with no money and get
yours C.0.D, at $8*88 plus new C.O.D. and
postage charges Use it for 5 days and
If you are not'sahsf.ed, return it and your
purchase Erlce will_be refunded Send
coupon todkryi Invention Co.. P.O. Box J

ChUrdt St Annex, New Yoifc 8. N. Y

MAMMOTH DETECTIVE

SPECIAL TELESCOPE OFFER f

Here is the most remarkable offer that we have ever
made. Now you can see most everything you want to
see! Now you can. bring distant objects so clearly
dose to your eye that they will seem almost near
enough to touch. Why feel frustrated and baffled by
something far away that you want to see in full
detail. Why be limited in your vision when you can
multiply it 13 to IS times with the amaiing super-
powered lenses in this GIANT telescope. Quickly over-
come the handicap of distance ... the magnification
does it like magic. This new telescopic invention is a
~ miracle ot mass production economy and engineering
ingenuity. Made of available war-time materials, 1l
is the equal in periormance-of telescopes that sell for
as much as $15.00. Think of the wonderful fun
can have by extending your vision 30 miles in lull,
clear detail. Read on lor full explanation oi fhis really
remarkable invention.

N OW -SEE GREAT OR
SHORT DISTANCES-with

CLOSE-UP DETAIL!

CARRYI NG

This beautiful.”

military « look*
ing carrying
case is yours
absolutely
FREE with this
olter.It is made
ot heavy can-
vas that tits
over the tele-
scope, making
iteasy tocarry,
and protects il
from dust, dirt
and rain. It
fastens at the
top by a draw-
string, and can
be ‘“secured
easily and com*
fortablyaround
your “wrist

Carrying case
is absolutely
FREE with this
offer so send
«the coupon
today.

INVENTION COMPANY, D*tT-74il
P.0. Box 281, Cherch Street Annex

New York 8 N. Y.

O lam enclosmg $3 00. Send me TELESCOPE and
immresti Wau

FREE -CARRYING CASE i etedly.
I can return in $ days for full refund
t | am. cot completely satisfied.

Send C.O.D. | will pay postman S2.98 plus new
C.0.D. and postage charges on arrival. (Same money
back guarantee as, above).

NAME
ADDRESS o

CITY A ZONE.......ccct cot et s STATE .



Learn by Doing!

Use real ;
Radio Equipment
Furnished with
your Course

‘E5Hs  a s

Shop-Method of
Home Training — actually build
many circuits and do experiments
with” the big kits of standard radio
parts included in your training

now!

U Send for FREE Lesson
Ipf and Prove to Yourself How
i Quick and Easy You Get

lg || AheadinRadiobythe NEW

ey s« ODHOME TRAINING

i"th#y*Ifiiy jirwedwwSB
wherebﬁ you etudy la spore time
—odd hours, eten minutes—ATrt
ham the advantage of aetual
sh(_)lp experience behind you.

his exclusive shop method of

rrorn _one os ine wonu s brBatesi
vocational educational center*—
the reeldent training chops end
experimental laboratories of
National Schools. It Is the sound.

electronics. It fa time tceted.
National Schools has been train-
ing men for higher pay and
greater opportunity for more than
a third of a cemuri/. Fill outand
mail the coupon below for details.

Shop Method”Trajning Win»
pwaMBBMga "My latest offer
; JM fcS was '$5,800.00 as

Radio Photo Bogl-

GET
THESE

BIG- BOOHSs FREE!

tnis SHOAVEHID HMETRANNG

MAIL OPPORTUNITY COUPON FOR QUICK ACTION



DAVID V. REED



15



Bejpoe youo veoy eyed, you dee a

moudieo hill a lovely yinl! Rut

can you believe wiuU you dee? Jfme id the

modi te/idu’yiuy, mydtekioud, weisul tale aj

munSeo you have even need!

A PREFACE BY THE EDITOR

HE main reason that David V.

I Reed is called the *“collector”

and not the author of this story
is the fact that the following pages do
not, strictly speaking, constitute a story
in the usual sense of the word. Rather,
as the by-line indicates, Mr. Reed has
here collected and related the raw mat-
ter of what might well have been one
of his best stories. Thereby hangs not
only this tale, but the decision to pre-
sent it in this way.

It began some months ago when Mr.
Reed came into possession of the diary
of Elliot Hammond. Is the name fa-
miliar? The editor is frank to confess
it took some prodding before he remem-
bered it, and then only because he knew
people who had known Hammond, and
who figured to some degree in the
events hereinafter described. Many
readers will probably recall the name
as they read, for parts of this strange
tale achieved a brief notoriety just a
few years ago.

It is more certain that the reader
will recognize other names more read-
ily, especially the reader familiar with
this and other magazines published by
the Ziff-Davis Publishing Company.
This is partly due to Hammond’s
friendships with Mr. Reed and other
authors, partly to the nature of the

story itself. If this had not been true,
it is safe to presume this manuscript
would never have seen print in this
magazine.

What follows, then, is a collection
of fact, conjecture, documents, inter-
views— even first person addresses to
the reader by the author. It is not al-
ways easy to read, and understanding
it is a process in which the reader him-
self must play a part, but it is vastly
exciting and very rewarding. It is a
journey through the minds of several
men. Mr. Reed has arranged the com-
ponent elements to form a montage
rather than a series of pictures. The
diary has not been edited in any way
by anyone. Of this, if of nothing else,
the editor is quite satisfied.

The rest must remain for the reader
to judge. The editor does not wish to
be placed in the position of presenting
this as a true story, if only because its
truth cannot be, or has not been, dis-
proves Nor can he, in fairness to the
reader, explain this seeming paradox at
this point. Nor does he incline to call
it fiction alone! The editor does, how-
ever, invite the reader to correspond
and express his views and his own the-
ories. All such correspondence will be
forwarded to Mr. Reed, for whatever
answer may be required.— R.A.P.



Three women and a man die— murdered
by a metal horror. Yet two of them still
stalk the streets; to provide a mad alibi!

CAST OF CHARACTERS

(Listed, in the order of their appearance in this collection with no reference
to their actual relationship to each other. The reader is warned to form no
premature opinions concerning such relationships; and in case of doubt or con-
fusion, is advised to refer to this list.)

DR. LEOPOLD SCHUMER. Viennese psychiatrist of repute, owner and op-
erator of a private sanitarium at Wooaboume, New York.

DAVID V. REED. Noted author of scientific and fantastic fiction.

ELLIOT HAMMOND. A newspaper feature writer.

JIM SHILLING. One of the men in charge of the large scrap depot of the
city scrap drive, near Jamaica Bay. Author of a novel called "The Silent
Room." A man who has traveled over much of the world.

ALFRED BESTER. A writer.

JULES BLACK. A literary agent.

MAUDE WILLIAMS. A "lady"-about-town.

CRAIG ELLIS. A writer.

JOHN BROOME. A writer.

HENRY KUTTNER. A writer.

TAMARA DENISOV. An authoress.

ROLLIE BESTER. An authoress and radio actress.

DAVip WRIGHT O'BRIEN. A writer.

MANLY WADE WELLMAN. A writer.

JEAN LOWELL. Greenwich Village artists' model.

MALCOLM O'DAY. District attorney.

CHARLES WELLS. Defense attorney.

JUSTICE REVERE. Criminal court judge.

LEE ROGOW. An authority on literature; capable of quoting verbatim
from a great number of literary works, including the modem.

DR. MORTIMER CAM1EL. A psychiatrist.

MARIA DENISOV. A ballet dancer.

KATHY GRAY. A photographer's model; also a writer of bad poetry.

JAMES MULVANEY. Head watchman at Acme Reclaiming Corporation,
scrap depot on Jamaica Bay.

THOMAS STAPLEY. ' Night watchman at scrap depot.

MRS. MABEL BAILEY. Owner of a rooming house at 224 Minetta Lane.

HELEN DREW. New York debutante.

STERLING PRYCE. A physician; superintendent of Maywood General Hos-
pital.
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(TEXT OF ALETTER PROM LEO-
POLD SCHUMER TO DAVID V.
REED, OCTOBER 30, 1943)

My dear Mr. Reed:

1 have news, really excellent news,
for you from your friend, Mr. Hammond.
The diary has been started. This
morning Mr . Hammond spoke to me at some
length and I was, most assuredly, quite
delighted. He told me with utmost can-
dor that he begins the writing today
and indeed, in the hours since then, he
has been at this work. It is the best
news possible, is it not? But | write
to yon now also of another matter, one
whiob may prove to be a matter of great
importance.

Mr . Hammond gave me an address which
he asked me to send to you. The ad-
dress is: 17 Tarpon Road. There you
will find a small establishment the na-
ture of which is an art shop of antiques
and curios, and also, as Mr. Hammond
says, of the nature of a pawning-shop
for art goods. Mr. Hammond told me
that he placed there a large brown box
of leather with gold-working and a
brass lock. He did not take money for
it but placed it there for safe-keep-
ing that last morning. He had not re-
membered it until last week, and men-
tioned it to me this morning for the
first time.

The receipt is, naturally, lost, but
he has a small key for the lock. He
will entrust the key to no one, but says
you will be able to secure the box if
you remind the old gentleman who is the
proprietor, of the circumstances under
which it was left in his shop. You are
to remind him that the man who left it
was suffering from a severe nose-
bleed, and also, his clothes were
badly torn. 1 trust 1 do not have to
elaborate on this?

I must request of you that you in-
vestigate this matter most energet-
ically, and, should you find this box,
to do whatever is necessary to secure
it. Perhaps this letter and an ex-
planation will help. 1 cannot re-
strain from telling you of the im-
portance which Mr. Hammond attaches
to this box, and, as a consequence,
this is important for all of us. It
may be that the key to this box is
the solution to much we seek to dis-
cover .

Since this letter will reach you by
Monday, it will allow you enough time
to pursue this matter before you come
here this next week-end. Therefore,
if you have the box, 1 will expect you
to bring it with you. 1 am confident
you will understand my anxiety, and, |
trust, act with immediacy. Kith my

DETECTIVE

most excellent regards, 1 remain,
Yours sincerely,

(FROM THE DIARY OF ELLIOT
HAMMOND)

' October 30, 1943

T AM beginning to forget it. Already
fragments of the pattern, once so
sharply etched in memory that noth-
ing, | thought, would ever disorder
them, begin to grow vague. When I
think back, sometimes a detail eludes
me. It is like walking down a gallery
of familiar pictures and suddenly find-
ing a blank canvas among them, and
being unable to recall what was there.
And then, sometimes there is only a

detail a sound more clear than
sound . the iris of a grey eye con-
tracting a sun-drenched bubble of

mud exploding in milky chocolate film
from the heat the cold gleam of
imagined moonlight on rusting metal.
Once | wanted to forget and could not;
now to hold on to it, I must put it down
here on paper. For some reason, | am
afraid to forget.

T DON'T know when it started. Jim

didn't know either, as far as | re-
member— not definitely, that is. It
must have been happening all along,
and even the last part of it, where the
Thing became a conscious thought of
Jim’s, happened slowly. It was some-
thing, you might say, like water freez-
ing; it grew imperceptibly colder un-
til a moment arrived when it froze, but
which was the moment? But it was in
July, sometime during the July of the
last summer before the war.

The war is important to this story.
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I was working for my old paper then
and they had put me on a feature story
on growing production. Part of that
story lay in the scrap drive, and that
was how | met Jim again. He was
working for the scrap collection agency
that had contracted to do the job for
the entire city. He was one of the
men in charge of the largest scrap de-
pot in the city.

Said that way, it doesn’t sound like
much, and it wasn’t much— not in in-
terest or responsibility, or pay, or dig-
nity— but what I mean is the depot
itself. There was something about that
depot that was, well, more than the
work of man.

I remember the first day | saw it.
It was some distance at the southern
outskirts of the city, near Jamaica Bay,
touching the ocean. It was enormous,
a huge thing spilled out on waste land.
Part of it was on hard, ridged, weed-
ridden lots; the greatest part of it lay
in a vast muck and oil-black wet of
swamps; and part, the smallest part,
was more water than land, composed
mainly of shallow reefs close to the in-
definite ocean shore. This whole great
area, easily hundreds of acres, was
piled high with waste metal. It was a
fantastic mass of stumpy, jagged gir-
ders and lithe springs, of bolts and bars
and shining wheels, of tin and iron and
steel and shavings and bits of exotic
metals. It was the dumping grounds
for things, and parts of things, that
people no longer wanted, and which
other people had taken from every-
where in the world. Black and gray
and green and bright orange with rust
. . . bent, mis-shapen, broken, twisted,
torn ... in strange, distorted heaps
and valleys and mountains, it lay in
the silence that surrounds the noise of
the city, festering in the sun.

This was where Jim Shilling lived.
There were officers in two small, old

buildings on the hard ground, elevated
wooden platforms that ran through the
swamps, and a pier over the water.
Tied to one end of the pier was an old
houseboat, a converted lighter, stand-
ing ten feet in water. It was fresh and
clean in its white and green paint, with
curtained windows and potted flowers
on the sills and rails. A broad green
awning shaded half the deck, and in
that shade was a hammock, a high ta-
ble beside it, two low wicker chairs and
an upright chair before a lower table.
On that table, littered with papers held
down by paperweights and seashells,
was a battered, ancient typewriter. The
houseboat was where Jim lived.

They sent me there from the office
building. “See Jim Shilling,” the man
said. “He’s the feller to teU you what
you want to know.”

“Where’ll 1 find him?”

“Qut there— see where I'm pointin’?
— that’s a houseboat If he ain’t walk-
in’ along the beach, he’ll be there. He’s
always there.”

| started out across the wooden plat-
forms over the swamps. Not then nor
until the moment I saw him did the
name mean anything to me. It was
like coming across a replica of one’s
home in a foreign land and not being
able to recognize it in its strange sur-
roundings. The name did not even
make me think of the Jim Shilling 1'd
known. It was too remote.

But then, after half an hour’s walk-
ing, and taking the wrong turns in the
swamp until |1 felt a queer apprehen-
sion at the thought of getting lost there,
feeling the heat of the sun and not be-
ing able to see it, I came out on the plat-
form that led to the pier. 1 saw Jim
as he got up from the typewriter, hear-
ing my leather heels on the planking.
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(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

T TAMMQND'S commentary in the above
1* entry that “There was something
about that depot that was . . . more than
the work of man” interested me enough to
attempt testing it for hindsight. Granted
that Hammond believed in the truth of
wbat he wrote, was he perhaps uncon-
sciously touching up his recollections? Was
he remembering premonitions where none
had been felt?

Obviously this was as difficult to prove
as disprove, but | went ahead on the chance
that something might come of the attempt.
What | did was to interview several of the
people who had been to the yards, compar-
ing their reactions to Hammond’s and my
own. The test seemed- worthless until |
had the results. | conducted it informally,
almost at random, without revealing any
objective. Naturally, all these remarks
(which 1 have edited while retaining the
context) are still open to the same charge
of hindsight, but they carry an impressive
weight.

The question | asked was: “What was
your reaction to the yards the first time you
saw them?”

Three people had little to say; one
hardly remembered; one began to cross-
guestion me— so these five | have classified
with the minority for whom the yards were
merely yards. | must include myself among
them. | thought it was the biggest dump
| had ever seen and nothing more. | go
on to the others:

Al Bester: “You remember that weak
epigram | made? Something about a grave-
yard with half the corpses still stirring . . .
something like that. . .”

Jules Black: “. . . terrifically depressed

. wouldn’t want to live anywhere near
such a place . . . damn thing frightened
Maude Williams: “1 took one look at It
and was positive it was another of Jules’
and Elly’s practical jokes.”

Craig Ellis: “. . . hated the place . .'.”

John Broome: “l remembered it because
I'd sailed by many times in a cat-boat and
always wanted to go through it . . . looked
like the end of the world . . . wondered
what the soul of such a thing would be
like . . .”

Henry Kuttner: . a wicked trav-
esty ... a nightmare . .

Tamara Denisov: “.. . incredible beauty

and strength laid waste by long melancholy
. something refusing to die . . .”

Rollie Bester: “. . . just couldn’t stand
the place, though 1 still don't think of it
as something ugly . .

David Wright O’'Brien: “. . . typical of
New York, the essence, if you know what
I mean. The city hits me the same way
every time | visit it, a combination of fan-
tastic beauty and destruction . . .”

Manly Wade Wellman: “Damn good-
looking thing . . . made me wish | was a
painter; I'd paint it and call it something
like A Lesson in Anatomy . . .”

Of these ten people quoted, three are
women, seven are men.* The men, with
the exception of Black, who is a literary
agent, are all practicing writers, as is Miss
Denisov. Of the five previously mentioned,
three were women. In general, therefore,
it would appear that women were less
strong in their reactions to the place than
men. Miss Denisov's reaction, however,
follows the men’s pattern very closely.
Does this mean that the main factor in re-
acting to the place was the literary bent of
the people involved, rather than their sex?
Is it not quite possible that ten people
chosen at random, none writers, brought to
the place, would have reacted in no special
way whatsoever?

I am inclined to believe that the yards
furnished the material for the exercising of
limber imaginations— something most of
these people had. But then, so did Elliot
Hammond have imagination, and what is
a premonition but imaginary foreknowl-
edge?—D.V.R.

* Readers of Mammoth Detective Will remem-
ber David Wright O’Brien, one of those quoted
here, as the author of “Once Is Enough,” which
received much commendation in the November
1943 issue. Those readers who are also acquainted
with Fantastic Adventures and Amazing Stories,
our sister magazines, will certainly recognize the
names of Al Bester, Craig Ellis, John Broome,
Henry Kuttner and Manly Wade Wellman whose
reputation as writers of ability is undenied. On
several editorial trip6 to New York we ourselves
have met the persons mentioned here, and it is
our impression and conviction that the comments
made by each are typical, and we can have no
doubt as to their authenticity.—Ed.
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j October 31, 1943
~pHE day was terribly hot. The green

awning kept out the white sunshine,
but even there, with an occasional sea-
swept breeze, everything was hot and
sticky. The slabs of ice in the drink
Jim made me lasted for half the drink.
| reached out for more ice from a towel-
wrapped bucket and listened to Jim
speaking.

. SO0 just about the middle of

April | said yes and came out here. It
wasn’'t so bad at all. 1 had complete
privacy, a clean place to live in, even
a few minor luxuries— this deck awn-
ing, say; it sort of gives me a suburban
estate. It's very quiet here, and the
pay is more than | need, and once in a
while I go into the city and have a beer
at George’s. And in three months I've
almost completed a novel.”

| said nothing for awhile. The shock
had worn away a little and the drink
helped Jim sound sensible. It was
three years since 1'd last seen him. He
was in that last period of despondency
before he disappeared. In 1936, a few
months after he’'d finished college, he
had written The Silent Room and been
acclaimed. And then for two years,
after his money was gone, he had been
unable to write, and he began to disin-
tegrate little by little. One day he was
gone, no one knew where. Sometime
afterward | received a card from him,
from Peru, and from time to time oth-
ers got cards from Chile and Uruguay
and Trinidad, and from Norway and
Denmark and Spain, then once from
French Morocco and no more. We
thought maybe he had gone to the war
with the French, but no one knew. And
after awhile, no one cared, | guess.

But he hadn’t gone to war. He had
wandered through Africa and then gone
back to South America, until by de-
grees, from Haiti finally, he came home.
He had come back to New York in the

winter, used up the little money he had
saved, and taken this job to stay alive,
and to try to write again. And he was
writing again, so nothing mattered.
Why wasn’t it as he said, that where
or how he lived was unimportant be-
side the fact that he was working again?

“But it’s so lonely here. How can
you stand it?”
“It isn’'t lonely!” he cried. He had

lost little of that early enthusiasm. His
gestures, like his close-cropped thick
hair and easy corduroy trousers, were
boyish. His face, long and lean and
angular as his body, was a healthy,
ruddy copper. “It isn’t lonely! Some-
one’s always coming here. And when
there aren’t people, I can walk along
the beach and watch the ships in the
harbor and the gulls and all sorts of
birds I don’t know, sandpipers and oth-
ers, or sit out on the rocks and watch
the waves. Sometimes | lie out there
in the sun, with a couple of bottles of
beer hanging from a string down into
the water, reading a book or listening to
my radio. Does that sound lonely?”

“What about the nights?”

“I'm in bed by ten.” He laughed.
“Oh, it isn't like the old days, | grant
you that. 1I'm up before the hour I'd
usually be going to sleep, but what of
it? | break the rule often enough not
to mind. And | wake up rested, with
more energy than I've had in years.
| do my job by noon and I'm free. The
laundryman picks up my stuff at the
office where the milkman leaves milk
and the others what small supplies |
need. And there’s no telephone buzz-
ing in my brain all day, either.”

“And the . . . the dump itself?”
1'd hesitated to use the word and finally
said it because | didn’t want to use a
patronizing euphuism.

E DIDN'T seem to mind. “The
dump’s all right. Sometimes when
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the wind shifts I get a whiff of the
swamps and it isn't pleasant, but then,
you get lots of smells in New York any-
where. Do | mind it more than, say,
bacon burning? Or a pungent stew?
Perhaps a Kttle. Is it important? Not
to me.”

“Yes,” | said. It wasn’t what | had
meant, and | wasn’t sure exactly what
I had meant. It was the dump, all
right, but not the dump itself, not its
physical characteristics. And yet what
else was there about it beyond its phys-
ical characteristics? “I don't know,”
| said, taking it up again. “There’s
something about this dump that . . .”

He looked at the way | waved my
hands. “That what?”

“It’s hard to say. It depresses me.”

“You mean its not pretty to look at?”

“No,” I said slowly. “That’s not it
at all.” | looked at him. “As a mat-
ter of fact, there’'s something almost
beautiful about it-. . .a very strange
and possibly frightening beauty . . .
the strength, somehow ... the thought
of all those things. ...” | started to
smile at my own words and Jim was
smiling with me.

“It's odd, your thinking of it like
that the first time you see it,” he
nodded. “I confess it's hit me the
same way occasionally.” For some rea-
son, though there really was no reason
yet, he grew a little somber as he spoke.
He kept nodding to himself for a min-
ute, his dark eyes focused on the worn
hooked rug, then he looked up dream-
ily and saw me, and began to talk about
his book.

Later, we walked together along the
beach in the bright sun, our footsteps
filling with water as we left them.
There was so much to talk about.
Years had gone by since our school-
days friendship had been at its height,
and things had happened to both of us.
To the north there was an airport, and

the hum of motors welled up across the
bay. The beach was strewn with bits
of wood and boxes and rags, among
which small birds hunted and sand-
bathed. The afternoon wore on, and
in the evening | had dinner with Jim
in his houseboat.

It was a peaceful evening. Jim filled
a place in my scheme of things. |
found him the old friend | had known
and liked so much. And when | left
and he invited me to come back, | said
I would, and | did. | came back two
days later, when | had the afternoon
off, and after that | came more or less
regularly, two and three times a week.
That was before the Thing became
known to Jim; after that I was there
every night, almost, until the end.

Somewhere between those two pe-
riods, | first brought Jean there. It
was on one of the afternoons when |
took several people to the houseboat,
the first time, | think. Pm not sure of
it anymore. The main thing is that
they got along splendidly from the first
moment they saw each other.

The main thing is that they fell in
love from the start.

November i, 1943
gOMETIMES in the afternoon I
would sit at the land end of the
pier. Jim would be working under the
green awning and | would wait for him,
listening to the tiny pistol shots that
his typewriter keys made, listening to
the myriad sounds, the sounds that
came and went with the wind and the
sounds that were always there. There
was a lot to hear, and to see, when you
got used to it.

For years ants had been eating away
sections of the pier. At the land end
where the wood was dry, they had half
destroyed several of the pilings where
two rails were nailed down. The rails
were roads that were constantly clogged
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with ant traffic, the free ones running
to the piling, the laden one6 running
back with a tiny tan sliver of wood.
The piling itself was mobbed, with three
or four ants to the square inch, all tear-
ing away slivers to give to the waiting
carriers.

Where the pier left the land and be-
came a structure over the beach as it
went to the water, there was an uneven
line of tall weeds and wind grass match-
ing the shoreline. Just inland of that
line, dipping sharply, was the swamp.
Here, among soggy root clumps and
cat-tails, all over the sun-baked mud
and inches down in the brackish, putrid
water, lay the ghost crabs. They were
small things, smaller than spider crabs,
but one of their claws was relatively
huge, as large as the rest of the crab.
Their bodies were brown and crusty,
but this great claw was a sick, dead
white, a clean and ugly thing of bone.
They had no use for the claw that I
could discover, but wherever they went
they dragged that claw along, leaving
a scarcely discernible furrow in the
mud.

But they never went very far, some-
times in or out of the water or a few
inches along the mud. It was as if car-
rying that claw was so great a burden
that they had lost all interest in every-
thing else except the rudiments of sur-
vival. They just lay there in the swamp
and the bright, hot sun, alive because
something had given them life.

November 2, 1943

gU T it was the sounds, yes, mainly
the sounds, one of them in particu-

lar. | first became aware of it one
evening after | left Jim and started
back to the gate. It was past seven
and the sun was a dusty red and gold
in the west. | was already late for a
dinner appointment and | was hurry-

ing across the platforms when | heard
it.

Purple clouds had momentarily ob-
scured the sun, and until they passed
there was a dim, luminescent light that
bordered on twilight and yet was too
rosy for twilight. | heard the sound
then. It was a deep, infinitely deep
sound, like a great, choked sigh. It
could only have been the effect of a
stray gust of wind finding its torturous
way through dense, obstructing metal,
but it was as haunting as something
from the depths of a mighty organ.

There was something about it that
made me walk slower, late as | was.
I think I wanted to hear it again when
I was ready for it. At any rate, |
wanted to hear it again, but | didn't.
Not then, though | took a long time
across the swamps. But | heard it
many times after that time, and then
I thought I had heard it before that
time | noticed it, only | hadn't been
especially aware of it. | don't know.
Maybe | did, or maybe I now think I
did. After it was over, | used to think
about all the things 1'd seen and heard
there, and everything would begin to
fit into the pattern, and everything
would take on a meaning, sometimes a
very subtle meaning, but there if you
wanted it. Even the ants and the crabs
had a meaning.

(TEXT OF A LETTER FROM
DAVID V. REED TO JOHN
BROOME, NOVEMBER 2, 1943)

Dear John:

It looks— at least right now— as if
1 won’t be able to come up this week-
end, after all. I ’m up to my ears in
work, and unless I do a lot more than
1 think I will by Friday, I daren’t take
a few days off. On top of that, there’s
a possibility that my sister and her
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new soldier husband, the estimable
Sgt. Lou, may come in from Columbus,
and 1°d rather be here to welcome
them, especially since he promised to
bring that rare edition he picked up
in an alley in Paris. So I know you
will understand. What’s more, 1 know
you will do the great favor I am about
to beseech.

1 got a letter from old Schumer yes-
terday, with some very interesting
news of Elly Hammond. It appears,
from what he says, that Elly has ac-
tually started to write that diary he
started talking about at the end of
September. In addition, he sent me
an address via Schumer which 1 was
asked to investigate and to try to find
a certain box (odd, isn’t it?) which
Elly said he had left at this address
on that morning. |1 attach little im-
portance to the quest, but I am hot on
the trail. Seems the place Elly de-
scribed- he knew the address— a
broken-down curio shop near the bay
shore, is no longer there, but 1 may
still be able to locate this box. The
man who owned it died several months
ago and all his effects were dumped
in a storehouse, from which place his
sons have gradually been selling
everything. | am to go to the store-
house either Thursday or Friday (when
1 should b« working) to look around.

So what 1 want you to do is this: go
see Elly for me and let me know what
is doing. Saturday should be an ideal
day, if you can make it. His place is
quite near you and I imagine you should
have a pleasant and interesting visit.
Schumer is a miserable correspondent
on the rare occasions when he under-
takes to wrestle with the language and
1 can never be sure I really understand
what he is trying to say.

I won’t write himuntil 1 know defi-
nitely, one way or another, about this
box, and if I haven’t written him by
the time you get there Saturday, please
explain the difficulties 1 am having
getting my hands on it. But what is
more important, look around and see
what is going on there and drop me a
note with any relevant news. Regards
to you and love to your wife.

November 3, 1943
rJ~'HE thing about Jean, everybody
used to say, was that she was so
normal. It was like commending a
flower because its roots kept the soil
from eroding. Jean was a beautiful
girl in many ways. There was a joy
she got from living—a warm, never-
ending delight and wonder— that she
communicated to everyone, and in the
end you mixed up her physical attrac-
tiveness with the simple beauty of her
nature and thought of her as something
more than the usual Greenwich Village
artists’ model— well, the best | can say
is that 1'd been in love with her for a
long time. Or thought | was, which
is the same thing, isn’t it? |'ve never
been able to answer the question.
But what | started to say was that
it was indirectly through Jean that I
became vaguely aware of the idea of the

Thing.
Seven of us had come out to Jim’s
houseboat that Sunday afternoon.

There was Al and Rollie Bester, Jules
Black, the literary agent, and his cur-
rent passion, Maude Williams, Dave
Reed, Jean, and I. We brought out a
mass of spaghetti and sausages and fix-
ings and two gallons of Guinea red, and
the girls took over the kitchen and went
to work. The rest of us sat under the
awning and talked and drank Jim’s rum
with coke. What with everyone there
being a writer of one sort or another,
Jim finally brought out his novel and
read us the opening chapter.

It was very different from anything
he'd ever attempted. It began with a
description of an old monastery on the
Peruvian coast and of the little town
that had grown around it. It was writ-
ten with a reflectiveness and softness
quite unlike his earlier, hurried, em-
phatic style, but here, as in his early
work, there was evidence of his consid-
erable talent.
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He had barely begun to read when
the girls came out and joined us. He
read well, and what he read had more
of an effect on us than we’'d expected.
Jean sat on the arm of my wicker chair
and listened to him. Once | glanced
up at her and | saw the way her eyes
lay on Jim, and from that moment, be-
fore either of them knew, | knew. Jim
was writing of life the way Jean thought
about it.

Later we ate and drank the red wine
and listened to some of Jim’s records,
things like Grieg’s Papillons and Mous-
sorgsky’s love music— things that told
me Jim had seen Jean too. Toward
evening, when our mutual dependency
had been loosened a little by the wine,
Jim and Jean wandered off along the
beach while the rest of us dug up some
old jazz records and debated saxes from
Pete Brown to Coleman Hawkins and
Hodges. We were having a good time
when Jim and Jean got back, and Jim
immediately became involved in Reed’s
argument with Black over the virtues
of the Reinhardt guitar.

It was one of those free-for-alls
where people keep jumping in and
dropping out, and after awhile Jean
and | were alone against a rail near the
pier. Twilight was half gone. The sky
was empty and dark, but lighter than
the dark, smooth sea. The guitar was
playing Djangology and we listened in
silence until Jean spoke.

“You've known him a long time,
haven't you, Elly?”

I nodded. “We went to school to-
gether.” Presently | said, “Is it what
I think it is?”

JLTER face was relaxed and thought-

ful. She wore her dark hair in a
careless bun and loose strands moved
in the wind. “I don’t know,” she said.
“I've never felt like this before about
anyone.” She looked at me and

touched my arm.
stand, don't you?”

| tried to smile. “Sure,” | said.
“After awhile you stop hoping and be-
gin waiting because you know some-
one’ll come along.” | gave her a ciga-
rette and lit hers and mine and in the
brief flare of the match | saw her eyes
searching my face. It was easier to
talk, smoking. “I've never known a
better guy, Jean,” | said. “Even when
he didn’'t have it. 1'm glad for both of
you. Honestly—"

| stopped speaking because | was
afraid to overdo it. | felt stupid say-
ing things like 1'm glad for both of you.
But what was there to say? | kept
smoking, listening to the music.

“Walk with me a little, Elly,” she
said. “l want to talk.”

So we walked. The tide was too
high on the beach to go there, so we
went off the pier along the high ridge
that bounded the swamps, and then
along the wooden ramps in the silent
yards where the gaunt piles of metal
were still visible in the little remaining
light. | told her what | knew of Jim,
the good years and the bad, and the
ones of which I knew almost nothing.
| told her the truth; | thought too much
of her to try to soften any of it, even
if it had mattered. Occasionally she
spoke, to ask a question, to repeat
something 1'd said. She seemed very
distant from me, and | suppose it hurt
a little. But that wasn’t all. There
was something else | felt, something
more than the hurt, and yet a part of
it, something quite strange. . . .

I don’t know when 1 first became
conscious of it. At another time |
might have sensed it immediately, as
I had once before, but this time | was
too confused by an overlay of emotion.
And this was true for Jean too. The
new emotion was too similar to our
own for us to know it as different.

“Elly, you under-
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| felt a great sadness come over me.
It became an effort to let my breath
out. | had been talking less and less
and Jean’s responses had stopped. She
seemed to be listening, but not to me,
and in the darkness | would see her
head turn to me as if she was waiting
for me to say something | never said.
Then suddenly it was too much.

“Let’s go back,” | said quietly.

“All right.” She took another ciga-
rette, waited for my match and blew
smoke out. | lit my own cigarette but
it didn’t catch. | stopped, struck an-
other match, and heard her walking on
ahead. She had walked out of range
of the match-light, and when | blew it
out, the contrasting dark was something
almost tangible. 1 could not see her
but I heard her heels on the walk. The
next moment | could not hear her any-
more.

“Wait a minute, Jean,” | called.

There was no answer.

“Jean!” | called, raising my voice.
“Jean, where are you?”

A 1?7 1 heard was the wind blowing

through the tall weeds. My throat
went dry. | hurried ahead as well as
I could in the darkness and a few feet
farther on | stopped. There was an
intersection there, where three ramps
joined before continuing on into the

yards. | realized 1'd never been in this
part of the yards before. We had evi-
dently wandered farther than 1I'd

thought. | struck a match and called
her name again and felt queer and
frightened. Why didn’'t she answer?
She couldn’t possibly have gotten be-
yond range of my voice. There was
no way of knowing which of the three
ramps she had taken. There was no
way, | realized suddenly, for me to
choose among the three myself. | was
lost.

Lost? It seemed a foolish thought.

Perhaps | was lost, but what did it
matter there? But it did matter. Some-
how it mattered terribly. The fear in
me had grown suddenly and unaccount-
ably. 1 turned around and tried to get
a glimpse of reflected light that might
guide me to the houseboat or the of-
fices, but no light penetrated that vast
darkness. | cried her name out again
and again, and finally I took the ramp
that led to my right, where | thought
it might lead to the houseboat.

And then | heard that sound again,
that tragic sigh that seemed to issue
from the earth and the sky itself, a
deep, soft sound that filled my mind.
| almost cried then. Something heavy
and oppressive had taken hold of me.
I felt that I never wanted to move
again, or to make a sound, or do any-
thing but wait there to hear that voice
again. That was the first time | thought
of it as a voice. But | ran on, stum-
bling in the dark, falling,off the ramp
several times, coming to new intersec-
tions and choosing blindly among them.

Little by little panic closed in on me.
The mountainous heaps of metal en-
veloped me, hanging over the ramps at
high, weird angles until I knew that
they were moving slowly, readying
themselves to break apart and tumble
down and overwhelm the ramps and
me. . . .

I see | have written | knew they
were moving slowly. 1| cannot remem-
ber that night so distinctly anymore.
There was a time when | believed | had
known, but now | am not sure any-
more. It seems to me that | could not
have known, but only thought so. |
never found out which was true. | re-
member only the great, unreasoning
fear that drove me through the dark-
ness, anyl the way everything came
alive, the damp boards under my feet,
the tangled growths on all sides, the
hills of metal, the swamp and the
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things in it, the sky itself. There was
life everywhere, ugly and malignant,
reaching, grasping, and somehow filled
with an ineffable sadness.

And finally it was that sadness that
quieted me and made me think that
nothing mattered anymore. That was
how Jim and the others found me.

| laughed, I recall. 1 realized | had
been calling Jean’s name over and over
in a high, strained voice. They had
heard us at the houseboat almost im-
mediately—we hadn’'t been far off at
all—and Jim had gotten lanterns and
led Dave Reed and Black into the
yards. They found Jean quickly and
then followed the sound of my voice
as | went deeper and deeper into the
swamp. And then | saw the lanterns
ahead and there they were and | was
laughing.

W * RETURNED t
o the houseboat

T and the impromptu party went on.
We had finished the wine and returned
to the rum, and the music kept ham-
mering away, and the talk was lively
ancf interesting and full of laughter.
But it wasn’t the same for me, nor for
Jean. | watched her dance with him
and there was a languor about her that
should long before have washed away
by what she drank. She had always
been gay and talkative when she drank,
but that night she was quiet, and her
half open eyes seemed wondering and
thoughtful and, | thought, troubled.

It was all unreal by then, except for
two things. One, that Jean and | were
drinking heavily and neither of us
showed it, and two, the way Jim looked
at me some time later.

I was sitting near the phonograph,
changing the records, and he walked
over during a short lull in the music.
“How'’s it coming, Elly?” he asked.

“Fine,” | said, “fine.” | put on a
new record and looked up at him. He

was studying me. He was on the point
of saying something when Rollie Bester
came over and complained that the
music was too fast for her lazy hus-
band. Jim took her arm and led her
back to Al Bester and delivered a lec-
ture on slow and fast beats and how to
dance to them.

That was as close as we got to talk-
ing about ft that night. We left a little
after eleven and Jim took us through
the yards to the outer gates. Walking
across the ramps in a body, with lan-
terns and loud talking, it was hard to
remember even then how it had been a
few hours before. But later, alone at
home, I remembered. Slowly, the idea
of the Thing was forming in my mind.

I couldn’t sleep.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF MAUDE WILLIAMS,
STATE’'S WITNESS, ON DIRECT
EXAMINATION BY DISTRICT
ATTORNEY MALCOLM O'DAY)

Q. Then you’re not certain of the
date of that Sunday in July?

A. No, | don’t hardly pay much at-
tention to dates, except with men, |
mean gentlemen. | mean what’s the
difference, one day being the same as
any other. | mean it doesn’'t—

Q. Pardon me for interrupting, Miss
Williams. You're not certain of the
date but you do remember that after-
noon and evening distinctly?

A. I'll say | do. That was the Sun-
day Jules, I mean Mr. Black, took me
out to that dump. | mean, it was really
a dump, a place where you dump things.

Q. And you remember everything
that happened that afternoon and eve-
ning?
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A. Well, almost everything. | mean,
the way everyone was drinking and all
and getting stinking, | was so lonely,
I mean | felt so neglected by Mr. Black
that | finally drank a little myself, blit
I'm sure I remember everything im-
portant.

Q. And what do you mean by im-
portant, Miss Williams?

A. | mean the way Mr. Hammond
acted. We’'re talking about Mr. Ham-
mond, ain’'t we? | guess it’s important
when one gentleman steals another gen-
tleman’s girl, at least it’'s important to
the gentleman.

Q. How would you describe Mr.
Hammond’s actions?

A. | would say that he was acting
terribly upset and all, very jealous, you
could see it on his face. He didn’t take
his eyes off Mr. Shilling and Jean, |
mean Miss Lowell. Then Mr. Shilling
and Miss Lowell disappeared and all
the time they were gone Mr. Hammond,
he just buried himself in the victrola,
playing one noisy record after another.
Then they came back and Mr. Ham-
mond got into a terrible argument with
Mr. Shilling and—

Q. What was the argument about?

A. Well, on the surface it was about
some crazy musician and how good he
was, but you know very well, I mean,
people, grown-up people and all, don't
argue that way about musicians. |
knew it was really about Mr. Shilling
taking away Miss Lowell. It was a ter-
rible argument, and the names they
called each other, I mean a lady just
could not listen to such terrible lan-
guage.

Q. And then what happened?

A. Then Mr. Hammond gave up the
argument and he got Miss Lowell to go
away with him for a walk. They were
gone for more than half an hour and
then we heard Mr. Hammond calling
Miss Lowell’s name, as if she had run

away from him. | mean he said he lost
her while they were walking together,
but how could he lose her so he would
have to call for her, and she didn’t an-
swer him once. Well, everyone heard
him and Mr. Shilling and Mr. Reed and
Mr. Black got lanterns and drunk as
they were they went into the dump and
found them both.

Q. Was that all, Miss Williams?

A. No, it wasn’'t. When they came
back, Mr. Hammond was laughing in
a kind of crazy, upset way, and after
that he quieted down and he and Miss
Lowell werp both very quiet for the
rest of the evening and hardly said a
word to anyone. But Mr. Shilling kept
looking at both of them in a very wor-
ried way.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF JULES BLACK, DE-
FENSE WITNESS, ON DIRECT
EXAMINATION BY DEFENSE
ATTORNEY CHARLES WELLS)

Q. Would you say that Mr. Ham-
mond drank excessively that day?

A. No one drank excessively except
Miss Williams, who always drinks ex-
cessively. She passed out in our taxi
on the way home. The rest of us had
a few mild rum drinks and wine that
couldn’t get a fly drunk.

Q. Did you notice any evidences of
jealousy on Mr. Hammond'’s part?

A. As a matter of fact, it wasn’t un-
til Reed told me the next day that Ham-
mond had been seeing Miss LoweU for
a long time that | even suspected he
had any great interest in her. He
didn’t know she was missing till she had
been gone half an hour, and it didn’t
worry Mm at all, as far as | could see,
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and at least | was sober.

Q. Was there an argument between
Mr. Shilling and Mr. Hammond?

A. The argument—that’s a foolish
word; it was a debate. Anyway, it was
between Reed and myself, and Shilling
joined in, and then Hammond had his
say. There are some people who get
passionate when they debate things like
Django Rheinhardt's virtuosity. |
won't talk to people who have an un-
complimentary word to say about Joe
Marsala, for instance— he plays the
clarinet. As for the names we called
each other, my friends and | habitually
use rather robust language, as opposed
to the unfunny filth that dribbles from
Miss Williams’ melon-shaped mouth.

MR. O'DAY. Your Honor, | object
to the witness’ continued attacks on
the character and reputation of Miss
Williams.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. Your ob-
jection is well taken, Mr. O’'Day. The
witness will refrain from further derog-
atory remarks about Miss Williams.

Q. Mr. Black, do you remember
what happened in the yards after you

heard Mr. Hammond calling Miss
Lowell’s name?
A. Yes. Shilling jumped up and

said, “They’re lost. Elly doesn’'t know
his way through that maze.” Then we
got lanterns and went in and found
them. They weren’t far apart, but the
place was so dark you couldn’'t see a
foot in front of your nose. Hammond
laughed about it because he felt fool-
ish, 1 suppose.

Q. Did you notice anything unusual
in Mr. Hammond’s behavior after-
ward?

A. No, and | was conscious all the
way home.

November 4, 1943
TT KEPT running through my mind.

I would be sitting at my desk, writ-
ing up some squib and somebody would
bring in containers of coffee and |
would stop working to drink the coffee
and there it would be. 1 didn't know
what, exactly, but it was there . . .
the idea.

I would see the ghost crabs lying in
the hot mud. | would remember my
voice calling Jean and the stillness
when she didn’t answer. She had told
me later that she hadn’t heard me. She
had taken one of the turns and stopped
to wait for me. She had seen a match
light up far away and go out, and after
that she didn’t hear or see me again,
and she had remained where she stood
until Jim found her.

I would be going downtown in a cab
and | would get out to pay the driver,
and the coins in my hand would move,
and I would see the ghastly, dead white-
ness of the huge claw the crabs dragged
after them. 1| would see the mud as |
had never seen it . . . cooling all night
until it was quite cold, and 'all the
things that lived in it were buried un-
derneath, so that the moon looked down
on a wet and barren world.

Whatever it was, it was always with
me. It was in the store windows when
| stopped to look at something, it was
lying flat and alive in the folds of a
newspaper | opened, it was in the or-
dinary words addressed to me in the
course of ordinary events.

November 5, 1943

£~NE morning | looked at the face |
was shaving and it startled me. It

was haggard and melancholy and deep
rings were forming under the eyes. It
was the face of a man who wasn’t well.
Later that day | saw another face
like it. It was three or four days after
that Sunday, and Jim phoned me at the
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paper. He was coming into town for
the day and wanted to have lunch with
me. When | saw the way he looked |
was careful about what | spoke. He let
me get halfway through lunch telling
him what | was doing on my assign-
ment before he said what | knew he had
been waiting to say.

“You've been thinking about it,
haven't you, Elliot?”

“Yes.”

| knew he had his hands clasped un-
der the table. He leaned forward, but
at the last moment his eyes avoided
mine. “What do you think?”

“l don't know,” | said. “I . ..’
My mouth had gone dry and the food
was tasteless and hard to swallow. |
pushed the plate away. “I don’t know,”
I said again, very quietly.

Presently Jim said, “I’'m seeing Jean
tonight. You know, don't you?”

“Yes, | know.”

“You don’t mind?”

| shook my head. “l saw her last
night. She’s in love with you, so that's
it. I'm glad it was someone | like.
I'd like to keep seeing her, and some-
one else might not understand.”

He tried not to look or act sony for
me, but because | knew he did feel
sorry, it didn't work and | was annoyed.
He looked at me and | saw he under-
stood. But that wasn’'t what he had
come to talk about arid we both knew
it. “Have you spoken to her about
it?” he asked.

“NoO.”

“You avoided it?”

I was silent a moment, then | said,
“l think she’'s forgotten it. Not just
forgotten— it’s as if it never happened.
I don’t think she would know what I
was talking about if I mentioned it.”

“Yes,” hesaid. “Yes . . .”and that
was all.

We sat there while the waiter brought
coffee. I tried to drink it and couldn’t.

| felt my face grow hot and my hands
were moving by themselves. | pressed
my palms down on the table heavily.
“Jim, what is it?” | said. “Tell me,
what is it?”

He put his cup down. His voice was
barely audible. “I'm not sure. |
wasn't afraid of it at first, but now I'm

not sure.” He seemed to have difficulty
in raising his eyes to mine. “I’ve been
alone a lot these past years. | thought

maybe it was something in my mind.
And then, last week . . .” He didn’t
finish, and after a few seconds he said,
“l don’t know what it is. There’s no
use talking about it. Sometimes |
think I'm losing my mind.”

JJ'ROM the way he looked at me |

realized | must have been staring
at him. There was a meaning in our
meaningless conversation, but for a mo-
ment | had listened to it with a strange
objectivity, and it sounded insane.
What could we possibly have been talk-
ing about? And then the red-and-
white-checkered tablecloth became
alive, and the white squares shrank and
moved and arranged themselves to form
claws, and it had a meaning again, even
if we didn't know it.

“l can’t see Jean tonight,” he said.
“Will you go home with me instead?”

He looked at me earnestly. “I think
maybe you’ll be able to ... to know
for yourself.”

“No, you'd better see Jean. We can
meet later and I'll go with you.” | was

talking without volition, as if | was
reading a part written for me, doing
something | somehow had to do with-
out wanting to do it, | felt that re-
curring sensation again, a sort of numb-
ness, of being far away and listening
to a voice | couldn’t quite place, “She’s
been looking forward to tonight,” |
said. “I think it’ll be good for her—
for both of you,” | added, but not
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3uick|y enough. | let it stand and
idn’t say anything else.

But when | saw him late that night
I wondered if it had been a good thing
for them. Jim had come to the bar
where | was to meet him an hour be-
fore our appointment. We didn’t talk
much on the subway, but we weren’t
paying attention to the papers we had
bought. | wondered if Jim had been
that way with Jean, and what she had
thought of it if be had. He kept glanc-
ing up from his paper to stare vacantly
down the car. Once he absent-mind-
edly lit a cigarette, and when 1| told
him to put it out, he looked at the ciga-
rette as if he had never seen it before.
But all in all 1 don’t think I behaved
much better.

At the last stop we took a trolley.
It was close to midnight when we got
off and started walking the long block
to the yard office. The night was hot,
with no breeze, and the stillness was
emphasized by the occasional night
sounds of crickets from the empty lots
on all sides.

Once Jim slowed down and asked,
“You're sure you want to come?” but
I didn’'t answer and he didn’t ask me
again and we kept walking. At the
gate he stopped to say something to
two of the night watchmen. They were
old men, suffering from the heat, sitting
with their shirts off and drinking warm
beer from bottles Jim pretended not to
notice. He took two lanterns, turned
the wicks up, gave me one and led the
way into the yards. When he gave me
my lantern | saw his face clearly in the
light. The droplets of perspiration had
disappeared and his face looked as cold
as the hand | felt when I took the lan-
tern.

(TEXT OF A LETTER FROM AL-

FRED BESTER TO DAVID V.

REED, OFFERED IN EVIDENCE

BY THE STATE AND ACCEPTED
AS EXHIBIT 12-A)

405 East 54th Street
New York City
July 23, 1941

Dear Dave:

Can’t get in touch with you since you
had your phone disconnected for the
afternoons and aren’t home evenings,
so | must trust the U.S. mails to get
through to you in your Brooklyn hide-
out and tender this loving dinner in-
vite. We are having spare ribs and,
naturally, Julie has been invited to
be boss of the sauce. Are you getting
much work done these days? Matter of
fact, | am thinking of having my phone
undergo the same operation— every time
1 get set to do a paragraph, the damn
thing goes off.

By the way, I saw your friend Stil-
ling— or is he Elly’s friend? All con-
fused— with Elly yesterday at the 47th
Street Steuben’s. They were stuck off
in the back and I wanted to sit with
them, but I had another look at them
and decided they weren’t getting along
well. Looked to me like they were hav-
ing a bitter but dignified argument.
Wouldn’t be what Julie says, would it?
He says you told him that Jean tomato
isElly’sgirl. Rollie says if so, she
was, because she’s Shilling’s now. We
are all waiting for the gossip with
otir tongues hanging out. Best from

P.S. The invite is for Friday night.
Phone yes or no.

(TEXT OF ALETTER FROM DA-
VID V. REED TO ELLIOT HAM-
MOND, MAILED TOGETHER
WITH EXHIBIT zz-A, OFFERED
IN EVIDENCE BY THE STATE AS
EXHIBIT 12-B)

August 3, 1941
Dear Elly:

What’s going on these days? Not
only haven’t 1 heard from you but X
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can’t seem to get you. 1t’s under-
standable in my special case, but where
the hell are you? 1 call your office
and they tell me you’re on a special
assignment operating on your own. All
1 know is what I hear, and what 1 hear
should burn you up. 1 am enclosing Al
Bester’s recent letter to me as a case
in point- brother, they’re all talk-
ing about you and Jean, and nothing 1
or anyone else who knows you can say
will stop them. On top of that I meet
Jean — two days ago in George’s— and
she says she is very worried about you
and you look like hell and if I am your
friend why don”t I help you. In what
way? Will you call me Tuesday night?
1’11 be in, waiting.
Dave

November 6, 1943
"JPHERE is too much interference
A here. All day | wanted to write and
couldn’t because my diary was missing.
I think I know why. But now | am too
tired to begin.

(TEXT OF A LETTER FROM
JOHN BROOME TO DAVID V.
REED, NOVEMBER 9, 1943)

Tuesday
Dear Dave:

This letter is a little late and 1|
can’t write much because we’re pretty
busy now getting the barns ready for
winter— and there’s no need, really,
because you’re coming up for the week-
end. You must be through with your
work because you worked this past week-
end; 1 deduced that from the fact that
your phone was out both times 1 called
you Sunday, to save me the trouble of
this note. Anyway, |1 dropped in on
Hammond Saturday. (Incidentally,
you’re wrong about his place being near
us— they’re paving 16 and the detour
is almost forty miles!

Well, 1 didn’t get to see him at all,
mainly beoause of old Sohumer. But 1
did get a look at that diary Sohumer
wrote you about. The old boy filched
it before Elly was up (he gets up about

DETECTIVE

noon, 1 hear) and showed it to me. He
is copying it without EIlly’s knowing,
and it is terrific. 1 don"t quite
know how to tell you about it here so I
won’t try, but you have something in
store for you. Meanwhile, don’t get
worried. The diary is really well
written and up to Elly’s best, as I re-
call it.

The one disturbing thing, tomy mind,
is Schumer taking that diary. If Elly
is working on it as hard as Schnmer
says, wouldn’t he miss it? Wouldn’t
he kick up a row if he found out? How
much do you trust Schumer anyway, or is
that a fool question? fhat’s all now.
Regards and love from my wife.

John

P.S. Almost forgot. Schumer seemed
terribly disappointed about your not
bringing the box with you, but 1 ex-
plained without giving him any too much
hope that you’ll get it. He said:
“ Vhen you write Mr. Reed, remind him
that ve the box are vaiting for most
angsiously.”" Pandora couldn’t have
said it with more feeling.

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

" 1 'HIS note was written three days after
Hammond’'s Nov. 6th entry, which
clearly indicated Hammond's awareness of
what John Broome mentions, i.e., the dis-
appearance of his diary.—D.V.R.

November 7, 1943

T CAN see its walking through the
yards as if I am high overhead. Two
tiny yellow balk of light move slowly
through the dark. From the pale
nucleii of these lights a softer, larger
and undefined circle of light is formed.
To its main direction is added a slight
wavering movement frOm side to side.
The light is marred by our two figures
and our single, joined shadow, and as
the light moves, the shadow follows
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and glides over the wooden ramps. Mo-
mentarily it obscures the dimly re-
vealed mountains of metal that make
each ramp appear to be the bottom of
a deep gorge.

There is no sound until I come down,
then | hear the even tread of footsteps
on wood. Then | hear myself breath-
ing. | am fighting for breath. 1 look
at myself and remember fear. | have
stopped walking. I listen and begin to
tremble, and suddenly I am not afraid.
“Jim!” | whisper, though I know he
cannot hear me. He is standing beside
me. His hand is tight on my arm and
then it relaxes. It occurs to me that
he was never afraid, except for me. . . .

“Listen to it, Jim,” | said. “What
a wonderful sound.”

He nodded and we stood there. The
sound had welled up all around us. It
was different from the way it had been
the other times, but the voice was the
same. The sadness was gone from it,
though it was gentle, and it was filled
with a reflective joy, with an indom-
itable vigor. It could not have been
heard ten feet from where we stood,
yet while it lasted it filled the world.
And then it was gone, and Jim turned
to me and nodded again and we went
on.

And somehow our whole mood had
been altered. It was as if someone had
met us with mysterious but nonethe-
less magnificent news. | say as if, but
that was exactly what it was, and when
we had gotten to Jim’s house and were
sitting out on the deck, he began to tell
me about it in his own way.

. and there was no voice in the
beginning, nothing audible, that is.
Sitting here like this or walking the
beach or falling asleep, it was like a
soliloquy. The disease is endemic with
people who've been alone for awhile.
For lack of someone to talk to, you
create fictional counterparts of your-

self, and you embody these fractional
personalities in opinions and uniate-
grated thoughts and contradictory no-
tions.

“Little by little all your activities
are shaped in these inner dialogues—
sometimes you even speak aloud. You
wake up and look at the clock and say,
‘Well, how about getting out of bed?’
and then you say, ‘Shut up and let me
sleep.” Or you ask yourself, ‘Are you
going to keep spending six bucks a week
on rum or buy a pair of shoes?’ and
you answer, ‘Rum, naturally,” and then
you say, ‘And go barefoot?’ and you
make peace by promising, ‘Next week,’
but you say, ‘Say positively,” and you
groan and say, ‘All right, positively.’

“Finally, not everything, but a large
part of what you think becomes solilo-
quized, vocal or not, and it cheers your
daily existence, especially if you're a
contradictory sort of person, and most
beautifully if you have any gift for
fiction. You know?”

Yes, | knew. | nodded because |
didn’t want my voice to intrude. The
awning was rolled back and the sky
was filled with stars and the sea-smell
was clean and strong. Jim sprawled
in a wicker chair, heels perpendicular
to the deck, more at ease and more
charming than | had seen him since the
old days. Looking at him then, watch-
ing his eloquent little gestures, enjoy-
ing his inflections and phrasing, it was
easy to see what Jean and other girls
had seen in him.

gTILL, there was something else in

his manner, something at once ex-
pectant and negligent. He was mak-
ing conversation while waiting for
someone or something. It was as if he
were expecting a lovely girl, say, and
telling me little things about her while
we waited, but knowing that what he
said was unimportant because presently
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she herself would arrive and | would
see for myself.

He continued: “And so it goes from
day to day until you're quite used to it.
But then, suppose a day arrives when
you're startled by something you've

thought?”

“By what you yourself have
thought?”

“Then you see what | mean,” he

nodded. “One might hear or see or
read something that would father a
thought capable of startling one, but
that isn’t one’s own thought. Only
fools and mystics believe in a separate
existence of the mind. Can | be star-
tled by a thought which is really my
own? Not any more than | can be sur-
prised, say, by finding a book on my
shelf which never was there—”

“Unless someone put the book
there,” | said.
“Or put the thought there,” Jim

agreed, “which is saying the same
thing.”

| stirred uneasily. “What do you
mean?”

“1 mean that one day | began to feel
that there was it definite reality to some
of the fictional counterparts | had cre-
ated.” He looked at me and smiled.
“l don't mean it in a foolish or mys-
tical way; if I did I wouldn’t be far re-
moved from the classic schizophrenics
and their split personalities. But | did
feel 1 was occasionally really arguing
with an intelligence that wasn’t mine.

I lit a
“l don't

He waited for me to speak.
cigarette, exhaled, and said:
see the difference, Jim.”

“It's simple enough. You have a
choice— either | was insane, or there
really was an outside intelligence. If
I was insane, there was no use pursu-
ing the matter any further. An insane
man ean find anything he needs to sub-
stantiate his beliefs.”

“And a sane man?”

“Looks for some objective proof.”

“Still,” 1 said, cautiously, “an insane
man can call anything objective. He
is insane because he believes in the ob-
jective existence of his visions and
voices. He points to thin air and in-
structs you to see his phantasm— the
fact that you don’t see it is only evi-
dence of your failure, and doesn’t shake
his belief at all.”

Jim drew his legs up, put his hands
on his knees and leaned forward.,. “So
eventually we come to the definition of
objective. Suppose we take the usual
definition— that which is perceptible to
others is objective.”

“All right.”

“Then this voice we both heard is an
objective fact?”

I said slowly, “1’'m not ready to call
it a voice” hesitated, and said, “I
mean, I'm not ready to accept my own
feelings— "

“But then you're destroying the def-
inition,” he interrupted with a patient
shrug. “If you don’t accept your feel-
ings and | don’'t accept mine, and a
third and a fourth person do not accept
theirs, where do we find an instrument
capable of verifying objectivity?”

A feeling is something subjective,” |
said.

“Even if a hundred people share the
identical feeling?”

“How do they know it’s identical?”

J_JE LEANED back again and sighed.
“For that matter, how do we know
we see or hear identical things? It's a
hoary chestnut, that one. Even if we
both reproduce what we see by paint-
ing it, or what we hear by playing it on
a piano, the inherent error is always
still possible in the reproduction.”
“True, but we make a kind of logical
compromise because we act on an as-
sumed sameness, on a point of refer-
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ence. At worst we are saying that
things equal to the same thing are equal
to each other.”

He seemed resigned to my objections.
“All right, we’ll say that objectivity is
something capable of being perceived
by the five senses. It must be able to
be touched, or heard, or seen, or
smelled or tasted.” He clasped his
hands and was thoughtful a moment,
then he said, “It doesn’t matter. All |
wanted to say originally was that | be-
lieved in the objectivity of a thing be-
fore it was open to the reference of any
of my five senses. But it doesn't mat-
ter because it did later become veri-
fiable to at least one of those senses.”

“A thing?” | asked.

“With a capital T,” he said. “A
Thing”

“All right.”

“1 thought you felt it yourself the
first day you were here.”

“With a capital 1? You mean | felt
1t?”

“Yes.”

I hesitated. “lI don't know.
something,” | said.

“Something not verifiable by your
Senses?”

“Yes.”

“And then you heard the sound?”

“Yes.”

“And you connected the sound with
It— with the Thing?”

“Yes.”

“With still no proof?”

“With no proof.”

“And tonight you heard a new sound
but again you connected it?”

“Yes.”

“Without proof?”

“Yes,” | said, very quietly.

He kept looking at me. “Then you
believe in the existence of something
none of your senses could verify?2”

“1 heard the sound. | verified that.”

He shook his head. “No, it’s not the

| felt

same. You believed in It before you
heard Its sound. You believed in some-
thing and then you heard a sound and
you connected that sound with the
Thing you believed in, and then you
heard another sound and again you con-
nected that sound with the Thing. But
you believed in It before you heard the
sound.”

“You're wrong in one thing,” | said.
“Whatever | believed in or thought I
believed, now that | re-examine it, |
realize | cannot believe in it.”

“Unless you're insane?”

“Unless I'm insane.”

“Or— unless there was something to
believe in, and a different way in which
to arrive at that belief?”

“A way apart from the five senses?
What other way?”

“Put it this way: you have a shelf of
books and one day you find a new book
there. Since you're a sane man, you
conclude someone put that book there.
Right?” When | nodded, be went on.
“You have your own mind and you’'re
aware of its capabilities; one day you
find a new thought there. As a sane
man you must conclude— ”

“Not at all. | disagree with the im-
age. | might know my shelf of books,
a simple matter, but knowing the ca-
pabilities of my mind is an entirely dif-
ferent thing. None of us really knows
that.”

“True enough,” Jim said, still pa-
tient, “but suppose you thought of
something that you were positive was
not your own thought?”

“That’s where | can't follow you.”

“Suppose I'm talking to you over the
telephone. | ask to meet you for lunch.
You agree and ask where we’ll meet.
I tell you of a place you never heard of,
tell you where it is and describe it. It
is now a thought of yours, but was it
originally? Wasn’t it put into your
mind?”
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“It was communicated to me.”

“You believe in this place and its ex-
istence,” Jim went on, “but your senses
have never verified it.”

“But you told me about it.”

“Suppose then that you thought of
this place without my telling you about
it?”

“But how could 1?”

“Never mind how. What if you
found such a thought in your mind?
What would you think?”

“That I had forgotten who told me
about it, or when | had seen it or been
there or heard about it. Unless I could
remember where the thought came
from, | could only think that it had
been communicated to me at some time
by some one.”

LTE SETTLED back again and
1 seemed satisfied. “We keep com-
ing back to the word communication,”
he said, “and that’s what I mean, basic-
ally. We differ in only one thing— what
we mean by communication. You think
of it as something verifiable, something
heard or read or seen. ...” n

“And you, Jim?”

He smiled a slow, humorless smile.
“l think there is a different kind of
communication, a way of having a
thought put into one’s mind.”

| swallowed. “No, | said. “Not in
any way | know,” and then | added,
“Not by anything I know or ever heard
of.”

“You've answered me,” Jim said
softly. “I went through all this in my
mind. | asked myself all these ques-
tions and got the same answers. And
that was why | thought I might not be
quite sane— because | felt a kind of
communication. | couldn’t verify it,
but I believed in it. | felt I was no
longer soliloquizing, but was debating
with an active intelligence. It wasn’t
an intelligence open to usual cognition,

but it was there.

“It wasn't always there, but from
time to time it made itself felt. |
couldn’t always understand it, but often
I did. And then, after awhile, it was
no longer in my mind alone, but there
were sounds too. And even then, though
I believed it, | couldn’t be sure if it
wasn'’t a progressive development of in-
sanity— one can imagine sounds as well
as a communication of thought.

“But there were other things. Oth-
ers here have heard the sounds. You
might then say that | had taken per-
fectly explicable’ sounds and lent them
my own meanings, but that wasn’t all.
The sounds had the same effect on oth-
ers as they had on me. Was | imagin-
ing this too? It was possible. It was
too new a thing to know about, you see.
When you came here for the first time
it was barely a conscious thought with
me. But since then . . .”

He stopped speaking and that same
attitude of listening came over him. It
seemed to me there was nothing to hear,
not even the wind nor the sea. The
hot, still night was unchanged . . . and
then, slowly, | became aware of some-
thing ... 1 didn't know quite what.
Something had charged the air and the
heat and the silence, and everything
1'd said rose up within me to confound
me.

I was not the sober voice of reason
I'd taken the pains to be during our
long discussion. Why had 1| denied
feeling the things 1I'd felt? Why had |
avoided mentioning the idea of what he
called the Thing, which had grown in
me in a way very like his description
of what he called communication?

I heard myself asking quietly: “And
since then, Jim?”

He appeared to rouse himself, but
he was still listening. “It started as
something | didn’t know | knew— then
| knew it— then | heard it. And then,”
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he hesitated, “I spoke to it.”

“You spoke to what?”

"Listen”

I thought at first that | was thinking
the words, for they were words | dimly
remembered, and at first there was no
sound ,that | could hear. And then I
heard that same voice rise in the still
air and fill the world again.

Just take a trifling handful, O philos-

opher!
Of magic matter; give it a slight toss
over
The ambient ether—and | don't see
why

You shouldn’'t make a sky.

ripHE voice was gone and | opened

my eyes and saw Jim standing at
my side and the vestiges of the first
surge of fear died away. He touched
my arm and | got tip and followed him
across the deck to stand at the sea rail
and both of us knew that we had gone
there because there was a reason, even
if it wasn’'t our reason.

I don't know how long we stood
there. | don’'t know how to measure
the kind of time, or timelessness, that
existed for us. There was only the
nightbound sea and the nightbound
wind, and the dark tide running swiftly.
Over and over | heard the muffled bell
from a buoy whose little red light was
hardly visible, pitching to and fro. And
all that time this voice.spoke to us.

Spoke? Yes, it spoke. Or did it
sing? Or was it a threnody played by
massed instruments and chanted by a
great chorus? | know only that there
was such sound as | had never heard
before and was never to hear again, ex-
cept from the Thing. There were
words too, of coarse, often vaguely
familiar and whispered, but much of
the sound was exanimate and meaning-

less and filled with an unutterable in-
tensity. Toward ,the end it became a
gentle ululation that finally died away
and left us alone.

By then we knew. We didn’t know
what it was, but we knew the Thing
was alive. That was it, you see. That
was the miracle— it was alive .. . alive!

I remember the last words it spoke
that night that | understood.

Praised be the fathomless universe
For life and joy
And for objects and knowledge curious

November 8, 1Q43
COMETIMES, these past days, as |

cast back into memory and for a
little while live those old days again, |
try to remember what | thought then.
I don’'t mean specifically— it isn’'t easy
to forget a specific reaction to a specific
event if it was an event of any memo-
rability. | mean, as well as | can put
it, the all-over mental reaction, the
series of reactions, the continuous proc-
ess and the result of the process. But
am | making myself clear?

One might compare it to a physical
shock. When such a thing happens
once, or twice, it isn't hard to remem-
ber the reaction. But what happens
when the shocks continue, when one
follows another before the reaction to
any of them has had a chance to end?
Do not the reactions themselves change
as a result of their frequency?

I can remember what | thought as
one event followed another with in-
creasing swiftness, but |1 thought them
with a mind fashioned by the events.
And that mind, that quality of it, noth-
ing can summon up again. Nothing
remains of it but the faulty remem-
brance of something transfigured. It
becomes useless to examine what one
did long ago when one was a different
person, and useless to try to under-
stand.
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The terror was there from the be-
ginning. The instinctive reactions were
identical. There was terror, but it was
not enough. There were too many other
things. There was the blinding power
of the realization itself, and the help-
lessness before it, and the hypnotic
fascination of the future, and all these
things ended in a sort of ekstasis, a
mental segnitude from which there was
no release until it was too late.

But what could | have thought?

| take the thought now and turn it
over and over and look at it with a
mind that has had a chance to recover
from that awful impact. How does it
look now? How does it sound?

There was a iming Thing there in the
yards. It was alive bul utterly unlike
anything that had ever lived before. It
was a new form of life. It was, accord-
ing to its own words, a form of metal
life. 1t had come into being of itself,
with an awareness of itself, and an un-
derstanding of its position in a world
of another form of life.

How does it sound?

"yN/TIAT did it look like? It doesn’t
matter what it looked like—we
ourselves never really saw it, though
we saw part of it or what we thought
was part of it. H qw did itlive? From
what source did it draw its nourish-
ment? We never found out. We never
learned how many of the life processes
were necessary to it, or of how many
it was capable—-not of our kind of life.
It was its own life, with its own laws,
with its own vast capabilities. It could
speak and move and see and hear, and
it could think, and these things and
others where it crossed the streams of
ordinary life made it seem less strange
then. But even then we knew it was
something utterly alien ... a Thing.
And why not? From where had life
come? There once was a sun that spun

in space and there was a mild upheaval
and fragments broke off from that sun
and flew off to spin in orbits around it.
And one of them, not the largest or the
smallest or particularly marked, cooled
off and formed land and sea. The sun
beat down on it and from this warmth
and from the random mingling of mean-
ingless elements a new element was
made, a thing called life.

Was there an exclusive magic to this
performance? Was there any reason
to believe no such thing could ever hap-
pen again, perhaps in an entirely differ-
ent way?

There was still the immutable sea
and the land and the sun, and the ele-
ments haphazardly brought together
from the ends of the earth and piled
together. Why could a new form of life
not . . .

The thing was, we knew it had hap-
pened. That is what | mean by trying
to recapture the quality of mind. 1 can
sit here now and think and ask ques-
tions and answer them, and reason One
way and another from now until | die,
without coming closer to the essential
truth— that we knew, and that it hap-
pened. Nothing else is necessary to
understand it. The Thing itself said
it best when it quoted:

Life and the Universe show spontaneity

So, once you came to accept its be-
ing, you asked questions about it. But
you only knew a few of the things it
could do, and most of them you could
not understand without first seeing it
—all except one thing: you knew it
could think. Knowing that made it
possible td question the way it thought
and what it thought of. And not only
was that the one thing we ever learned
much about, but the one thing that mat-
tered. The fault was ours for not un-
derstanding it in time.
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TC'ROM the beginning, | think, | felt

its mind was unhealthy. | remem-
ber the days that followed and the in-
terminable discussions | had with Jim
about it. | came there immediately
from work, haggard from lack of sleep,
badly shaven, hungry, but my brain
filled with new questions, reeling from
the impact of what | knew, and driven
by a strange energy. Mostly it re-
solved itself into the question of what
we should do about what we knew. It
seemed obvious to me.

“No,” Jim said. “I don’t want to
tell anyone yet, and don’t keep asking
why. | want to know more about it.
I want to think about it. | want to get
used to the idea of it before | tell any-
one.”

“And not because it doesn’'t want
you to tell?”

“That’s also a consideration.”

“It didn’t want you to tell me.”

“That was different. | didn't . . .
didn’t understand,” he said and made
futile motions with his hands. “I
wasn’t sure about it until the night it
spoke to you.”

“You’'re changing your story,” | said.
“You were sure about it. What you
weren’t sure about was its attitude to-
ward others. You were afraid of it
after you accepted it.”

“What are you driving at?”

“That you’ve no right to decide not
to be afraid of it— that we must not
keep this Thing a secret— "

“What are you afraid of?” he de-
manded. “Of its strangeness? Of the
magnitude— ”

“1'm tired, tired of that word magni-
tude.”

Jim looked at me and smiled thinly.
“It’s the thought of the magnitude
you're tired of. It's too big for you.
Think of it, Elly, think of what we
know!*5

It did no good to burst out: “All

right, we knowl”

Jim wasn’t listening. He walked
away, lost in thought, his eyes intensely
bright, and he didn't come back to
where | sat until we felt the atmos-
phere vibrating with the peculiar sort
of charge that told us the Thing was
coming.

It was just past eight, that memo-
rable evening of which 1 write, and
there was still a little light far out on
the horizon, a thin line of silver sepa-
rating the similar blues of sky and sea.
This was the third time it was to speak
to us, and we both started to go to the
sea end of the houseboat, as we had
done the previous times. | think I
mentioned that we went there from
some compulsion.

This night it was different, and so
we came to understand clearly why we
had gone to the sea rail before. For
this time the Thing stopped us.

Come out on the pier away from the
water.

We heard the Thing’s voice tell us
that, but we had known it before it
spoke. It was as if the Thing had
transmitted the thought first and then
quickly remembered to voice it. Jim
and | exchanged glances that told us
we had both thought the same thing,
but even at the instant of the exchange
Jim’s attitude altered, as if he had dis-
missed the consequences of the thought
immediately.

Quietly we went back and climbed
the small gangplank to the pier and
walked toward the land end. | don’t
know how Jim felt—1 think he tried
to hide his feelings at the beginning—
but with me it was always the same.
The moment | would sense the change
hi atmosphere it became an almost con-
scious effort t© breathe. | could fed
my skin tightening and a sort of numb-
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ing coldness come over me. | hardly
1 ever moved, and the few words | said
were broken syllables wrenched from
my Bps.

And this night, because of what I
had been thinking, it was worse than
ever. . . .

November g, 1943
T WENT to Reed and tried to tell
him about it. | told him about the
Thing saying Come out on the pier
away from the water and that | had
not only known the thought in advance
but had begun to act on it before the
words were spoken. | told him, as |
had told Jim, that | was convinced the
Thing was capable of exerting a com-
pulsory power. Reed said, “Very good,
very good,” and laughed and added it
to the notes he made.
| kept trying to

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

r 1 '"HE fragmentary Nov. 9th entry is the
first violation of the chronological or-
der of the events of which Hammond wrote.
In the diary this entry was crossed out in
pencil and the Nov. 10th entry resumed
from where the one for the 8th ended. It
is included here in its original order not
only because of the intent not to alter the
diary in any way, but also because it is the
first indication of Hammond’s failing
strength and the chaotic end he feared from
the start. The Nov. 10th entry is also a
fragment, but in part | have been able to
reconstruct the missing sections from the
conversation | had with him during the
period of which he writes. My notes and
inserts following the Nov. 10th entry deal
with this in what must remain a poor sub-
stitute for Hammond's writing.— D.V.R.

November 10, ig$3
W * STOOD in the gathering dark

T close to the pier. 1 could barely
make out the nearby ridge, and behind
it the sprawling immensities of metal
were lost. There was not a sound.
Then | heard a slight, dull noise, as if
two heavy bars of lead had been
brought together. | turned my head to
the right and heard it again, closer this
time.

Then halfway between us and the
ridge there was a light. It flew
straight up to the sky and vanished.
When | looked down again there was
a second tiny pinpoint of light, and
this one didn't go out. It seemed to
separate and then there were two points
close together, then a third, then a
fourth, then all closed and formed a
minute line, and the line kept growing,
curling around and around. It stopped
in a few seconds. It looked like a very
small, very fine filament through which
a current was passing, making the fila-
ment a hot, coppery pink that glowed
steadily. In form— it was now perhaps
two inches long'—it resembled a tightly-
wound spring, but of such infinite deli-
cacy that it might have been a coiled
strand from a spiderweb. The very
heat with which it glowed, obscuring
its form, seemed to be destroying if.

And then the voice, deep and serene.

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

TTAMMOND didn’t phone, as I'd sug-
1 gested to him in my letter of August
3rd. Instead, two days later, just as | was
sitting down to dinner, he appeared at my
home. | have this date established be-
cause | used a sheet from a calendar memo
pad to scribble down a few notes | made
that evening.

| was surprised to see him and a little
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The tight flew straight up into the shy and vanished
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startled, at first, by the way he looked. His
eyes, usually bland and humorous, seemed
quite small and bloodshot, and there was
the same weariness m them and the move-
ments of hife slender body. Indeed, it
seemed to me that he had shrunken in the
clinically exemplar way of a man with a
cancer. And his unannounced appearance
was strange; | Kve to far out in Brooklyn
that no one travels there on the chance of
finding me in. But after an emergency
consultation with the cook, | invited him
to dinner, and we sat down for a Martini
or two while we waited.

By the time dinner was ready | was
changing my mind, and when it was over
I hardly remembered my first impression.
The drunks seemed to subdue the overly
alert reactions he made even to slight
sounds, such as a plate being set down by
an annoyed cook, and he ate well and lis-
tened to my small talk. As I recall, it was
mainly concerned with the differences in
our work. | was halfway through a long
story later published under the title, “The
Lost World,” and | told him about it. It
was based, as some faithful reader may re-
member, on the idea of a planet which had
wandered out of the solar system and re-
turned thousands of years later. He lis-
tened to my theories and blood-curdling
ideas for their development with unusually
strong interest, and from tins almost pro-
fessional attention | derived the suspicion
that he was thinking of turning his hand to
some such work. So | asked him.

“No, Reed,” he said slowly. “What I'm
thinking about is what you, or somebody
like you— someone who works with ideas—
unusual ideas—would do if you found
yourself in a situation like the ones you
write about.”

He was smiling a little and | smiled
back, thinking of the odd emphasis he had
used on the word “situation,” as if it was
totally unsatisfactory to what he meant.
“For instance,” | said, “we go out for a
walk and when we come back, this house is
gone,”

“Yes,” he nodded, pleased.
like that!”

“And there’s an empty lot m its place,”
I went on, “and when | go to the police— I
suppose 1'd go to the police?—and tell
them, they think I'm crazy. They go with
me and when | point out the let, they tell
me that there never was a house there.” |

“*Just gone,

paused and said, “1’m beginning to like it.
They shoo me off and | go next door to my
neighbor and ring the bell. Who answers?
Is it my old neighbor or a total stranger?
He doesn't know me, at any rate, never
saw me before. The same thing happens
with tiie other neighbors—with the sta-
tionary store on the corner, with the coun-
terman at the dinner. No one knows me,
no one ever saw me before. | go to the po-
lice again. | look sane, so they listen for a
little while. It turns out there is no record
of my birth at Borough Hall, no school rec-
ords, nothing—"

“Nothing,” said Hammond, “except one
friend who remembers you and substan-
tiates the whole story.”

I considered and shook my head. “That'’s
no good,” | said. “Complicates the story
too much. One man might be thought
crazy, but two men telling the same
story—"

“But | went for a walk with you,” he
said, “so | knew. No, don’t rule that out.
If you rule it out, what is there to reassure
you that you're not crazy? You see, the
whole thing is so ... so strange . . .
this situation, that you need someone like
this friend.”

“Maybe,” | agreed partially. “It's prom-
ising, all right. Maybe I'll use it if I can
devdop it.”

“All right, then, develop it. What would
you do?”

“/~AN'T say, offhand,” I said, thinking

~  about it. “I'd probably end up in
the amnesia ward at Bellevue and get my
picture in the papers—"”

“That's not what 1 mean. Now you're
writing it, and you can control the story.
What | mean is what do you do now— living
the story. What do you do now that you
find yourself actually living that story?”
He was leaning forward in his deep chair
with an odd intentness, but perhaps my
surprise at his seriousness was what re-
laxed him again. “l mean,” he said, “what
does a person do in such a situation when
he is someone used to dealing with fan-
tastic events?”

“I'll be damned if | know,” | said stup-
idly. “I don't see that he’s any the better
off than Joe Blow, the stolid citizen from
Kokomo.”

“Or Elliot Hammond,” Hammond said.

“Or anybody. You think there’s a spe-



THE METAL MONSTER MURDERS 43

cial skill that fantasy writers have with

.. with . . . really fantastic events?
That's like expecting Ellery Queen’s creator
to solve a real mystery. Queen happens to
be written by a team of which Manfred Lee
is a fraternity brother of mine. | remem-
ber once when Alpha Lambda Phi ran a
beer party and some of the older fraters
like Lee showed up in the Brown Building
down at the Square. He put his coat-
check in one of his pockets and couldn’t
find it. But give him the idea of a mis-
placed coat-check and Ellery Queen might
be off on one of his most baffling adven-
tures.”

He nodded and smiled weakly at me and
lit a cigarette. “I’ll tell you a story,” he
said. But he sat there for another minute
without speaking, and then he took out a
handkerchief and mopped his forehead.
“It’'s warm in here,” he said. “Let’s take a
walk around the block and I'll tell you the
story.”

So we went for a walk and he told me,
briefly, without flourishes, without a frac-
tion of the impact | was more than two
years later to receive reading it in his diary,
the beginning of the story. The point is, |
listened to it as a story. And, as a story, |
liked a good deal of what | heard as we
walked. | thought | saw the point of our
previous discussion, for he was building his
story from ordinary events, from seemingly
undramatic elements like Shilling’s house-
boat in the swamps. But as he went on
speaking of the yards, repeating over and
over some mystic reference to ghost crabs,
detailing his conversations with Shilling
when they met and later on, | couldn’t help
my critical impatience. And then, the way
he took the little incident where he and
Jean had been lost for a few minutes and
twisted it to suit his story, and something
in his voice as he described it, brought
back that old uneasiness 1'd felt when he
first arrived that evening.

But again it passed; we had returned to
my house. “Well,” | smiled, “the house
is still here,” and he grinned as we went in.
By then he was telling me of the days that
followed that first night in the yards, and
of his meeting with Shilling in Steuben'’s.
He was smoking as he sat on the couch,
telling me how the Thing’s voice sounded.
He closed his eyes and quoted: “Just take a
trifling handful, O philosopher .. .”

“Good,” | said. “Hike that. Elly, you're

going to write this, aren't you? You're se-
rious about it?”

TTE opened his eyes and regarded me.
N “I'm serious about it, Dave,” he said,
“but k’s not a story.”

“Not yet, maybe,” | said, “but it’s good,
so far.” >

“All right, Dave, but I'm not going to
write it”

“But why not? You've worked on it, |
can see that.”

He sighed, still looking at me carefully,
then he said, “1 don't know how it ends.
It’s not complete.”

“The hell with that,” | said. “It’ll write
itself, with a little thought and patience.”
| took the calendar pad from my desk and
a pen and made a few brief notes on what
he’d told me so far. “How much more have
you got?” | asked, looking up.

He was staring at me and his features
were drawn, his eyes bright. But after a
moment he said, ‘“Nve worked out how
this thing came to be. | think of it as a
thing with a capital T. It’s alive, you see.”
He took a deep drag and added, “Only it's
a new kind of life, the only Thing of its
kind in the universe. And it explained it-
self to us by saying: “Life and the Uni-
verse show spontaneity. . . .”

“It sounds very learned,” | said.
does it come by these quotes?”

“Quotes?" he asked.

“You’re not going to try to pass them
off as your own,” | grinned. “I can’t give
you the whole quotations but | do know
that that's the second quote from poems
by Mortimer Collins, nineteenth century.”

“And the one that goes: “Praited be the
fathomless universe. . . ?”

I couldn’t figure him out. “That one’s a
good deal less obscure,” | said. “That’s
Whitman. | was an English major. 1 re-
member more useless quotations than Lee
Rogow. That's from Whitman’s ‘Mem-
ories of President Lincoln’.”

He was silent for a long moment, then
he said, “It isn't hard to explain. The
Thing itself has told us it has read every
one of Jim's books, and he has a great
many. It answers Jim’'s questions— ”

“What kind of questions?”

“It seems to know a lot about oUr kind
of life, and Jim asks it how. It tells us
about the books. ‘The seasoned life of man
preserved and stored up in books,’ it says.”

“How
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He exhaled smoke and asked, “Is that a
quote?”’

“Are you kidding?" | asked, mystified.
“That’'s from Milton, either his ‘Tatra-
ckoedon’ or 'Areopagitica’ I'm not sure
which.”

A didn’t know, Dave,” he said. His face
was covered with a film of perspiration,
though the night was relatively cool. The
way he sounded and looked, | thought he
was M. “You see, the Thing told us these
things and Jim either didn't know they
were quotations or didn't tell me he knew.
There are a lot of things I think Jim knows
that he doesn't tell me.”

That was the way he had been speaking
all night. One minute he was in the story
and the neat he was talking about things
that might have been happening to him,
and sometimes | couldn’t tell which was
which. And then | would remember our
talking about living a story, and | would
deoide that was what he was doing.

“ A ND then, one night, it let us see part

of it,” he went on. “We were wait-
ing for k and it made us come to it. The
other times it made us go to the sea end of
the pier. It didn't tell us to, but we did
it each time without even talking about it.
But that night it was different, and before
I could even think about wby | was going
to the land end | was already going. A
second later, a hundreth of a second later—
just long enough for the thought to occur,
it actually said, 'Come out on the pier
away from the water.” That made me real-
ise that it had some kind of control over
our aetions, and not only that, but it didn't
want us to know that it did.”

“Why?”

“I don't know. All I know is that it’s
so. Sometimes | think that's why Jim
doesn’t want to teH anyone about it— be-
cause the Thing doesn't want us to.”

“All right,” | said, “so neither of you
ever tell anyone about it.”

“But I'm telling you,” he said.

“In the story you don't tell anyone. If
you do, it wrecks that good idea of its hyp-
notical dominance. You want to tell, but
something stops you. Every time you
want to tell someone, some strange power
stops you.” He didn’'t say anything and |
made some more notes while | waited, then
| asked, “What does it look like?”

His eyes were closed and his voice lower.

“We only saw a part of it. It had been
hiding in the swamp for a long, long time.
First it became aware of its own existence,
then gradually it realized not only what it
was but the unique place it occupied in the
world in which it found itself. And for a
long time it lay in the swamp and it became
a lonely, melancholy thing. And then Jim
came to live near it and it would see him
every day. In its own fashion, in a way |
can't begin to understand, it had amazing
intelligence, abilities . . . powers. . .

He stopped so long that | prodded him.
“What kind of abilities and powers?”

“l don't know them all. 1 know it
thinks, but not in any way that you or |
can possibly . . .” and he paused again.
“It lay there a long time, and then it
learned to move a little, but it didn’'t be-
cause it didn’t want to be seen. Then may-
be it learned to hide itself—”

"To make itself invisible,” | said, writ-
ing it down.

“Yes,” he nodded, waiting, and when I
looked up again and he raised his eyes to
mine | thought there was a sort of helpless
fury in them. But that didn't make sense.
“Yes,” he said quietly, “it made itself vis-
ible, if it ever was visible to human eyes.
Or maybe what happened was that it was
always invisible and then found that out,
and then it had to learn to make itself seen.
I don’t know. But then it found it could
communicate, and it did— "

I wanted to say: “It could exercise tel-
epathy,” but I merely made the note with-
out interrupting.

“— It would communicate with Jim for a
little every day, and sometimes at night.
And | think it found a sympathetic and re-
sponsive mind in Jim. | think that was
the great stroke of luck in what happened.
I don't know what might have happened
by now if Jim hadn’t been there, or if he
had been different from the sort of person
he is. But little by little the Thing pro-
gressed, and then it could make sounds.
The sounds | heard in the yards were the
Thing’s sounds. Why did it let me hear
them ? | think because in the beginning it
sensed, or it knew, that | felt much the
same way Jim did, and that | was quite
similar to Jim in many ways. Or maybe it
thought that all humans were like Jim.. .

PRESENTLY he resumed, “I spent a lot
~ of time with Jim. His place had a
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strange fascination for me. | used to spend
those early afternoons out on the beach or
in the swamp or on the pier, watching the
ants and the ghost crabs— ”

“What about those ghost crabs?” | asked.
“What's the particular meaning of that
business?”

“I’'m not sure,” he said, and | saw him
shiver. His bright eyes were fixed on me.
| saw there was something definitely wrong
with him.  “But the Thing was not afraid,
finally, to talk to me when | was with Jim,
and then it decided to let us see it, or a
part of it. And it did. It looked like a
very small spring, the kind of spring you
might find in a watch or a cigarette lighter.
But I—”

I'd made a dissatisfied grimace and it
stopRed him. “It’s not dramatic.”

“But it is,” he said, nodding, “even for
you, even your way, it is. | think it’s only
a small part of it, because it was suspended
in air, the way your eyes or your heart
would look if they were the only things one
could see of you. And it glowed as if it
had been held under a flame that had made
it red hot. But it didn’t last long, and at
first 1 thought the fire had destroyed it.
Then | realized that it had let the fire die
out because the experiment had failed.
You see, it was an experiment. It wanted
to see how a human would react to the
sight of it

“That was what it asked us, but it didn’'t
have to ask, and it didn’t beKeve Jim'’s an-
swer. There it was, a bit of something
glowing in the darkness, asking if we were
frightened by what we saw of it. | couldn’t
speak. Even Jim could barely utter a
word. He started to whisper that we
weren't afraid, but the light went out.
Then, for a minute or two, there was noth-
ing but a vast silence ... a silence that
itself seemed to be alive. The experiment
had failed. Presently we heard its sound
once more, the sound | had first heard from
it that seemed so mournful, and then it
spoke.

Think of this life; but for my single
self,

| had as Kef not be as live to be
In awe of such a thing as | myself . ..

That was it, you see. It had anticipated
the terror of its existence for human beings.
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Now it was Learning that nothing it might
do could overcome that terror.”

“But why?” | asked.

“1 don't know. | told you that there are
things about it that | know without under-
standing how or why | know.”

“That’s not good enough,” | frowned.
“You ean match that last quotation from
‘Caesar’ with another: ‘These things are be-
yond all use, and | do fear them . . .’ but
it doesn't stand up. 1've never liked the
nameless terror angle—not convincing.
Take the line from ‘The Merchant of
Venice' that goes: ‘Nature hath framed
strange fellows in her time’ and combine it
with one from ‘A Midsummer Night's
Dream’ that says: ‘A very gentle beast, and
of a good conscience.” Why shouldn’'t that
be the more logical reaction of an intel-
ligent man? Why fear a thing for its
~strangeness alone? Why shouldn’t it work
out happily— for instance, you invite scien-
tists and others there, and this fantastic
Thing—we’ll call it the Metal Monster—
that's good, by the way—anyway, this
Thing turns out to be a great force for
good.”

“You think it might?” he asked.

“I think it should.”

“‘That's what Jim seems to think, as
much as | can tell,.” He was thoughtful a
moment. “But why doesn’t it want us to
teH others about it? And why did it end
that night by asking us to bring more peo-
ple to the yards without telling them about
it?”

“AH night,” | offered, “the answer’s in
what you said a few minutes ago. It
thought all humans were like Jim, then it
found out you weren't, and then it wants to
see more, to study them.”

“And what might happen when it finds
out that most people aren't like Jim at all,
that they neact to k as | do—that there is
something about it that is horrible? That
nothing it can do will change that? 1 tell
you there’s something about it that is es-
sentially, completely antagonistic to human
life, and that the Thing itself is beginning
to understand thatl ”

"1 '"HE vehemence with which he spoke
A confounded me. He sat there staring
at me, his face pale and covered with sweat.
I decided to put an end to the discussion
as soon as | could. “That's a small mat-
ter,” | said as | got up. “The thing’s in
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your bands, to write any way you like. You
can change that part. Have it happen—"

He leaped to his feet and cried out sharp-
ly: “Don’t you understand? My God, don't
you understand? I'm not talking about a
story! 1I'm not inventing this! It’s true,
every word of it—every word!l” He stood
there, his arms straight at his sides, his
hands open and pressed hard against his
thighs. A vein in his forehead stood out
in a line from the disordered tangle of his
hair to his wide, overbright eyes. “Listen
to me, Dave!” he said, fighting to regain
calmness. “That's why | came to you. |
thought you . . .”

Then slowly, very slowly, the tension be-
gan to leave him. His whole body trem-
bled. He sank down on the couch with
his hands limp in his lap and the tears
rolled down his cheeks. He sobbed quietly
for a minute or two, and once he tried to
speak. “There’s Jean too,” he whispered
in a broken voice. “It’s done something to
her ... 1 don't know what . . . and I'm
afraid, terribly afraid. . . .”

I waited until | thought it was all right
to talk to him. “I didn’'t know, Elly, 1
said. | sat down beside him. “I want to
be honest with you. 1'm prepared to talk
this thing out or do anything you want me
to dp, but just to satisfy me, I want you to
let ihe call a friend of mine, a doctor— "

He shook his head. “No. | can't tell
anyone else. You don't know how difficult
it was for me to tell you. | had to stay
away from there for a few days. I'll be
afraid to go back, even though I must go
back. The Thing may know I've told you.
I can't tell anyone else. | mustn't "

“1 don't intend to have you tell him. |
just want him to give you a quick once-
over. Don’t look at me that way. | mean
you're too worked up over thi9 thing. You
need something to quiet you down. Maybe
you're sick—"

“You don't believe a word |'ve—"

“1 do believe you, but that doesn’'t mean
you can't be side. Maybe if you were in
better health you'd see this whole thing
differently— the way Jim sees it, for exam-
ple. Will you let me call him?”

When he made no answer | got up and
crossed the room to the phone. | dialed at
random and got the jammed buzz for no
number and spoke into the phone. “Hello,
is the doctor in? . . . David Reed. . . .”
| waited, then said: “Hello, Mort? . . .

Yes; can you c*me here right away? . . ,
Oh, | see ... Yes ... No bother; 1'H
be right down . . . Okay.” | replaced the
receiver and went back to Hammond. “He’s
put his car away for the night,” I said. “I
agreed to drive over and bring him in mine.
It won't take fifteen minutes. You’Hwait,
won't you, Elly?”

He looked at me and nodded and | left.
| drove the few blocks to the doctor’s house
in three or four minutes. He was home, as
he usually is, being a specialist with reg-
ular hours at an uptown office. | outlined
the story to him in the car, using up the
full fifteen minutes. When we got to my
house, Elly was gone.

On the bottom of the sheet with my notes
he had written: Sorry | bothered you. |
felt much better after you left and decided
to go home. |'tt be at the office in the morn-
ing. Give me a buzz. Many thanks. El-
liot.

HTHAT was that. The doctor stayed

1awhile and | reconstructed the story in
detail from my notes and we talked about
it. He didn't agree with me that Elliot
should be confined for observation, as |
had more or less planned when | went to
get Mort.

Mort said: “1°d say no, on several counts.
First, the very act of confining him might
produce a severe psychological shock, espe-
cially since you say he’s a person of con-
siderable sensitivity. From what you've
told me it seems plain enough that he’s on
the verge of what is loosely called a ner-
vous breakdown, but only on the verge.
What might happen to him if he were put
under observation for two weeks, say?
What about such things as his job? What
about the effect on his reputation?”

“What if he gets worse?”

“What do you mean by worse?” Com-
plete hallucinations? Violence?”

“Violence.”

“1'd say the chances are against it. As-
suming, as it seems to be, that this upheaval
is the result of his losing the girl he loves,
what does it show? Certainly no evidence
of violence, either committed or impending.
He’s not the man for violence. He’s been
in love with this girl for years, and then
the first time she meets this other man, he
watches her fall in love with him almost
instantaneously. In his mind he begins to
placate his outraged feelings; he connects
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that phenomenon with another that justi-
fies it. He invents this weird creature and
credits it with powers of compulsion. On
the surface he tells his story so that it ap-
pears he is afraid of this compulsion partly
for himself and partly for some generalized
concept of humanity.

“Omy when he’s pressed does it come out
that he also believes it has affected this
girl, too. It’s simple enough then: his
subconscious, or one part of it, says to
him, "You didn't lose the girl to him—you
lost her because of that creature, that
monster.” He locates the habitat of this
creature right next to his friend’s home.
He changes the nature of the unacknowl-
edged conflict between him and his friend
to one where his friend is more or less on
the creature’s side, sympathetic to it, and
he implies that his friend knows a good
deal about it that he, your friend, does not.”

‘TJUT the story is so detailed, so fan-
~  tastically elaborate,” | objected.

“It has to be, for a man of high intel-
ligence. The first one he has to convince
is himself, and no ordinary story will do.
It has to be something like what it is.
And it's a well guarded story, too, for
there's another part of his subconscious
guarding it. That part knows the story
mustn't be repeated, therefore he teHs you
that his friend doesn’t want to tell others.
The assumption is that if you should ask
his friend and get the anticipated denial,
you still theoretically wouldn't know
whether it wasn't because his friend was
covering up the truth—or even whether his
friend wasn't under the same compulsion
not to speak about it

“But if he himself is under such a com-
pulsion, how could he tell you about it?
I don't know how he justifies it to himself,
but he must have a subconscious loophole.
He told you he had to stay away from
there for a few days, implying that he
thus weakened this creature’s power over
him, and he adds that even then it was
vary difficult for him to do it.

“Still, he had to have a reason for telling
you at all. Why shouldn’t this private
justification be enough for him? For one,
you've told him that his friends are gossip-
ing about him. Now he realizes that his
loss has a public aspect to it. It becomes
necessary for him to try to justify it to
others. You're a good friend of his, but

more, you've become identified, in his mind,
with all the people who are talking about
him. If he can convince you, he satisfies
himself that he has gotten at the others, or
could have, had he told them the story.

“But remember this is guarded, subcon-
scious reasoning. When you tell him you
want to bring a doctor, he immediately
raises his guard. As mi instrument you're
overstepping the bounds of the role to which
he assigned you. His subconscious decides
that he’s failed to make you understand
because you're too stupid or foo unreceptive
or some such thing— something your fault
and not his. He does what he thinks is a
clever thing and leaves you a note'imply-
ing that he agrees with your unspoken diag-
nosis that something is wrong with him.
Thus he keeps his story alive and away
from possible challenges. Challenges are
the one thing that he can’t stand, precisely
because there is a part of his subconscious
that knows the truth of the matter.

“And that’s where the hope lies. Had
he consented to tell me the story, I'm afraid
I'd be more inclined to agree with you.
The typical breakdown case may be some-
what reluctant at times, but he tells his
story to many, always in thelhope that he
will convince someone, and always because
he can see no real reason not to tell what
is the truth to him.

“In a large part, however, you have
helped him. You've been the vessel into
which he poured his disguised woes. The
very fact that he spoke about it to a second
person now gives him something of an ob-
jective way to look at the story; it's no
longer in his mind alone. The telling was
a fair catharsis in itself, and there’s a good
chance that from here in he’ll begin to come
out of it. There might even be a good
deal more truth in his note than I think.
In any case, 1'd let matters alone for the
time being. Don't tell anyone else and call
him tomorrow. Be casual. Try to see him,
but don’t force your presence on him. He
may be pretty well embarrassed by the
whole thing. You agree?”

“You're the doctor,” | said—D. V. R.

(TEXT OFALETTER FROM LEO-
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FOLD SCHUMER TO DAVID V.
REED, NOVEMBER 10, 1943)

My dear Mr. Reed:

1 must tell you 1 am puzzled that
your friend, Mr. Broome, who was here
Saturday, has not written to you, as he
gave me his assurance. Otherwise, why
should I receive your letter this morn-
ing7 But perhaps it is that Mr. Broome
is writing late?

1 cannot here answer all yonr ques-
tions. Please sympathize with the
hardship of dictating in English and
the lack of time. Also, to do so is not
half so good as for us to sit down and
talk together for an hour or two, which
1 will be most glad to do.

The diary of which I wrote you makes
progress. It goes unevenly, good one
day. disappointing the next. But I am
satisfied to see Hr. Hammond writing
it, and 1 watch over his work most care-
fully, as you understand, it is too
soon to estimate the value of the con-
tent, but the undertaking itself is
important. | say frankly that I am very
hopeful but one must be prepared for
anything. | guard against the sudden
impulse, always possible, which may
cause him to destroy his work, by each
day copying whatever he writes.

The most pronounced omission from
the diary is the mention of the box.

Neither in his talks with me has Mr.
Hammond made any reference to it. This
may be because he is aware, as 1 am

quite sure now, that | read what he
writes. Or it may be that it is of no
consequence. With the other hand, 1
have the suspicion, the feeling, that
it is perhaps a matter of great impor-
tance, after all, because of his mem-
ory 6f the address. But of these things
we will talk.

The box, as you describe it, must be
the one, a large wooden box covered
with brown leather and gold figures and
a small lock. 1 am most eager to see
it, of course. The best thing would
have been for you to send it here when
you got it Saturday, but it is now too
late to save time if you are coming this
Friday. But no more delays, please, 1
request of you, as it is my intention
to let him know you are coming with it.
With most excellent regards, I remain,

Yours sincerely,

Leopold Schumer

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

T found the box described in Leopold
# Schumer’s first letter after two days of
ransacking a warehouse filled with antique
furniture, china, lamps, books, paintings,
and the odds and ends of an eccentric old
man’s collections of thirty years. | got it,
after urgent pleading and explanations, for
ten dollars. It was rotting and the gold
tooling almost obliterated, the lock filed
with sand. It was the only box of a great
many that fitted the description—D. V. R.

November 11, 1943

QCHUMER says this temporary ill-

ness will pass. Even | speak of it
now as a temporary illness, though I
know what it is and | wonder how much
time there is. Not much, | think. For
two days | have hardly been able to
move and | haven't written more than
a few lines. And yesterday, for the
first time since | began to feel better,
I imagined | saw those ghost crabs
again.

| say imagined just as | say tempo-
rary. Even suggestibility can become
a habit. Schumer has been telling me
for so long that it is my imagination
that even in the privacy of my thoughts
| use his words, unsuitable, often un-
truthful, though they are.

Yesterday was warm and | expected
a long day of writing. | sat on the sun
porch, composing my thoughts, review-
ing my work and planning its most dif-
ficult phases, now arriving. | found I
could think even of the deaths with
some detachment. Full and vivid in
their horror, still they took their places
in my memory without occasioning a
single lapse.

The great problem remains the re-
production of our conversations with
the Thing. They remain words on pa-
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per, lacking the dimensions of majesty
and terror. Understanding why this
must be is little help to me at this point.
Twice now | have attempted to write
of the Thing in some detail and have
had to give it up altogether, yet with-
out it there can be little

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

TAROM what Hammond writes two para-
4 graphs later, it appears that he was
aware of some of his lapses and non
sequiturs— indeed, several have been en-
closed in penciled brackets for editing by
him at a later date. However, it does seem
likely that he did not realize their fre-
guency completely, for some are repeated
again and again. Even when it is realized
that this entry and the one following were
written over many hours, with many halts
and chaotic resumptions, there is some evi-
dence for the belief that his words were a
form of self-hypnosis, and though he denies
it as often as he admits it, that the lapses
were intimately connected with this hyp-
nosis—D. V. R.

Yesterday | stopped because | looked
up for a moment and my gaze fell on
the rock garden outside. One of the
groups of plants is surrounded by heaps
of large, oval white pebbles. The in-
stant | looked at them they became
hard, translucent balls of flesh and then
changed until I saw in them the stony
claws of the ghost crabs. The circle is
drawing tighter, closing itself.

Schumer says Dave Reed is coming
either tomorrow night or Saturday, and
in preparation | will remain in my room
and write. Whatever does not come

easily will wait, yesterday’s note in-
cluded. Even if | believed in it, which
| do not. If not, then why write all
this? The compulsion is still there.
Have | come so close that I must say |
do not believe to keep going?

There was no sleep the night we first
saw part of the Thing. Jim and | were
up till dawn talking about it. We dis-
cussed our disagreement, neither of us
certain of what we intended doing, yet
somehow feeling we had made our de-
cisions. We were exploring our own
minds, trying to find these decisions.
When | left him, | knew | wasn’t com-
ing back for a few days. | wanted to
think about it alone.

There was trouble at the paper. The
old man had a talk with me when |
came in to deliver some of the stuff 1'd
done. He said they’d been checking
my facts and found serious mistakes,
and my writing was off, lacked interest
and so on. He offered to take me off
the assignment and suggested | take
my vacation earlier than 1'd scheduled.
I refused; my work was the one thing
I needed to occupy my mind. So for
two days | worked like a demon and at
night, exhausted as | was, | took sleep-
ing pills and locked myself into night-
mares.

Then one morning | got up and knew
what | had decided. 1| was going to
tell someone the story. Dave Reed had
written me a note asking me to call
him, but 1'd been too busy to remem-
ber. There was some nonsense enclosed
about people gossiping about Jean and
I, and that was what decided me, |
think. Reed wasn’t the best kind of
person to entrust with secrets, but he
was easy-going and level-headed, and
not the sort to be bewildered by some-
thing like what | intended to tell him.
Or so | thought.

It was a mistake from the start. |
remember what | went through before
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I summoned the strength to go to his
home, and the way it fell apart in my
hands, and the memory has not lost
any of its bitter taste. All day | fought
to sustain my decision. There was
something almost tangible that kept
trying to stop me. Even when | was
on the train on the way there, | got off
once and started back, and then
changed again and continued on. | had
phoned him during the afternoon and
found his phone disconnected, as usual.
But | didn’t call him in the evening,
when | knew very well the phone would
be working. And | understood the
workings of my mind there. | wouldn’t
call when | knew he might answer be-
cause | still couldn’t commit myself.
The moment before | rang his bell 1
felt an almost irresistible impulse to
turn away and leave; the moment after
| rang | prayed he wouldn’'t be home.
When | spoke to him | skirted the edges
of what | had come there to tell him,
and when | finally told him, it was in
the guise of a story for his mill.

I wonder what he might have said
had | told him directly, with no pre-
tense or discussion. As it was he sat
and made notes and offered changes,
and everything he said fell into the
familiar pattern of the things he usually
wrote. He had a label for everything.
He even had a name for the Thing.
“We’'ll call it the. metal monster,” he
said once, in great satisfaction. And
when | finally told him that every word
1'd said was the truth, he was stunned.
It was too much for him, after all.

D EMEMBERING it now, | wonder

v if it wouldn’t have been too much
for anyone. It wasn’t for Maria or for
Kathy Gray, as it wasn’'t for others,
but then, they knew. It was different,
knowing. Still, there was a moment
when | thought he believed me, when |
thought | hadn’'t made a mistake com-

ing to him. And then he went to get
a doctor— he thought 1 was sick, he
said.

I left before he got back. | added
a note to his own, telling him I felt bet-
ter, hoping the matter would end there.
Later | found out that he called me sev-
eral times at my office the next two
days, and | suppose he called me at
home too. He didn’'t get me because
something happened to me.

When | got home that night | found
Maria Denisov waiting for me. She
had talked the superintendent into let-
ting her Into my apartment. | knew
Maria and her sister, Tamara, through
the Besters. Rollie Bester, who was a
radio actress, had appeared in a sketch
written by Tamara and they had be-
cgnre good friends. There was a time,
months before, when a group of us had
gone away for a week-end in the moun-
tains, the Lincoln’s birthday week-end,
I think. It had rained a lot and we'd
stayed indoors drinking around the fire-
place, and one thing with another,
Maria and 1'd had a short romance.
Not that one had to drink to become
infatuated with Maria— the failing was
mine. That first night she danced on
a table— she was one of the finest danc-
ers in the ballet theatre— and jumped
down into my arms, and | didn’t let go.
Not until the long week-end was over,
and then, well, we understood and
stayed good friends. | suppose she
thought of Jeanand I . . . but I'll try
to explain.

I should explain, | suppose. This
part of my life seemed to be very im-
portant when they

What is there to say in explanation?
How is one to explain what was itself
a mystery for so long? | can only say

And then, perhaps the details? It
should be understood.

I was so glad to see her. . . .

We hadn’t met in months and | didn’t
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know why she had come and it didn't
matter. Wheh | stopped in the door-
way, surprised to find the lights on, the
sound of the door opening brought her
from the kitchen. She was holding a
brandy inhalor glass half filled with
Scotch and she put it down on a table
as she came hurrying to me.

I closed the door and she stood be-
fore me, holding both my hands in hers,
looking at me. There was concern un-
der her smile and she shook her head.
Softly she said, “Elly, they told me and
| didn’t believe them, but you do look
bad.” And then, when | didn't say
anything, her smile vanished and she
whispered, “Hello, Elly.”

“Hello, Maria,” | said.

It didn’t come to me, not at all, not
until the next morning. She was too
much for me in so many ways, in the
mysterious ways of her mind and in
her beauty. In her child’s eyes, dark
as jewels, there was a bewildering syn-
thesis of innocence and worldliness.
Her long, jet-black hair formed a
braided tiara for her, and her high,
delicate cheekbones and the soft lines
of her lips made you think of illustra-
tions you hadn’t seen since you were
very young, when you read about prin-
cesses and knights and the dream world
where all things came true. She was
someone you had seen many times
since, but you never remembered— you
never thought of closing your eyes and
trying to capture your memory, so you
never knew she was who she was when
you were near her— because a dream is
hard to remember, and, essentially, she
was a dream, at least for me.

Oh, | don't say | thought of these
things then. The nearest | ever came
to realizing them was the next morning
— the nearest before it was too late.

'yX/'E SAT and talked and after
T awhile | began to forget the ter-

ror that had been with me for so long.
She was a wonderful talker. Her slight
changes of expression, an often superb
gesture, the way %%he would phrase
things, were touched with a rare artis-
try. She told me of some of the people
she had recently met at the Besters—
their home was a parade ground for
endless specimens; types, Maria called
them, the mis-matched and unmatched
and unmatchables— with saucy pout-
ings and eloquent shoulders, wkh here
an inflection recalled exactly and here
the hip movement of a fruity actor. It
was nice to laugh again.

Late that night we walked along the
riverfront until we found a bar near
Battery Park and we drank the old
drinks, the drinks we had had that
week-end long ago— egg-nog and hot
toddy in August. When we walked
home | felt better than | had in weeks,
and the next morning | began to under-
stand how much in love with her | was.

We rose early and drove to Connecti-
cut and then went back to the place in
the country where we had been together
for the first time. It was crowded with
summer visitors but we didn’t care. Our
two day

(TEXT OF A LETTER FROM EL-
LIOT HAMMOND TO DAVID V.
REED, OFFERED IN EVIDENCE
BY THE DEFENSE AND AC-
CEPTED AS EXHIBIT 19.)

August 7, 1941

Dear Dave:

1 hardly know
wonderful news.

how to tell you the
Maria has been writ-
ing letters for the past hour and 1
realized that if | waited, I would be
scooped on my own story. The news is
that Maria and I were married in Green-
Connecticut, The

wich, yesterday.
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familiar postmark on the envelope
should tell you the rest: we are honey-
mooning here. 1 haven’t told the of-
fice yet (as you may know if you’ve
called me there) and 1 don’t know when
1 will, because 1 don"t know how long
we’ll stay.

1 wanted you to know from me not only
because 1, in your place, would be ir-
ritated learning it second hand, but
for your recent kindness, and, possi-
bly, your peace of mind. I am happier
than I have been in all my life. Maria
just asked me whom 1 was writing and
when 1 told her, she asked me to send
you her best regards, to which 1 add
mine.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF DAVID V. REED, DE-
FENSE WITNESS, ON CROSS EX-
AMINATION BY DISTRICT AT-
TORNEY MALCOLM O'DAY)

Q. Mr. Reed, how long have you
known Elliot Hammond?

A. Quite a long time, off and on. We
went to school together and met in our

junior year. That would be six years
ago.
Q. I see. Did you also know James

Shilling as a student?

A. Only casually— enough to nod to.

Q. And how well did you know Mr.
Haim—I'll change that. Mr. Reed,
would you say that you were a close
friend of Mr. Hammond'’s?

A. What do you mean by close?

Q. | don't think there’s any mystery
attached to the word “close.” | am ask-
ing a question directed at determining
the relationship between Mr. Ham-
mond and yourself. Were you one of
his confidants? Was your friendship
close enough for him to single you out
as the recipient of his confidences?

Would you consider yourself his best
friend?

A. Which of those questions do you
want me to answer?

Q. I would be greatly obliged if you
would answer all of them, in the sense
that your answer would give us a pic-
ture of your relationship. | am trying
to arrive at some idea of your relation-
ship.

A. We have always been good
friends. | wouldn’t say | was Mr. Ham-
mond’s best friend, nor—

Q. Excuse me. Were you one of his
best friends?

A. I'm sorry, Mr. O'Day, | don't
know how to answer that question. |
don’t think I ever weighed any of my
friendships in quite—

Q. Mr. Reed, | do not want to en-
gage in a battle of diction. | want you
to forget for a moment, if you can, that
you are a writer. | want you to con-
sider my words unprofessionally. There
is no need for us to be spending all this
time on such a simple matter. | am
asking a simple question.

A. Will you ask me the simple ques-
tion again, please?

Q. I'll put it this way, Mr. Reed.
We have here a letter from Mr. Ham-
mond to you in which he tells you of
his marriage. We also know that he
did not— [I'll change that. There is
no evidence to prove that he wrote any-
one else of his marriage. Now, what
| want to know is this: was your friend-
ship with Mr. Hammond of such a na-
ture that it justified his telling you
alone of his marriage?

A. Mr. Hammond evidently thought
so. | suppose it was for him to decide.

Q. You were not surprised when you
learned that he had told only you?

A. He knew very well—he says so
in this letter— that Mrs. Hammond was
writing a lot of other people, so it was
unnecessary for him—
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Q. Were you surprised, Mr. Reed?

A. Nothing Mr. Hammond could
have done those days would have sur-
prised—

Q. Were you surprised, Mr. Reed?.

A. No.

Q. It did not occur to you that he
had singled you out as the one recip-
ient of this news because he had
planned something that made it impor-
tant—

MR. WELLS: Your Honor, I must
object to Mr. O’Day’s method of im-
puting motives by means of his leading

qguestions. He might as well ask if
Mr. Reed—
MR. JUSTICE REVERE: Sus-

tained. Mr. O’Day, the State has an
obligation to establish its case through
evidence, not through so-called ques-
tions purely designed to tell the jury
something. You see what | mean, don’t
you? Never mmd; just continue.

Have | made it clear? Sometimes
when | think of those two days, those
happy, happy days, it seems to me that
all my life had been shaped toward
reaching them. There were so many
chances for them never to have hap-
pened, and even the way they came
about was so fraught with the possi-
bility of them never happening, that I
began to think something was terribly
wrong. | don’t know what it is in the
human mind that makes only unhappi-
ness real. | was living in a dream that
had come true, and because | began to
know it, I became afraid again.

But it may not have been that alone,
for fear feeds on fear, and buried with-
in me— buried close to the surface in a
hurriecj, shallow grave and imperfectly
covered by my happiness— there was

still the fear of what | knew and could
not forget. It took a vagrant, unimpor-
tant thing to prove it.

On the afternoon of our second day
away, Maria and | sat in the living
room, the room where she had danced
that night long before. She was writ-
ing her sister and others of our mar-
riage. We were in no hurry to let peo-
ple know— I hadn’t even thought of it.
Then | realized | ought perhaps do the
same. | took over the table near the
clean-swept fireplace and began. | de-
cided to get the less important letters
out of the way first, not that any of
the letters presented special problems,
but in the nature of such things there is
always a division. Certainly | wanted
to write longer and more thoughtful,
more personal, letters to Jim and Jean
and Tamara than | did to Reed or the
Besters and others. So | wrote the
first one to Reed. | remember it be-
cause of the associations it began, and
what followed.

| had barely sealed the brief note
when my glance fell to the red clay
pavement that surrounded the hearth,
A shaft of sunlight slanted through the
blinds to form a yellow spotlight on the

stone. Two ants came struggling into
the light. They were carrying a bit of
leaf. | watched them carry their bur-

den across the clay, and.the envelope
I still held became intolerably heavy.
In that instant | remembered every-
thing. Everything | had said to Reed
seemed to be inside the envelope. |
saw the ants that were slowly destroy-
ing the pier where Jim lived, and the
pavement melted under the sunlight
and became thick, viscious mud the
color of dried blood.

It bubbled and burst slowly and out
of its depths rose the disintegrating
fragments of bits of things | couldn’t
identify until 1 thought about them.
Then | knew they were chips of metal
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woven together with minute scraps of
living tissue. | knew that there was no
granule, no crumb of substance that
was without the threat of life. . . .

The threat of life.

I went outside. It wasn’t until later,
when Maria had finished her letters and
came to find me, that she knew some-
thing was terribly wrong. | remember
I was sitting at the edge of a pond not
far from the house, staring at the mud.

I could hardly talk to her. More
than anything | wanted to tell her, but
I couldn’'t. It seemed to me that to
tell her was to place her life within the
scope of some danger, some monstrous
and wicked danger, | had not yet fath-
omed. | could not tell her.

~NipHAT evening we returned to the
city.

We had looked forward to the first
time when we would share my home as
man and wife. We were to plan our
future home together.f There were
things to be done, Maria’s clothes and
some of her belongings moved. Instead
| sat at the window, drinking until my
head reeled, afraid to speak to her be-
cause | might tell her if | started to
speak. | couldn't know what she
thought, but the anguish in her face
was too strong for her to hide, and |1
finally ran out of the house.

| didn’t intend going to see Jim at
first. | didn’t even know | was going
until I found myself approaching the
yards. | knew only that | was walking
down a long, unlit street, and that when
| stopped, | recognized the watchmen’s
shacks and the office buildings. One of
the watchmen came to the gate and
spoke to me, and whether it was be-
cause he had been drinking or whether
my confusion made him uncertain, he
didn’t recognize me at first and | had
trouble getting into the yards. But I
got in. And almost immediately.

The way it happened, | couldn’t be
sure at first

There doesn’t seem to be much use
trying to go on. | don’t know how long
I have been sitting here, staring at this
page. How long has it been dark? Just
a few minutes ago, when | last looked,
the afternoon had scarcely begun. |
remember telling Schumer through the
door that I wasn’'t hungry. | didn't
want to go down to dinner. But when
was this tray of food brought in? The
food is quite cold; it has been here for
hours. The house is so quiet.

I am too tired to continue. Perhaps
after a few hours of sleep | will be able
to try once

The moment | started across the
yards | knew that something was hap-
pening there that night. It is impos-
sible to sleep. The house is too quiet.
I lie awake and wait for a sound. |
cannot close my eyes because | am
afraid of what I may see when | open
them again. Is it at all possible that
it is still alive? There is a kind of
sound that is soundless, a sound that
one hears only with one’s mind. | hear
that sound from far off now, as | heard
it that night. | knew the Thing was
with Jim. The gaunt, horrible metal
skeletons watched me as | walked
through the yards, and | had the sense
of their passing the word of my coming

down along the way | had to go. My
head was aching terribly. | must have
lost my way several times. When |

heard the sea roaring along the shore,
and | still hadn’'t found the familiar
path that led to the pier, | didn’t know
which way to turn. | continued on
until I reached the end of the yards and
stepped down to the beach. There, as
far as | could see, | found no light, no
landmark to guide me. | must continue
writing. There may be no time left
soon. | know that the sound | seem
to hear is only my imagination, that |
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am making it come alive again by re-
membering that night. Schumer is
right, of course. But if he is wrong?
What if he is wrong? How familiar
exhaustion is to me. It is the most
beautiful drug in the world. My arms
are too heavy to lift. | have long since
lost all sense of the rest of my body.
I am a disembodied brain directing a
hand to write. Fatigue transforms this
room. It lends the light from this lamp
a hundred colors. The walls disappear.
There is no longer a room. There is
nothing. There is only my mind and
what it remembers, and, barely visible,
a hand with a pen in it, and pages of
paper covered with irregular writing.
This is the same fatigue | felt that
night, the same utter exhaustion. |
sank to the beach, unable to move.
Then | heard the beginning, of a scream.
It lasted perhaps a fraction of an in-
stant before it was cut off. | crawled
back to the ridge and made my way in
the direction from which | thought it
had come. As soon as | reached the
ridge | found the turnoff to the pier,
and there, quite close, was the house-
boat. Jim was there. | could see him
standing on the deck from the light
that came through the windows. The
light inside must have been turned on
a moment before, or 1I'd have seen it
earlier, the first time | crossed the ridge.
There was a girl standing close to him.
She was in his arms and he was Kissing
her. She was crying very quietly and
he was kissing her and talking to her.
Then suddenly she wrenched herself
free and | saw who she was.
Then | heard the Thing.

Come, lovely and soothing death,
Undulate round the world, serenely,
Arriving arriving. . . .

There was terror on her face. She

staggered backward and then she be-
gan to run. Jim stood there and raised
a hand after her and called out, “Don’t,
Kathy!” and then he covered his face
with his hands, but by the time she had
reached the pier he was looking again
and he saw it happen. A little pink
tongue of flame flashed to life in midair
just before her. Then she was gone.
The flame vanished. The sound of her
footsteps stopped all at once and there
was nothing else.

Later, after | heard Jim talking to the
Thing, | began to understand. It was
either that, or 1 was mad. But in the
end | knew, and everything | did I had
to do because | knew. | remember the
way her body looked, lying mangled in
the swamp, torn and broken and still
warm when | found it. And the other
things, the

Something gave me the strength to
crawl back to the beach and I lay there
and looked at the black heavens and
the stars. | must have been there a
long time. | thought about God. . . .

The night was half gone and the tide
started to come in and the waves washed
over me. | got up and went back to
where her body lay, and | remembered
the voice:

So softly death succeeded life in her,
She did but dream of heaven, and she
was there).

| tried to tell Jean but she wouldn’t
listen.
Then | told Maria.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF JAMES MULVANEY,
STATE'S WITNESS, ON DIRECT
EXAMINATION BY DISTRICT
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ATTORNEY MALCOLM O'DAY)

Q. Mr. Mulvaney, will you be so
good as to tell the Court exactly what
your position at the scrap depot en-
tailed and how long you were employed
in that position?

A. I'm still there. | been there, out
on the bay, for three years now, since
it was owned by the Acme Reclaiming
people, the corporation, that is. 1'm the
head watchman. That means I'm in
charge of four other watchmen, but I
take split shifts, so’s I'm there some
part of the day and part of the night.

Q. And were you at the yards dur-
ing the night of August 7th?

A. | was there all night. 1 used to
sleep over in the summer if we were
having a hot spell, it being so near the
water and cool.

Q. Did you see Mr. Hammond that
night?

A. | did.

Q. How many times?

A. Twice. Once when he came and
once when he left.

Q. W.ill you tell us about both occa-
sions in your own words, please?

A. Well, the first time was past
eleven at night. | remember the time
because it was strange, Mr. Hammond
coming out there so late. | seen him
coining down the street but | didn't
have any idea it was him or any of Mr.
Shilling’s friends, not only because it
was so late but because | seen this man
was drunk. At least he walked as if
he was. He came weaving down the
street and | thought to myself—

MR. CHARLES WELLS. Your
Honor, | object to the witness setting
himself up as a judge of sobriety, and
to his continued expressions of opinion.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. Sus-
tained. The witness will confine his
testimony to what he saw and heard.
Proceed.

A. Well, Mr. Hammond came over
to the gate and rattled it, so | went to
see who it was. He told me he wanted
to see Mr. Shilling. 1 knew who he
was, of course, but I could smell the
whiskey on his breath and | played
dumb. You see, there was a guest of
Mr. Shilling’s out on the houseboat, a
young lady—

Q. The young lady whose photo-
graph you have identified as Miss Gray?

A. That's right. Anyway, | didn’t
have the right to keep out any of Mr.
Shilling’s friends, so I finally let him in.
I saw him go as far as the main pass.
He was walking pretty slow and he
stumbled once or twice, even with the
gate lights on. Then | went inside and
rang up Mr. Shilling, but no one an-
swered the phone. | knew he was
there, but he didn’'t answer the phone,
so there was nothing more | could do.

Q. When did you see Mr. Hammond
again?

A. Just after three o’clock. | went
inside the shack a minute to get my
tobacco pouch and | heard footsteps
on the walk. | looked out the window
and | seen Mr. Hammond. He was
half running, you might say. His hair
was all down over his face and he was
wet clear through, like he’d gone in
swimming with all his clothes on. |
could hear the water squishing in his
shoes. He ran to the gate and that was
the last I saw of him that night. |
thought about trying to get Mr. Shilling
on the phone but I looked at my watch
and saw what time it was and | decided
it could wait until morning.

Q. Had you left your chair near the
gate at any time before that time you
went for your pouch? Your post there,
that is?

A. No, sir. That was the first time
that night | went into the shack, or
was away from the gate. Even then |
could see it plain.
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Q. Didyou speak to Mr. Shilling the
next day about this matter?

A. 1 did. I told him everything, just
like I've said it here.

Q. What did Mr. Shilling say?

A. He didn’t believe me. He got
very upset about the whole thing and
seemed to think | was lying for some
reason. Then after a bit he calmed
down and told me that as far as he
knew, Mr. Hammond had left about
midnight. He said Mr. Hammond had
left with Miss Gray half an hour after
he got there, and he didn’'t understand
it.

Q. You saw Miss Gray arrive with
Mr. Hammond, as you have previously
testified. That is so, isn't it?

A. Yes. They came in about eight
o’clock, just when I did.

Q. And you did not see Miss Gray
leave?

A. No, sir, | did not.

Q. Could she have left without your
seeing her?

A. No, sir. No one could get in or
out that gate without my seeing it.

Q. So you never saw Miss Gray
leave? You're positive of that?

A. Absolutely.

{EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF JAMES MULVANEY,
STATE’'S WITNESS, ON CROSS EX-
AMINATION BY DEFENSE AT-
TORNEY CHARLES WELLS)

Q. Mr. Mulvaney, did you ever
drink any intoxicating beverages while
on duty at the gate?

A Well, no, not intoxicating bever-
ages.

Q. May I remind you, Mr. Mul-
vaney, that you are testifying under
oath?

A, | don't consider beer an intoxi-
cating beverage.

Q. Have you ever gotten drunk on
beer?

A. Never.
Q. But you've heard of it happen-
ing?

A. Well, I've heard of it.
Q. Did you drink any beer on the
night of August 7?

A. Yes.

Q. How much?

A. Some. A few bottles, | guess.

Q. Ten bottles?

A. Seven or eight I'm not sure.

Q. Then it might be ten?

A. It’s possible.

Q. Or twelve?

A. It’s possible. | don’t remember.

Q. But you do remember not being
drunk?

A. | was most certainly not drunk.

Q. All right, Mr. Mulvaney. Now
then, you smoke a pipe, do you not? |
heard you mention that you went into
the shack to get your pouch of tobacco.
| take it then that you meant smoking
tobacco?

A. That’s right.

Q. Will you tell me how many times
you went into that shack to get your
tobacco? Just once? How many times?

A. Just that once. | don’t smoke .
much. Maybe two or three pipefuls a
day and then one before | turn in, to
settle my stomach.

Q. Then that last pipeful was just
before you went to sleep that night?

A. That’s right.

Q. Mr. Mulvaney, you have testified
that Miss Gray could not have left
the yards that night without you seeing
her leave. Now it turns out that you
went to sleep shortly after three o’clock
that night. Was it not possible for Miss
Gray to have left the yards some time
after you were asleep, without you see-
ing her?
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A. Well, yes, but Mr. Shilling said
she’'d left about twelve and—

Q. Never mind that. Just answer
ves or no. It was possible for Miss
Gray to have left there after you were
asleep?

A. Yes

Q. Then you don't really know
whether she left or not?

A. That’s right.

Q. But you're positive that Miss
Gray did not leave the yards at any
time before three o’clock?

A. I'm positive.

Q. After twelve bottles of beer?

A. | know what | seen and | know
what | didn’t see. 1'm positive.

Q. That's fine. Thank you, Mr.
Mulvaney, you're excused. With the
Court’s permission, I will now call to
the stand Mr. Thomas Stapley as wit-
ness for the defense.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. Mr.
Wells, is this witness intended, that is,
are you summoning a witness to pursue
this matter of Miss Gray’s arrival and
departure further? If that is the case,
and | assume that is the case, | should
like to point out that the defendant is
not on trial for the murder of Miss
Gray, or for any act committed against
her person. It seems to me that the
District Attorney has introduced an
unfortunate circumstance in this case,
in that the main charges are being for-
gotten, and this whole side episode has
taken on much more importance than
seems necessary. | should like— Did
you want to say something, Mr. O’'Day?

DISTRICT ATTORNEY O'DAY.
Your Honor, the State has a definite
purpose in pursuing this matter. This
purpose will shortly be made evident.
It is not a matter of a side episode but
part of the entire case, or it would not
have been introduced. We are well
aware of the central bearing of this case,
but what | have said is very true.

MR. WELLS. Your Honor, the
District Attorney has spoken for me as
well. The defense has no alternative
but to pursue this matter further.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE.
well, call your witness, Mr. Wells.

Very

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF MR. THOMAS STAP-
LEY, DEFENSE WITNESS, ON DI-
RECT EXAMINATION BY DE-
FENSE ATTORNEY CHARLES
WELLS)

Q. Mr. Stapley, how long did you
work as night watchman at the yards?

A. Almost a year. | started in Oc-
tober of 40 and was fired August.

Q. Why were you fired, Mr. Stap-
ley?

A. On account of what happened in
the yards and all. We had a lot of cops
and detectives all over the place, you
know, asking everyone a lot of ques-
tions, and it came out about the beer
drinking and all and | got blamed for
it. Somebody had to take the blame.
The company was mad as blazes and
I'd figured on quitting anyway for a
defense job and | liked Mulvaney, he'd
always been a good guy, so | said | was
the one did the drinking. Said I did it
on the sly.

Q. And did you do any drinking?

A. Not for the last six years, |
didn’'t. | got ulcers. | can't.

Q. So on the night of August 7th,
when you were on duty from seven in
the evening until seven the next morn-
ing, you did not drink any beer or any
other intoxicating beverages?

A. | should hope to tell you I didn’t.

Q. Did you see Miss Gray that eve-
ning or the next morning?

A. Yes, I did. | saw her three times,
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twice after midnight.

Q. Will you tell the Court of these
three occasions?

A. The first time was when she came
to the yards with Mr. Shilling. | was
waiting at the gate for Mulvaney and
they all came about the same time.
Then, exactly two-thirty A.M., when |
turned my time-key at the south end of
my patrol, I saw Mr. Shilling walking
with Miss Gray along the path that
leads to the old pier. They both saw
me and they waved to me and Miss
Gray called out, “Good morning,” and
| said the same. The third time | saw
her was around five A.M. | opened the
gate for her and she thanked me and
walked down the street to the end of
the trolley line.

0. Thank you.
O’ Day.

Your witness, Mr.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF MR THOMAS STAP-
LEY, DEFENSE WITNESS, ON
CROSS EXAMINATION BY DIS-
TRICT ATTORNEY MALCOLM
O'DAY)

Q. Mr. Stapley, how do you account
for the fact that you did not offer the
substance of your testimony to any of
the police officers who you say asked
you a lot of questions?

A. They asked a lot of questions,
but none of them was about Miss Gray.
They asked about Mr. Shilling and Mr.
Hammond and Miss Lowell and others
but they didn’t ask about Miss Gray.
| guess that was natural enough because
they didn't even discover Miss Gray’s
body was in the yards until a couple of
days after that other thing happened,

so why should they ask about her?

Q. When were you fired from the
yards?

A. Let's see. That night was the
seventh. Then | was off two days and
then | was sick with an attack of ulcers
one day and the next day that other
thing happened, and two days later I
was fired. That was a Wednesday, |
remember. | was sick on Sunday. That'’s
right. It was the unlucky thirteenth,
only lucky for me because | got a good
job out west.

Q. You have been out west ever
since, | take it? Where, may | ask?

A. With the Eureka Shipyards in
Oregon.

Q. What made you come east to of-
fer your testimony?

A. Mr. Wells had private detectives
trace me. They asked me a lot of
guestions and then said that they want-
ed me to come east when the trial came
up, so’s | could be a witness.

Q. And your expenses, who is pay-
ing for that?

A. Mr. Wells paid for my round trip
ticket and the hotel. I am losing money
by not working, but | consider this a
vacation and a good deed at the same
time if 1 am helping anybody by tell-
ing what | know.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF MRS. MABEL BAILEY,
STATE'S WITNESS, ON DIRECT
EXAMINATION BY DISTRICT
ATTORNEY MALCOLM O’'DAY)

Q. Your address, Mrs. Bailey, is
224 Minetta Lane, is it not?

A. ltis.

Q. And you are owner of the house
at that address?
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A. My brother, Mr. Stanley Bailey,
and | are co-ownens of 222 and 224, but
he lives in Jersey and I live in 224.

Q. And Miss Jean Lowell was a ten-
ant of your in 224?

A. She had apartment A-3 at the
end of the hall, two doors from mine.

Q. Mrs. Bailey, you remember the
morning of August 8th, that is, the early
morning hours following the night of
August 7th, do you not?

A. ldo.
Q. Willyou tell the Court why, Mrs.
Bailey?

A. That was the night Mr. Ham-
mond came hammering at Miss Lowell’s
door.

Q. Exactly what happened, Mrs.
Bailey? From the beginning, please.

A. The first I knew was that some-
<pe was downstairs fn the vestibule,
ringing somebody’s bell. That was
what woke me. Most of the village peo-
ple like loud bells for some reason,
maybe because they’re always having
parties and make so much noise they’re
afraid they’ll miss someone. Anyway,
Miss Lowell’s bell kept ringing and
ringing, until finally the buzzer down-
stairs clicked. Then | heard someone
coming up the stairs. | must have
dozed off after that, because the next
thing | remember is hearing a man’s
voice crying. He was saying the same
thing: “For God’s sake, Jean, let me
in.” Well, it wasn’'t any of my business
except | heard Mbs Lowell say “Please
go home, Elliot,” and she sounded
frightened. And then she had to speak
louder because this man was rattling
her door. It was half past four in the
morning according to my bedside clock,
so | got out of bed and opened my door
and peeped down the hail. | saw Mr.
Hammond standing with his whole body
pressed against Miss Lowell’s door and
he was turning his head from side to
side. | thought be was sick from the

way he looked. His dothes were all
wet and there was a little pool of water
around where he stood. He kept rat-
tling the door and saying all kinds of
things—

Q. Do you remember specifically
any of the things he said?

A. Yes. He said he had to talk to
her about Jim. Then he said he had
seen Kathy Gray with Jim and some-
thing terrible had happened. He kept
saying that he had to talk to her, over
and over. Most of the time Miss Lowell
didn’t answer. Finally Mr. Hammond
walked away. He leaned over, the ban-
nister and was sick, and he kept crying.
Then he went downstairs and left. He
was at Miss Lowell's door for about
fifteen minutes.

Q. Thank you, Mrs. Bailey. Your
witness, Mr. Wells.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF MRS. MABEL BAILEY,
STATE'S WITNESS, ON CROSS
EXAMINATION BY DEFENSE
ATTORNEY CHARLES WELLS)

Q. You have testified it was four-
thirty A.M. when you heard Mr. Ham-
mond that night. You're positive of
the time, aren’t you?

A. Yes, | looked at my dock.

Q. And Mr. Hammond left at ap-
proximately four-forty-five A.M.?

A. Yes.

Q. That'sall. Thank you.

CEXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF MISS TAMARA DENI-
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SOV, STATE'S WITNESS, ON DI-
RECT EXAMINATION BY DIS-
TRICT ATTORNEY MALCOLM
O'DAY)

Q. Miss Denisov, you say you vis-
ited your sister, Maria, on the night of
August 7th. Was there any particular
reason for this?

A. Yes, she telephoned me from Mr.
Hammond’s apartment and asked me
to come. | didn’'t know that she had
been married— | didn’t receive her let-
ter until the next day— but | had been
worried about where she had been for
two days. When she told me she had
married Mr. Hammond, | came over
immediately.

Q. Will you tell us exactly what
happened between you?

A. | got there shortly after ten
oclock. I found my sister in tears,
completely wretched and broken-heart-
cd She"-

MR. CHARLES WELLS. Your
Honor, | object to—

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. Sus-
tained. Miss Denisov, you must not

tell the jury anything except what you
heard and saw.

MISS DENISOV. Your Honor, |
saw that my sister was broken-hearted.
She was crying her eyes out because
of—

MR. O'DAY. Miss Denisov, | must
ask you not to say anything that is a
judgment, anything, that is, beyond a
simple description of what you saw.
Anything else will make your testimony
inadmissable.

A. Very well. My sister kept cry-
ing. | asked her what the matter was.
She told me she thought—

MR. CHARLES WELLS.
Honor, I must object again.

MR. O'DAY. Miss Denisov, will
you please—

MISS DENISOV. Well, what can |

Your

tell you then?

Q. How long did you stay in Mr.
Hammond'’s apartment?

A. Until a quarter past five. He
came home just before five. He opened
the door and staggered in. His clothes
were all wet. He had his eyes closed
and when he opened them he looked at
me but he didn’t say anything. | told
him | had come to take my sister away.
| said | had agreed to wait until he
came home, but now that he was home
| was taking her away. | told him that
she would file for an annulment the
next day. He went to the window and'
picked up a bottle of Scotch and drank
the last third in one gulp. Then he
turned around to me and said in a very
low voice that if | didn’t leave at once,
that he would throw me out of the win-
dow. Then he began to cry. He kept
saying, “You fool, you fool,” and cried.
My sister came to me and asked me to
leave and | did. While I was waiting
for the elevator | heard him begin to
scream. | went back to the door and
listened. He stopped screaming and
began to talk to Maria. | couldn’t hear
what he said. He was speaking in a
very low voice. | stayed there for
about five minutes and it was still quiet,
so | left.

November 12, 1943

J SPENT the morning talking to
Schumer. It appears he waited up
all night last night until | fell asleep,
and then he came in and read what |
had written. This morning he wanted
to talk to me about it. It was the first
time he admitted any of his attempts to
read what | have been writing these
past tWo weeks. | expected him to try
some of his old tricks, but he appeared
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quite earnest and impressed, especially
by what seems to be several references
to this fear of mine, and all in all he
was very receptive.

Essentially he is a man of sense. |
am convinced of that now. | was
greatly interested in his analysis of my
fears, and possibly without his meaning
to accomplish it, he made it seem fool-
ish to me. We went over parts of my
writing which were somewhat obscure,
and | explained as well as | could,
though not everything can be explained.
He is expecting Reed tonight and asked
me to complete these recollections by
then, if 1 can. | look forward to to-
night. The lapses, however, are dis-
turbing. Obviously, with the evidence
here before me, | cannot deny them.

Maria.

It has never been clear to me. |
didn't even know they knew one an-
other, to see each other, that is. No
one did, | think. The only time Kathy
Gray met Jim was on one of those Sun-
day parties, when Craig Ellis brought
her. Ellis told me she was a photogra-
phers’ model who wrote bad poetry.
What you remembered about later was
her long, exquisite legs and her shyness;
she hardly ever spoke. Maybe that was
what drew Jim to her. There was
something else. She reminded me of
Helen Drew, the girl Jim had been en-
gaged to before she married someone
else more in her own New York socialite
circle. Could that have been it? Did
she remind Jim of Helen?

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

nPHE relationship between Shilling and

Kathy Gray has never been established.
During the trial, Attorney Wells introdued
a private detective who testified that he

had proof of a clandestine affair between
the two; the affair supposedly had been
going on for a few weeks. However, this
testimony was stricken from the record and
this odd aspect of the case remained a mys-
tery—D. V. R.

This is what | told Maria:

Why can’t | remember? | do remem-
ber, though. | remember most of it.
Here and there something is lost. You
think of that eye, the way it contracted.
The worst thing Schumer can do is to
have those men remove the pebbles out-
side. Does it matter how they affected
me yesterday? He watches me. | told
him it passed, that today | do not be-
lieve it. And yet to say it, to write:
this is what | told Maria:

By Saturday | was calm enough to
speak to Jim when he came to visit me.
Even then, | thought

He held his head in his hands, then
one hand moved away and he looked at
me with one eye. The grey iris kept
growing smaller, strangling my image,
smaller and smaller. | believed him
because | had to, but | knew | was lost.
| saw it in that eye. It drove me
wild. . . .

Here is Maria, waiting to listen to me.
How still she is. Only the hands will
not be still, though the tendons of every
finger are taut and white. In sockets
like raw wounds her eyes are dark with
anguish. | want to cry out to her,
Maria, my love, | have come home to
you, to you alone now, to you who must
listen to me, and still 1 cannot speak.
Her sister has just left; | cannot under-
stand why she was here. There was no
warmth in the whiskey, and no courage.
I stood in my wet clothes, the brine icy
crystals on my body, the night sky still
before my closed eyes, feeUng her hos-
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tility. The moments were slipping
through my fingers and | knew I could
not hold on to myself much longer, but
her voice went on and on and | didn’t
know what she wanted but only knew
she was speaking, and finally | said
something . . . what was it? . .. some-
thing that made her leave. And then
it is quiet, and here is Maria, and she
is waiting to listen to me. But now
there is only the strange sound that is
myself crying, and | cannot stop. And
then | scream.

I have lost myself now and | scream.
And then | feel Maria’s arms around
me and a great quiet settles over me
and | know | am home and | know it is
as she says, that everything will be all
right now, that when | have told her
it will be easier to know because she
w3l be with me. Now I tell her. 1 am
speaking hurriedly because 1 still have
the sense of time running away.

| tell her of everything that has hap-
pened between Jim and |I. She has be-
come very pale. She sits an the couch
beside me, holding my cold hands in
hers, and her eyes never leave my face.
After awhile I am cakn enough to stop
while | change into dry clothes and we
have coffee and smoke, and then | con-
tinue. And while I am talking, and be-
cause | am calm, | understand the utter
unreality of what | am saying. But
Maria does not doubt me and | go on
though | know how | sound.

And how do I sound? This is the
question | have asked myself so many
times. This was the question when |
first spoke to Jim, when | went to
Reed; it has been the same writing
this, both at the beginning of these
recollections and now. It is still the
question, for even when | speak to
Schumer | find myself sometimes un-
able to believe what | am saying. Those
are the times his influence is greatest
on me. The same calm, as now, de-

scends on me. And what is this calm?
It is the final unreality of the Thing
become a disease that wastes away
every memory, until I no longer be-
lieve anything. This is the terrible maj-
esty of the Thing— that the impact of
the knowledge of its existence should
be able to destroy everything associated
with it— that even I, who carry within
me its seed, the seed of my own de-
struction, do not believe it.

There, you see, is the final unreality
of everything | have written. | do not
believe it, for | could not believe it and
live. It is this unbelief that allows me
this calm, as false as a drugged sleep.
And | know that to awaken is death.

And this is why | can write these
things, and perhaps why they do not
carry much meaning. How do | sound,
| ask, but I know. How did Jim sound
when he told Kathy of the Thing? She
hadn’t been able to understand. She
hadn’t been frightened. This is how I
must sound when | tell Maria . . . but
I cannot show Maria the Thing and
that is what Jim did then.

All 1 have is words. . ..

~JpHE Thing had begun to think of

itself as a She. It had failed with
Jim and me. Jim didn’t know that yet,
but it was already true. The Thing
was trying to find an identity. It had
taken control of Jim, and he was help-
less.

Or so | thought. It came to me grad-
ually. 1 didn’t understand at first that
Kathy was dead. The clear warm
night was filled with a brooding silence
through which 1 heard the Thing’s
voice like the sound of a wind. | heard
the sound and knew some of its
thoughts, but I heard almost no words.

It was only from what Jim said that I
understood. . . .

He stood motionless at the pier, lis-
tening, then he said, “What have you
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done to her?” He ran his hands through
his hair and his head seemed too heavy
for him to lift. If there was an an-
swer, | did not hear it. He continued
to stand there with his head bowed, and
then he looked up and asked, in a voice
drained of all emotion, “Then she will
forget?” He was silent again, listening
again, until he said, very quietly, “No,
I cannot understand you now. To re-
member as long as she breathes— ”
But the voice interrupted him.

A simple child
That lightly draws its breath,
And feels its life in every Umb,
What should it know of death?

“| cannot understand you,” Jim said
hoarsely.

So softly death succeeded life in her,
She did but dream of heaven, and she
was there. . . .

“No!” Jim cried. “Not to kill' You

were— "

How dull it is to pause, to make an end,

To rust unburnished, not to shine bt
use—

As though to breathe were tifel

“Not to Kkill!” Jim cried out.
“You—" and he stepped back and
raised his hands as if to ward off a blow,
though | saw nothing. And then he
was quiet again and | heard the Thing
as | had heard it the first time, the
voice that was a sigh tom from the
earth, a mournful, gentle voice to which
Jim sometimes replied, but was more
often silent. And though | heard no
more words from the Thing, | under-
stood.

It had sought to establish a com-

munion with a woman— a woman, who,
because she could bear life, could then
not be afraid of life— and who, in some
way, could give life, perhaps human
life, to the Thing.

This is what | understood.

Above all, the Thing itself becoming
more visible. The living coil in the
darkness, the reflected gleam of a par-
tide.

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

HTHIS is the closest Hammond came to

A describing the Thing, which he says
became more visible, but here again the
narrative breaks off. (The relation of this
lapse to the others is discussed in another
comment further in the manuscript.)—
D. V. R

While | wait, counting the seconds

Morning. The grey light between
the slatted blinds had slowly turned
crimson and now it was gold. | have
told Maria and 1 sit there, smoking
quietly, wondering what is happening
to me while 1 wait for her to reply to
a question | asked and already could
not remember. While | wait, counting
the seconds, feeling them like tiny drop-
lets of water falling into my cupped
hand. Seconds before, every sense was
incredibly sharp, nothing escaped me—
someone walking in the courtyard be-
low, somewhere a door opening, indi-
vidual noises of birds, distant ringing
of an alarm clock, faint odor of food,
movement of a facial muscle, halted
droop of an eyelid— but now the calm-
ness is blotting out things.

It isn’t until the doctor lias gone that
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I remember Maria crying out, “Elly,
you're sick.” | was in bed and I slept,
and | woke up with a scream because
I had dreamt | was alone.

But Maria was sitting by my bed.

The world is covered with a mist
that rises slowly from the warm earth.
Even the darkness is diluted and trans-
parent. Nothing sleeps, no living thing.
Dull sounds crawl through the mist
bringing the torpescent warning of
blind water things. Every step heavy,
my feet cloaked, my approach muffled.
And the mud, the slime, and the fragile
intent of

Maria sitting close by. What has
happened? What did | say while the
doctor was here? Did | dream it, but
if it was a dream is this the way he
looked and why should I remember the
way he looked if it was a dream?

“Darling, darling, it was a dream.
You said nothing.”

But now you know, Maria, and what
must we do? You must run away and
wait for me. | see death as | saw it
last night. You must not stay with me.
What did | say, Maria?

“Nothing. It was a dream.
again, sleep.”

Sleep

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF DR. STERLING PRYCE,
STATE’'S WITNESS, ON DIRECT
EXAMINATION BY DISTRICT
ATTORNEY MALCOLM O'DAY)

Q. Will you please explain what you
mean by ‘special circumstances’, Doc-
tor, in reference to your visit to Mr.
Hammond on August 8th?

A. | was at home, preparing to leave
for the hospital, when Miss Deni—
Mrs. Hammond, telephoned shortly be-

fore eight o’clock. She asked me to
come at once to an address she gave
me. As I've already stated, | had been
Mrs. Hammond'’s family’s physician for
several years, as well as a fairly inti-
mate friend. | gave up my private
practice when | became superintendent
of the Maywood General Hospital, but
| still acted as personal physician for
some of my friends. Mrs. Hammond
was aware of this, and she explained
she had just been married and was call-
ing me on behalf of her husband.

Q. Please continue.

A. | was extremely busy that morn-
ing, so | offered to send a competent
staff physician— this was after | was
satisfied there was no emergency— but
Mrs. Hammond insisted that I, person-
ally, come.

Q. Do you recall what was said?
What Mrs. Hammond said, that is?

A. She told me he was feverish. |
asked if she had taken his temperature
and if so, what it was. She replied that
it was 101. | did not consider this
alarming, and said as much. Mrs.
Hammond then told me that she
thought her husband was in a coma,
and she believed he was suffering from
some sort of shock. She sounded quite
urgent, and more because of that than
anything else, | went.

Q. And what did you find, Doc-
tor?

A. | examined Mr. Hammond thor-
oughly. He appeared to be asleep
when | arrived and | had some diffi-
culty rousing him. He seemed quite
exhausted and hardly appeared to know
| was there. Mrs. Hammond told me
she had given him a more than ade-
guate dose of sodium amytal, and 1
thought that explained his comatose
state. His temperature was slightly
above 100, and | thought it possible
that he was suffering a mild attack of
the grippe. | asked Mrs. Hammond
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about the shock she had mentioned over
the telephone, but she didn’'t seem to
know what | meant. As a matter of
fact, Mrs. Hammond’s behavior was
extremely mystifying. She started to
speak to me several times without fin-
ishing what she said. | decided she
was overwrought because of some per-
sonal matter, prescribed for Mr. Ham-
mond and advised her to take a seda-
time. | went to the door, accompanied
by Mrs. Hammond, and | went so far
as to of>en the door before she put a
hand on my arm and stopped me. She
closed the door and started to say— |
remember her words distinctly— “Ster-
ling, there’s something I must tell you
r—" when suddenly we heard Mr. Ham-
mond’s voice.

Q. Where were you when you heard
Mr. Hammond?

A. In the foyer with Mrs. Ham-
mond.

Q. Could Mr. Hammond see you?

A. No. The foyer is two rooms
away and shaped like an L.

Q. Butyou were able to hear what
Mr. Hammond said?

A. Very easily, because he almost
shouted what he said.

Q. And do you remember what he
said, Doctor?

A. Distinctly. He said Mrs. Ham-
mond’s life wasn’t safe with him. He
said that what had happened the night
before might happen again. He told
her to leave him before it was too late,
and that he would stay and face it
alone.

Q. How did Mrs. Hammond react
to this?

A. She ran to his room the mo-
ment he began shouting. | followed
her but she came out and asked me to
leave. Mr. Hammond was still talking,
but in a much quieter voice, after he
saw me.

Q. And then you left?

A. Yes, after promising to return
that evening.

Q. Did you return, Doctor?

A. No. Mrs. Hammond telephoned
me at the hospital during the afternoon
and told me it would not be necessary
for me to come again. | had no desire
to pry but I tried to question her. She
avoided answering and after thanking
me, terminated the conversation.

Q. Thank you, Doctor. Your wit-
ness, Mr. Wells.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF DR. STERLING PRYCE,
STATE'SWITNESS, ON CROSSEX-
AMINATION BY DEFENSE AT-
TORNEY CHARLES WELLS)
Q. Your specialty, you say, Doc-
tor, is orthopedics. Do you consider
yourself qualified as a specialist in

pediatrics?
A. No.
Q. Or roentgenology?
A. No.'

Q. Or carcinoma?

A. Frankly, Mr. Wells, | don’t un-
derstand—

Q. | beg your pardon, Doctor, but
for the moment I must request that you
answer my questions with a simple yes
or no. Do you consider yourself quali-
fied to offet a definitive diagnosis in
cases of cancer?

A. No.

Q. Or insanity—in cases concern-
ing mental abnormalities?

A. No.

'Q. Is it possible that you might
visit a patient who was mentally ill and
not know it? Just answer whether or
not ft's possible.

A. It's possible, though—

Q. Just yes or no, Doctor. Is it
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possible? Yes or no?
A. Yes.

*(EXCERPT FROM THE NEW
YORK POST, NOVEMBER 17,1941,
PAGE 3, FINAL EDITION)

DEFENSE UNVEILS STRATEGY

Trip]* Killer Will Plead Insanity,
Attorney Hints

IN A COURTROOM SO TURBULENT
that Judge Revere threatened to clear it,
Charles Wells, attorney for Elliot Ham-
mond, the accused “triple-killer,” indicated
today that he may plead his client’s insanity
as a motivating force.

The closing moments of today’s session,
which began the second week of the trial,
were packed with dynamite. Until today,
the close-mouthed, bland Mr. Wells had
given little indication of his intended
strategy. Fighting the testimony of almost
every previous witness with a deadly atten-
tion to the most minute details, the famous
criminal lawyer had—in spite of rumors to
the contrary—Ilent credence to the theory
that he intended to fight the case purely on
the facts of evidence.

With the calling of Dr. Sterling Pryce,
superintendent of the swank Maywood Hos-
pital, as a State’s witness, the case took an
abrupt and dramatic turn. Before Mr.
Wells, who was a portrait in politesse
throughout, was through with Dr. Pryce,
he had forced an admission that the Doctor
was not only not an expert in matters of
mental abberration, but that he might well
not have detected symptoms of insanity
which Hammond might have manifested.
That such specialists are waiting to testify
for the defense is scarcely a matter for con-
jecture. Mr. Wells, with his customary econ-
omy, was wasting no time, now that the
direction of the State’s case is plain, and
his own intent is now obvious.

Today’s session began with the examina-

What did | say, Maria?

The hours were running from me. |
kept waking and finding the day more
and more gone, and there was nothing
I could do. Maria would not leave
me, though | begged her. But toward

evening | began to plan what | had to
do. | was beginning to see that | had
to do something, after Jim called.
Maria told me he had telephoned be-
fore noon, and | saw in her eyes that
she would not leave me because she had
not believed me. He told Maria he
called to ask about me, because last
night when he saw me | had been act-
ing peculiarly. Last night when he
saw me, sailing off on a swollen river
of blood. When he saw me?

No, Maria.

“Try to think, Elly, try to remem-
ber.” Because all I had ever had were
words and they were not enough. “He
said Kathy Gray was there and you left
with her. You must try to remember,
darling.”

She kissed my hands and her tears
dropped on them, and where they
touched me they turned to ice. The
breath froze in my lungs and a vast,
benumbing calmness came over me and
the sweat on my forehead became cool
and fresh. But Maria, if | saw him
(says this absurd, bewildered, but
above all, silent voice of reason) | must
have told him about us, about you and
I, and if that was so, and it would be
so, Maria, did he say anything to you
about it? Did he wish you happiness,
Maria? What did he say when he
found it was you who answered the
telephone?

But | didn't ask the question because
already | could hear the answer: “But
did you tell him? Try to remember.
Try to remember . .

And thus I did not tell him and there
is no remembering and no reality, and
nothing had been and nothing was
known— but no matter, | knew— I
never doubted.

And then the police, naturally? But
not yet. What good will it do to dis-
cover Kathy Gray dead? She lies half
buried under a mountain of refuse, her
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body pierced and the sunlight pouring
down to keep warm the blood that sur-
rounded her. And last night, he said,
| left with her. | left with her....
Yes, Maria, I'm trying to remember.
| sat by the window and let my
thoughts wash me clean. There was
nothing to remember but there was
something to understand. | must sit
here and work it out. There is no
longer any panic or helplessness. The
decision will be made in time now but
first I must think. Let me understand

it first. No, not the doctor; this is
nothing for the doctor. Call him and
tell him not to come again. Let me

sit here and think.

So the day was slowly lost, dissolv-
ing into a soft and troubled night,
leaving me in darkness.

Even now— knowing the end—1 do
not know whether | ever understood
what Jim was doing or meant to do.
Perhaps there is something to remem-
ber, after all. Perhaps there was once
a fragment too minute for a myopic
terror to perceive, and only now, with
the terror gone, can it be returned to
the larger meaning it alone can com-
plete.

Wracked with pain, in a dreamless
haunted slumber, the sleeper tosses un-
easily in his bed in darkness, in a room
with no windows, behind an iron door.
The air is foul with nightmares. Over
his head, breathing in unison with his
broken rhythms, alarmed and wakeful,
his portrait hangs on a wall. The mur-
derer comes into the room soundlessly,
so swiftly that the sluggish air whirls
behind him in semi-visible thick eddies.
He goes at once to the bed and stands
for a moment looking down at the
naked form on the white sheets. With
a sudden thrust he plunges a pale hand
deep into the sleeper’'s body, grinding
his teeth, writhing, sweat pouring down
him from his exertion, and tears out
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the sleeper’'s heart. The heart leaps
convulsively in his hand but he tightens
his fingers until shadowy rivulets of
blood have traced a delicate pattern
down the length of his forearm. He
begins to laugh hysterically, when he
looks up and sees that the portrait has
witnessed everything, its face twisted
in agony, screaming inaudibly. He
reaches up and stuffs the heart into the
open mouth, then tears away the por-
trait’s face. Carefully, with nimble
fingers, he wraps the heart in the frag-
ment of canvas and hurls it through
the farthest wall. Very slowly, still
struggling, it falls through transparent
darkness to a far off gutter and is
washed away. The bloody hands are
wiped on the wall and the sheets, but
even before the murderer has left, these
distinct stencils have turned violet, then
gray, and are gone with him. In the
morning, at the precise instant when a
stray dog has finished eating the heart,
the sleeper is discovered. He lies very
still. Only his eyes can move, but they
rotate in their sockets without being
able to see what has happened to him,
and because of this he does not under-
stand the turmoil in his room. The mur-
derer comes in to see him, wringing his
hands, weeping as he vows to save him.
Thousands of shocked, sympathetic
people search the city for the heart, and
the dog follows one group, helping them
look.

Tonight | may have the answer.
Schumer was at the door to tell me that
Reed is coming, bringing the box with
him. And so he has forced me to sum-
mon the imperfect memory again, to
wonder again what unguarded moment
first recalled it and why. The sense of
the tightening circle is stronger than
ever now. Is this too a dream, or is
it the one reality that precedes a final
release from thoughts | cannot

Saturday, the next day, quite early,
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Jim came to see me. Almost from the
moment he arrived, as soon as he en-
tered my room, | felt a recession of
fear. | felt that he needed me. Maria
let him in and a few moments later
she left the house, leaving us alone:
Maria
| must try to sleep.

Tell me everything he said leave
nothing out no detail no matter how
slight you were there last night you
came while she was there and no one
knows when you left But first before
| say anything you must tell me | said
what you are doing and why you told
Maria you saw me last night and why
you said | left with her I saw her lying
dead | cannot erase the memory of her
lying there in the swamp

It is no use. I am too tired.

J COULDN'T look into his eyes.

They seemed to pierce my brain,
their pale depths brimming with in-
visible calculation, the murderous in-
tent sunken from sight, crying out to me
for help. The murderer had found the
portrait a witness, though it could ut-
ter no word. What was to be done?
What can we do? What help do you
want from me now that | have told
you? What has been happening that
I do not understand? Thus the hollow
talking in darkness while the murderer’s
soliloquy proceeds uninterrupted.

But first swear you will help me.

The voice a sound receding, crying
for help, lost in pain. The same voice
that had been filled with bitter fury
when he had cried out against the
Thing. Helpless, | thought, while his
hands were poised for the plunge.

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

These sections of the manuscript, as it
becomes increasingly confused, seem to
have been written with unusually frequent
interruptions. This passage, as well as the
one which precedes it, appear to be at-
tempts to reconstruct the conversation
Hammond had with Shilling. In the first,
one almost feels the sense of urgency Ham-
mond mentions many times. He seems to
be fighting time in his effort to put every-
thing down, with little regard for punctua-
tion or clear conveyance of meaning. Then,
it appears, he is too weary to continue. He
begins again later, but now, though he is
steady and deliberate, his strange and al-
most surrealist parable of the sleeper and
the murderer re-appears, woven into the
reporting of his conversation. No distinct
meaning is apparent, but he seems to have
identified himself with the sleeper and Shil-
ling with the murderer; this obviously a
later interpretation. After another pause,
perhaps realizing his failures, he resumes
more coherently.

The progress of his disintegration during
the period this diary was kept is strikingly
illustrated by a comparison of the docu-
mentation of this conversation with the one
recorded on Nov. 7th. The one of Nov.
7th, never mentioning the idea of unreality,
is so clearly recalled word for word that it
seems highly artificial. On the other hand,
ironically enough, this one, with its intense
preoccupation and wanderings, dwelling on
its unreality, seems much more real than
the other. (Further notes interpreting

.these passages appear a little later on.—

D. V. R

There was no denying him. There
was no sense' fighting him if 1 believed
we were together in this. There was
no weapon | could give him by telling
him what | had seen. | had seen what
had happened, and knowing it, he had
turned to me for help. And yet, what
help was there for him or for me? What
was there to do now? It was beyond
us, as it had been from the start, as |
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had known from the start. It had
gone too far and whatever now had to
be done was no longer for us to do.
And so | told him, believing we were
at the last summing up before the debt
was presented.

The way he listened to me then. His
head bowed, cradled in his hands, el-
bows resting on knees, sitting motion-
less, saying nothing, then one hand
moved away and he was looking at me
through one eye. Lost then, not know-
ing why, forseeing nothing but the cer-
tainty. The grey eye held me.

“Do what? Tell whom?” Hearing
the voice but unable to see his lips
because a hand was before them. “You
were right then. We should never have
kept it to ourselves, but don't you see
what will happen if we tell now? Don’t
you see it has gone too far?”

But it was not for us to decide. None
of the decisions was for us, not from
the beginning. And this was the be-
ginning. There was no end in sight.
The grey iris contracting, closing on a
decision already made and irrevocable.

“Kathy Gray is dead. If we tell
now— "
“Tell, Jim, telll From here—"

“Listen to me,” so softly, so troubled.
“Do you understand what it is to be
charged with murder? Do you see this
was murder?”

“But not you, Jim. Not I.

“Who, then?”

The question whispered but the
echoes would not die away, and the
finality in the grey eye and in the ques-
tion. The question whispered and the
answer without substance and the ques-
tion to follow. No answer then, no
reality. Who, then? The Thing. And
can you show them the Thing, can you
make anyone understand, can you an-
swer with words that have no sub-
stance, can you tell them what you
mean? To this question no answer, no

We— "
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reality. We have left the world that
can be comprehended by men. We are
the prisoners of a private knowledge,
isolated in a private world. What an-
swer can you make?

No matter. Tell, Jim. Take this
from our hands. Take it from a world
of multiplying horrors, from the deadly
potential of continued silence, the evil
silence which spawned it, where it fes-
ters and distills an unknown poison.
End the monstrous dream for us who
have slept with it too long. This the
sleeper says to the murderer, for to him
all are locked with him in slumber and
all live in his nightmare. Tell, Jim,
and let whatever happens . . .

“With your life at stake, Elly?”

Even then | thought, because with
us together . . .

“Your life alone, Elly! Youalonet”
'yNTE TWO, primarily, but neither of

us, and if one alone, not I, though
I had shared the silence, but neither of
us alone.

“And alone you haven’t L chance.
The only chance was for us to have
told together. You alone now, Elly,
giving away your life—and you’ll be
giving it away— now that it’s-begun to
understand happiness. What of Maria,
Elly? Is your life yours to give away?
You alone?”

He stood up, his hands covering his
face, his body trembling.

“Because you've said you saw me last
night?” | said. “And because you've
said | left with Kathy Gray?”

He turned to me and only in the way
1 ke looked at me did | understand what
was written on my face. | remember
nothing of what | felt then, only that
| stared at him, that | spoke quietly,
that there was a beginning of awareness
in my voice, that these things, seen and
heard, were fearful. The portrait
screaming.



THE METAL MONSTER MURDERS 71

“Elly, listen to me! | had to do it!
7 had to say what | did! Don’t you
understand— it was the Thing making
me say it— because she had already
done something else to make me safe.
I didn’'t know until yesterday that you
had been in the yards Thursday night.
If you hadn’t been there— if | hadn’t
been told you were there, nothing would
have happened ... | wouldn’'t have
had to say anything!”

The explanation, the- reason for
everything, the sleeper’s heart already
in the murderer’s hand, stuffing the por-
trait’s mouth, and somewhere a stray
dog waiting, understanding only its own
hunger. And this too— that he kept re-
ferring to the Thing as She . . .

What was it he told me, the things
he said that no other being could un-
derstand? What were these complex-
ities in the strangled voice, while the
iris of an eye held me, making my image
small, corrupting my doubts, bewilder-
ing me until I knew only that | was lost?
What did he say of Her who had begun
by praising the fathomless universe for
life and had come to question whether
to breathe were life? Locked in the
prison of our knowledge, sinking deeper
into the mire of unreality, we com-
municated in words that we alone un-
derstood, words that were the symbols
of our servitude ... ofa freedom long
lost and never to be regained. How
long had it been since we knew the
clear light of day, before we exchanged
its warmth for blind depths of mud, hot
with the incubation of unfathomed evil?
What? Of these vagaries? What?

Is this what you remember? Is this
the unsubstantial chain that has held
you so long? Of these fantasies? What?

Yes, of these. Of all these and more,
but of these.

~NjpHAT he had told the Thing the
death of a human was a matter

for other humans to punish, that pun-
ishment would come to him, as a mur-
derer. That the Thing had falsified the
spark of life in Kathy Gray and raised
her from the swamp where she lay dead.
That he had walked with the body of
Kathy Gray to where a night watchman
saw them, spoke to them. That the
body of Kathy Gray had been made to
leave the yards long enough to be seen
leaving.

Of these unrealities and more, mean-
ingful only to us.

That when another watchman told
him the next day that | had been in the
yards for hours that night, how panic
had overtaken him, and of the only way
out, counseled by Her, who saw and
understood everything. That there was
only one human who had seen Kathy
Gray in the semblance of life after |
had left. That if this one human
stopped existing, how simple a matter
it would be to say that I had left with
Kathy Gray, for none would be able
to say | hadn't None butl . . . and
| had been seen by many that night,
arriving and leaving strangely, acting
strangely. (Do we not believe, he asks
rhetorically that a murderer must or
may act strangely before and after the
commission of the deed?) That this
was counseled to him in his panic, and
forced on him in the absence of his will.

Of these and more.

That the cycle— oh, yes, the cycle.
Remember the cycle. The cycle, then,
had changed again, restoring to him
his clarity of thought and his will. He
refused to acquiesce to the murder of
the one man who had seen Kathy Gray
alive (as he thought) after I had left.
And now his will his own (because the
cycle had changed) he had come to me.
He was there this moment, to tell me,
to warn me, to beg me for help. For
still Kathy Gray lay in the swamp, her
body mangled as | had seen it, dead in
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the dank, cancerous embrace of the
mud, buried with rusting metal for a
tombstone.

That because the cycle had changed
there was a way out.

Of this the cycle. Most, muchly,
muchmosted, mostmuchly and in the
main of the cycle friend of the poor,
comforter of the blind and timid, re-
source of the infirm. All this the cycle.
A barren tale now, it appears, banal
and diluted nonsense. And yet, at the
same time what a formidable adversary
among the enemy hosts at the disposal
of the murderer though why? Where
was its strength? What magic power
lay in the projection of this tale to make
me believe it? Of such fantasies?

How could | not believe him? Every-
thing was as he said. He could have
done what he had outlined as a plan.
He had his witnesses. He could have
done away with the single dissenting
voice and had me held for the murder,
but he hadn’t. Why hadn’'t he? Why
should he be here now? Why should
he be telling me this?

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

CEVERAL new avenues of thought are
~  opened in the preceding half-dozen or
so broken passages. These passages | con-
sider among the most important in the
manuscript.

Hammond is evidently striving to report
the conversation with some obijectivity,
once or twice even to the extent of listing
what Shilling told him. He is unsuccess-
ful, at least partly because his later evalu-
ations of the conversation keep intruding,
commenting, as it were, and in effect the
result is almost an inner dialogue, with
Hammond the writer talking to Hammond
the then speaker. But now a new note is
evident. Hammond is reviewing the con-
versation, and though he mentions the un-

reality of what they discussed, he now
seems to think of it as something unreal
even at that time. Until this point he has
seldom doubted the reality of what he re-
members. Now he writes with ironic
wonder that he believed in such “vagaries”
and “fantasies.” The cycle, which he sub-
sequently discusses, comes in for special
contempt in the rarely playful paragraph

where he sneers: “Most, muchly . . .
friend of the poor . . . resource of the
infirm.” He labelsita“. . . tale of . . .

diluted nonsense,” and asks, “What magic
power lay in the projection ... to make
me believe . . . such fantasies?”

The greater question, at least to me, is:
What strengthened Hammond'’s disbelief at
this point in his writing? For this is the
high point. His disbelief is mentioned else-
where, but in these passages it recurs again
and again. Why here? Is there any other
element present which might help explain
this transient but powerful mood?

| hesitate to mention the hypothesis of
hypnosis at this point, mainly because it
seems premature. And yet, to avoid it
now is to forego a rare opportunity for in-
sight to this manuscript. Schumer himself
holds very strongly for the theory of hyp-
nosis for more substantial reasons which
will later be appended, but it seems to him
(and to me) that some evidence can be
found here. For in these passages, more
than anywhere else, Hammond keeps writ-
ing of the grey iris of an eye. “I couldn’t
look into his eyes. They seemed to pierce
my brain,” he says. Before that he wrote:
“The . . . iris . . . strangled my image

I believed him because | had to . . .
it drove me wild.” Now again he says,
“The grey eye held me,” and a little later,
“The grey iris contracting, closing on a
decision already made and irrevocable,” and

once again, “. . . the iris of an eye held
me, making my image small . . . bewilder-
ingme . .."”

It is true enough that nowhere does
Hammond say anything about hypnosis,
or of later suspicions, but surely these ref-
erences, these questions and half-answers,
are more than coincidences. When we re-
member that Hammond was writing under
a great emotional strain and that much of
what he wrote was in a literal sense a sub-
conscious outpouring, a subconscious suspi-
cion becomes a more likely theory. Here,
then, remembering what Shilling and he
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discussed, remembering the eye, he subcon-
sciously connects the two and consequently
derides the conversation. “What magic
power lay in the projection?” he asks, hav-
ing elsewhere already answered: “I believed
because | had to, but | knew | was lost. |
saw it in that eye.” Farther than this
Hammond does not venture, but later de-
velopments make this a matter of para-
mount importance.

CTILL another matter claims attention
~ here. Hammond chronicles the conver-
sation to the point where Shilling says he
came to beg help. As proof of his sincerity,
Shilling tells him what he could have done
had he wanted to let Hammond be blamed
for the murder of Kathy Gray. To recon-
struct (and to interpret, in part): he tells
Hammond that the Thing gave Kathy Gray
the semblance of life long enough to be seen
leaving, but that one person alone saw her.
With this on$ witness, he says, he could
have done as the Thing “counseled m his
panic” and “forced in the absence of his
will’—that is, have the witness killed in
the yards by the Thing and let the blame
gravitate to Hammond. But, he says, he
did not do it because he regained his will
(which he later explains as due to the
cycle) and has come to Hammond for help.

If the reader recalls a previous insert of
the testimony of Thomas Stapley, Stapley
was obviously the witness to whom Shilling
referred. This passage would then seem to
explain the discrepancy between Stapley’s
testimony and what Hammond wrote.
Granting for the moment that Hammond
is writing the truth (that is absolute, not
relative truth) and that all these things
actually happened, it was then possible for
Hammond to see Kathy Gray dead, and
for Stapley to see her alive (as he thought)
some hours later.

But what appears now to have been
definitely not true is that Shilling could
have had Stapley killed in the yards (the
only place he could do it through the
Thing). According to his testimony, Stap-
ley was not at the yards for six days fol-
lowing that night, and when he returned,
was fired and left for the west coast. “How
could | not believe hinfi?” Hammond asks,
referring to Shilling. “Everything was as
he said. He could have done (it).” But
he couldn’t, and this seemingly unimportant
loophole, unknown to Hammond, becomes

extremely interesting as Hammond's story
draws to an end. For, if we believe Ham-
mond, we can here find a basis for under-
standing Shilling’s motive in coming to
Hammond for help, “. . . the murderous
intent sunken from sight, crying ... for
help.”—D.V.R.

That is to say, believing all this. The
cycle, then.

“What do you mean by the cycle?”
| asked. “What do you mean it has
changed and that now, because of the
change, there is a way out?”

“I'm not sure that | understand it
myself, but surely you felt it,” he told
me eagerly. “You told me you felt it,
knew what you were doing, what you
were thinking— you felt her power of
compulsion! | know you did! And yet,
it wasn’'t always so, was it? Weren't
there some times when you knew you
were beyond her influence, without
knowing how or why?”

Yes, | had known, but not saying
anything. The night | told the story
to Reed and couldn’t explain how I
could tell him when | knew the Thing
didn't want me to tell. The times |
wanted to tell Maria and was unable.
That last night itself, in the yards, when
the Thing should have been aware of
my presence and wasn’'t. The cycle,
then? “Her influence wanes from time
to time,” he said. Once when | was
able to tell Reed? Again, that last
night, when she didn’t know | was in
the yards and later when | told Maria?
And wasn’t that the same time that
he felt his will returning?
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(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

1 ~TOTICE the increasing frequency with
~  which Hammond hknself refers to the
Thing as a feminine entity.—D. V. R.

“l can’t begin to explain it. It's a
periodic thing. Sometimes | think it’s
related to the gravitation of the moon
— possibly that has some bearing on its
affinity to the feminine. 1 don’t know.
All 1 know is that | feel it from time
to time, and this is one of the times!
This is one of my intervals in which
I can think alone and act alone and
feel myself an individual. . . .”

And underneath, though it is no-
where in these words of his that | re-
member, underneath them as he spoke
was the hint, the veiled and unspoken
thought, that he was somehow abjectly
bound to the Thing, that he had been
bound from the beginning, though he
would not confess it even now. And
there was something else, something
now a pale blur in memory, that linked
his work to her influence. Something
to explain more than anything had, why
he had found such peace and such
strange exhilaration in the yards. Some-
thing utterly beyond comprehension, a
scabrous intimation of the relationship
between him and the Thing that thought
of itself as something that was a She.

“Our one chance, Elly! Perhaps
our last chance! This is the first time
I've ever thought of escaping, and when
the cycle is over all these thoughts will
be known to her! Elly, listen. She’s
planning something! She’s failed with
me— |I'm useless to her. Do you know
what it means for me to go back tkere?”

And not to go back? To have Kathy
Gray'’s body found? To have her found
and not to have come back? No.

But the Thing had brought her back
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to life. . . .

“No,” he whispered fearfully, “she
only looked as if she were— "

But that was enough. . . .

He kept shaking his head. “No, Elly.
I've thought of the same thing a thou-
sand times since then, but it's too late.
The way the Thing killed her made it
impossible. If only I had been able
to forsee it, even if | couldn’'t have
stopped it, that could have been done—
she need never have returned at all,
but that doesn’t matter now! Even her
death doesn’t matter now if the Thing
isn't stopped! Haven't you seen
enough to believe me? Can’t you un-
derstand that this is just the beginning
for the Thing? Can’t yon see that she
won't stop here, that she’ll try again
and again until her failures drive her
mad? Can’t you see that whatever her
mind is, that it's already unbalanced?
And then what? Do we have more than
an inkling of her terrible powers? Can
either of us predict the end unless she
is stopped? Listen to me, Elly! This
is our last chancel Help me!”

'yNT7LIEN he left | looked down into

the street and saw Maria meet
him. They could not have spoken to-
gether long because Maria came up soon
afterward. | never found out what they
had spoke about.

Yes, the plan. There was a plan, un-
real as the rest of it. If it worked, the
Thing might be destroyed, and what
remained of Kathy Gray would be lost
forever. If it worked there would

If it worked they would never find
Kathy, still lying in the swamp, sur-
rounded

Someone, you see, stopped the dog
from eating the heart, but it was too
late. The heart couldn’t be put back
again and the sleeper lay there and no
one listened to the portrait because
no one expected it to speak. Then, of
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course, there were a few things | had to
keep in mind, things to remember, sig-
nals and places, before 1'd see Jim the
next night after they would all be gone.
All these people, you see, who had
been invited to the party on Sunday.
Scattered, then, to search the city for
some sign of the heart, but nothing
would help. It was all part of the plan
to help the story when the police
Seven o‘clock. How distant Sehu-
mer’s voice sounds through the door.
Time for dinner, he says, cautious to
keep his voice within the bounds he has
set for himself. There must be no trace
of a mock cheerfulness but he must
avoid a careless, automatic note, since
if there was nothing important waiting
tonight, why should Schumer himself
go to the trouble of knocking at my
door? How well he is suited to his
work. He manages the precise intona-
tion. Seven o’clock, he says, as if per-
haps | had overlooked the passing of
time and he stopped by to remind me,
but nothing more, though | understand
how badly he wants me to come out and
talk to him. | am often sorry that |
understand his methods so well. I make
his task difficult in a way that none
of the others here do; he has not men-
tioned Reed at all, for instance. How
easy it would be for him to say Reed is
coming, but he doesn’'t. He wants me
to ask. He wants me to bring up the
subject. This dark roomis so still. The
desk swims in darkness, caught for an
instant in the light from this one lamp,
an island of awareness. He descends
the stairs with no emphasis, knowing |
listen carefully enough to hear him
leave, and in this way informing me
that I am, and always have been here,
a free agent. These scattered sheets of
paper show progress. Reed is coming.
There isn’'t much left to put down now.
Reed is coming, bringing the box with
him. This much | know from Schu-

mer’s careful avoidance of the subject.
If anything had gone wrong he would
have told me; he does not want me to
be disappointed in such matters. So,
knowing the box is on its way here, he
waits for me to mention it to see if I
remember. Yes, | remember.

He had invited many of them to the
party that Sunday. That was to help
the story when the police investigated,
as they would surety do. 9imple enough,
you see. The party became very dis-
orderly and wild— what must have hap-
pened was that some of the people there
who had become too drunk to under-
stand what they were doing had wan-
dered off and accidentally found the
shack and engineered the frightful
prank which thankfully had hurt no
one.

There was nothing left to do but wait
until late Sunday night. Nothing but
to wait, as | am waiting now. And both
times, with the waiting revolving
around the same thing.

Only this time I know | am waiting
for it.

(EXCERPTS FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF MISS TAMARA DENI-
SOV, STATE'S WITNESS, ON DI-
RECT EXAMINATION BY DIS-
TRICT ATTORNEY MALCOLM
O'DAY.)

Q. And when did you see your sister
again, Miss Denisov?

A. On Sunday, August 10th.

Q. Did you hear from her between
Thursday night— or, | should say, early
Friday morning— and Sunday?

A. Yes. She telephoned me Friday
evening and again Saturday night at
about eleven. You see, | told her where
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to reach me—

Q. Suppose you tell us about both
calls, Miss Denisov?

A. The first one was on Friday, at
approximately 6:30 P.M. | was home
at the time. Maria spoke very softly.
She told me her . . . that Mr. Ham-
mond was asleep and she didn’'t want
to disturb him. She said she was call-
ing just to let me know that she was all
right, and she didn’t want me to worry.
She hung up quite suddenly, but not
before |1 had told her where 1'd be all
day the next day, in case she wanted
me. She called me the next night at
about eleven. | was at the Bester's.
She told me that Mr. Shilling had
visited Mr. Hammond that afternoon,
and that she would see me the following
day at the party on Mr. Shilling’s house-
boat. Again she told me there was
nothing to worry about, and that she
would explain when she saw me.

Q. And did you see her that Sunday
at the party?

A. Yes.

Q. Will you tell us, please, what
your sister and you spoke about?

A. We hanfly had a chance to dis-
cuss anything personal. There were
too many people about for privacy. But
just at the beginning— just after she
arrived, | was alone with her for a few
minutes. She told me then that Mr.
Hammond was in terrible trouble, that
he had done something that was driv-
ing him—

Q. Do you think you can quote her
exactly, Miss Denisov?

A. Yes, | had good reason to re-
member. She said, “Elly’s in terrible
trouble. I'm afraid to tell you just
yet what it's about, but he’s told me
something | just can’t bring myself to
believe. 1've got to find out how much
truth there is in it befqre he drives
himself to a nervous breakdown.”
Those were her words, practically ver-

batim.

Q. Did she explain to what she re-
ferred?

A. No.

Q. Naturally, then, you paid atten-
tion to her actions that afternoon?

A. Yes. Maria was with M!r. Shill-
ing several times that afternoon. They
talked together very earnestly. Then,
toward evening, she walked off alone,
along one of the ramps that paralleled
the shore. A few minutes later Mr.
Shilling followed her. When they re-
turned together half an hour or so later,
Maria looked ghastly. | spoke to her
but she walked right by me without
answering. Shortly afterward she
started to leave, alone.

Q. That was the last time you saw
her alive?

A. Not quite. Mr. Shilling missed
her soon afterward. He was carrying
a book or something— a bulky package
I couldn’t make out— which she had evi-
dently forgotten. | told him where she
had gone and went part of the way
after her. We caught up to her and |
waited while he gave her the package
and escorted her the rest of the way to
the gate. He was greatly upset when
he came back to me. 1 tried to talk to
,him but he didn’t offer any sensible an-
swers, aside from saying that he wished
Maria hadn’t gone home alone.

Q. Now, Miss Denisov, | have here
a chart of the yards. This large X
in black indicates the location of the
houseboat. You said your sister walked
off along one of the ramps that runs
parallel to the shore. Will you take
this red pencil and indicate the direc-
tion she took, and which Mr. Shilling
took when he followed her? Thank
you. | see you have marked the ramp
leading southeast. It is the only one in
that direction, and does not intersect
with any other short of the east fence.
With the Court’s permission | will show
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this chart to the jury. (Mr. O’'Day gave
the chart to the foreman.) This is where
Mrs. Hammond and Mr. Shilling
walked, just before Mrs. Hammond re-
turned in a condition described by Miss
Denisov as ghastly. Thank you, Miss
Denisov, | have no further questions.
Mr. Wells?

{EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF MISS TAMARA DEN-
ISOV, STATE'S WITNESS, ON
CROSS EXAMINATION 'BY DE-
FENSE ATTORNEY CHARLES
WELLS)

Q. Miss Denisov, you have testified
that your sister told you her husband
was driving himself to a nervous break-
down, is that not so?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know what a nervous
breakdown means, Miss Denisov?

A. I'm not sure | know what you
mean, Mr. Wells.
Q. | mean this: are you aware that

medically ignorant people often refer
to several types of insanity as nervous
breakdowns?

MR. O'DAY. Your Honor, | object
to the medically learned Mr. Wells con-
temptible debasing of the privilege of
cross-questioning to get this message
across to the jury.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. Really,
Mr. O’Day, a simple objection is
enough. | will sustain the objection.
Mr. Wells, the witness has not been
presented as a medical authority, or as
an authority on popular fallacies. 1 can
see no benefit to be derived from an
answer either way.

Q. Misi Denisov, did your sister
ever tell you that she thought her hus-
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band was insane?

A. She did not.

Q. Yet you maintain you and your
sister were on intimate terms? Can you
supply any possible reason why she
should not tell you such a thing if she
did think so, and why she might tell
someone else?

A. No.

Q. Not even the fact that she knew
you hated her husband? That she might
sooner trust someone she knew to be a
friend of her husband?

A. | didn't hate her— Mr.
mond.

Q. Is that why you consistently re-
fuse to refer to him as her husband?
Do you call him Mr. Hammond because
you love him?

A. | grew to hate him later because
of what he did.

Q. Then you admit—

Ham:

MR. O'DAY. Your Honor, I must
object to Mr. Wells’ pointless badger-
ing.

MR. WELLS. Your Honor, | will

submit to the verb, badgering, but not
to the adverb, pointless. | have a
definite point to make, and | think I
have established it with Miss Denisov’s
admission that she now, at least, hates
the defendant, Mr. Hammond. | sub-
mit that this is a confession of prej-
udice which has a definite bearing on
Miss Denisov’s testimony. It is not in-
conceivable that Miss Denisov is not
telling the whole truth. 1 can see no
further purpose which might be served

by continued questioning. | will excuse
the witness.
MR. JUSTICE REVERE. This

Court is in agreement with you in prin-
ciple, Mr. Wells. However, | think the
word badgering, in the grammatical
construction Mr. O’Day employed, is a
noun, which would make the word,
pointless, an adjective. But | will re-
serve judgment on this matter. Step
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down, Miss Denisov. Mr. Wells has

excused you.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF ALFRED BESTER, DE-
FENSE WITNESS, ONDIRECT EX-
AMINATION BY DEFENSE AT-
TORNEY CHARLES WELLS)

Q. How good a friend of Mrs. Maria
Hammond were you, Mr. Bester?

A. My wife and | considered Maria
among our closest friends. We had
known each other more than two years,
and we generally saw Maria more than
once a week. In the summer of 1940
she lived with us for three months at
our place in Connecticut.

Q. You were at this party on Mr.
Shilling’s houseboat on Sunday, August
10th, were you not, and at some time
during that afternoon you and Mrs.
Hammond had a conversation, did you
not?

A. Yes.

Q. Will you tell us what that con-
versation was about?

A. | offered her congratulations on
her marriage and asked what was the
matter with her husband. The question
seemed to throw her completely off bal-
ance. She angrily demanded an explana-
tion, which | gave. It was simple
enough. Mr. David Reed had phoned
me and told me he was going to visit
Mr. Hammond that afternoon before he
came to the party, and that Mr. Ham-
mond was evidently laid up. He had
asked me if 1 wanted to come along to
help cheer him up. When | told her
this, she almost burst into tears. She
took me aside and told me that she
thought her husband was insane—

Q. Were those her exacf words?

A. Yes. She—

MR. O'DAY. Your Honor, | ob-
ject. | think it is high time the defense
came out in the open. This constant
barrage of innuendo and unqualified
opinions has only one object, and that
is to influence the jury unduly and
illegally. This evidence is immaterial
and irrelevant. If the defense is going
to plead insanity, | think it is time that
the validity of such a defense was
weighed by qualified experts in the mat-
ter. 1 am sick and tired of hearing
testimony that is wholly without value,
offered purely as ballyhoo and an ad-
vance build-up for opinions from the
defense alienists, which | am sure will
shortly be forthcoming.

MR. WELLS. Ifitplease the Court,
I cannot agree with the estimable Dis-
trict Attorney’s crystal-gazing. | do
not agree that it is time for anything
except for him to sit down and stop in-
terrupting. | offer this testimony for
the jury’s appraisal, not the District At-
torney’s. | am endeavoring to recon-
struct, from what evidence | can find, a
picture of the defendant’s state of mind
at the time of the crime.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. Mr.
Wells, while | agree with the validity of
your intentions as you express them, |
do not see how this witness, at least,
who is merely repeating an alleged opin-
ion, offers testimony of any value. The
testimony offered is also for the ap-
praisal of the Court, and I may as well
tell you now that | will instruct the jury
to place very little weight in such testi-
mony. You may take exception, of
course.

MR. WELLS. Exception. | will
dismiss the witness and call Mr. David
V. Reed.
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(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF DAVID V. REED, DE-
FENSE WITNESS, ON DIRECT EX-
AMINATION BY DEFENSE AT-
TORNEY CHARLES WELLS)

Q. And so after you received this let-
ter from Mr. Hammond, which has been
marked Exhibit 19, you made no at-
tempt to call Mr. Hammond because the
letter led you to believe he was still
away?

A. That's right. It was dated the.
7th and | got it the 9th.

Q. But on the 10th you went to see
him, did you not? You were going to
the party at the houseboat, but first
you went to see him. | want you to tell
us why you went to see him and what
transpired during your visit. | want
you to tell us about that visit in the light
of its previous background. Is that
clear, Mr. Reed?

A. | think so. Mr. Hammond visited
me at my home the previous Tuesday
night; that was August 5th. He was
with me for several hours, and during
that time we discussed what | thought
to be a story idea of Mr. Hammond’s.
Toward the end of the evening, Mr.
Hammond insisted the story he had out-
lined was true in every particular.

Q. What was this story?

A. He told me that Shilling and he
had discovered a metal monster that
was alive in the swamps of the yard. It
was supposedly a new form of life, with-
out parallel or similarity to any form of
life that had ever existed in the uni-
verse, and that it had just come into
being. This monster was invisible and
had great powers. Most of these pow-
ers were still a mystery to Mr. Ham-
mond, he told me, but he did know it
had a compulsive influence. It had
forced them not to disclose its being,
and he was able to tell me about it only
because he had stayed away from the
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yards for a few days Even then he
didn’t quite understand how he could
tell me about it, he claimed. He told me
the monster was antagonistic to human
life and he feared it. He had come to me
for advice and help. He didn’'t know
what to do with his knowledge of this
monster. Oh, yes. He had seen part
of it one time; he saw something like a
small watchspring that was red hot. It
was an experiment of the monster’s, to
see how humans would react to the
sight.

Q. This is the story he told you as
something that was true?

A. Yes. He built the whole thing
up before he told me it was true. | had
merely considered it an interesting idea.
Well, when | was finally convinced he
was in dead earnest, | decided he
needed a doctor. | went to get a friend
of mine, but when we returned he had
gone. He left me a note saying he felt
much better. 11 talked it over with Doc-
tor Camiel—

Q. Excuse me, Mr. Reed, but the
Doctor’s views, or yours, are not rele-
vant here at the moment. Just tell us
what happened after that.

A. The next thing | knew about Mr.
Hammond was the fact that he had
gotten married the next day, that is, the
day after I saw him. 1 found that out
on the following Saturday, when | re-
ceived his letter. Then on Sunday,
shortly after one o’clock, Mr. Ham-
mond telephoned and asked me to come
to see him. He told me had been home
since the previous Thursday, and that
he had to see me. | tried to beg off by
asking him to the party, but he told me
he was ill. Then 1 called Mr. Bester
and asked him to meet me at Mr. Ham-
mond’s place. | wanted to keep the
visit short and somewhat, well, more
tame than the last time | had seen him.
Mr. Bester couldn’'t come and | went
alone. | rang his bell but got no an-
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swer. | rang the superintendent and
got into the house. | rang his own door-
bell several times before he answered.
He opened the door but kept the latch-
chain in place and asked me what |
wanted. When | told him | had come
because of his phone call, he insisted he
hadn’t called me and asked me who I

was. Naturally, I didn't know what to
make of this. | asked him if Maria was
inside. For some reason he suddenly

recognized me, or, at least, said he had
suddenly recognized me, and let me in.
Then he asked me where Maria was. |
told him | didn’t know but he kept ask-
ing me where she had gone. He ap-
peared to be on the verge of hysterics,
so to quiet him | pretended to recall Mr.
Bester’s telling me that Maria had said
something about visiting them that
afternoon. He immediately telephoned
the Besters, and, as | expected, got no
answer. | then told him that undoubt-
edly they had all gone for a walk, the
afternoon being exceptionally fine. Mr.
Wells, am | going into too great de-
tail? You appear to be—

Q. Not at all, Mr. Reed.
continue. | want the details.

A. He then asked me if | was going
to the party that afternoon, and | said
yes. Then he asked me whether the
Besters weren’t going too, and whether
Maria mightn't have gone with them.
He asked the question with such poorly
disguised craftiness that | strongly op-
posed the idea. | told him that | knew
very definitely that the Besters weren’t
going. Then | asked him what differ-
ence it would make if Maria had gone.
He began to tremble and refused to an-
swer. | asked him if his questioning
had anything to do with what he had
told me about the yards earlier. He
still made no answer. When | repeated
the question, phrasing it in another way,
he suddenly flew into a rage and
shouted at me. He told me it was none
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of my business, that | had not believed
him when he told me what had hap-
pened in the yards, that he had no de-
sire to tell me anything more, and that
there was nothing to tell. He—

Q. These several statements are ob-
viously contradictory. The contradic-
tions, may | ask, were inherent in what
he said, and not in the way you are re-
peating his statements?

A. Exactly. He contradicted him-
self over and over. Once he started to
say: “If you had had the imagination
to believe me,” but he didn't finish.
Finally I said I did believe him. He
looked at me and then tried to punch
me. | grabbed his hands and sat him
down. He kept struggling and shout-
ing at me, calling me all sorts of names.
When | saw there was no sense staying
any longer— at least that was what |
decided— I left. Even when | went to
the door he ran after me and tried to
kick me.

Q. And that was the end of your
visit with him?

A. Yes.

Q. Where did you go when you left
Mr. Hammond?

A. | went to the party at the yards.

Q. Did you see Mrs. Hammond
there?
A. Yes.

Q. Did you tell her of your visit
with her husband?

A. Yes, but | didn't tell her much.
| said | had dropped in on him and
that he had appeared to be quite wor-
ried at her absence.

Q. What did she say to that?

A. She asked me several questions
about him, how he was and so on. |
felt she would have been greatly em-
barrassed if | appeared to be aware of
her husband’s condition—

MR. O'DAY. Your Honor, | object
to this witness using the word “condi-
tion” in this context and ask that it be

N
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stricken from the record. No condition
has been established except in the mind
of the witness.

MR. REED. Your Honor, | had no
intention of using the word “condition”
except to describe Mr. Hammond as |
left him. | mean nothing by it that is
not stated in what | have already said.
I mean nothing more by it than that.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. I will
permit the witness’s testimony to stand,
and | call the jury’s attention to the
witness’s qualification of the word as
he employed it.

MR. O'DAY. Exception.

MR. WELLS. You may continue
now, Mr. Reed.

A, | have very little more to say. |
was saying that because | did not wish
to embarrass Mrs. Hammond, | said
nothing about the way he had acted
while | was with him. That’s about all,

I think. 1 don’t recall speaking to her
again.

MR. WELLS. Your witness, Mr.
O’Day.

(EXCERPT FROM THE TESTI-
MONY OF DAVID V. REED, DE-
FENSE WITNESS, ON CROSS EX-
AMINATION BY DISTRICT AT-
TORNEY MALCOLM O'DAY)

Q. Mr. Reed, I will leave the ques-
tion of this letter which Mr. Hammond
wrote you and | will turn my attention
to this matter of the story which you
claim Mr. Hammond told you. You have
testified that you would not say you
were Mr. Hammond’s best friend. You
have testified that you were not sur-
prised when Mr. Hammond singled you
out as the one recipient of his announce-
ment of his marriage, in spite of the
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fact that you were not his best friend.
Can you think of any reason why he
also singled you cut as the recipient of
this story which you claim he told you?

A. | have a theory, if you care to
listen to it.

Q. | have a great interest in all your
theories, Mr. Reed.

A. Thank you. 1| think Mr. Ham-
mond came to me because he seemed to
feel, as he said, that | was someone ac-
customed to dealing with fantastic
events. Of course, he was confusing—
that is, he seemed to think that because
I wrote fantasies that I would be the
one to hear such a story, and that |
might believe him. 1 think of all the
writers he knew of whom he might think
the same, | was closest to him. But after
the disastrous— if I may use the word—
way that evening turned out, after I
went for a doctor, he felt he owed me a
letter or some slight apology. As he
wrote, he sent me the announcement
because he felt I had been kind to him
and because | might be concerned about
him.

Q. That’s very interesting, I'm sure.
Have you any more theories, sir?

A. Yes, but you'd probably have it
removed from the record.

Q. You think so? Well, then, what
other theories, may | ask?

A. | have a theory that Mr. Ham-
mond was insane all that time.

Q. And you like to have your theo-
ries proven correct, do you not?

A. 1'd say, rather, that | like to have
a correct theory proven.

Q. If a theory is proven, that makes
it correct, doesn’t it?

A. Yes.

Q. So you set yourself the task of
proving your theory, Mr. Reed? You
decided that Mr. Hammond was insane,
so you came to this courtroom deter-
mined to prove it, no matter what you
had to say to prove it?
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A. | don't think you're being fair or
accurate, Mr. O’Day. The things | have
said here, the conversations T have re-
peated and the actions | described, are
what made me decide he was insane.

Q. Well, Mr. Reed, | have no inten-
tion of asking that your remarks and
theories be stricken from the record. |
want the record to show that you are a
great theorizer and that you came to
court prepared with theories, and that
you backed them up with your testi-
mony.

A. | must repeat that you are still
putting the cart before the horse—

Q. | wouldn’t put this cart and what
it contains before a jackass. Even a
jackass would have more sense than to
believe a word of it.

A. | take it then that you don't be-
lieve a word of it.

Q. Mr. Reed, | will thank you to
spare me your insolence. | will remind
you that | represent the State of New
York.

A. I'm sorry.

Q. What do you mean by that?

A. Exactly what | said. >

Q. Very well, I will accept your
apology. Returning to your theory for
a moment, for the sake of the record, I
would like to ask you if you consider
yourself qualified to pass an opinion on
insanity.

A. 1 do not so consider myself.

Q. And you admit that your opinion
is worthless?

A. | admit that my opinion cannot
be considered as expert opinion.

Q. On the question of insanity?

A. On the question of insanity.

Q. But you are an expert at invent-
ing fantastic stories?

A. | don't know how expert | am.
I sell what | write.

Q. Can you give us the plots of say,
two or three stories you wrote?

A. | suppose | could, but it would

take time and—

Q. Since Mr. Wells took the court’s
time to allow you to tell a story, | think
we have time to listen to some others.
The details are not important. A sample
outline or two will do.

MR. WELLS. Your Honor, it seems
to me that Mr. O’Day is taking undue
advantage of his position to harass the
witness. | beg the Court’s protection
for Mr. Reed.t

Mr. O’'Day. If it please the Court, I
am trying to establish that the witness is
a gifted inventor of fantastic stories,
and to relate this ability to the testi-
mony he has given here.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. 1| really
don’t think Mr. Reed objects particu-

larly?
MR. REED. I have no objection,
your Honor.

MR. O'DAY. All right then.

A. There is a story of mine currently
on the stands in Amazing Stories, called,
“Death Plays A Game.” It deals with
a spaceship from an imaginary planet
called Lindar. This ship is a gambling
ship. The idea behind the story is that
Lindar needs slave labor to work its
mines, and gets slaves by maneuvering
people to gamble for their freedom. It
gets quite complicated. Shall | go on?

Q. I don’t think that will be neces-
sary. Instead 1'd rather you told us
about a story you had in the October
issue of the same magazine, titled, “The
World Of Miracles.”

A. That story deals with a world in
another dimension. Its—

Q. Excuse me. What does that
mean?

A. | haven't the faintest idea.

Q. You mean you write about things
you don’t understand?

A. I'm afraid | must answer yes.

Q. You amaze me, Mr. Reed. Please
continue.

A. Well, the inhabitants of thL other
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world manage to bring two humans
through the dimensional barrier, and
through trickery they present their
world as a miraculous place. They
promise to duplicate their happiness in
our dimension. They give these two men
a drug, which, when dropped into water
3f our world, will enable them to come
through. The two men they brought
were drunk, and when they returned
to our world, they accidentally destroy
this drug. It then turns out that the
world of miracles was actually barren
and dying. Its inhabitants were meat
eaters and were looking forward to de-
vouring all of us once they got here.

Q. Dear me.

A. You needn’t worry, Mr. O'Day.
The drug was destroyed.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. 1 cau-
tion the courtroom against another out-
break.

Q. 1 think these two samples amply
demonstrate that you are accustomed
to thinking along lines which are, shall
we say, unusual? There are not many
people you can name who are practi-
tioners of your special literary art, are
there?

A. Well, I'm hardly a specialist. 1've
written a good many other kinds of
stories. But at that party on the Sun-
day of August 10th, there were at least
half a dozen experts in this field. Off-
hand, | recall Manly Wade Wellman,
John Broome, David Wright O’Brien,
Henry Kuttner, Craig Ellis and others.

Q. You would not, | take it, classify
Mr. Hammond among these experts?

A. 1 would not.

Q. Because Mr. Hammond never
wrote fantastic stories?

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. As far as you know, did he ever
read fantastic stories?

A. 1 don’t think I am qualified to an-
swer that. | was not intimately ac-
quainted with his choice of reading mat-

ter.

Q. You are qualified to answer any
guestion that asks you to respond only
to the extent of what you know. 1 ask
you again, whether, as far as you know,
Mr. Hammond ever read such stories?

A. As far as | know, he didn't.

Q. Did you ever hear him discuss
such stories?

A. No.

Q. Did you ever hear anyone else
say anything which might lead you to
think he had any familiarity with such
stories?

A. No.

Q. But you claim he told you this
fantastic story?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you think it contains the
elements for a salable fantastic story?

A. More or less. Itdepends on how
it’s handled, | think.

Q. In other words, the idea itself is
quite professional?

A. I'm not sure I know what you
mean.
Q. | mean that it contains enough

of an idea, or ideas, and complications,
to make a salable story for a profes-
sional expert in the field.

A. | can answer that best by saying
again that the experts in this field are
determined not so much by their ideas
as by their handling of—

Q. Surely you don’t think any
writer could turn to this field? Would
he not need a certain minimum profi-
ciency in getting these ideas?

A. Well, yes.

Q. And this story demonstrates
such a proficiency, does it not?

A. Yes, | think so.

Q. Did you ever write a story re-
sembling the one you claim he told you?
A. No.

Q. There
about it?

A. There were familiar elements in

was nothing familiar
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it. For instance, the telepathic powers
which he claimed for the monster.

Q. What other talents did it have?

A. It could quote from Milton and
Shakespeare.

MR. JUSTICE REVERE. Silence
in the court. Mr. Reed, | must caution
you against answering the questions of
the District Attorney with such levity.
This court is no place for a display of
wit.

MR. REED. Your Honor, I seriously
meant what | said.

Q. You mean Mr. Hammond told
you this monster quoted Shakespeare?

A. That's exactly what | mean. He
told me he hadn’t known they were quo-
tations when | identified them as such.
All he knew, he said, was that he had
heard them from the monster. Perhaps
I should add, now that I think of it, that
he didn’t actually refer to it as a mon-
ster. He called it a thing. It was my
idea to call it a metal monster.

Q. Why was that?

A. Well, I kept thinking he was out-
lining a story idea, and if 1'd written it
as a story I'd have called it a metal
monster.

Q. And how much more of this
story is actually yours?

A. Nothing.

Q. Absolutely nothing?

A. Absolutely nothing.

Q. Then you mean to tell us, Mr.
Reed, that the defendant, Mr. Ham-
mond, who to your knowledge never
wrote, read, or discussed such stories,
came to you and told you a story worthy
of the proficiency of an expert at in-
venting them?

A. That appears to be the case.

Q. That actually was the case, you
maintain?

Yes.

How do you account for it?
Must | account for it?

Can you account for it?

o >0 >

A. No.

Q. Neither can I, Mr. Reed, and |
doubt whether anyone else here can. |
have no further questions, sir. You are
excused.

CHE must have said something. She

would not have left without telling
me something but | do not remember
it. Suddenly it was Sunday and Maria
was not with me. She would not have
told me she was going to the party.
Suddenly it was Sunday and | was
alone.

Then Reed came.

Why should he have said | had tele-
phoned him if | hadn’t? | didn’t re-
member it then and | don’t now. |
thought there was no way he could have
known | was back in the city unless Jim
had told him. Maria would not have
told him. | thought perhaps Maria had
asked him to come because she wanted
to go to the yards. Did I think of this
then, or do | think so now? | keep
confusing what | knew then with what
I knew just a few hours later. There
must be a way to remember. When
Reed comes later he may be able to
help me. That was all the same Sun-
day, the Sunday it all happened. He
said | had asked him to come. And
tonight, after all this time, to ask him if
he knew Maria had gone to the yards?
Well, yes, why not tell me? Why should
he hold back? Certainly he doesn’t
think there’s anything to it. He must
agree with Schumer. Schumer tells him
everything and they must agree. Now
everyone agrees there was never any-
thing to it. As a matter of fact, isn’t
Reed bringing the final bit of evidence
that Schumer is right?

I threw him out.

I was ill. The
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whole thing is understandable now. It
was all because | was ill. He kept ask-
ing me questions and | thought he knew
where Maria was. | was worried about
her. | thought

Well, there has to be a contradiction,
the way Schumer says. If | was ill
then and | am not now, naturally every-
thing I remember must be colored by
the illness of that time. Schumer says
that if a man wore colored glasses at
a time when he viewed a certain scene,
if he never saw that scene again with-
out the glasses, he would always remem-
ber it as something that

He says that unless this man realizes
he was wearing these odd glasses, he
cannot adjust to reality. So he is teach-
ing me to recognize reality once more, to
perceive the difference between the real
and the colored memory, between what
must have been and what | thought
once was. He says one cannot continue
to live in the world unless one under-
stands it. | have said the same thing in
another way, which makes him angry
since it implies a continuation. | have
said | could not continue to believe
what | did and live.

So, all these things are not true and
never were. This might be called the
memoirs of an hallucinosis. Diary of
a delusion. The clinical history of the
patient, supplied by himself. Which
probably partly accounts for Schumer’s
anxiety that | finish it. It may have a
larger usefulness to him, but it has an
invaluable, if limited and inverted, use
for me, for if | believed the things in it
I could not write them. | would dread
Reed’s coming tonight. Isn’t he bring-
ing me the final test? And if Schumer
suspected that was what | considered
it, | doubt if he would share my eager-
ness.

MAMMOTH

DETECTIVE
(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

npHESE passages introduce an introspec-
A tive lucidity hardly paralleled in the
manuscript, and what is perhaps the best
indication that Hammond understood what
was going on around him and inside him,
and that he consciously fought to adopt
Schumer’s attitude. He contrasts the rare
clarity of his recollections, at this point,
with what Schumer has told him, and he
cannot wholly accept the view that “. . .
everything (he remembers) must be colored
by the illness of that time . . ."—D. V. R.

It was evening when Maria returned.
She came in so quietly I did not hear
her. | accidentally looked up and there
she was, standing over me as | lay on
the couch. There was a single lamp lit
near me and the light threw strangely
soft shadows on her face. Her features
were cast in immobility, but there was
no rest, no repose in them. It was as if
a human had been caught during the
moments of transition that were chang-
ing the being into a statue. Her breath-
ing was shallow and audible, and each
exhalation was a rapid, fluttering sound.
So she stood, stiff and silent, looking
down at me.

How well 1 seem to remember all
this. Yet | must not accept the va-
lidity of these distinctly recalled sounds
and movements and indelibly etched,
unimportant details of that instant?
That was not meant to be a question
when | began to write it. The catalyst
of doubt still operates. \It proves what
Schumer said— that no one but I, event-
ually, can resolve whether or not it is
a question. There should not be long
to wait now. It is twenty past seven.

All this— my first glimpse of Maria
returned, my sudden notice of the heavy
package she held close to her, my feel-
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ing that she hardly saw me at all
through those unaccountably opaque
eyes— all this was the reaction of a
fraction of an instant. In that instant,
as | jumped up, a numbing fear seized
me. | could not yet have understood,
but somehow within me was the pre-
science of the final descent of an in-
credible and tragic doom, in the shadow
of which I had lived so long.

Then how am | to tell myself that
these memories are false, that | have
created them? What is there to say?
That | had little need for the questions,
the crying, the wild grief with which |
occupied her last hour? And, finally, to
confess that most of that hour is as
vague as it has always been? What is
there to say?

For a little while she was still able to
speak, and though, in my ignorance |
tried to silence her, she fought to force
the whisper through her twisted lips.
She had gone to the yards where | had
told her | had seen the body of Kathy
Gray, and she had found it. There Jim
had followed her, and there the Thing
had taken her life as it had taken
Kathy’s. And she came home, bringing
with her the box Jim had given her.

And all that remained of this sem-
blance of life that had been lent to her
was to end when she opened the box. ...

So much I remember and little more.
There are dim recollections of her un-
comprehending terror as she pleaded for
my promise not to go to the yards, of
last words that may have been a prayer.
I think she asked me to kiss her. Per-
haps | did. Sometimes | have remem-
bered the box pressing against me as |
leaned forward, sometimes | have felt
once more the touch of lips already cold.
But | do not trust these fleeting, im-
perfect images which my brain has
crusted with horror, for all this was
after | had opened the box— opened it,
as | thought, to fight the then visible

death that had been so patient before
it claimed her— and after that. . . .

Sometimes in these last weeks as the
shadows lifted, | have thought I re-
membered the way she looked at the
last. | have seen again the pallid,
weary face, the fire dying in sightless
eyes, the small blue marks that ringed
her throat, choking off her last soft
breath. A room, quiet and dim as this
one, whirling faster and faster, then
streets and people and the box wet in
my hands, and pavements reflecting
light as the rain came down, the heav-
ens crashing open. No word of good-
bye. The streets grew empty, the spin-
ning lights became hidden under a vast,
grey sheet. But no word of goodbye.

I have never remembered what was
in the box.

/COINCIDENTALLY enough, just as

I think of Schumer, he knocks at
my door. In a moment, Schumer. You
have won your battle. | read and read
again these words and am confounded
by their unreality. You have found the
box, but it will win your battle and
you know it. The wonder of it is that
there ever was a box. And if there
was not, you would have managed to
provide one. We understand each other,
Schumer. You have a box and you wait
for my surrender. You do not expect
it but I am ready to offer it.

And now to what world do you lead
me? You take me from this one of
nightmare, the prison of my own mind,
and free me. And now | will be free
to wander in search of answers that
only my world supplied so long? You
will teach me to understand this world,
but how will you explain my loneliness?
What will you tell me of Maria? What
do your promises mean when they say
that my returning strength will supply
the answers? What have you to tell
me that needs my strength? In a mo-
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ment now. Reed and you are waiting.
| understand, but it's not easy to leave
this prison of memories. False as they
are, they are all I have now. They are
all that remains of the life that was
mine and Maria’s.

Now hardly anything remains to be
told. 1 will not invade your precinct.
I will say nothing you think you know
—what was in my mind that night has
been, and remains, yours to determine.
Let what has been in my heart for so
long remain mine a moment longer
while | finish. Then | will find the
strength to accept the loneliness you
offer.

(EXCERPT FROM THE NEW
YORK POST, AUGUST n, 1941,
PAGE 3, CITY EDITION.)

Elliot Hammond Tramferred from Injured
Ward for Fiychiatrist’s Examination;
Under Heavy Guard

ELLIOT HAMMOND, ACCUSED *“triple-
killer” who was taken by the police shortly
before noon as he sat beside the body of the
woman he had married and then strangled,
was admitted to the Bellevue Psychiatric
Ward at four o’clock today. His superficial
wounds, believed to be the results of concus-
sion incurred from the dynamite blast he set
oif late last night in the waterfront yards
of the Acme Reclaiming Co., did not save
him from some three hours of grilling. The
killer took it stoically, never altering his
blank expression. Finally, at the suggestion
of District Attorney Malcolm O’Day, he was
sent to psychiatrists for a complete examina-
tion.

Police officials are quickly gathering the
evidence of what was declared to be the most
horrible crime in decades of city history.
Deputy Inspector Vern said that the cor-
oner’s report conclusively showed that Ham-
mond choked his wife to death before he
made his way to the yards where he blew up
his best friend, James Shilling, author of
The Silent Room, and Miss Jean Lowell, de-
scribed by her friends as Shilling’s fiancee.

Behind this bare tale of incredible butch-
ery, said Inspector Vern, lay a complex and
sordid story of jealousy and hatred that
reached its, bloody climax last night . . .

(HEADLINE AND STORY EX-
CERPTS FROM THE NEW YORK
WORLD, AUGUST 13, 1941))

FIND THIRD BODY IN ACME

SCRAPYARD!

Beautiful Model, 20, Musing 5 Days, Found
by Police on Site of Dynamite Murders;
Buried Beneath Scrap Iron. Unexploded

Fuses Planted Near Body Provides
Link to Previous Murders

THE CASE AGAINST “TRIPLE-KILL-
ER” Elliot Hammond was augmented this
morning when police experts of the Bomb
Squad discovered the body of Katherine
Gray less than a hundred yards from the
site of two of his other murders. Police
Headquarters was thrown into confusion a
few moments after the discovery was tele-
phoned in. Until this morning’s gruesome
find, the lovely 20 year-old photographers’
model had been listed as missing since the
morning of August 8th, when her room-mate,
Ann Packard, of 224 Hig:h Blvd., reported
to the police that Katherine Gray had not
returned from a dinner date of the previous
evening.

According to Deputy Inspector Vern, in
charge of investigation of the Hammond
case, the new murder was plainly linked to
the others. As in the case of Maria Denisov,
two-day dancer bride of the killer, death was
attributed to strangulation. According to
the coroner’s report, Katherine Gray had
been dead at least four or five days. Since
Hammond was seen in Greenwich Village at
four-thirty A.M. on August 8th, the killing
was placed between that hour and six P.M.
of August 7th, when her room-mate last saw
Katherine Gray. The identity of the wit-
ness who placed Hammond for the police
was not revealed, but a high police official
was quoted as saying, “We know enough
about his movements that night to hang him
once for each murder.”

It was revealed that immediately after
the dynamite killings on Sunday, the Police
Department’s dynamite experts, headed by
Lt. Lawrence Swift, were called in. It was
quickly found that not all the dynamite
stolen from company shacks had been ac-
counted for. Estimating the force of the
explosions, Lt. Swift felt that at least three
cartridges were missing, and a painstaking
search of the hundreds of acres of swamp-
land, piled high with scrap, was initiated.

The dynamite, said Lt. Swift, was used
by company experts to blast apart the huge
mountains of metal which frequently became
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wedged in masses too heavy for cranes to
handle.

Ironically enough, detectives operating in-
dependently under direction of the Missing
Persons Bureau had cut across the track of
the Homicide Squad by last night. Ques-
tioning of Katherine Gray’s friends had pro-
vided detectives with a list of her many
admirers, and among these was found Mr.
Craig Ellis, a writer. Mr. Ellis mentioned
the yards of the Acme Co. among the places
he had taken the missing girl.

(EXCERPTS FROM THE NEW
YORK POST, AUGUST 14, 1941,
PAGE 3, CITY EDITION.)

HAMMOND STILL WONT TALK:

PSYCHIATRISTS DISAGREE

“He’ll Stand Trial,” Says District
Attorney O’Day

Angered by leaks from the closely guarded
Bellevue Observation Ward, District Attor-
ney O’'Day dismissed rumors that eminent
psychiatrists were locked in disagreement
on the question of the “triple-killer’s” san-
ity. Questioned by reporters in a press con-
ference this afternoon, the D.A. said he had
but one word to characterize “this malicious

gossip.”
The word, said Mr. O’Day, is: “Hog-
wash!” He added: “And you can quote me

on this too. If Elliot Hammond is found
to have been insane, or is insane, he will be
dealt with according to the law, which pro-
tects homicidal maniacs. But no one is
going to put over any plea of insanity that
is not backed one hundred percent by ex-
perts. The people are sick and tired of
seeing an endless procession of murderers
walking out scot free because some quack
medic was confused enough to lend his name
to a plea of insanity. Silence is no proof
of insanity. Especially in Hammond'’s case,
it is proof, and definite proof, of complete
sanity. He knows the minute he opens his
mouth, he will be discovered as a fraud. And
frauds are still liable to execution.”

(EXCERPT FROM THE NEW
YORK WORLD, AUGUST 21, 1941,

PAGE 1, CITY EDITION.)

HAMMOND INDICTED

Grand Jury Holds Him for Murders on Three
Counts Refuses to Indict on Killing of Kath-
erine Gray. “Satisfied,” Says D.A. “He
Only Has to Be Electrocuted Once.”
Will Seek Early Trial Date

HAD planned, Jim and I, to

destroy the Thing after everyone

had gone. Jim had arranged every-

thing. | was only to take my ap-

pointed place in the yards, where he

had set the detonators, close enough to
the piers to be able to see him.

He would come out at the appointed
hour and call to me that he was out of
the dangerous area. Then | would set
off the dynamite he had taken from the
shack. The same blast would destroy
poor Kathy’s body. And when the po-
lice came, we would have our story: the
party, wilder than most; someone
(question them all and probe beneath
their denials) had stolen the dynamite
—a horrible, bloodcurdling, drunken
prank, say what you will— no one had
been hurt. Investigate, prosecute for
criminal negligence. The Thing and
the evidence of what it had done to
Kathy would be gone forever.

If it worked, Jim had said. There
could be no assurance that it would.
That was the gamble we were to take,
but | alone took it and | alone lost it.
It was already lost for Jim, it was al-
ready out of his hands— because Jim
didn’'t know | was going to blow him up
with it.

By the time | got there | didn’t have
to wait. Everyone had gone because of
the rain. He was alone. | called to him
and waited only until he appeared at
the door.



THE METAL MONSTER MURDERS 91

So now, Schumer, | have provided at
least one answer for your world, to
stand beside my question. | have told
you what happened to Kathy Gray
when she disappeared from your logical
world, when all trace of her was lost
one night. And now you understand
my question, the progenitor of all my
questions. For | do not know if the
Thing was destroyed. You have under-
mined my memory. | cannot unravel
the tangled skeins of half-dreams; |
cannot reconcile your talks about my
imagination and its disorders with the
dim recollection of a sentence that was
passed on me, as it was passed on
Maria.

A moment more, Schumer, hammer-
ing on my door now, before you tell me
I do not remember the way the house-
boat lifted in a great orange blaze that
tote the night apart. There is not long
to wait before

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

' | 'HE Hammond manuscript ends here.
A According to Schumer, when Hammond
refused to open the door, he used a pass
key and entered the room. But the story
does not end with the manuscript. | con-
tinue this collection as | started, with a
few additional details that give this strange
tale its third— (or fourth?)— dimension.
And then, if you have borne with me so
far, 1 will intrude long enough to put some
guestions to you.—D. V. R.

(EXCERPT FROM THE NEW
YORK POST, NOVEMBER 20, 1941,
PAGE 3, CITY EDITION.)

PSYCHIATRISTS BATTLE ON STAND

Specialists Called by Defense Contradict Pros-
ecution’s Case as Dr. Schumer Is Star
Witness. Case to Jury Monday

AS THE TRIAL OF Elliot Hammond
neared its end this afternoon, it reached the
thrilling climax predicted weeks ago as the
defense paraded a phalanx of psychiatric ex-
perts to the stand in an all-out eifort to save
Hammond’s life. One after another, the
psychiatrists told the jury the same thing—
that they believed Hammond had been in-
sane at file time the murders were commit-
ted, and that he is insane today. Nor was this
careful phrasing lost on District Attorney
O’Day, who immediately noticed that the
learned doctors said nothing about Ham-
mond committting the murders. _ This was
eloquent testimony indeed, especially to the
coaching of Defense Chief Wells who has
never conceded that Hammond is a murderer.
The wily Wells conceded nothing today: his
clear questions were concerned only with
diagnoses of Hammond’s mental state.

Notable even in today’s array was Pro-
fessor Leopold Schumer, who identified him-
self on the stand as “the celebrated
Schumer.” It was the opinion of seasoned
trial veterans that Schumer’s testimony
struck a vital blow for the defense, aimed
squarely at one of the prosecution’s favorite
points— namely, that Wells has not and will
not bring Hammond to the stand. Speaking
in a high-pitched voice flavored with a Vien-
nese accent and studded with French idioms,
Dr. Schumer answered every question
thoughtfully, avoiding as much as possible
technical terminology. Indeed, the Doctor
frequently offered explanations in terms of
metaphor which were unusually effective.
Replying to Mr. Wells’ question as to
whether Hammond might profitably be
brought to the stand, he said:

“To testify? But he does not speak. Look
at him sitting there so quietly. He cannot
speak. He fears to speak. He is like a
soldier who has been moving on a dark bat-
tlefield, when suddenly the enemy has on
him turned a dazzling light. The soldier on
the battlefield who is confronted by such
light, what does he do? Absolutely nothing.
He motionless remains. He knows to move
is to invite death. He hopes so to blend with
the environment, the protection of darkness
everywhere around him. So in the case of
Mr. Hammond. He has suffered a great
shock, like the sudden light, n’est-pas? He
does not say a word, but not only this, he
does not move, he does not eat. He is a man
dead sous tous les rapports. Of what hap-
pens around him he understands only the
light, and to that alone he adjusts. The
rest of the world has no meaning for him.
Perhaps one day, with care, with fortune,
he may speak again. But now? It is more
sensible to bring here one of the dummies
from a tailor shop. . . .”

This was one of the few occasions during
the trial that Hammond’s physical presence
in the court room had beep mentioned. For
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the most part, Defense Attorney Wells has
completely ignored the defendant, as if to
illustrate the defense contention that Ham-
mond is incapable of thought or action.
Needless to say, Hammond has never given
any sign of reacting to his surroundings.
Today, as always, he sat stony-faced, unmov-
ing, impassive. It was evident, nevertheless,
that the prosecution’s avoidance of comment
is likewise the result of a policy— a policy
which intends to let the defense overplay
its hand— or so it hopes.

In his turn, District Attorney O’Day lost
no time seizing what he considered a
Schumer-presented opportunity to blast the
defense case. How, he asked the learned
Doctor, could a man in such a condition en-
gineer a complex murder?- After intermina-
ble objections the question was re-worded
to: “Could a man in such condition engineer
a complex murder?” Though with this ques-
tion O’'Day sought to contradict previously
offered opinions that Hammond was insane
at the time of the murder, he was also flank-
ing the defense contention that Hammond
is insane today.

But the Doctor was not to be trapped.
He shook his head patiently and replied,
“But this condition is not the same. It
remains not statis. Today he is so, but
yesterday, when this condition was in the
formative state, when underneath was boil-
ing the pot, the currents le dessous des
cartes, was many things possible. The man
today is the product of the man yesterday.
When these two men are not the same, often
the today man tells us what happened to
the yesterday man. What has happened
to Mr. Hammond since the murder? He was
arrested and of murder accused. Is this
something capable to give such a profound
shock to a man who plans a murder? No,
it is not. We do not find histories of mur-
derers who are shocked by being caught.
But what do we have here? A state resem-
bling that of narcolepsy. Perhaps a fugue,
aphonia, anasthesia sometimes visual, some-
times anorexia— a complete catalogue of a
psychasthenic or of the hysterical type. It
is hard to comprehend such cases all at once,
but some things we know instantaneously.

“The shock was there already but it did
not manifest itself until it was understood.
We are not shocked by things we do not
understand. Even if the realization of a
murder is what shocks the man, it must
be that he did not murder with an under-
standing of what he was doing. So here.
Something, perhaps many thing together,
has shocked the man. 1 do not say what,
because | do not know. But | say this man
did not understand what he did before he
was in this condition today. The condition
now is a development, a result, the com-
mencement de la fin."

Needless to say, this speech was not un-
accompanied by a barrage of objections, this
time from Mr. O’'Day. The Doctor was al-
lowed to finish only because Judge Revere
insisted the jury had a right to listen to a
requested answer, for its own information
if not for Mr. O’'Day’s. As for the District
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Attorney’s intimations that the noted psy-
chiatrist had been fooled by Hammond, Dr.
Schumer said: “lI am a doctor thirty-seven
years, a professor twenty-two. There have
many books been published in that time.
They all tell you Schumer is a great man.
Sometimes a diagnosis, a hair difference, yes.
To fool me so? Impossible. This man sit-
ting here has not fooled me. The doctor who
says anything else fools you, my dear
sir. . . .”

(EXCERPT FROM THE FINAL
ADDRESS TO THE JURY BY DIS-
TRICT ATTORNEY O'DAY,)

“. . . the strategy of the defense
counsel, this strategy of oversimplifica-
tion, of ignoring the multitude of facts,
is something | welcome most heartily.
The defense has insistently fought
every point in the State’s case, it has
struggled against the forging of every
link in the inexorable chain of evidence
which proves the defendant’s guilt. And
why? To build a counter-case, per-
haps? No. To offer a different inter-
pretation, perhaps? No. Why then
has it fought so stubbornly? | say to
you that it has fought because its policy
was, from the start, to spread confusion,
and that alone.

“For it has made no use of any of
the points it attempted to set up against
the State’s case. Now th~t the trial
itself is over, we have gained a per-
spective with which we can review it.
We know that no case has been offered
in opposition to, or as a substitute for,
the State’s case. It is perfectly clear
now that the plan to plead the de-
fendant’s insanity was the sum and sub-
stance of the defense case. Yet through-
out the trial, the defense attacked and
insulted and reviled witnesses whose
function, in some instances, was no
more important than to establish the
time of day. . . .
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“These obstructionist tactics shed a
brilliant light on the defense’s dilemma.
The defense knew the defendant’s guilt
could be proved in a case prepared step
by step, logically linked all the way.
It had too little confidence in its in-
tended plea of insanity to allow the
State to proceed unhampered. It had
nothing with which to fight back, so it
fought to becloud the issue and befud-
dle the jury, in the hope that when it
finally did offer its one plea, that it
alone would remain the issue.

“That is the strategy of over-simpli-
fication. It has failed because the facts
cannot be dismissed, because they
prove that the one grounds of the de-
fense is untenable— because they over-
whelm the false contention that Elliot
Hammond did not know that he was
doing wrong when he killed his wife,
his best friend, and his one love. The
facts prove that Hammond fully under-
stood everything he did, and understood
the penalty for what he did, and because
of that he planned his murders care-
fully.

“The State now claims that penalty.
The State demands that Hammond for-
feit his life for the crime of murder. It
is not the function of tjie State to exact
this penalty if there is any reason to
accept the view that Hammond was in-
sane at the time of the murders, or is
now insane. | say to you that I would
not be here now as the prosecuting at-
torney if | could accept even a fraction
of the defense’s contention. | am here
now because the facts compel me to be
here, because the facts are such that
the State’s view is the only one which
can be maintained. That is why | seek
the execution of Elliot Hammond, the
most cold-blooded killer I have en-
countered in all my experience.

“And what are these facts?
review them.

“We have shown that Elliot Ham-

Let us

mond was in love with Jean Lowell for
many years. We know that this love
was unrequited, but that it was never-
theless strong enough to endure. Ham-
mond saw Jean Lowell frequently and
she went with him because of the friend-
ship she bore him. There was nothing
between them except this friendship,
but after years of hoping, years in
which no other man came between
Hammond and his hopes, he began to
feel that Jean belonged to him.

“And then one day Hammond took
Jean along when he went to visit his old
friend, Jim Schilling. If we believe
that matches are made in Heaven, we
believe that this meeting between Jean
and Jim was inevitable. But no mat-
ter. It was evident from the very be-
ginning that these two had found each
other, that from the moment they met
they knew they belonged to each other.
It was evident to everyone there, in-
cluding Hammond. And from that day
on he writhed in the grip of a jealousy
he was unable to control. We have
shown that Hammond argued with Jim
that very afternoon, argued with him on
the flimsiest matter. On the surface he
was arguing about a recording, but it
could have been anything else, either
more or less important. That argument
was not because of the record— it was
a reflection of the bitterness, the un-
reasoning, uncontrolled jealousy that
flared up within Hammond.

“And then Hammond went for a walk
with Jean. He took her into the yards
and spoke to her. They were gone for
half an hour. We do not know what
happened between them, but we know
what happened later. Common sense
fills the gap for us. Suddenly the others
at the houseboat heard Hammond call-
ing her. Jim and two others got lan-
terns and went to find her. They found
her almost immediately— she was just
a few feet away from Hammond. Why
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hadn’t she answered Hammond'’s cries?
Because she had run away from him.
He had pleaded with her, thrown him-
self at her feet, and finally, when he
realized that nothing could avail him,
he had lost all control. The fury that
was later to manifest itself in her death
was first seen by Jean that evening.

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

HTHE italics and paragraphing are mine.
A | have tried to indicate where District
Attorney O’'Day emphasized points.— D.
V. R.

“Hammond was silent and preoccu-
pied for the rest of the evening, but few
of those present had not guessed what
had happened. A few days later Ham-
mond was seen arguing with Jim in a
restaurant. He stopped seeing Jean.
His health began to deteriorate. His
work suffered. He was a man pos-
sessed. He refused to accept what
Heaven or Fate had ordained. It was
not Jean’s fault, or Jim’s, that they were
madly in love. It was something that
happens every day to people, but when
it happened to Elliot Hammond, it de-
stroyed his reason.

“Yes, | say it destroyed his reason.
Not the reason which understands what
is right and what is wrong, but the
reason which accepts what life brings.
In everything he later did, Hammond
showed that he had not lost the power
to make the distinction between right
and wrong. He had the faculties— but
what had been destroyed was his will
to abide by what he knew was right.
He was filled with hatred. His soul and
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his mind was corroded by a powerful
acid, by a jealousy which he would not
fight against. Corroded as it was, his
mind still functioned. He began to
plan Jim’s undoing. He began to plan
murder.

“From the beginning he saw the dan-
gerous position in which he would find
himself if Jim was murdered. He knew
he would be suspect number one. The
first thing he had to do was to erase
the evidences of his motive. The sec-
ond thing he had to do was to start
manufacturing other evidence, in case
of a slip-up somewhere— evidence he
could fall back on later if something
went wrong with his plan. He did both,
cunningly.

e rase his motive, he suddenly
married Maria Denisov. He had
known Maria for a long time. He had
known her for much of the time he was
hopelessly in love with Jean Lowell..
During that time he had not once mani-
fested any evidence of affection for
Maria. He seldom went with her. He
met her mostly in the company of mu-
tual friends. He was not in love with
her. Yet he married her suddenly. He
visited his friend Reed one night, left
there late that night, and was married
the next day. Why?

“Because his marriage to Maria of-
fered material evidence that he was no
longer interested in Jean Lowell or in
what she did. He married Maria to
remove suspicion from himself, if sus-
picion should fall on him as a result of
what he was soon to do. So he went
away with her for two days. That was
all the time he needed. During that time
he wrote his friend Reed a letter telling
him how happy he was. That was an-
other link in his proof that he had lost
interest in Jean.

“But why did he choose Reed? We
have shown that the two were not at all
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intimate friends. Why should he sin-
gle out Reed as the recipient of his
confidence?

“Because Reed was part of'his sec-
ondary plan— the plan to manufacture
evidence in case anything went wrong.

“l believe that Hammond did visit
Reed on the night of 'August 5th. |
believe that Hammond told Reed things
designed to make Reed wonder if his
friend was entirely sane. But | do not
believe, nor do | think anyone can be-
lieve, the story which Reed offered in
testimony. | think it is absolutely clear
that the story sounds entirely too much
like the manufactured fantasies which
Reed customarily sells to magazines. |
think it is plain to see that from Reed’s
sometimes fumbling, sometimes brazen
assertions, that the story is false. And
I think the reasons for this are not too
difficult to understand.

“The main thing is that, from what
Hammond said that night, Reed felt he
had good reason to doubt his friend’s
sanity. Since then he convinced him-
self his friend was insane. So, instead
of telling the story Hammond told him,
whatever it was, Reed has substituted
one which he considers far more ef-
fective, and more capable of proving
what he considers to be the truth.
Reed'’s intentions are honorable, but he
is nevertheless a liar and a dangerous
one. But if we understand what his
motives are, we understand how well
Hammond succeeded in fooling him,
and thus we render his perjured testi-
mony harmless.

“Because if nothing happened to
place suspicion on Hammond, he saw
to it that the incident would not prove
too important. He left Reed that night
before a doctor could examine him. He
had already planted the seed. There
was no need to cultivate it unless later
events made it imperative.

“So he left. The next day he married

Maria Denisov. The day after that he
wrote Reed a letter emphasizing his
happiness. That done, he took his bride
of thirty hours home. He had no reason
to extend a honeymoon with a woman
he did not love, a woman, moreover,
who in thirty hours of marriage had al-
ready discovered that her husband did
not love her, a woman, who because of
this, was plunged into deepest misery
and sorrow.

“T_TE LEFT home that night with the

intention of murdering Jim Shil-
ling. He had undoubtedly worked out
some plan which he felt would give him
an excellent chance of surviving the
deed. On his way he stopped in to get
a few drinks to bolster his courage. Evi-
dently he needed a lot of courage, be-
cause he arrived at the yards in an in-
toxicated state. Or perhaps it was part
of his plan to be seen drunk— perhaps
the accident which he had planned for
his friend Jim was going to be partly
explained by the fact that he was drunk.
Unfortunately, when he got to the
houseboat he found a visitor had pre-
ceded him.

“That visitor was Katherine Gray, a
lovely young girl who made a living by
posing for advertisements. She was not
only beautiful but intelligent and gifted.
She wrote poetry. She had met Jim
Shilling through a friend of hers, a Mr.
Craig Ellis. Undoubtedly she sought
Jim’s guidance in writing. Jim was a
famous writer, author of “The Silent
Room,” a poet himself. They had had,
we can surmise, an innocent dinner en-
gagement, and then came to Jim’s home
to discuss her work. There can be no
other interpretation. Jim Shilling was
head over heels, madly, in love with
Jean Lowell. We can be sure that Jean
knew of Katherine's presence there.
The one who didn’t know it, who didn’t
expect it, was Hammond.
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“He found himself unable to carry
out his plan because of the girl's pres-
ence. He waited until the girl was
ready to leave, but he had no valid rea-
son for remaining, especially since he
made an ideal escort to take the girl
home from that lonely place. And so
he left with her, and in the next few
moments— if indeed it had not occured
to him earlier that night— he changed
his plans. He decided to kill Katherine
Gray.

“It is not given to ordinary people,
people like you and I, to understand
fully the workings of a murderer’s mind,
yet some things we can understand.
We can understand the deep resentment
against that poor girl that must have
smouldered within him, the transfer-
ence of hatred from Jim Shilling to her
equally innocent head. We can under-
stand these things, but since we do not
know them as a legal certainty, Ham-
mond is not on trial for that murder
which he committed as surely as |
stand here and know it in my heart of
hearts, as surely as there is a God in
Heaven who knows it. We cannot prove
his motive, but we can understand it
clearly enough, and we can prove that
we understand it because of what else
we know, because of what the murderer
did later.

“Elliot Hammond Kkilled Katherine
Gray because he thought he might be
able to pin the murder on Jim Shilling.

“He strangled her there in the
swamps and left her body there. Then
he tried to swim away, to leave the
scene without having to go out of the
yard gates. God only knows what he
would have said later. We know that
he couldn’'t swim out. The strong tide
was going seaward that night and the
yards extended too far. Finally he had
to leave through the gates, but he
waited until he thought he could make
the dash unobserved. He waited until
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Mulvaney, the head watchman, was in
his hut, and then he ran to the gates,
not knowing that Mulvaney saw him.

“The next day Mulvaney told Jim
what he had seen. Jim couldn’t believe
it. He knew, as he told Mulvaney and
as Mulvaney told us, that Hammond
had left half an hour after midnight
with Katherine Gray. He could not be-
lieve that Hammond had left at three
o’'clock in the morning, alone, soaked
to the skin. . . .

“OUT now I must pause a moment.
For at this point we reach the
testimony of a defense witness, a Mr.
Thomas Stapley. Stapley’s testimony
is the only example of an attempt by
the defense to contradict testimony by
any State witness. Where the defense
attacked State witnesses as iL one
weapon, where it maligned unbiased
citizens and called them drunkards, li-
ars, bums, ignoramuses as its means of
refutation, in Stapley the defense actu-
ally produced a witness of its own.
“What was the function of this wit-
ness? It is to be found in Stapley’s
answer that he saw Katherine Gray
alive at 5 A.M. on the morning of
August 8th. That answer is intended
to contradict, and does contradict, the
meaning of the evidence supplied by
Mrs. Mabel Bailey, a State witness who
testified that she saw Hammond at Jean
Lowell’'s door at 4:30 A.M. that same
morning. The defense carefully pur-
sued this point when Mrs. Bailey was
asked to fix the time when she saw

Hammond leave her building. He left,
she said, at 4:45 A.M.
“What does this mean? It means

that if Stapley actually saw Katherine
Gray alive at 5 A.M. that Hammond
could not be the murderer we know
he is. But, you may ask, why should
the defense bother to manage an alibi
for a murder which is not at issue here?
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Elliot Hammond is not being tried for
the murder of Katherine Gray, is he?
No, he is not. But the defense knew
as well as the State that the story of
these murders was one and indivisible
—that the story went step by step,
logically, to its unalterable conclusion.

“The attempt by the defense to prove
Hammond innocent of a crime for which
he is not on trial was actually an at-
tack on the logic of the entire State’s
easel Understanding the close relation-
ship of every element in this case, the
defense sought to destroy the entire
structure by attacking one small part
of it! If Hammond did not kill Kath-
erine Gray, the defense mutely inquires,
who did? Was not Katherine Gray’s
body found near dynamite which was
supposed to blow her up together with
Jim Shilling and Jean Lowell? Does
that not prove that the same murderer
killed all three? And, having shown
that Hammond could not have Killed
Katherine Gray, does that not show that
he did not kill the other two?

“That was the intent of the defense
in introducing Stapley to the stand, and
that was why the State insisted on in-
cluding aspects of the murder of Kath-
erine Gray in its case against Ham-
mond.

“And who is this Stapley? He is a
man who tells tales which no one can
substantiate. He claims to have volun-
tarily taken the blame for his friends,

*pbut the records show that he was fired
for drunkenness. Then he disappeared.
He went to work in Oregon. Why? Was
it only a job that took him three thou-
sand miles away from the scene of the
crime, or was there a better reason?
Was there something Stapley feared
the police might discover? | do not
pretend to know. The police have been
working on this aspect of the case since
Stapley testified. | think perhaps we
shall have more to do with this for-

tunately discovered witness, who was
safe in Oregon until he was persuaded
to come east to offer his lying testimony.
We are anxious to know whether he
came merely for his expense money, and
how much money that will add up to.
But | think we can safely dismiss Stap-
ley and his testimony when it conflicts
with that of a man like Mulvaney, an
old and trusted worker with an*excel-
lent record, and who remained to help
the police as much as he could.

“And now we return to Hammond.
He had strangled Katherine Gray and
made his way out of the yards. He
then went to the house where Jean
Lowell lived. He tried to get into her
apartment but she wouldn’t let him in.
He told her he had to talk to her about
Jim, that he had seen Jim and Kather-
ine Gray and that something terrible
had happened. Nevertheless, because
she feared him, she did not let him in
and he left.

“What would he have told Jean if
she had let him in? | fear we may
never know, unless Hammond tells us.
But from what we do know, we can
well understand that he intended to
further his plot against Jim, that he
was ready with some kind of an eye-
witness story which would result in the
arrest of Jim Shilling for the murder
of Katherine Gray. But Jean would
not let him in, and, Hammond began
to realize that his plan was not going
to be the easy thing he thought it was.
He began to see new visions— police
who wouldn’t listen to him any more
than Jean did— flaws he had not
counted on. Suddenly he was sick.
The visions made him deathly ill and
afraid and he went home.

“N\yH EN he got home he found

Maria’s sister, Tamara, with her.
Maria had sent for her and told her
how her heart had been broken. Ta-
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mara waited to tell Hammond that she
was taking her sister away, that the
marriage would be annulled. What did
Hammond say to this? He told Tamara
that if she didn’'t leave immediately
that he would throw her out of the
window. He took another drink and
found the courage to threaten another
murder that night. And we can well
understand why.

“For here was Tamara Denisov say-
ing that she was going to take away
his carefully prepared proof that he
had no interest left in Jean. If that
happened he was worse off than ever.
Unfortunately for his poor wife, she
elected to remain with him. When
Tamara left, she heard Hammond be-
gin to scream. He was still screaming
the next day, when Dr. Pryce answered
Maria’s call and came to see him. And
if Tamara did not hear why he was
screaming, Dr. Pryce did. He was
screaming because his nerve was crack-
ing, because he already saw himself
caught, because he saw the beginning
of the end. Dr. Schumer, the psychi-
atrist, said in French that his condi-
tion was a development and he used the
words “commencement de la fin” which
means the beginning of the end. But
the end he saw was his end— the mur-
derer’s end. He was screaming the
way condemned men scream when they
are dragged to the electric chair at
Ossining, the way he will scream when
his turn arrives.

“So that same morning of August
8th, Maria sent for Dr. Pryce. He was
too busy to come but she told him her
husband had suffered a shock. What
did she mean by that? Had Hammond
hysterically told her what he had done
the night before? We don’t know as a
certainty, but we do know that he had
told her enough for her to guess the
worst. She did not mention this shock
again to Dr. Pryce, but when he was

about to leave she started to say that
there was something she had to tell
him. She did not finish because Ham-
mond began to shout again. What did
he say?

“Dr. Pryce heard him. He said that
his wife’s life was not safe with him
and that what had happened the night
before would happen again. He told
her to leave before it was too late and
that he would face it alone.

“And there we have Hammond’s con-
fession of the murder of Katherine
Gray.

“We have more than that. We have
his prediction that he was going to Kill
his wife as well. He was insane then,
but not in the way the defense would
have you believe. He was insane with
momentary remorse. He felt his blood
running hot and feverish through him.
He felt the killer in him unleashed and
he knew what he was going to do. He
told his wife he would Kill her and he
meant it. The plan was already form-
ing in his mind.

“And now we must ask ourselves the
qguestion the defense has raised. We
must ask ourselves whether Hammond
was sane or not. When you ladies and
gentlemen of the jury retire to consider
a verdict, His Honor, Judge Revere,
will instruct you as to the meaning of
insanity in a court of law. This is
largely a question for forensic medicine.
The law is concerned with sanity only
when there is a question as to whether
or not the defendant understood that
what he was doing was wrong, whether
or not he was able to make this moral
distinction.

“TT IS my opinion, and this opinion is

shared by the psychiatrists who
testified for the State, that Hammond
went insane shortly after he killed
Katherine Gray— that is, insane in the
sense that he was no longer part of the
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normal community, insane in the sense
that we believe every murderer is in-
sane. Believing that, we should there-
fore be compelled to free every mur-
derer, for no sane man, doctors will
tell you, murders, just as no sane man
commits suicide. The commission of
the crime of murder or suicide implies
insanity, yet they are crimes. Why?
Because the legal test of insanity is
whether or not the criminal knew that
he was doing something wrong. Nothing
else is relevant.

“And from what we know of Ham-
mond’s deeds and motives, from what
we know he said shortly after the first
murder, is there any reason to enter-
tain the slightest doubt that Hammond
understood that it was wrong to kill?
Is his the talk of a man who does not
understand, who is incapable of making
the moral distinction? | say to you
that in his own words he has confessed
complete understanding and complete
legal sanity. *

“And now let us follow this tragedy
to its end.

“As Dr. Pryce told us, he was sup-
posed to return that evening to see
Hammond again. But that afternoon
Maria telephoned to tell him it would
not be necessary for him to come. What
made her dismiss so old and true a
friend so curtly, with no explanation?
I think we can find the answer in the
fact that Jim Shilling telephoned Maria
before that.

“Jim hadn’t believed Mulvaney’s tale
that he had seen Hammond leaving the
yards alone, hours after he left Jim. He
called Hammond. Hammond was asleep
under the influence of drugs, so he
spoke to Maria. Maria told him
enough to frighten him. Then Jim
made a search of the yards and found
the body of Katherine Gray. He did
not understand what had happened but
he knew the only thing that could have

happened— this from what Mulvaney
had told him and from Maria. He called
her immediately, taking time only to
hide the body a little, and warned her
to say nothing, to let no one in, to
keep Hammond with her.

“We may question anything we
choose about Jim Shilling, but we can-
not question his loyalty to his friend.
What he did was wrong, but he was
thinking only of his friend’s life. From
the moment he knew what Hammond
had done to the moment he died, he was
busy with plans to save the life of his
friend.

“l do not say that we know all of
these events as facts sworn to by wit-
nesses. Hammond’s crimes were so
many that he removed some of the
witnesses we most need. Nevertheless
we know these things with more cer-
tainty than some of the things that
have been sworn to in this court. We
know them because they fit perfectly,
because they supply the only answers
which fit the unalterable facts we know.

“We know then that Maria, who
knew enough to guess what her hus-
band had done, took the chance of
calling Dr. Pryce— but after Jim called
her and told her exactly what Ham-
mond had done, she realized that she
could not chance having Dr. Pryce re-
turn. Now that she knew, she took her
place beside her husband and his best
friend. She put her feelings to one
side and prepared to fight for his life.
That evening she telephoned her sister
Tamara. She told Tamara she was all
right and made no mention of leaving
Hammond. She hung up suddenly, un-
doubtedly because Hammond was wak-

ing up.

“"JpHE first chance he got to leave

the yards, the next afternoon,
Saturday, Jim came to see Hammond.
We do not know what was said between
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them, but again we can understand the
the direction of events as Jim meant to
plan them. We know that he came to
help Hammond because he still had not
reported one word of the murder to the
police. His intent to remain silent is
perfectly clear. We can be sure that
though Jim could not understand what
had happened, that he was there to
help, to plan a way out. And from
what Miss Denisov has told us, we know
that Jim spoke also to Maria, for she
planned to come to the party that next
afternoon, because Jim wanted her
there.

“We can well understand how Jim'’s
mind must have been tortured that Sun-
day afternoon. He had scheduled the
party long before and either was un-
able to call it off or afraid, because if
anything later went wrong, the police
might discover that interesting fact of
a party called off. So he went through
with it, and while his entire being was
concentrated on the dangerous task he
had undertaken, he suffered the pres-
ence of a huge gathering of his friends.

“He had stuck his neck out and it
was something he could not forget, not
for an afternoon, not for a moment.
Several times he broke away to try to
talk to Maria, and sometimes he suc-
ceeded. The two were seen in earnest
conversation repeatedly—and remem-
ber, they had hardly known each other
before that afternoon. But we can un-
derstand that because we know what
they were talking about. We know that
also because Jim told Maria where in
the yards he had hidden Katherine
Gray’s body, and after she went there
he followed her.

“We have shown you a chart of the
Acme yards, and several of our wit-
nesses marked the ramp which both
Jim and Maria took. We have shown
also that the ramp led to the east fence
and there alone, and that forty yards
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off tfyat fence was where Katherine
Gray’s body lay. There was no other
way to get there. There was no other
reason Maria and Jim had to go there.
All witnesses have agreed, that when
she returned with Jim from that part
of the yards she looked ghastly. She
walked past her sister without answer-
ing. Shortly afterward she started to
leave and Jim ran after her with a
package of some sort, which she had
forgotten.

“Possibly this package contained evi-
dence of an incriminating nature which
Hammond had left behind. We don’t
know because the package was never
found again, and it doesn’t particularly
matter. When he' left Maria and
walked back with her sister, Tamara,
he was plainly worried, and he said he
wished Maria had not gone home alone.
Why did he say that? What had Maria
told him that made him feel afraid for
her safety alone with her husband? We
know because Dr. Pryce told us how
Hammond had openly made threats
against Maria’s life. Marie told this to
Jim— evidently it had not been an iso-
lated occurrence— and that was why he
was afraid. He was correct in his fears.
We know that now.

“By then even Maria must have been
afraid. She told her sister that Ham-
mond had done something so terrible
that it was driving him to a nervous
breakdown. She told her friend Bester
that she thought her husband was in-
sane. She half knew to'what she was
returning, but she returned neverthe-
less, because she wanted to help her hus-
band.

“And when she got home, Hammond
killed her. He put his hands around
her throat and choked out her life. He
strangled her as he had strangled Kath-
erine Gray four nights before.

“And here again, if we wish to under-
stand Hammond, we must ask why?



THE METAL MONSTER MURDERS

What made him do it then?

“Was it because until Marie returned
Hammond had not realized that Maria
knew everything? From what his
friend Reed has told us we know that
Hammond did not know Maria had
gone to see Jim, and that the thought
of her going there upset him so much
that he forgot he had asked Reed to
come. Was he afraid that if Maria
and Jim got together, that they might
decide he wasn't worth helping, that
they would tell the police? Was the
evidence Maria brought back in the
package the final straw for him?

“For he knew then that as long as he
lived, his life would be in danger. From
then on he would owe his life to the
silence of two people, Maria and Jim.
The power over his life or death had
passed into the hands of the man he
hated with every fibre of his being, and
the hands of the woman he had mar-
ried and hated just as much. Did
he despair of a life so haunted and
threatened? Didn’t he see a way out of
this difficulty and every difficulty
which faced him? -

“Why not destroy them all? Why
not regain his life by taking those of
the very people who had destroyed his?
Surely that thought was in his brain the
instant it occurred to him that Maria
might have gone to see Jim. It was so
logical, so easy. He hated them all
now. He hated Jean too because he
blamed her for everything. He knew
he could never have her now, no matter
what happened to Jim. She had re-
fused to see him. She had kept her
door locked when he groveled and wept
to speak to her. He classed her with his
enemies, and he decided to destroy
them all. He knew by then how he was
going to get away with it; it was all
clear then.

“So he killed his bride of a few days
and went to the yards to complete the
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job. There was a summer storm that
night and it made things easier for him.
The rain had broken up the party and
sent everyone home. When he reached
the yards he made his way to the dyna-
mite shacks. He had been in the yards
many times before and he knew where
everything was— he had seen the scrap
piles blasted many times during his
afternoon visits, and he knew how to
go about his task. He got the dyna-
mite and planted it.

“Under cover of the storm he placed
some dynamite near the houseboat.
The rest he put under the body of
Katherine Gray. When he depressed
the plunger he thought he had done
more than he did. He knew he had
killed Jim and Jean because he knew
they were alone in the houseboat. But
he thought he had destroyed all evi-
dence of what had happened to Kathe-
rine Gray. He thought, and he was ac-
curate in his expectation, that not a
single trace would remain of Katherine
Gray.

“He was wrong because the rain, or
some higher manifestation of essential
justice, or some ironic twist of fate,
fouled the fuses of the dynamite he had
planted near Katherine Gray. Those
fuses were found unexploded two days
later. He saw the houseboat go up, but
the concussion injured him and he
crept out of the yards not knowing that
he left unexploded dynamite behind.

“Later, when the police checked
everything for fingerprints, they found
none on any part of the shack and none
on the dynamite he had planted under
Katherine Gray. He had worked care-
fully up to then. But when the blast
went off, perhaps because his gloves
tore or perhaps because he was too
badly muddled to know what he was
doing, he left behind a full set of his
fingerprints on the depressing lever.
We have seen these prints and heard
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how and where they were secured.
There is not the least element of guess-
work attached to the process by which
he was thus identified as the murderer
— there is no guesswork in fingerprints.
“Indeed, it is possible that Ham-
mond did not care whether or not he
left such prints. He was seen entering
and leaving the yards that night, and
he must have known he was seen. His
defense was not to lay in any attempt
to conceal the murderer’s identity. His
defense was to exploit his obvious guilt.

rJ"HAT is what | meant when | said

he knew how he was going to get
away with it. For it had occurred to
him that he need not waste the second-
ary plan he had initiated earlier— the
plan to let people think he was really
insane. He had begun it with Reed, and
when Reed came to see him, it occurred
to him again. Before Reed left he man-
aged to sound incoherent, to echo part
of the story he had told him earlier, and
he ended with a convincing demonstra-
tion in which he attempted to attack
Reed. It was a promising plan and he
took advantage of it.

“And all he had to do to insure its
success was to carry it out from then on.
He had to play insane all the way, to
continue the act. But he was intelli-
gent enough to understand that such an
act had little chance of success if he
was forced to play the role consistently
before an audience of experts. And he
knew the time would come. He knew
he would have to answer questions,
that he would have to portray a clini-
cally accurate picture of legal insanity.
So he was ready for it. He had planned
the answer to that problem from the
start.

“He resolved not to say one word
from the moment he was caught.

“Thus he gave the psychiatrists who
examined him enough scope to diag-
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nose possibilities that could never have
existed if he spoke or acted. He did
nothing at all. He refused to eat, to sit,
to walk. He played the role of a dead
man, and he played it so completely
that it was easy. All he had to do was
to do nothing.

“Thus he could not be called to the
stand as a witness. The evidence would
have to be erected around him, without
any help from him. And he was certain
that somehow, somewhere, someone
would fall for his act. There has never
yet been a trial in which insanity
played a part that the defense was not
able to find authorities who would tes-
tify for the defense. He knew that his
attorneys would surely find some au-
thorities, or what passes for authorities,
to help him. And then, with a split
case, with conflicting opinions, with ex-
pert contradictions, could he not ex-
pect to go free? Hadn't this familiar
trail been blazed by many before him?

“Ladies and gentlemen, this is the
trail along which we now find ourselves,
and | know, | trust— I believe deep in-
side me— that this is the end of the
trail for Elliot Hammond. | believe
that you have not been fooled by the
act which started the moment Ham-
mond was found sitting mutely beside
the dead body of his bride and which
has continued to this moment as he sits
here pretending to be unaware of his
failure. 1 believe that the evidence
which binds Hammond so incontrovert-
ably to his crimes will not be ignored
by you. | believe that we have shown
here that Elliot Hammond knew from
the start what he was doing, knew the
penalty for it, and resolved to do what
he did without paying that penalty.

“The State now demands that
penalty. Which is it to be— a year or
two in a hospital while Hammond acts
out a sham recovery and then goes free
to Kkill again— or the forfeit of his life
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for three—no, four— of the most das-
tardly crimes ever committed by the
semblance of a human being? Which
is it to be?

“1 know what your answer must and
will be. . ..

(EXCERPT FROM THE NEW
YORK POSTNOVEMBER a5, PAGE
3,CITY EDITION)

HAMMOND GUILTY!

Jury Take* 20 Hours Before It Convicts
Elliot Hammond of Murder in First
Defense Promises to Appeal
to Governor!

Degree.

GOVERNOR LEEMAN SAVES HAMMOND!

Pardons Sentenced Killer After Considering
Appeals from Noted Psychiatrists; Explains
Stand: “l Will Not Allow an Insane
Man to Be Executed by This State.”
—Gov. Leeman

(EXCERPTS FROM THE NEW
YORK POST, MAY 9, 1942, PAGE 4,
WALL ST. EDITION)

BY EXECUTIVE ORDER of Governor
Harold Leeman, the convicted and sentenced
murderer, Elliot Hammond, will not be
electrocuted on January 16, 1942, as ordered
by the court in which he was found guilty
of . ..

“l am satisfied,” said the Governor, “after
listening to the opinions of several world
famous psychiatrists, that a more than rea-
sonable doubt exists as to whether Elliot
Hammond is insane at present. W hether
or not Hammond was legally sane at the
time he committed the murders is not the
point. The point is whether this state is
willing to execute a man who is completely
insane. | am well aware of the state of
public opinion on this matter, but I am un-
able, in good conscience, to take the path
of least resistance after considering the
overwhelming weight of opinion by impartial
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experts that it would be a crime against
humane concepts to allow Elliot Hammond
to pay for his crimes in the manner pre-
scribed by the courts. . . .”

.. It was agreed that Hammond would
undoubtedly be placed in a state institution
where he would, most likely, spend the rest
of his life. . . .

ELLIOT HAMMOND, PARDONED
MURDERER, TRANSFERRED FROM STATE
ASYLUM FOR PRIVATE “TREATMENT”

BY OWN DOCTOR

Secret Transfer of May 2 Revealed. *“I
Predicted This,” Says District Attorney
O’Day of Surprise Action

IN AN EXCLUSIVE DISPATCH to the
POST, Lewis Burnbay, Special Investigator,
today revealed that Elliot Hammond, “triple-
killer” pardoned by Governor Leeman last
December and sent to the State Asylum at
Highland, N. Y., was secretly transferred a
week ago to the private sanitarium of Dr.
Leopold Schumer at Woodbourne, N. Y.

Officials at the Highland Asylum refused
comment after pointing out that the trans-
fer was duly noted on the weekly regis-
ter and denied that there was any secret as-
pect to the highly unusual action by the
N. Y. State Supervisory Board.

Dr. Schumer, reached by telephone, an-
swered the POST’S questions candidly. Ac-
knowledging that criminally insane patients
were “infrequently” released for private
treatment, he went on to attack “a policy
which condemns ill men to a fate far worse
than any prison, to a hopeless, needless ill-
ness for tne rest of their lives.” Said Dr.
Schumer: “It is widely admitted that the
State institutions, hamstrung by small bud-
gets, understaffed, crowded, have each year
many patients who might have been
saved . . ”

It was pointed out that there were legal
grounds for Hammond’s release, inasmuch
as he had received a full pardon from Gov-
ernor Leeman. As a ward of the State,
Hammond’s transfer to the sanitarium at
Woodbourne was a matter for the State Su-
pervisory Board to decide. Dr. Schumer
stated that most of the expense involved in
maintaining Hammond at his sanitarium
had been underwritten by a group of Ham-
mond’s friends, but the expense has never
actually been a factor. As early as last
January, Dr. Schumer was quoted in an
exclusive POST interview as saying: “l am
still deeply interested in the case of Mr.
Hammond. ... | am not at all convinced
his case is hopeless ... (I would) under-
take it at my own expense ... (if it were
made) possible to do this . . .”

“This latest move shows how right | was,”
said District Attorney O’Day, who won his
brilliantly waged battle to convict Hammond
only six months ago. “There are certain
individuals who have made it their business
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to make a mockery of justice in this case
and they are succeeding. . . . This is step
3 in the plan to free a murderer convicted
in a court of law. Step 4 will be the an-
nouncement that Hammond has been cured
and discharged—and that announcement too
will be at least a week late ... | intend to
fight this miscarriage of pustice.”
Questioned as to his plans, the District
Attorney could hardly conceal what is ad-
mitted openly in other official circles—that
there is probably nothing anyone can do.

(COMMENTS BY THE AUTHOR)

A ND here, with one or two exceptions,
ends the collection of printed matter
which brings the story of Elliot Hammond
dose to the night of November 12, 1943,
the night he died.

I was not with him when it happened.
| had promised to come that night, but |
didn't. The slow train that took me up-
state to John Broome’s home had worn me
out. | felt unequal to a night drive of
some seventy miles, including both ways,
and John’s gas ration was very low. Still,
I would have gone, one way or another, if
we hadn’'t found what appeared to be an
excellent way out.

By dint of several phone calls, John
found a neighbor who was driving in to
Monticello that evening, and who was will-
ing to go a few miles out of his way to
perform an errand. We drove to his house,
— the man was Stanley Graper, a local milk
farmer—and | gave him the box | had
promised Schumer | would bring with me
when | came. There was no need for me to
go, | knew, as long as Schumer got his box.
So | telephoned him and said | was send-
ing it over and would come myself either
the following day or Sunday. | didn't
know then that every hour the box was
delayed was an hour added to Elliot’s life.

In the year and a half that Elliot had
been under Schumer’s care, the Doctor had
made excellent progress. District Attorney
O’Day had used the overwhelming evidence
against Elliot as an emotional lever to con-
vince the jury that Elliot was faking in-
sanity, but his had beeen a victory of
rhetoric over fact. Even among the psy-
chiatrists who had testified against Elliot,
there were several who later accepted
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Schumer’s invitations to visit the patient,
and who ended by agreeing with Schumer.
(For those interested, | have included more
detailed information on Elliot Hammond’s
condition, as Schumer described it to me;
it seems to me that they play a really im-
portant part in the all-over story | have
attempted to present here. These follow
later because | think they belong, more
logically, to the end of the story.)

I myself went to Woodbourne now and
then and each time | saw evidences of
progress. For several reasons, | somehow
found myself delegated as the chief-go-be-
tween from Elliot’s friends to the sanitar-
ium. This was partly due to the role I
had been forced to play in the trial, and
partly because John Broome moved up-
state and | visited him frequently, and
thus found myself not too far from Wood-
bourne to make the trip. But it was also
the result of an active interest | had taken
in what had happened to Elliot Hammond,
and because of that interest, Schumer be-
gan to treat me as a sort of ex-officio
guardian. There were several reasons for
my interest, but | never expected that I
would ever do much about it—until the
night of November 12, 1943.

Shortly before 8 P. M. that night, the
telephone rang. Broome answered and
called me to the phone. It was Schumer.
He told me very briefly, in a low, tremulous
voice, that Elliot was dead. He had
dropped dead a minute after he opened the
box, before the Doctor’s eyes.

John took his car and we drove to Wood-
bourne. We got to the sanitarium atop
Chester’s hill at a quarter to nine, and by
then Schumer was more composed. El-
liot’'s body had been taken upstairs, to his
room. We looked at him. His fingers
were stretched out stiffly and his mouth
was a thin, tight line. His eyes were open.
Had | not known he was dead | would
have thought he was looking at us. Later,
after | had read his diary, | was struck
by the passage in it where he had described
the Sleeper who lay dead with his eyes open.

We went downstairs again and Schumer
took us into his office. The box lay on his
desk. It was shut, but the lock was open
and the key was still in the lock. There
was nothing much to tell. Graper, the
farmer, had called and delivered the box.
Schumer put it in his office and went up
to call Elliot again. Finally he got a pass
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key and went in. Elliot seemed quite calm,
if tired, and said he had only a little more
to write before he was through, but he
went down to Schumer’s office, taking the
dairy with him. He was disappointed to
learn 1 had not come, Schumer said, but
when he saw the box he seemed taken back
by it. He fingered it again and again, mut-
tering to himself, asking Schumer several
times if he was sure | had sent it. There
was no question that he recognized it, how-
ever, said Schumer. Then, very slowly, he
took out the little key he carried with him
and inserted it in the lock.

It gave after a few attempts and the key
turned. There was no expression on his
face then but he shivered violently. He
turned to Schumer as if to say something
but then silently turned back and opened
the box. He stood over it for a moment
and a low groan escaped him. Then he
backed away, started again to turn to
Schumer, half-succeeded, and pitched head-
long to the floor. He was dead when
Schumer knelt over him.

Having told us this, the Doctor opened
the box.

TT WAS filled with caked black mud. In

the mud lay the decayed remains of a
small crab with an abnormally large gone-
grey claw, a ghost crab.

Because John had read part of the diary,
the contents of the box held a special mean-
ing for him as well as for Schumer, and
the next day | understood. We left soon
afterward. Schumer had made a consid-
erable effort to speak to us and he was
worn out. He had barely finished reading
the last sections of the diary when we'd
arrived and wanted to return to it.

On the way home John told me what
he'd read. | had been with him two hours
before Schumer telephoned, but the sub-
ject had not even come ,up—we had had
more important matters (as we thought)
to discuss. The little he was able to tell
me kept me sleepless most of the night.
Then, when we returned the next day, the
Doctor told us that the autopsy had
established Elliot’s death as being due to
a cerebral hemorrhage— rupture of a blood
vessel in the brain. That afternoon | read
the diary and later spent some time dis-
cussing it with Schumer. It was the first
of several such discussions and there were
several results.
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For one, they started me on an investi-
gation of the migsing years in Jim Shilling’s
life. For another, they helped me decide
to make this collection and seek to have it
published. For a third, they left me with
a sort of half-haunted perplexity that some-
times strikes me as amusing, but which
still persists.

| have been unable to stop wondering
about. Elliot Hammond’'s metal monster.
The more familiar 1 have become with
all the available facts, (most of which |
have already given you) the more | wonder.
And these additional facts and continued
conjecture bring out relationships and hy-
potheses that are not, | think, otherwise
apparent. | venture | have seen more in
them than appears immediately because
of this intensive study, and | offer you
the results. 1t seems to me they lead to at
least three hypotheses.

THE FIRST HYPOTHESIS

"JMHIS is the State’s case, advanced by

the prosecution under District Attor-
ney O’'Day. Offhand, it would appear that
O’Day'’s establishment of the case against
Elliot Hammond is sound and logical, in
spite of its many guesses, and in spite of
O’Day’s refusal to believe in Hammond's
insanity. If we believe this version of the
four murders, it would seem that little re-
mains for uncertainty, for the State’s case
accounted for everything ... or did it?
Suppose | put a few questions to you?
What about Thomas Stapley? Stapley
was the night watchman who testified for
the defense that he had seen Katherine
Gray alive at 5:00 A.M., when Elliot was
seen in Manhattan at 4:30 A.M., 14 miles
away. O’Day threatened to try Stapley for
perjury, and indeed, he was held for ques-
tioning after the trial. As O’Day said,
Stapley’s testimony attacked the entire
case, for if it absolved Hammond of the
murder of Katherine Gray, it 'therefore
asked: Who did kill her? Who planted
the dynamite under her if Hammond did
not— for if Hammond did not kill her, why
should he have put the dynamite there—
and if he did not put it there, why should
we assume he planted the dynamite beside
the houseboat? So it becomes important
to ask what was found out about the man
who offered testimony that might have
smashed the prosecution’s case if it could
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have been believed?

The investigation found that in every
way that could be checked, Stapley had
told the truth. He had been fired for drink-
ing but he had claimed he couldn't drink
because of ulcers; that he had taken the
blame to protect Mulvaney, whom he liked,
and because he had been ready to quit for
a defense job.

Stapley’s ujcers were easily established—
specialists who examined him said that
three ounces of whiskey would land him in
a hospital, probably dead, and beer would
be almost as bad. Mulvaney, the head
watchman, was called. He decided Stapley
was in enough trouble and admitted know-
ing that Stapley had falsely taken the
blame for the others. The Federal Employ-
ment Agency in New York provided files
which showed Stapley had applied for a de-
fense job on July 18th, had turned down
one job and been offered another in an
Oregon shipyard. He had then, on July 29,
twelve days before the murder investiga-
tion started, asked for two weeks to make
up his mind. He finally accepted on August
13th and left two days later, part of a large
shipment of workers west.

On August 13th, however, the newspa-
pers had carried the story that Katherine
Gray’s body had been found in the yards.
Had he not realized he was an important
witness, possibly one of the last to see the
girl alive? Why had he not volunteered
information? Stapley admitted remember-
ing he had seen the girl, but since the news-
papers clearly accused Hammond of the
murder and clearly said that Hammond
had been in Manhattan at 4:30 that morn-
ing—and since he clearly remembered see-
ing a girl alive at 5:00 A.M.— he decided
it was not the same girl, after all. And if
he had any doubts, he finally confessed, he
“didn’t want to get mixed up” in a murder
trial. He had been asked questions enough,
he felt. He had gotten afraid, the way peo-
ple fear such tidings. It was a natural
enough reaction, even O’Day admitted. He
knew of numerous cases where an impor-
tant witness chose to remain silent from
fear of “getting mixed up” in a murder
case.

Finally, it was proven that Stapley was
found by the Star Detective Agency on
Defense Attorney Wells' lead. Wells had
gotten a list of all employees in the Acme
yards and been unable to locate Stapley.
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When the detectives found Stapley and
talked to him, he admitted everything and
agreed to come east. And he had been paid
only his expenses.

So it was all true— except that no one
but Stapley could ever be sure that he had
seen Katherine Gray alive at 5:00 A.M.
that morning. Even if one was ready to
accept this and assume Stapley was mis-
taken in the time (highly unlikely for a
watchman who checked all his moves
against a time clock) how could he have
said he let her out of the gate and saw her
walk away when her body was found in the
yards far from the gate? Could she have
come back later, unobserved? Hardly pos-
sible, and if she had, didn’t the time dis-
crepancy already absolve Hammond? Could
Stapley have mistaken her for someone
else? But he had seen her under the gate
lights; he chose her photograph from doz-
ens. Who else could it have been? No one
else had been seen entering the yards.

If we accept the State’s case, we must
believe that Stapley lied, and | know of no
reason why he should. Wells came to us
(Elliot’s friends, who paid for his defense)
for the money to bring Stapley east. He
though no chance should be overlooked,
though he could not bring himself to be-
lieve the story. Wells was the only one
who even had a clue to Stapley’s existence
at that time, so if bribery was what induced
Stapley to lie, only Wells could have bribed
him. Yet | submit that it would be irra-
tional to suppose that Wells bribed a wit-
ness he did not believe, using his own
money, and then made little use of the wit-
ness beyond entering his testimony. Wells
despairing use of Stapley would be enough
to demonstrate his lack of faith in Stapley’s
value. Only Stapley maintained his story
was true, and he remained unshakable to
the end.

I repeat, to accept the State’s case is to
refuse to believe Stapley for no other rea-
son than that his story seems unbelievable.

A SECOND series of questions. Mul-

vaney testified as follows: he saw
Hammond leave the yards alone, soaking
wet, at 3:00 A.M. Later that morning he
told Shilling what he had seen. Shilling
became greatly upset, refused to believe
him, then calmed down and said that as
far as he kifew, Hammond had left at mid-
night with Katherine Gray. We may well



THE METAL MONSTER MURDERS

ask: Why was Shilling so upset? Why
couldn’t he believe Mulvaney?

Let us look at the State's answer. The
State theorized that Jim phoned Elliot, got
Maria on the phone, and was told enough
to become frightened. He then searched the
yards, found the body, called Maria and
told her to allow no one to speak to Elliot,
which accounts for Maria later calling Dr.
Pryce and asking him not to return that
evening.

Can we believe this? Assuming that
Shilling did make the call, why should we
assume that Maria told him anything?
Maria didn’t tell Dr. Pryce, an old friend.
Why should she tell Jim Shilling— whom
she had never met before? Furthermore,
Shilling was frightened before he made the
call. Why? Why was he frightened in
advance? Had Elliot been acting so
strangely the night before as to warrant
such fearful suspicions on Jim’s part? Then
why should he have allowed Elliot to escort
the girl home? And if he feared for the
girl, why didn't he try to call her home?
Katherine’s room-mate was home until
eleven that morning, hours after Mulvaney
spoke to Jim, but Jim never called Kath-
erine’s home to inquire after her. Why not?
Why was he afraid to call her home before
he had reason to suspect anything had hap-
pened to her?

Again, how did Shilling know immedi-
ately where to search for Katherine’s body?
If we believe the State’s case, we must be-
lieve that he knew where to look at once.
The yards comprised hundreds of acres; it
took a police squad two days of searching
to find the body. According to the State,
however, Shilling called Maria that very
afternoon and told her he had found the
body. How did he do it? Was he just
lucky?

Can we assume that Maria had heard
enough to tell Shilling where to look, and
that was how he did it so quickly? The
State didn't think so, but was it not pos-
sible? Yes, if we can believe that Maria
would tell this to a man she had never met
—a man she couldn’t even be sure was the
one he said he was. In view of Maria’s ex-
treme caution with everyone else, | think
we must consider this hypothesis unten-
able.

Perhaps, we may think, Shilling had an
idea of where to look among those hun-
dreds of acres? But how? He said he had
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last seen Hammond and the girl leaving for
the gate— but the body was found along a
walk that led to the east fence and nowhere
else! If Hammond and the girl had started
for the gate, they could not have reached
that part of the yards where the body was
found, unless Hammond climbed over
mountains of scrap, either leading the girl
or carrying her. So we rule that out. Pos-
sibly then, we ask, Hammond and the girl
started on the wrong walk? But they would
have had to circle the pier to do it, as the
prosecution’s charts proved. Wouldn't
Shilling correct them? Should we assume
he merely bade them goodnight from inside
the houseboat and had not known where
they went? It would have been utterly
unlike him. It could easily be shown that
Shilling invariably guided his guests ex-
actly to the walk they needed, and often
took them to the gates, because it was so
easy to get lost there.

So, if we accept the State’s case, how do
we answer.. Why was Jim Shilling fright-
ened by Mulvaney’s information? Why
didn't he call Katherine’s home to ask
about her? Why should we assume Maria
told him anything? How was he able to
find Katherine’s body so quickly?

A THIRD question or two, about the
fingerprints. The State said that
Hammond had known about the dynamite
from watching work crews blast the wedged
metal, that he entered the yards, broke
open the locked shacks, stole dynamite and
fuses and detonators. Then, according to
the State, he planted dynamite under
Katherine Gray’s body and beside the
houseboat, hooked up the whole thing on
one circuit and let go the plunger. The
State’s proof is that Hammond's finger-
prints were found on the depressing lever.
But the State also admitted that no fin-
gerprints were found on the unexploded
dynamite or on the shacks. This was ex-
plained as being due to Hammond’s care-
fulness— the fingerprints on the lever were
either carelessness or resulted from shock
or torn gloves— take your pick. Or, said
the State, offering still another choice, it
was possible Hammond did not care
whether he did leave prints, since he was
not going to attempt concealing his guilt
but to exploit it.
I think that if all these choices are ex-
amined and pursued to a logical conclusion,
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that they demonstrate .the State’s offer of
these choices to be less due to generosity
than confusion. Let us ask whether or not
it was Hammond’s intention to conceal his
identity, taking each hypothesis in turn,
and see whether or not they lead to a logi-
cal conclusion.

First, if we assume Hammond made no
attempt to conceal his guilt, why didn’t he
leave fingerprints on the shack, the locks,
the fuses, the unexploded dynamite, the
wiring? He had literally dozens of places
where he would naturally have left his fin-
gerprints if he made no attempt to hide
them. The fact that there were absolutely
no prints anywhere but on the depressing
lever is, | think, firm proof that he must
have been cautious not to leave any, and
those he did leave were the result of a mo-
mentary slip, or shock, or tom gloves. But
that proves that he did attempt to conceal
his guiltl

So we tackle the hypothesis that he did
attempt to conceal his guilt? Now we as-
sume that he didn’'t know he hdd left any
prints behind. Nor did he know that
Katherine Gray had not been blown up, or
he would have attended to it. We assume
he left the yards thinking there was no way
to trace him, that he had killed Shilling and
Jean Lowell and destroyed all evidence of
his murder of Katherine Gray. Fine— but
what about the body of Maria Denisov,,his
wife? |If he was trying to get away with
these murders, why didn't he try to do
away with the body of his dead wife? The
coroner proved that Maria was dead hours
before the dynamite was exploded in the
yards. Would a murderer who was trying
to get away with his crimes be found sitting
next to the body of the woman he had mur-
dered the night before? The police found
Elliot sitting next to the body of Maria the
following morning. Was this how he at-
tempted to get away with murder, to con-
ceal his guilt? Didn’t he know he could be
executed just as easily for one murder as
for four?

Should we perhaps assume that the ex-
plosion had shocked him so greatly that he
didn’t recover in time to try? For when
the police came, he answered no questions,-
made no moves, and, in fact, portrayed the
clinical picture which Dr. Schumer later
called shock— but this is precisely what
O'Day called an actl If he was acting, he
was in full command of his senses— so why
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didn't he try to conceal his murder of
Maria? But perhaps we should make a
very fine distinction in time here— perhaps
we should assume that he recovered from a
genuine shock brought on by the explosion,
found he had no time left to hide the body,
and then went into his act?

But if he was suffering that kind of con-
tact shock that addled his brain and inca-
pacitated him, how did he get home? How
did he make the complicated trip home
from the yards? He could have done such
a thing only if he suffered the psychological
shock that Schumer diagnosed, and in that
case, if he wanted to hide his identity as
the. murderer, he could still have tried in
plenty of time. He could have, for instance,
rigged a rope and tried to pass it off as
suicide.

Better yet, why didn't he take Maria to
the yards with him and Kill her there too?
If he was as cunning as the State claimed,
cautious with his fingerprints, exits and en-
trances, why Kkill her at home, with his
hands, mid then return to be caught there?
No, the fact that he was caught at home,
sitting quietly beside the body, convinces
me, at least, that he did not make any at-
tempt to conceal his crime. And this, you
see, makes each hypothesis equally unten-
able. There is no logical conclusion in the
evidence as presented to make us believe
he either intended or did not intend to hide
his guilt. Then where is the State’s logical
case?

And, incidentally, what of the State’s
contention that Hammond, a newspaper re-
porter, learned enough about dynamite
from watching a few random operations to
rig up a highly technical, highly complex,
dynamite setup? Is that statement believ-
able? A half dozen experts | have asked
all laughed at the notion. Even an excel-
lent student of the technique, who had gone
to competent books for instruction, would
likely have blown himself up halfway
through the job. The State adduced no
evidence to show that Hammond had had
recourse to such books—and don't think
they didn't try to find that evidence!

'C'INALLY, I think we can safely ques-
A tion (having already questioned sup-
posed fact) one of the prosecution’s basic
theories— the theory that Jim Shilling was
willing to stick his neck out for Elliot to
the extent of covering up a murder for him,
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and involving himself as an accomplice
after the fact, as lawyers say. | know of
few friendships which might conceivably
pass such a test. | do not think Jim's
friendship for Elliot was remotely enough
devoted to warrant such an action, nor do
I know of anyone who thinks differently.

You are at liberty to think otherwise, and
if you do, I must tell you also that no one
who knew Elliot was able to accept another
basic theory of the State’s— the theory that
Elliot murdered from an insane jealousy.
But these are questions of character, and
many people believe that friends are notor-
iously popr judges of each other when basic
emotions and passions are involved. And
these questions reveal no specific flaws or
doubts concerning Maria’s murder, except
that they are not the ultralogical premises
so assuredly offered to the jury.

The jury, it would seem, needed only the
outward trappings of a logical case, plus a
few isolated facts, to convict. Certainly it
got no more than that, but can the District
Attorney be blamed for making the best
use of his limited facts? Can we blame the
jury for accepting the prosecution’s case,
when the alternative defense case
amounted to little more than passive re-
sistance? Or should fault be found with
the defense attorney? | think we made a
great mistake retaining Wells, who ac-
cepted the case apathetically. The ques-
tions | have asked here could have been
asked by an attorney who had not sur-
rendered beforehand, who scarcely believed
his own witnesses, and whose only defense
against the charges was the attempt to
prove insanity.

But this was true of all of us. We went
to Wells precisely because of his experience
with insanity cases. The newspapers called
him the brilliant Wells, the wily Wells, the
astute, dogged, defense attorney. What
did we really expect? An acquittal based
on grounds other than insanity? Was there
enough evidence to warrant such an ex-
pectation?

I don't think so—not then. But | do
think there is evidence enough now, with
the diary and subsequent investigation, to
warrant further thought about the case—
at least further thought. So, to proceed to:

THE SECOND HYPOTHESIS

" 1 'HIS hypothesis is based on a thorough
A study and interpretation of the Ham-
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mond diary, and its conclusion falls some-
where between the hypothesis offered by
the State and the third, which follows this
one. It is based on acceptance of the diary
as true.

First, the diary presents a complex, un-
even account of Hammond’s thought proc-
esses while he supposedly reviewed his
memories. Second, it offers an alternative,
almost complete, explanation of the four
deaths of which Hammond was accused.
Because the diary is occasionally obscure
and highly involved, we must first be sure
we understand exactly the story it attempts
to tell us. This story may be divided in
two: part of it is the story of the Thing in
the yards; part of it is the story of Ham-
mond and his relationship with Jim Shill-
ing, Jean Lowell, and Maria— but both re-
main parts of a single story and must be
understood as such, in spite of this arbi-
trary simplification.

The story of the Thing tells us that Shill-
ing found a strange, living intelligence in
the yards, a Being fused by some great
cosmic accident. It possessed vast powers,
and those known to Hammond included
telepathy, invisibility, communication by
speech, and some kind of locomotion. It
could kill and re-create a semblance of life,
as in the case of Kathy Gray, or kill and
suspend death, as with Maria. The Thing,
moreover, had an awareness of self. It un-
derstood its uniqueness in the world and
was increasingly morbid because of this. It
sought acceptance (whatever that meant)
first through Shilling and Hammond and
failed. It then identified itself as a She-
Thing, and its intelligence became warped
to an extent where a like aberration in a
human mind would be called madness. It
controlled Shilling and forced him to bring
Kathy Gray, and when it failed again (pre-
sumably to be accepted) it killed her. This
set off a chain of circumstances which
ended in the Thing killing Maria, aided by
Shilling. Finally Hammond destroyed it,
but changed Shilling’s plan enough to de-
liberately include killing Jim. Hammond
admits this one murder. Those of Maria
and Kathy he ascribes to Shilling and the
Thing. Likewise, he inferentially pleads
innocent to the charge of killing Jean Low-
ell.

Not all of this is immediately apparent
in the manuscript, but, as | intend to show,
it is all there. Together with the develop-
ing account of Hammond's relationship
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with Jim, Jean and Maria, it presents an-
swers for practically every loophole in the
State’s case.

Hammond says he understood Jean’s
falling in love with Jim, that he was hurt
but it was no terrible blow. “I’'ve never
known a better guy,” he tells Jean. “I'm
glad for both of you.” She asks him to
walk with her. They go into the yards be-
cause “the tide was too high on the beach
to go there.” While they walk, Hammond
feels again the sensation he experienced
once before in the yards, “the heavy and
oppressive hold” and suddenly Jean has
vanished. She does not respond to his calls
and he feels “an unreasoning fear.” When
they are found a few minutes later by Jim
and others, the reaction sets in and he
laughs, but for the rest of the evening Jean
and he are depressed. Later Jean tells him
that she did not see or hear him when he
called to her.

This story presents an alternative ex-
planation for the supposed quarrel Ham-
mond and Jean had over Jim. Likewise,
his seemingly strained relations with Jim,
following that evening, takes on a new as-
pect as Hammond explains it as the result
of fear and a growing obsession in which
he sees mud and ghost crabs everywhere.
This too would explain his poor work at the
newspaper and his failing health. By this
time Jim has openly confirmed Hammond’s
terrible suspicions.  Shortly afterward,
Hammond comes to me and tells me his
story, and fails to convince me of anything
except the possibility that he is mentally
ill or overworked.

He returns home and finds Maria wait-
ing for him. He had had an affair with
her once, and now, thoroughly frightened,
weary, feeling more than ever his loneli-
ness, he is overjoyed to find her and to real-
ize she still loves him, and he likewise real-
izes “not all at once” that he is in love with
her. (Hammond invests this new love with
a magic quality, “a dream that had come
true” but even if we believe there are bet-
ter-understood motivations possible here,
we can accept his statements at face value
because he obviously believed them.) He
marries Maria, hoping to forget his terrible
knowledge, but he fails. The obsession is
too strong, the fear persists. He is sitting
with her, beginning the first of several let-
ters to his friehds, when it seizes him and
he runs out to sit beside a brook. (Here we
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have an explanation of why Hammond
wrote me alone of his marriage.) Instead
of Maria rescuing him, he takes her back
to the city and is forced to involve her in
his own tragedy.

AT HOME that night he drinks, trying

to forget, and though he sees that
Maria is in misery he cannot tell her what
the trouble is. Finally he runs out of the
house because of the “anguish in her face

too strong to hide.” Without intend-
ing to go to Jim, he finds himself approach-
ing the yards. Inside he hears a scream.
He crawls up the ridge and looks down on
the houseboat. He sees Jim kissing Kathy
Gray. She is crying and she breaks away
from him. Jim cries out to warn her, but
is too late. The Thing strikes—*flame
Sashed ... in midair ... the sound of
her footsteps stopped all at once . . He
hears the Thing intone, “So softly death
succeeded life in her . . .” He sees her
body and then he lies exhausted and hor-
ror-stricken on the beach before he leaves
the yards. “The tide,” he says, “started to
come in.and the waves washed over me,”—
thereby explaining the fact later reported
by Mulvaney, who saw Hammond leave the
yards soaking wet.

And here we reach one of the strangest
points in the narrative, though it is not in-
cluded in the diary itself. Hammond says
that he saw Kathy lying". . . dead, man-
gled . . .” before he left the yards. He
does not say when he left there, writing
only, “. . . 1 must have been there a long
time . . .” but we can retrace his move-
ments because Mulvaney saw him leave at
3:00 A.M. and Mrs. Bailey saw him at
Jean’s door at 4:30 A.M. The trip between
those two places would take about an hour
and a half at that time of night.

Against these mutually substantiating
statements we have Stapley’s testimony
that he saw Kathy Gray alive at 5:00 A.M.
when she left the yards and walked towards
the trolley line. If this is true, it seems to
prove that Hammond could not have killed
Kathy—but Hammond says she was al-
ready dead when he left. However, (as
already indicated in a footnote and pres-
ently in these remarks) the diary supplies
an answer to this apparent dead-end road.

Hammond sums up the entire scene out-
side Jean’s door, which has been described
in detail by Mrs. Bailey, in one short sen-
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tence: “I tried to tell Jean but she wouldn’t
listen.” He returns home, and here again
he but vaguely indicates what was later
fully recounted at the trial— the scene be-
tween him and Maria’s sister, Tamara,
where she threatens to have the marriage
annulled and wants to take Maria away.
Of this he writes merely: “I cannot under-
stand why she was here ... | finally said
something that made her leave.”

Then he tells Maria everything. As he
writes of this, he returns to describe
Kathy’s death, thus completing the unfin-
ished episode. He suggests here that some
sort of compact existed between Jim and the
Thing, and that it had apparently been
agreed that the Thing was not to kill— but
when Jim cried out against the killing, he
was instantly silenced.

Then he goes on to write of the following
day. The diary becomes elusive and wan-
ders about, as if recalling that day is
enough to influence him at the time of writ-
ing. Maria tells him that Jim Shilling tele-
phoned. He told her, she says, that he had
seen Elliot the night before—that Elliot
had been acting peculiarly and had left
with Kathy Gray.

Hearing this, Hammond sees something
is terribly wrong. He knows Jim didn’t see
him the night before. Even if he can re-
construct how Jim learned he was there, he
can't understand why Jim said that he,
Hammond, left with Kathy. He denies it
but Maria cannot believe him; she keeps
begging him to remember. It occurs to him
that he can prove Jim didn't see him. If
he had seen Jim, wouldn’t he have told Jim
of his marriage? Then, knowing this,
wouldn’t Jim mention it when he spoke to
Maria? Conversely, not knowing this,
wouldn’t Jim be surprised to find Maria
answering the phone? He phrases the ques-
tions mentally: “What did Jim say when
he found it was you who answered the tele-
phone? . . . Did he wish you happi-
ness?” But he does not ask the questions
because he realizes how easily Maria can
assume he told Jim nothing— for, when she
recalls how upset Elliot was the preceding
night, hearing Jim say the same thing, with
no reason to suspect Jim of lying— how can
she accept his denial? Anticipating this,
Hammond remains silent. “1 must sit here
and work it out,” he writes. Then he adds:
“Call the Doctor and tell him not to come
. . . thisis nothing for a doctor. . .
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CO HERE the diary offers a version of
~ that day’s events which is completely
opposed to the one offered by the State. We
learn it was Hammond who told Maria
everything, not Jim. We learn also that
Maria called Dr. Pryce and told him it
would be unnecessary for him to return be-
cause Hammond— not Jim, as the State
theorized—told Maria to keep the Doctor
away. Furthermore, we find corroborating
data for any doubts we had about Maria’s
confiding in Jim so early, and over the tele-
phone.

But this section of the diary also pro-
vides answers to questions of much greater
importance.

First, we find an answer to why Jim
Shilling became so upset when Mulvaney
told him of having seen Hammond leave the
yards, soaking wet, at 3:00 A.M. the night
before. For, until Mulvaney mentioned it,
Shilling hadn’t even known that Hammond
had been in the yards at alll Learning that
Hammond had been in the yards for the
four hours between eleven and three, he in-
stantly realized that Hammond had very
likely witnessed the murder of Kathy Gray.
But, he recovered from the shock a moment
later and told Mulvaney that Hammond
had left at midnight with Kathy Gray— thus
preparing the groundwork for an alibi, (as
will shortly be seen).

Once that was done, he called Hammond.
Maria answered the phone. Jim must have
been startled, and probably he felt his way
very cautiously. We can safely assume that
Maria said no more than that Elliot was ill
and asleep. Then, pursuing his alibi, Shill-
ing told Maria he had seen Elliot the night
before, that Elliot had been acting strangely,
and that he had left with Kathy Gray. Thus,
while ostensibly calling to inquire about EI-
liot, Shilling furthered his purpose.

And now we see we have the answer to
why Jim did not call Kathy Gray’s apart-
ment— he knew very well where she was!
But shouldn’t he have called there precisely
for that reason, to, cement his alibi even
more? Undoubtedly he should have done
that, but he couldn’t afford it just yet. For
to call there was to focus attention on the
yards, and he wanted no investigation of
the yards until he was ready for it— but
he could not be ready until he had removed
Stapley, the night watchman!

Why did he have to remove Stapley? The
answer is to be found as the diary continues
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to the next day, the Saturday afternoon
when Shilling came to visit Elliot. As the
footnote to that section says, the diary is
scarcely coherent at times as Hammond re-
constructs the conversation, but careful
study, added to what we already know,
brings out the story.

At the very beginning, Hammond tells
why Jim came to him. . swear you will
help me,” Jim begs, and Hammond says:
“There was no denying him ... we were
together in this . . .” Hammond proposes
that they tell the truth to the police. Shill-
ing declares that course is impossible. He
asks: “Do you understand what it is to be
charged with murder? . . . Can you show
them the Thing? « . . Can you make any-
one understand?” Still Hammond persists:
“Tell, Jim, and let whatever happens . . .”
but Jim stops him by asking if Hammond
realizes his life is at stake: “Your life alone,
Elly. You alonel” Hammond understands
what Jim means— that Jim is referring to
the alibi he prepared for himself—and he
says: “Because you've said you saw me last
night . . . you've said | left with Kathy
Gray?”

Shilling pleads with Hammond: “I had to
say what | did ... the Thing made me
say it . . . the Thing had already done
something, else to make me safe.” He ex-
plains what the Thing did, and why: “He
had told the Thing that the murder of a
human was a matter ... to punish .. .”
and that he would be punished. Then” .. .
the Thing had raised (Kathy) from the
swamp where she lay dead . ... the body
of Kathy Gray had been made to leave the
yards long enough to be seen leaving . . .”
(Italics mine—D.V.R.)

In other words, Shilling tells Hammond
that when he told the Thing he would be
blamed and punished for the murder, the
Thing had protected him by “falsifying the
spark of life” in Kathy long enough for her
to be seen by Stapley, leaving the yards os-
tensibly alive. That was the protection and
the alibi provided him by the Thing.

But, Shilling continues, the next morning
Mulvaney told him of seeing Hammond
leave the yards at 3:00 A.M. The sudden
news confounded him. Obviously afraid of
what Hammond might do, that he might
go to the police and tell them of Kathy’s
murder, “. .. panic had overtaken
him . . .” and in his panic the Thing gave
him a new way out. In the absence
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of his will . . .” it forced him to tell Mul-
vaney that, as far as he knew, Hammond
had left at midnight with Kathy. Thus, if
Hammond talked, Shilling felt safe, for
Hammond “. . . had been seen by many
that night, arriving and leaving strangely,
acting strangely . . .” And, he asks Ham-
mond, “. . . do we not believe that a mur-
derer must or may act strangely before and
after commission of the deed? . . .”

T)UT this new alibi had a single flaw—

Stapley. This witness, carefully estab-
lished for the first alibi, could ruin the new
one by testifying he had seen Kathy Gray
alive after Mulvaney had seen Hammond
leave! So Stapley had to be removed. If
Stapley “. . . stopped existing . . .” says
Shilling, there would be no one to say Kathy
had been alive after Hammond left the
yards.

Having told Hammond all this, Shilling
says he “. . . refused to acquiesce to this
murder . . .” and came instead to Ham-
mond to warn him and to beg for help in
destroying the Thing.

The fact is that Shilling could not have
had Stapley killed unless he went out him-
self and did the killing, and he would have
had to find out where Stapley lived to do it,
aside from other practical questions. The
comment on page 72 has already gone into
this matter in some detail, but a brief sum-
mary here can do no harm. Quoting the
comment, then: “... Stapley was not at the
yards for six days following that night (the
night when Kathy Gray was murdered) and
when he returned, was fired and left for the
west coast . . .” The comment goes on to
say: “...Here we can find . .. Shilling’s
motive in coming to Hammond for help

. .” and this motive may now be tackled.

(Although it is now abundantly clear,
for the sake of the record, | ought to point
out that only this explanation of what oc-
curred in the yards— the Thing “falsifying
the spark of life” in Kathy— offers an an-
swer to Stapley’s apparently contradictory
testimony.)

At this point, Hammond reports what
Shilling told him of the cycle and then sug-
gests the plan to destroy the Thing, to which
he agreed. Ignoring for the moment the
skeptical tone of his writing, what does he
say of the “cycle”? Shilling says: “l can't
explain it . . . it's a periodic thing ... |
feel it from tjme to time . . . this is one
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of the intervals in which | can think and act
alone and feel myself an individual . . . its

influence wanes from time to time . . . you
felt its power of compulsion . . . and yet
it wasn't always so, was it? . . .” To this

Hammond partly agrees, and when Shilling
tells him this is their last chance to destroy
the Thing before there are more murders,
he agrees to the plan.

What is the plan? We must piece it to-
gether from the fragments in which Ham-
mond wrote of it. “. . . If it worked, the
Thing might be destroyed, and what re-
mained of Kathy Gray would be lost for-
ever . . .” He mentions the part on Sun-
day, the next day, as part of the plan, and
indicates the alibi to be given to the police:
“The party became very disorderely and
wild— what must have happened was that
some of the people there who had become
too drunk to understand what they were
doing had wandered off and accidentally
found the shack and engineered the frightful
prank which thankfully had hurt no one

7 Of the plan itself: “. . . We had
planned to destroy the Thing after everyone
had gone. Jim had arranged everything. |
was to take my appointed place in the
yards, where he had set the detonators. At
the appointed time he would come out, call
to me that he was out of the dangerous area.
Then | would set off the dynamite . . . The
same blast would destroy Kathy’s body .. .
When the police came, we would have our
story . .."”

Before we turn critical attention to the
mechanics of this plan (in which Hammond
was merely an agent) let us see what hap-
pened to upset it.

When Shilling left, Hammond writes, “I
looked down into the street and saw Maria
meet him . .. | never found out what they
spoke about.” We still do not know for a
certainty what they spoke about, but we
can make a good guess or two. We know
Maria told Jim she was coming to the party
on the houseboat th™ next day, because at
eleven that night she called her sister at he
Besters and told her so. We know also that
she had seriously begun to doubt Elliot’s
sanity by then. It seems safe to venture
that Maria confided in Jim to some extent
that afternoon, taking Jim’'s word that he
was there to help Elliot, believing that
Elliot had best be kept in ignorance.

This is apparent partly because of the fact
she did not tell Elliot where she was going
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the next afternoon. Hammond writes:
“Suddenly it was Sunday and Maria was
not with me ... | was worried about
her . . .” He was greatly upset about her
when | came, as | testified, and finally he
threw me out. “She must have said some-
thing,” he writes, “. . . but | do not re-
member it.” From what has previously been
recorded, we understand why he was so wor-
ried. As Shilling had told him: “. . . This
is just the beginning for the Thing ... It
won't stop here . . .”

(This is one interpretation. There is an-
other, which | have decided to include in
the Third Hypothesis, where | think it be-
longs. It is concerned with Hammond's pos-
sible suspicions of Shilling’s motives, which
also made Hammond fear Maria’s going to
the yards.)

" 1 '"HAT evening Maria returns, and in-
A stantly, as Hammond looks up and sees
her, he feels “. . . the prescience of . . .
doom . . .” She is already dead, he says:
“. . . the Thing had taken her life as it
had taken Kathy’s.” She seemed alive but
“. . . all that remained of this semblance of
life . . . was to end when she opened the
box . . . Jim had given her . . .” Maria
can still speak a little. She tells Elliot that
she went to the place in the yards where
Kathy’s body lay and saw it. Jim followed
her and then the Thing killed her. With
“uncomprehending terror” she pleads for
Elliot’s promise not to go to the yards, prays
for him, then dies.

She dies after Hammond opens the box.
He opened it not to bring on her death but

. . to fight the visible death ... so pa-
tient before it claimed her . . .” He re-
members the way she looked then, “
the pallid, weary face, the fire dying in
sightless eyes, the small blue marks that
ringed her throat, choking off her last
breath.”

Thus Hammond explains Maria’s murder
—or, rather, he states the circumstances
which surround it. For he does not, in so
many words, explain how it happened. He
tells us merely that Maria told him Jim
followed her into the yards and, presum-
ably, got the Thing to kill her. But she was
killed unlike Kathy in that her death was
suspended until she opened the box.

Surely this episode is among the strangest
in this strange story. Until now everything
has been explained, no matter how strange-
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ly, in terms of an internal logic. Why
should this episode be left unexplained?

The answer is that it has been explained.
It takes a little searching to find the ex-
planation, | admit, and even then we must
supply part of it, but this circumstance is
understandable. The diary indicates that,
as Hammond drew, closer to the end of his
story, he believed it less and less. From an
occasional manifestation of doubt in the
early sections (“. . . the unreality of every-
thing | have written . . .) he went on to
where, at the end, he was writing of his

. . prison of memories . . . false as they
are . . .” By the time he had reached this
last episode, his doubts had accumulated to
the point where he no longer bothered to
explain anything. However, we can find an
explanation because he was generally very
careful with details—and what appears to
be missing here has already been accounted
for in another section of the diary.

Let us go back to the Saturday afternoon
when Shilling comes to visit Hammond.
Shilling tells Hammond this is their last
chance, for . . when the cycle is over,
all these thoughts will be known to her (the
Thing). ... She’s failed with me—I'm use-
less to her. Do you know what it means
for me to go back there?” Hammond thinks
of an alternative, soliloquizing: “And not to
go back? To have Kathy Gray’s body
found? To have her found and (for Jim)
not to have come back? No. .. .” The
alternative, Jim’s not going back, is no good
because Jim would be incriminated if he
didn’t go back and the body was later found.

So Hammond thinks of another possibil-
ity. He says: “But the Thing had brought
her back to life—” and Jim interrupts: “No,
she only looked as if she were (alive).”
Hammond says: “But that was enough.”
Jim then realizes what Hammond is think-
ing and says: “No, Elly. I've thought of
the same thing a thousand times since then,
but it’s too late. The way the Thing killed
her made it impossible. If only | had been
able to forsee it . . . that could have been
done—she (Kathy) need never have re-
turned atall. . . .”

What are they talking about? | don't
think the subject is too obscure, but let us
make it absolutely clear by finishing the
interrupted sentences and unfinished re-
marks. In this version of the foregoing con-
versation, italics will signify what we have
supplied.
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T TAMMOND says: “But the Thing had
A~ brought her back to life, so why could
she not have remained alive? Hammond
never finished because Jim objected: “She
only looked as if she were alive.” Now, says
Hammond, “But that was enough. Why
couldn’t the same thing be done again? Why
couldn’t she be made to look as if she were
alive, just long enough to leave the yards, to
do anything that would remove suspicion
from tcs?”’

Notice now how perfectly Jim’s recorded
answer fits here. He says, “No, Elly. I've
thought of the same thing a thousand times
since then, but it’s too late. The way the
Thing killed her made it impossible. If only
I had been able to foresee it . . . that could
have been done—she need never have re-
turned (to theyards) atall . . .”

In other words, Hammond’s alternative
would have been possible if Jim had been
able to foresee Kathy’s death. That was now
impossible— but here we see how this alter-
native could have been employed with
Maria! If only we assume that Jim did
foresee Maria’s death, as he certainly did if
he planned to murder her through the
Thing.

That Hammond concluded Jim did plan
to kill Maria is plain enough. Maria told
him that Jim followed her to where Kathy’s
body lay, that the Thing killed her, but that
final death is to come to her when she opens
the box. Hammond cannot believe this. He
opens the box to prove to Maria that it is
untrue, and Maria dies. Marks appear on
her throat, marks that make it look as if she
has been strangled (later established by an

autopsy).
Then Hammond understands. Hadn't Jim
told him that “. . . Kathy need never have

returned (to the yards) at all . . .” He
sees the mistake that was made in Kathy’s
case has been corrected, anticipated, in Ma-
ria’s— she has been killed in away that sus-
pended her death—and the release of that
suspension lay within the box Jim had given
her.

So Hammond goes to the yards, intending
to blow Jim up with the Thing. All he need
do is not give Jim the warning to get out
of the dangerous area. When he gets there
he finds he does not have to wait: “Every-
one had gone because of the rain.” He calls
to Jim, waits for him to appear at the door,
then: “. . . the houseboat lifted in a great
orange blaze . .
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But Hammond did not know that Jean
Lowell had remained behind, and that he
was blowing her up, tool He writes of Jim:
“He was alone.” Nowhere does he contra-
dict this impression or indicate any motive
for killing Jean. Indeed, even at the time
of writing, he still does not know that he
killed Jean.

Nor does he know that he did not blow
up Kathy Gray’s body that night! While
he writes that he does not believe his own
story, he feels that it has some strange ele-
ments of truth— that one of these elements
is the fact that he can provide “. . . at least
one answer for your world ... | have told
you what happened to Kathy Gray when she
disappeared . . . when all trace of her was
lost one night. . . .” Hammond still thinks
that Kathy’s disappearance has never been
explained since the night she saw Shillingl

Finally, this account of the explosion an-
swers the State’s dilemma on the matter of
fingerprints and the technical proficiency
needed to handle dynamite. Shilling was in
a position to have learned all he needed to
know about dynamite. He knew where
everything was kept in the yards and he had
the time to arrange the wiring. Naturally,
he would be careful not to leave a single
fingerprint on anything he touched. When
Hammond came to blow up everything, he
was in no condition to worry about finger-
prints. The indication is that he had no in-
tention of concealing his part in the explo-
sion.

From what we have been able to piece
together, he left the yards in a shocked con-
dition. He had brought the box with him
for some reason, and he still had it when he
left the yards, bleeding and tom, and he
went into a curio shop nearby and left the
box there. Then he went home and was
found by the police, sitting beside Maria’s
corpse, unable to say a word, unable to react
to anything. And that ends the story told
in Hammond’s diary, to which we have (
added some other things we knew.

W ELL, what about this second hypothe-

sis? Can we believe it? The State’s
story seemed to hang together until we be-
gan asking questions. We can ask one or
two questions here, but no more. We can
ask, for instance: how did Kathy Gray get
back into the yards after Stapley saw her
heading for the trolley, and why wasn't she
seen? We can ask why she had to go back
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to the yards at all, except that Shilling seems
to have implied it couldn’t be done, as Ham-
mond quotes him. As for the relationship
between Shilling and Kathy, Hammond con-
fesses his own ignorance. Aside from these
minor points, everything seems to be ex-
plained.

Indeed, the most astonishing thing about
Hammond's diary is that it has an answer
and an explanation for every loophole in the
States easel

Is that sufficient reason to accept it? The
guestion is rather pointless, because | don't
think there is much chance anyone can ac-
cept Hammond's story. We can’t believe it,
we say— in other words, it just isn't true.

Having decided the story is untrue, we
must decide whether we think it is untrue
by design or by accident. That is, did Ham-
mond deliberately write an untrue story or
didn’'t he? | phrase this choice more simply
as one between believing, (1) the story is a
fake, or, (2) a mistake. But we just can't
decide this without evidence one way or an-
other, if our decision is to have meaning.
So, let’s take the first choice and examine
it. The premise, then: the story is a delib-
erate fake.

If Hammond's diary is a fake, it is cer-
tainly clever and elaborate. A person at-
tempting such a fake would have to be in a
special position. | have listed at least four
gualifications such a person should be able
to meet.

(1) He would have to have a very strong
motive. The diary’s fake story should do
something for him that could probably not
be done in any other way. (2) He would
have to know every detail of the case, so he
could relate the smallest facts to make a
coherent story. (3) He would need time
enough to work out the story, because it is
so complex. (4) If we grant the first three
conditions, the fourth, necessary one is that
the person would be much more sane than
anyone thought Hammond was.

Now, how does Hammond fit these qual-
ifications? Remember, that we are assum-
ing, for the present, that the diary’s story is
a deliberate fake. With that in mind, let’s
see.

First of all, suppose the State’s case is
basically true? Suppose that, for all its
flaws, the truth was more nearly approached
by the State than anywhere else? Sup-
pose Hammond was really guilty of pre-
meditated murder? These questions seem
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foolish after the time we spent picking apart
the State’s case, but remember what an
inordinately difficult case it was. If a
murderer Kills all witnesses, blows up the
scene of the crime with dynamite, then
refuses to say a word, how can the State
possibly be expected to fashion an air-
tight case? Can we reasonably expect as
good a job, under such circumstances, as in
cases where there are possible spot wit-
nesses, ballistics experts, chemical analyses,
and a defendant who tries to defend himself,
thus giving the State a chance to riposte?

OUPPOSE just one or two small facts,
~  which Hammond knew the State could
probably never get—suppose these facts
would have changed the entire case? One or
two small, uncorrected, uncorrectable errors
could throw the entire structure off, though
it was basically correct. What if, for in-
stance, Shilling was not the entirely blame-
less victim the State thought he was—and
was, instead, more or less in league with
Hammond? Hammond cbuld still be guilty
as hell of the four murders, but the trouble-
some questions about the dynamite might
be seen in an entirely different light.

Or take Stapley’s testimony. If the di-
ary’s story is a fake, what a marvelous
stroke of luck that testimony was for the
story. Even though Stapley might tell the
absolute truth, a minor mechanical flaw in
the reconstruction of the crime could pervert
that truth beyond recognition. For exam-
ple: we know that Hammond left the yards
at 3:00 A.M.; that he was seen in Green-
wich Village at 4:30; that he was at home
at 5:00. We know that Kathy Gray was
seen leaving the yards at 5:00. Does that
positively preclude Hammond as her mur-
derer? How do we know Hammond didn’t
leave home at 5:15, meet Kathy somewhere
by pre-arrangement, then take her back to
the yards and kill her? How do we know
Shilling wasn't in on it? Perhaps he might
have been involved quite innocently, but he
might have been able to let Hammond and
Kathy enter the yards unobserved, through
some little-known entrance. Why not? What
do we know?

No one knows what the relationship there
was; it might have been anything at all. No
one knows what Hammond did after 5:00
A.M. that morning—his diary says he
stayed home, but Maria isn't here to cor-
roborate him. No one knows exactly when
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Kathy was killed. The autopsy placed it
within a period of six hours, time enough
for any variation .on the State’s thesis that
it was done between 12:00 M., when Shill-
ing told Mulvaney Kathy left, and 3:00,
when Mulvaney saw Hammond leave. May-
be Shilling lied to Mulvaney? Shilling isn't
here to be cross-examined.

In short, everyone who could, conceiv-
ably, contradict the diary’s story is dead—
and one small error might play havoc with
a case that was basically correct. Should we
reject the State’s efforts to defend us against
a clever murderer precisely because the mur-
derer’s cleverness has made the State’s task
so difficult?

So, if the State was basically correct, we
see that Hammond qualifies under the first
condition— he has a strong motive for writ-
ing this diary. His motive is to concoct a
story that dovetails with the one he orig-
inally planted with me, as continued evi-
dence that he was legally insane. If this is
so, and District Attorney O’Day correctly
guessed Hammond's plan from the start,
how beautifully things turned out for Ham-
mond nevertheless. He had destroyed
enough evidence to give him a chance to
beat the case on its own merits. If that
failed, all he had to do was continue the
act and keep his mouth shut. And he finally
won when he fooled several outstanding psy-
chiatrists sufficiently to get them to go to
the governor.

From a State institution he went to a
private one and began to stage a slow, mi-
raculous recovery during which he wrote a
diary. The diary was proof of his insanity,
but the way he wrote it, he showed he was
not far from recovery. All that remained
was for him to be persuaded that his diary
was the product of a once disordered, now
almost recovered, imagination— and he had
laid the foundation for that! At the end of
his diary he was offering to “surrender” to
Dr. Schumer, acknowledging that he could
hardly believe anything he thought he re-
membered.

Conditions 2 and 3 were always present.
Hammond was in the courtroom every day
of the trial, and he heard every shred of
evidence that the State presented. He was
familiar with every last detail. And he had
a year and a half in which to work out his
story, and to make it coincide with the one
he'd planted with me.

So the first three conditions are fulfilled.
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Hammond had the motive, the facts, the
time. What of condition 4— that to have
done this, Hammond would have had to be
much more sane than anyone thought he
was? If Hammond's insanity was unques-
tionable, the other three conditions mean
nothing. Oh the other hand, if there was
any reason to question the authenticity of
Hammond’s insanity, we apparently have a
case. This fourth condition is like the fourth
leg of a chair—when you add it to an other-
wise useless affair, you get something sol-
idly substantial. Well then, is there any rea-
son to doubt the genuineness of Hammond's
insanity?

There is. The simple fact of the matter
is, that until the night of Hammond'’s death,
Dr. Schkmer himselj had become more and
more uncertain about Hammond's insanity.

PROMISED, earlier, to include more

detailed information on this matter of
Hammond'’s insanity. This is where | think
such information belongs. It is a part of the
all-over story, of which the diary, the clip-
pings, testimony and various hypotheses are
other parts.

Elliot Hammond was a patient in Dr.
Schumer’s sanitarium from May, 1942 to
November, 1943— fust about a year and a
half. In that time | saw him perhaps six or
seven times at the most, but at least two
of these visits were limited to my merely
observing him, unsuspected, while he walked
about the lawn; those were occasions when
Schumer wanted no possibility of an unset-
tling influence. The other occasions, when
I did speak to Elliot, were far apart enough
to mark distinctly the rapid rate of his re-
covery. The last time | saw him was about
three months before he died. | was with
him for half an hour, and during that time
we spoke about various things—the war,
John's work at the farm, the whereabouts
of one or two casual acquaintances. It was
all fairly impersonal, and the orfly thing of
importance he mentioned was the fact that
he was contemplating writing a diary which
would, as he said, “tell the story of a very
important period of my life.”

He had mentioned it once before, and |
heard about it with some frequency after
that when Schumer wrote me. | knew that
he had been discussing this “important pe-
riod” with Schumer, and that the Doctor
was greatly interested in the idea. At that
time | had no idea what Hammond remem-
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bered of those dark days— indeed, not un-
til 1 read the diary did | realize that he
didn’'t know Jean Lowell was dead, or that
Kathy Gray’s body had been fouhd. (That
is, according to his story.) Impressed as |
was by the evidences of his improvement, |
really had no idea of what he was going
through or what was happening to him. All
that time, it turns out, Dr. Schumer’s uncer-
tainty about Hammond was growing.

But let me tell it more or less as Schumer
told it to me. The following resume is a
condensation of the Doctor’s remarks during
the discussions | had with him, after Elliot
died. Part of it is based on memory, the
latter part mostly on notes | took. | have
put Dr. Schumer’s remarks in quotes never-
theless, and | have also edited them to keep
out the disturbing factors of his grammar
and accent.— D.V.R.

(A CONDENSATION OF RE-
MARKS MADE BY DR. LEOPOLD
SCHUMER TO DAVID V. REED
AFTER THE DEATH OF ELLIOT
HAMMOND)

Hammond case interested me

from the very start, as you know.

From the beginning, the syndrome were

confusing. It was extremely difficult to

launch even the first tentative diag-
noses.

“You recall what | said at the trial. |
was convinced that he was truly insane,
in the legal sense of the word, and that
he had been so at the time he committed
the crimes. But legal insanity is a simple
matter to deal with; we define it as the
inability to make a distinction between
wrong and right—a sort of moral
idiocy. Insanity as a medical matter,
however, is quite another thing.

“The very word insanity is no longer
used among doctors. It has become as
meaningless to speak of insanity as it
would be to group a fracture, a hernia
and a carcinoma under the vast term:
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illness. That tells us nothing. It gives
the same value to eyestrain and chronic
tuberculosis.

“The psychiatrist deals with manifes-
tations of the abnormal mind, and
where possible, with psychotherapy as
acure. Butwhat is the abnormal mind?
That classification is still enormous. It
includes the neuroses, the psychoses,
and the feebleminded. This last group
we can dismiss immediately as “incur-
able” at present. These we segregate,
train if it is possible, and use in studies
of eugenics, no more.

“The greatest percentage of cures is
found among the neuroses. There are
three divisions here: neurasthenia;
psychasthenia; hysteria. These cases
lend themselves to psychotherapy be-
cause they are all functional disorders.
These cases are not popularly known as
“insane”— most of them are grouped
under “nervous breakdown” and such
terms.

“The psychoses likewise include
cases which are seldom labeled “in-
sane” by the layman. Psychoses of a
toxic nature such as drugs or glandular
disorders, and organic disorders like
senile dementia or general paresis are
cases for medical and surgical treat-
ment, not for psychotherapy.

“It is under the heading of functional
psychoses that we find the cases gener-
ally called “insane.” There are three
groups here: the manic-depressive; the
dementia praecox— now generally called
schizophrenia; the paranoia. Because
these cases are functional disorders, the
only treatment would appear to be
psychotherapy, but this is not so be-
cause they are usually inaccessible; the
doctor cannot “get through” to them.
(In some of these cases, insulin shock
and metrazol is used with excellent re-
sults.) To say that Elliot Hammond
was “insane”—in the common use of
the term— is tantamount to placing him
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within one of these three groups of func-
tional psychosis.

“Now let us review Hammond’s his-
tory. | first saw him after he had been
in prison for some time. | examined
him several times. Once he was subject
to temporary tics. Another time he ap-
peared to be paralyzed in both arms. A
third time his eyeball muscles had con-
tracted to give him the syndrome of
nearsightedness. When he was in the
hospital for observation, records were
kept, and | managed to be permitted
to study them. There were recorded in-
stances of convulsive attacks resem-
bling those of an epileptic, except that
instead of random movements of arms
and legs, Hammond’s movements were
as if he was warding off someone or
something. All of these things were
typical of hysteria.

“What is hysteria? It is not very
common, especially among men. Itisa
defense against a violent emotional
shock— shock of some kind is present
in all hysterical cases. The symptoms
are numerous. In addition to those I
have mentioned we find: amnesia;
fugue, or amnesia for certain events;
somnambulism, where the sleepwalker
seems to act out his dream; multiple
personalities, sometimes with amnesia
for the other personalities; narcolepsy,
or sudden sleep; mutism; anasthesia,
or loss of sensitivity, and many others.
All of these are the mechanisms of re-
treat and defense. There is nothing or-
ganically or structurally wrong— the
individual has been shocked into this
defensive, abnormal behavior.

“What | could learn of Hammond’s
background just before the murders
also fitted in with the diagnosis of
hysteria. The exception was that the
shocking factor seemed to have been
of his own creation. | felt he had been
under great mental and emotional strain
for weeks. Finally he broke under the
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strain. Instead of retreating at once to
hysteria, he undertook a series of
actions which, to his already abnormal
mind, seemed to offer a promise of re-
lief. Some mental disorder of which I
knew nothing, had caused these actions.
But after he acted he gained enough
insight, momentarily, to be shocked
into hysteria.

“In other words, the hysteria not
only defended him against knowledge
of his own actions, but also hid from
us the predisposing mental condition
that had driven him to those actions. |
admit this was an unusual diagnosis,
and that was why the case interested
me. The first disorder, and its cause,
was what | wanted to understand.

“T HAD reason to hope for success. |
did not think him incurable. Had
he been among those we usually call in-
curable, he would not have become
a hysteric. For example, a paranoia
case, suffering from very logically sys-
tematized delusions, may kill— but
after killing he needs no new defense.
His defense is these same delusions,
which are realities to him. He ex-
plains how Mr. X was plotting his
death, or was bought by the devil, and
therefore had to be killed. He has no
need to retreat from the world or him-
self because of his action; if he killed
X who was about to kill him, why
should he be shocked by his deed?
“Do you see what | mean? Hysteria
is pure passive defense— the hysteric
does not Kill, he defends himself by
hysteria. If Hammond killed, he could
not have been a hysteric when'he did it.
That meant that the act of killing, and
his realization of it, had changed him.
And since the incurable psychoses that
result, sometimes, in murder do not
change after the murder, it meant al-
most certainly that he had not been suf-
fering from one of those psychoses.
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That gave me great hope.

“You may ask: could he not have
been quite normal when he committed
the murders, and then, realizing what
he had done, he was shocked into
hysteria? This question | answered at
the trial. A man who becomes shocked
into hysteria by the realization of what
he has done is a man who did not under-
stand what he was doing. A man who
does not understand what he is doing
is not normal.

“You may ask: could he not have
been shocked by some unexpected re-
sult of a murder he planned while still
quite normal? Yes, that is possible.
But where are we to seek this unex-
pected result? What happened to him
after the murders that was unexpected?
He had already killed his wife and
Miss Gray. Now he killed two more
people. What could have happened
after that to shock him? We knew of
nothing, and it would be unprofitable
to pursue those lines along which we
were most ignorant. There was evi-
dence that he was already abnormal
when he committed the murders, and
these were the lines along which I
worked.

“There was the question of faking,
of course. Certain kinds of fakes may
be attempted with some success.
Fakes call for detailed knowledge,
great presence of mind, and almost su-
perhuman discipline. We observe sus-
pected fakers from hidden places. The
true psychotic acts more fantastically
when he is alone; the simulated one
soon finds it intolerable to maintain his
act constantly. Hammond was watched
24 hours a day. In addition, he had
symptoms which cannot be faked; con-
tracture, for instance. In every way
he conformed to a diagnosis of hysteria.
The District Attorney chose to ignore
much of the medical evidence and de-
cided to claim a fake. Of course, he
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is subject to elections and the case had
the public white hot. Also, it is not
difficult to find doctors to support any
thesis. The Hindu fakir suspends
breathing, heart action, even bleeding—
so doctors can be found who will ignore
hysterical paralysis of six eyeball
muscles. For myself, 1 knew Ham-
mond was no fake, but the case was
nevertheless paradoxical.

“l wish to point this out most care-
fully, since it shows how unusual the
case was from the start. | state it
again, briefly: Hysteria is a form of
subconscious passive defense against a
violent emotional shock. A psychotic
does not become a hysteric if he mur-
ders, because he already has his own
systematized defense. A normal man
who murders and understands what he
is doing, anticipates the result— there-
fore it should not be a shock and he
should have no need for hysteria as a
defense. Hammond, however, appeared
to be a hysteric. That should mean
that he was shocked by the murders,
which in turn should mean that he did
not understand what he was doing. Yet
the only cases which may commit mur-
der, without understanding what they
are doing, are psychotics.

“You see the paradox? Of course,
| speak in statistical terms, and the sta-
tistics also include great exceptions.
That Hammond was such an exception
was one possibility, |1 realized. The
other possibility was that he had com-
mitted the murders as ,a normal man,
and some unexpected result of his ac-
tions had shocked him into hysteria. Be-
cause there was no evidence to support
this at all, | practically ruled out this
second possibility. However, | felt that
if 1 had any success with Hammond,
I would know the answer one day.

“TX/'HEN Hammond first came to
my sanitarium the worse phases

MAMMOTH DETECTIVE

of shock had subsided. You remember
I made extensive inquiries and tried to
learn as much as | could about my pa-
tient’'s background and personality.
Psychotherapy is a long process. It is
based on talks with the patient, and we
hope that these talks will bring to the
surface those conflicts which brought
on hysteria as a way out. We must
then devise ways and means of chang-
ing the patient’s habits and motivations
— sometimes we change the total per-
sonality. At the beginning, naturally,
it was almost impossible to talk with
Hammond.

“He was an occasional somnambulist.
| watched him a few times. He would
walk very slowly, then stop as if he
was listening and gradually he would
recoil, as if he heard something that
slowly frightened him. Later | found
out that he had no recollection of these
occasions. He was also subject to cofa-
vulsive attacks. | attempted to cata-
logue the instances, to see if the causes
were constant or related. It was almost
hopeless at first. The pattern seemed
too generalized, as if his subconscious
could take any event and find an excit-
ing cause in it. Then | had some suc-
cess.

“Twice he had attacks on occasions
when he was taken for a walk along the
river bank. The convulsions came
when his shoes touched mud. But this
was not all. We have an electric organ
in the study of the sanitarium, and con-
certs are given regularly. Once the
organ needed repairs, and while the re-
pairs were being made, Hammond had
an attack. After that he had an attack
when he heard a train whistle late at
night. 1 related these instances and
tried an experiment. | played a deep,
low chord that might be called mourn-
ful, and he had convulsions again. The
repairman, you see, and the train
whistle had both hit the same chord.
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“Then he seemed to get worse. The
original stimulii brought new associa-
tions. The sight of mud was enough to
set him off, or the sound of the organ,
no matter what sound. Then water and
other liquids, and even humming and
whistling began to affect him. So for
two weeks | isolated him in the hill
cottage and spent hours with him every
day, and little by little he began to talk
to me. From that day on, from the first
time he answered a question that ne-
cessitated reflection, he began to make
progress.

“Then, a week later a surprising thing
happened. In all our talks we were
never personal, and he had always been
reserved* with me. Sometimes | felt his
attitude toward me was that of a man
forced into distasteful intimacy with a
fellow passenger on a train— from
which the only retreat was a boorish
silence, and this he had obviously de-
cided against. That in itself was un-
usual because hysterics generally show
a desire for sympathy and attention.
Furthermore, if you ask them to talk,
they love to, because they are highly
suggestible. But on this day when he
seemed quite frank and | thought his
behavior more typical, he asked if I
would mind his asking some questions
which might appear odd to me. Of
course | encouraged him, and he asked
me, one after another: ‘Where am 1?
Is this a hospital of some sort? Are you
a doctor? Why am | here?’

“l don’t know if you understand why
this was so surprising. Hysteria is not
a disorder, usually, which affects the pa-
tient’s insight, or his knowledge of his
surroundings. Hysterics almost always
know where they are and why. Even
manic-depressives, except while suffer-
ing an attack, know. Schizophrenics
are apathetic, paranoia cases may de-
mand to be released, but these are psy-
chotics. You see? | could understand
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such questions from a depressive dur-
ing a lucid interval after a long attack,
or from a rare schizophrenic, but not
from him.

“r-pHAT day marked the beginning

A of our personal talks. | told him
where he was, that | was his doctor, but
not too much of why he was there. |
simply said he was under my care be-
cause he had been mentally ill and was
now recovering. Then, gradually, | be-
gan to uncover his past life. We talked
of his childhood, his adolescence, ma-
turity his work, his friends. And al-
ways, whenever there was a reference
to anyone who had been involved in any
way with the tragedy, or to any time
after he met Shilling again— there was
a complete blank.

“It was a remarkable fugue— a fugue
is an amnesia for certain events, or for
certain people. If I mentioned you, or
anyone who had known Shilling or had
been in the houseboat, he remembered
nothing. He did not remember his
wife, her sister, Jean Lowell, or even
getting married. If I mentioned any-
thing at all that happened after the
first week of July 1941, he did not re-
member. He did not remember the
yards. Thus it was a fugue for a cer-
tain period, and also for every person
he met or saw during that period.
And he remembered nothing of what
had happened to him later, not the mur-
ders, the trial, the State hospital, noth-
ing.

“Of course | did not tell him of the
murders or the trial or that he had been
committed to an asylum. | discovered
these blanks by talking all around them.
You see, when a patient has found it
necessary to defend himself by so dras-
tic a surgery— a complete cutting out of
a section of his past— it is dangerous to
try telling him of these things. If you
revive the memories, you revive the



122 MAMMOTH
stimulus that brought on the hysteria.
You must proceed cautiously, one thing
at a time, one re-conditioning at a time.

“1 knew the danger so | was cautious.
I told him that | knew some of the
things he had forgotten, and that |
would tell him of the things when I
thought it wise, because they were go-
ing to be hard to hear. He seemed
puzzled and disturbed, and why not?
His first recent memory was of his third
day in the cottage. It was as if he had
gone to sleep on a day in July, 1941
and awakened fifteen months later in
the cottage. And this too, was unusual,
because he had no recollection of his
attacks at the sanitarium. But even the
little 1 had told him seemed to be too
much. He had periods of moodiness,
and when | questioned him, he told me
he was trying to remember. Again
unusual— most hysterics find relative
happiness in the status quo and do not
seek their past. He read magazines
and newspapers and found out we were
at war, which brought more questions.
But when | spoke of preceding events
like the German summer campaign of
1941, or the attack on Pearl Harbor,
he remembered nothing, and this too
affected him adversely.

“In fact, by this time he hardly ap-
peared to be a hysteric at all. The
somnambulism was gone. The convul-
sions, from any cause, had stopped. His
recovery had been quick, but more
amazing, it had come with almost no
help from me and without telling me
anything. | had not had to get at his
roots, so to speak, to discover his con-
flicts, and then painfully re-condition
him. The re-conditioning processes
seemed to have occurred almost spon-
taneously, and | still knew nothing of
his conflicts. Except for the fugue and
his case history, he seemed quite nor-
mal.

“You saw him during that period, but
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I did not allow you to talk to him. |
wasn’t sure whether the fugue was so
complete that he wouldn’'t know who
you were if he saw you, and | didn’t
want to risk any sudden shocks. Dur-
ing that time he was more or less emo-
tionally stable, except for short periods
of moroseness. | let matters alone, how-
ever, at least partly because | wasn’t
sure how to proceed, but | realized soon
after that something had to be done,
because he grew increasingly moody. I
had a long talk with him one day, and
he told me he had reason to think his
life was in danger. He didn’t know how
he knew it, but he seemed to remember
that he had once thought he had very
little time to live.

“That was bad, of course, but it grew
worse. He began to build around this
idea. He told me that someone— some
being was the word he used— had pass-
ed a death sentence on him. It oc-
curred to me that he was beginning to
remember his trial, and I began to work
around to the idea. | was completely
astonished when he told me, in so many
words, that he remembered having
been at a trial, but that he was not
talking of that. | asked him why he
hadn’t told me what he remembered.
He refused to answer this question that
time and many times thereafter. In-
stead, when he felt like it, he told me
of this death sentence. Some strange
being, he said, had sentenced him to
death because he had found out about
its existence. What he did not remem-
ber was how this death sentence was
to be executed.

“JT WAS shortly after that time that

A | asked you to visit him. | wanted
to see if he would know you— if there
were other things he was recalling and
hadn't told me. You remember |
warned you he might not know you, and
that he recognized you immediately.



THE METAL MONSTER MURDERS

He seemed to be all right with you, and
he was fine most of the time after that,
but he did not give up this story of the
being. Of course, | realized that what
he was saying paralleled your testi-
mony at the trial, and one day, after |
had familiarized myself with the details
once more, | asked him if it was the
Thing he feared. He admitted it imme-
diately, and thus began a new phase in
his recovery. | wasn’t sure what it was.
“During this period he told me many
of the things he later wrote in his diary.
He told them to me without connecting
them, and | was never quite able to
piece them together, nor could | per-
suade him to do so. He was willing to
talk, but he was hot at all suggestible.
Moreover, he insisted there were defi-
nite relationships among all the things
he told me, that if 1 understood the
basis, 1 would understand how logical
the whole thing was. In all these
things, you must realize, he was behav-
ing like a typical case of paranoia.
“He had singled himself out as the
one person alive who knew about the
Thing, a form of the delusion of gran-
deur. The corollary was there too; the
Thing was persecuting him, by reason
of its unfulfilled death sentence. He
no longer had to tell me everything he
remembered for me to know that his
memory was slowly coming back— I
could tell from the way his delusions
grew more and more systematized. He
told me what he wanted to, and re-
mained silent and hostile at other times.
“l was at a loss. Paranoia develops
slowly, and it was always possible that
that was what was happening to him.
Then, late one night, he woke me with
his screaming. He had had auditory
hallucinations — he thought he had
heard this Thing talking to him, but
he knew it was an hallucination, and
that was why he screamed! He told
me he was afraid he was losing his
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sanity! Do you see how involved all
this was? Hallucinations are sympto-
matic of schizophrenics or manic-de-
pressives. Here was a paranoia with
auditory hallucinations— and complete
insight!

“1 am putting labels on these things,
but labels are nonsense if one allows
them to interfere with one’s thinking.
He did not confuse me because he
didn't conform to labels, but be-
cause he didn’t conform to anything in
my experience. These labels and
symptoms are like individual notes: the
inexperienced listener hears notes; the
musician gathers the melody. | was
not confused by an occasional discord
which might well harmonize with the
whole— | was bewildered by an intri-
cate cacaphony that offered no mean-
ing whatever.

“This was Elliot Hammond’s condi-
tion for many months. The final
change came within the last two months
or so. One day he asked me to tell him
the things | had promised to tell one
day, when he would have the moral
strength to face them. What were
these things? They were the story of
his crimes, the fact that he had mur-
dered his wife, his best friend, a girl he
had loved, a girl he hardly knew. I
postponed telling him. 1 was almost
certain he knew everything | could tell
him, but as long as he wasn't sure, |
thought | had some bargaining power
with him. | made a bargain with him.
If he would tell me everything he re-
membered, | would fill in the rest for
him.

“He refused at first. Then, little by
little, he came to me. He had to tell
me, he had to tell someone, because he
was beginning to forget all the things
that had come back to him, and he felt
it was terribly important that these
things be known. What a strange af-
fair! He was worried because he was
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forgetting the details of his delusions!
That was the chance | needed. | sug-
gested that he write everything down in
a sort of narrative, doing a little each
day. The idea struck him, and for
some time he spoke of the project as his "
diary of the past, but he kept putting
it off. You saw him for the last time
during that period, when he told you he
intended to write this diary.

«¢.5-n e n, QnOctober 30th— the day |

wrote you— he started his diary.
He came to me and told he he had be-
gun, and made his request for the box
he had left at Tarpon Road, and he told
me enough of the story to make it im-
perative to try to get that box, if there
was such a thing. That was when |
wrote you.

“This box, you see, was the corner-
stone of his delusions. It explained
everything to him. The details sur-
rounding the story of this box were so
plain and unprepossessing— that is, the
story of how he had left it in that curio
shop— that | felt there was a good
chance it existed. | felt that once I had
this box I could attack and disprove the
basis of his delusions. This was in it-
self an optimistic hope, because in true
paranoia there is no chance of in-
fluencing the patient— so you see | did
not let labels get in my way. As it be-
gan to turn out, my hopes were not un-
justified. | was making progress until
the very end.

“You had difficulty getting this box,
but I did not wait for it. As | read
the diary, |1 felt the urgency of which
Hammond wrote. He had told me
enough even before he began the diary
for me to understand some of his sym-
bols—even to suspect the ultimate
meaning of the box. | attacked his de-
lusions from that basis, as if | hadn’t
been reading the diary, later without
such pretense but without admitting
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anything, to see how it affected him.
He hinted at it and sometimes men-
tioned it in the diary. He knew and re-
sented it a little, but it didn’t really
matter to him until he was close to the
end. There he reached an impasse, be-
yond which he had decided | would
not read until he had satisfied himself
whether or not his story was true or a
delusion. There was a terrible secret
behind it, you see, and | did not under-
stand it until | finally read those sec-
tions of the diary he had kept from me
the last two days when he was closeted
in his room.

“The box, you see, was the corner-
stone. He began to fear it from the
day | told him you were bringing it.
Until then, apparently, he himself was
not sure it existed, because he had be-
come unsure of his whole story. This
was due partly to our talks, but only
partly. The rest was due to a large
residuum of doubt which he never
really dissolved. But let me explain
this, as | finally understood it, from
what he wrote. It is not readily ap-
parent in the diary— it is barely men-
tioned, and I might have missed it had
I not known something of it before-
hand.

“Maria, he wrote, died after she
opened the box. He does not tell us
why he took the box with him when he
went to the yards that last night. But
after he set off the dynamite, something
happened. He wrote: ‘I do not know if
the Thing was destroyed. You have
undermined my memory. | cannot un-
ravel the tangled skeins of half-dreams;
I cannot reconcile your talks about my
imagination and its disorders with the
dim recollection oj a sentence that was
passed on me, as it was passed on
Maria.” It would appear, therefore,
that he seemed to remember that the
Thing was not destroyed, and that the
Thing passed the same sentence on
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him. And that meant that the box
was again to be the instrument of final
deathl

“r p\O YOU understand his fears now?
On the one hand, he felt that
everything he thought he remembered
was a delusion, as | said it was, and as
it appeared to him even while he was
reading what he wrote. He was strug-
gling to overthrow these delusions. But
on the other hand, they were so strong,
they seemed so true, that he just
couldn’t discount them without one last
proof. He had that proof in mind be-
fore he began to write— it was the
memory, or the delusion of that box.
“He distrusted the bgx itself be-
cause he could not remember what was
in it. He was ready to give up at the
very end. He wrote: ‘You have won
your battle. | read and read again
these words and am confounded by
their reality. You have found the box,
but it will win your battle and you
know it. The wonder of it is that there
ever was a box. And if there was not,
you would have managed to provide

one. We understand each other,
Schumer. You have a box and you
wait for my surrender.”” In other

words, he wasn’t even sure that the box
I was going to show him was the one
he thought he remembered! He had
no way to check on anything any more.

Only the final test remained, and he
was sure he would lose. He wrote: ‘All
these things are not true and never
were . . . Diary of a delusion ... If |
believed the things in it, I could not

write them. | would dread Reed’s com-
ing tonight. Isn’'t he bringing me the
final test? And if Schumer suspected

that was what | considered it, | doubt
if he would share my eagerness.’
“The final test, then, was for him to
look into the box and live. He had put
it thus: ‘I have said | could not con-
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tinue to believe what | did and live.’
And if he did live, his surrender was
to be complete. He already antici-
pated it when he wrote: ‘. . . To what
world do you lead me? You take me
from this one of nightmare, the prison
of my own mind, and free me. And now
I will be free to wander in search of
answers that only my world supplied
so long? . . . What will you tell me
of Maria? ... What have you to tell
me that needs my strength? ...’

“You see, | had never tuld him the
story the world believed— that he had
killed his wife and the others, but he
knew he was going to hear things that
would necessitate a complete reorien-
tation. His final shot was a last try
to hold on to his delusions. He wrote
what had happened to Katherine Gray,
believing she had been destroyed. If
this proved to be true— that is, to coin-
cide with the facts we believed— he felt
it offered at least one proof of the
truth of his story. Of course, even if
the body had been destroyed, this reve-
lation would have told us nothing ex-
cept that she had been blown to bits,
either dead or alive. It could not prove
his story. Nothing could prove his
story.

“Yes, nothing could prove it. Ham-
mond looked into the box and died, but
that doesn’t prove his story. | have
other ideas. 1’'m not sure what | think
and | intend to keep thinking. But if
I were asked today if | felt certain of
any of my diagnoses of Elliot Ham-
mond, | would have to say no. | am
no longer sure that he was a hysteric.
Hysterics do not cure themselves.
Paranoias are not killed by their delu-
sions. A great, almost unbelievable co-
incidence? Perhaps. And perhaps
there is another answer— perhaps he
was never really abnormal, the way I
mean it— perhaps he was never really
insane, the way you mean it. . . .”



126 MAMMOTH

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

W E ARE not quite done with Mr.Schu-

mer, but let us see where we are now.
Let us review the whole structure of this
collected manuscript, briefly, to see where
we stand and how we got here. For | have
brought you to this point very carefully,
duplicating the processes | went through to
get there. It’s a little mad, perhaps, but
there’s a method in it.

This entire manuscript can be divided
into two parts. The first half is a presenta-
tion of the story itself. The second half is
an examination of the story; an inquiry
and three hypotheses. The first half is made
up of Hammoqd’s diary, cut apart to allow
inserts relevant to the story of the diary.
These inserts are letters, notes by me, news
clippings, trial excerpts. | admit arranging
them so as to provide a little suspense, be-
cause after all, you are a reader and | am a
writer, and | have certain responsibilities
toward you, and one of them is to entertain
you.

When the diary ends, | include news clip-
pings that continue the story of Elliot Ham-
mond after he was found guilty. 1 have in-
cluded most of the District Attorney’s sum-
mation of the case to the jury, to show you
how Hammond's facts were interpreted by
others. This section is a sort of interlude
between the first and second halves. It aids
when | tell you when and how Hammond
died, and it tells you that these circum-
stances were such that | could not stop
thinking about them.

Then the second half begins. It is a sort
of odyssey of my own mental peregrinations,
which led to three possible theories. The
first hypothesis is the State’s case. It has
been presented in the District Attorney’s
summation. Now | examine it and find
much fault with it; it does not convince me,
it does not answer many questions | con-
sider important.

I go on to the second hypothesis: that
Hammond's story is true. First | recon-
struct his story, which is not easy to under-
stand without study. 1 show how it an-
swers practically every question | asked of
the first hypothesis. Astonishing as this is,
I admit it is beyond belief, which is another
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way of saying it is untrue.

This brings me to examine, in its turn,
the second hypothesis. | say we must de-
cide, from what evidence we have, whether
it is untrue by design or accident—a fake
or a mistake. | take the premise that it is
a fake and list four conditions that must
obtain if this is so. The four are: Ham-
mond’s motive for a fake; his familiarity
with details; the time to work out the story;
necessary doubt of Hammond’s insanity.

| present the best possible interpretations,
and find that the first three conditions ap-
pear to be present. The fourth one is quite
long. It isalmost a clinical history of Ham-
mond, and it shows that Dr. Schumer had
great doubts about Hammond's “insanity”
—which supplies the fourth condition.

That brings us up to date. At this point
we seem to have a case that supports a
denial of the second hypothesis— that the
diary is true— and offers instead to back up
the assumption of a deliberate fake. If this
were so, the deliberate fake would be my
Third Hypothesis, which it is not.

' | '"HE Third Hypothesis is that the diary’s
A story is a mistake. That means | must
now disprove the assumption of fake
(which, if you are still with me, is a dis-
proof of a disproof, and sounds more com-
plicated than it really is). | intend to do
this quickly, by examining two of the four
conditions which support the assumption of
fake. The two are: Hammond’s motive and
doubt of his insanity.

After some questions and re-arranging of
facts, we finally succeeded in giving Ham-
mond a motive for writing a deliberate fake.
| stated it; “His motive is to concoct a story
that dovetails with the one he originally
planted with me, as continued evidence that
he was legally insane.” In other words, it is
an elaborate continuation of his act. That
sounds all right until we ask ourselves why
the devil he had to continue his act along
such lines?

The truth is that he really had no need to
write his diary. What did it do for him?
It continued his act? He could have done
that without going to the extreme and un-
necessary lengths of writing a story that had
an answer to every question in the State’s
case. If he pretended amnesia for some
things, why not for others which would
make it unnecessary for him to bother with
minute details? He could have had very
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convenient lapses in the writing, even after
he undertook it, couldn’'t he? He could just
as easily have written a wild story that did
not coincide with a few of the facts. If he
was insane, why should he need any kind
of logic that would appeal to us? Pretend-
ing insanity, he could stand by his own
logic. If the only purpose this diary was
to serve was proof of continued insanity,
that could have been done without such
labor. Nor was it necessary, to begin with.

As for the doubts about his insanity— do
we still assume he was faking everything?
You'll get no support for that idea from Dr.
Schumer. The Doctor may be uncertain of
the meaning of some of the symptoms he
saw, but some of these symptoms are them-
selves almost indisputable evidence against
the theory of fake. Would-be fakers seldom
undertake to play a hysteric, but no matter
what they’re playing, it's pretty difficult to
fake such things as the contraction of in-
voluntary eyeball muscles, or violent con-
vulsions, or a dramatic somnambulism that
has to stand up under clever, tricky tests.
It may not have been hysteria—or it may
have been that, and there were other com-
plicating factors. As a matter of fact, that's
what Dr. Schumer thinks today. The one
thing the Doctor does not think is that
Hammond faked anything.

Of course, last of all, if you still think
Hammond and his story a fake, how will
you explain his death? | don’t think there
is any really satisfactory explanation, in-
cluding the one toward which | incline, but
can you maintain that he killed himself with
his own fake? | haven't played too heavily
on that fact so far because I have my own
theories, but what about it? Knowing what
you know now, what do you make of the
way Hammond died?

| don't think you can believe the fake,
unless you also believe that Hammond'’s
sudden death was a coincidence that bol-
stered an otherwise hopeless case. Such a
coincidence—a man dying exactly as he
feared and predicted he might— especially
under the fantastically strange conditions
surrounding the coincidence, would certainly
rank impossibly high in anybody’s book. In
my opinion, it would leave you with the
poorest of these many possible explanations.

Any one of the explanations is possible,
| repeat, but what | have been looking for
is the possibility with the highest index of
probability. So where are we? If, as |
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think, we've ruled out the assumption of a
fake, we are left with the last,

THE THIRD HYPOTHESIS

A CCORDING to this hypothesis, Ham-

mond'’s story is untrue by accident. It
is not deliberately jalse. Circumstances may
have combined in such a way as to make
Hammond himself believe a story which is
untrue. He may be telling us the absolute
truth, as he knows it, and everything he
tells us may be untrue.

In our discussions, Dr. Schumer and |
(and John Broome, | might add) reached
this point. We set out to test it, as we had
the others. How did it add up?

In the first place, as soon as we made
this assumption, we saw that we had a new
possible interpretation of some of the things
in the diary. For example, might not Ham-
mond’s repeated statements that he could
hardly believe what he was writing— might
these not have been due to some dim inkling
of Hammond'’s that something else except
memory had tricked him? Is there anything
in the diary that points to such an inkling?

Let me put it this way: Hammond had
built a story of solid, logical construction.
Dr. Schumer’s talks made him doubt his
story sometimes, but he kept writing it un-
til it was finished. He admitted the possi-
bility of delusions, but these admissions were
themselves very strange. A man with a log-
ical story based on delusion can practically
never be talked out of his delusions. So
what made Hammond so accessible to sug-
gestion? Did he have any other reasons for
doubting his own story, except the Doctor’s
insistence that it was based on delusion?

Thus approached, the diary bears new
fruit. The comment to page 72 has already
advanced the theory of hypnosis, and | have
mentioned it in other places. Let me quote
some of the evidence.

Over and over, Hammond writes of the
grey iris of an eye. He mentions it at the
very start of -his diary, one of four images.
He writes of: “. . . a sound more clear
than sound . . . the iris of a grey eye con-
tracting ... a sun-drenched bubble of mud
exploding ... the cold gleam of imagined
moonlight on rusting metal . . .” Three of
these images are quickly understood—in a
sense they represent the very heart of Ham-
mond’s story. They are symbols of the
whole: the sound is the Thing; the mud is
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the hot creator of life; the metal was life
itself, as well as the scene for most of the
story. Why did Hammond include the grey
iris of an eye among these most important
symbols? What meaning did it have for
him?

This emphasis on eyes appears only in
connection with Shilling. The only other
reference to eyes belongs to Maria, who,
when she was near death, had “. . . fire
dying in sightless eyes . . .” and who was
described in another place as having eyes
“dark as jewels.” So the eyes are always

Shilling’s. “I couldn’t look into his eyes,”
Hammond wrote. “They seemed to pierce
my brain.”

Going further, in what particular part of
the story does Hammond keep talking about
Shilling’s eyes? Almost entirely in one sec-
tion—the recounting of the visit Shilling
made to Hammond'’s bed, the day he lay
ill and feverish. And in that same section
we find Hammond writing of their conver-
sation in a vein found nowhere else. The
footnote says: “Now a new note is evident.
Hammond is reviewing the conversation,
and though he mentions the unreality of
what they discussed, he now seems to think
of it as something unreal even at that time.”
In other words, he seems to imply that his
delusions are not a later occurrence, but
were already founded in what happened
then. To continue: “Now he writes with
ironic wonder that he believed in such ‘va-
garies’ and ‘fantasies’ . . . and the cycle
comes in for special contempt . . .” He
asks: “What magic power lay in the projec-
tion, to make me believe such fanstasies?”
The answer has already been given: “I be-'
lieved because | had to, but I knew | was
lost. | saw it in that eye.”

T WAS quoting Dr. Schumer when |
A wrote, in that comment: “When we re-
member that Hammond was writing under
a great emotional strain, and that much
of what he wrote was in literal sense a
sub-conscious outpouring—a sub-conscious
suspicion becomes a more likely theory.”
Of what was Hammond suspicious, then?
The apparent answer is that he was sus-
picious of everything Shilling told him:
“Of this, the cycle. Most, muchly, much-
mosted, mostmuchly and in the main, of the
cycle, friend of the poor, comforter of the
blind and timid, resource of the infirm. All
this the cycle. A barren tale now, it ap-
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pears, banal and diluted nonsense.. .. And
yet,” he asks, “at the time, what a formid-
able adversary among the enemy hosts at
the disposal of the murderer, though why?”
Though why, Hammond asks, wondering
what made a tale of nonsense so formid-
able, among the many means at the mur-
derer’s disposal.

Who is he calling the murderer? Obvi-
ously he means Shilling. When Shilling
comes to beg for help, Hammond writes
of Shilling’s eyes, of “. . . their pale depths
brimming with invisible calculation, the
murderous intent sunken from sight . . .”
Again, he says that Shilling was “. . . help-
less, I thought, while his hands were poised
for the plunge . . .” And if we go further
with these assumptions, we find new mean-
ing in Hammond’s strangely symbolic story
of the murderer and the sleeper. If the
murderer is Shilling, clearly then, the sleeper
must be Hammond.

Notice how well the idea of a “sleeper”
fits the condition of someone under hyp-
nosis! But it only begins there. Subsequent
development of this idea, somewhat along
the lines of dream-analysis, ends with star-
tling results. “Viewed as a subconscious out-
pouring,” says Dr. Schumer, “we proceed
step by step to construct an amazing indict-
ment of Shilling.

“The sleeper,” says the Doctor, “is cer-
tainly Hammond. He lies ‘in a dreamless
haunted slumber ... in a room with no
windows, behind an iron door'— the condi-
tion of a man under deep hypnosis, who is
not free to exercise perception or movement.
But his portrait hangs overhead on a wall.
It ‘breathes in unison with his broken
rhythms’ and is ‘alarmed and wakeful.” May
we not assume this portrait is the symbol
for the subconscious of the sleeper? The
subconscious lives with us, never sleeping,
possessor of our deepest fears. Then the
murderer enters and tears out the sleeper’s
heart. What is the meaning of this act? It
is an act which is not in itself fatal, for the
sleeper does not die as a result of the act
alone; even when the parable ends, the
sleeper is not dead. But it is something
that leaves the sleeper in a state more help-
less than he was even asleep. Now he can
do nothing. He cannot even understand
what has happened to himl

“This terrible crime has rendered the
sleeper harmless, but the subconscious is still
highly dangerous. Hammond wrote: ‘The
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portrait witnessed everything, screaming
inaudibly.” Just so does the subconscious
witness everything, though its screams re-
main unheard. Now the murderer must de-
stroy the subconscious. He stuffs the heart
into the portrait's mouth and throws the
whole thing away. Hypnotism alone was in-
sufficient for Shilling— so he tried to destroy
Hammond entirely, but still not by killing
him! The evidence of the crime is lost—a
stray dog eats it just when people begin to
look for it. In other words, some sort of
accident prevents the truth from being
found out. Finally ‘the murderer comes in
to see him, wringing his hands, weeping as
he vows to save him'— precisely as Shilling
came to see Hammond! It remains for us
to find the meaning of the heart itself, to
understand fully the implications of this
story, but surely there is enough here al-
ready. . . .”

To my mind, such analyses, for all their
scientific bases, seem to have a greater lit-
erary than practical value, and | was un-
convinced. But Dr. Schumer then went on
to an examination of Hammond’s facts, as
I now do, with practical and confirming re-
sults.

TX/'HAT was Shilling’s plan, as told to us
* » by Hammond? The Thing was sup-
posedly at the nadir of its influence, a mat-
ter of a “cycle”, and this had enabled Shill-
ing to plan the Thing’s destruction. Shilling
was to get dynamite, and to plant it in the
vicinity of the Thing, apparently very close
to the houseboat. More dynamite was to be
planted under the corpse of Kathy Gray,
and both places were connected by a single,
joint wire to the mechanism which would
set it off. Hammond was to get to the yards
late, after the others had gone, and to give
Shilling a pre-arranged signal at a pre-ar-
ranged time. This would enable Shilling to
get out of the dangerous area before the
dynamite went off. 1t was expected that the
blast would bring the police, and a story
had been prepared; the blast would be
blamed on some of the guests who were to
be at the party that day, supposedly a
frightful practical joke by people too drunk
to know what they were doing. But since
the explosion would have hurt no one, and
the culprits would be impossible to estab-
lish, any resulting investigation could do
little harm.
The reader may recall 1 examined this
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plan before. Because | did so for a different
purpose, | forebore pointing out the mani-
fest absurdities of the plan, saving that task
for inclusion here.

First, what help did Shilling need in such
a plan? All Hammond had to do was de-
press a lever. Are we to believe Shilling
came to beg and plead Hammond'’s help—
help that amounted to depressing a lever?
Second, the explosion was not to occur un-
til after the party guests had left—yet the
near-disaster was to be blamed on them!
Third, guests or no, could they possibly ex-
pect the police to believe such a story?
Wouldn't the guests unanimously, consis-
tently, deny it? Could all have been ex-
pected to get so drunk that no one could
establish the whereabouts of others?
Wouldn't drunks leave all sorts of traces,
including fingerprints? How would the ab-
sence of such marks be explained? Fourth,
how would Hammond explain his late ar-
rival at the yards, for he made no attempt
to hide it.

No— from start to finish the plan-was
nonsense. It would be a miserable failure
for a faker; it is so bad we are inclined to
believe he is telling the truth. You may ask
whether a clever faker couldn’t anticipate
just this reaction from us. The answer, of
course, must be yes, but we have already
see how the theory of fake falls apart. Now,
what about the theory of hypnosis? Why
should a story, a plan, be necessary for a
man under hypnosis?

More important, what was really behind
tlie plan? For, if Hammond's suspicions
were correct, the plan must have had an ob-
ject not told Hammond but which he never-
theless suspected. To see what Shilling's
motive might really have been, let us as-
sume the plan—as he designed it—had ac-
tually gone through, and see what the re-
sults could have been.

We know that Shilling was expecting
Hammond, but that he allowed Jean Lowell
to remain. We can assume that he kept
her there, when she might quite naturally
have left earlier with friends, because he
wanted her to stay. Later Hammond would

-arrive, and be seen arriving. He would go
to his appointed place, wait for the ap-
pointed time, give the warning signal to
Shilling, then set off the explosion. Shilling
would have taken Jean to a place of safety
and the explosion would have harmed nei-
ther. The police would come—and find
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what? They would find Hammond, or evi-
dence that Hammond had been there. They
would find he had made an attempt to mur-
der Shilling and Jean Lowell. They would
find dynamite that had not gone off under
the body of Kathy Gray. In Hammond’s
home, they would find Maria dead, with
signs of strangulation, the same as Kathy.

And Shilling would be completely free—
for he could then utilize his alibi, already
planted with Mulvaney, that Kathy had left
with Hammond the night she was mur-
dered. Shilling would not need to fear the
possibility of Stapley testifying that he had
seen Kathy Gray alive after Hammond left.
For once Hammond was connected to the
murder of Maria and the attempt to mur-
der Shilling and Jean, nothing Stapley could
say would save Hammond. In other words,
the successful execution of the plan would
result in Hammond being held for two mur-
ders, and for attempted murder of two more
people.

It will be seen, | trust, that this supposed
result is based on the supposition of Maria’s
death other than by Hammond, and that the
same holds for Kathy. But if we could not
believe Hammond’s story of how these two
women were killed, what alternative does
the theory of hypnotism give us?

f

1 ~XTHEN Dr. Schumer and I reached this

'’ point in our theorizing, we realized we
could find an explanation for anything, in
terms of theory. We had a theory— hypno-
tism— but it was like a paper bag; we could
fill it with concrete or air. We didn't think,
anymore, that we were going to get much
concrete, but we wanted more than air.
What we needed was some tangible evi-
dence, however small, that we had more
than just a theory.

So here we gave up for awhile. It both-
ered the Doctor and it bothered me. I'd
catch myself thinking about it while I was
working. Sometimes it would be my last
thought before | fell asleep. A few weeks
later | talked it over with John Broome.
John’s wife, Peggy, had once worked as a
librarian for the Continental Detective
Agency, and she had told John stories of
their work and efficiency. When | returned
to the city, | had decided to have a try at
tracing the missing years in Jim Shilling’s
life.

| got together everything anyone knew
about Shilling. | collected cards and letters,
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or copies, from people he'd written in the
three years he had been wandering. 1 took
all this and four sheets of notes to the New
York office of Continental and asked them
to fill in the blanks. It was a despairing
gesture, but | had to'do it.

That was in the first week of January of
this year, 1944. In less than a month |
began to keep my fingers crossed. Things
were turning up that had me dizzy, things
that were hardly credible. | sat tight, wait-
ing.

They discovered that Shilling had left the
country in 1938, shipping as assistant stew-
ard aboard the President Buchanan, a
coastal liner that went from New York to
Cuba and South America. The ship sailed
May 8, 1938. On May 23, they hit Rio de
Janeiro and Shilling packed his bags and
vanished. On August 24, the American con-
sul at Porte Alegre, a thousand miles down
the coast of Brazil from Rio, was told of
an American citizen who had been admitted
to the hospital, suffering from amnesia. The
amnesia lifted while he was in the hospital
and he took the police to the place he'd
lived, where he had left his possessions.
Nothing remained to prove his statement
that he was James Shilling. Two days of
quiet activity by the police restored his
passport, some papers, a typewriter, forty-
one dollars, and a hypodermic syringe. The
last named article was confiscated. Shilling
claimed it was not his, but in the police
records it was listed as confiscated.

He crossed the southern border, went to
Montivideo and shipped to Rabat, French
Morocco, as messman on the freighter Mer-
cedes. He jumped ship again, was caught by
the Gendarmerie on October 17, managed to
get a release and was next heard of on Oc-
tober 30, when the Insurgents arrested him
in Cadiz, Spain, on no charges. The Em-
bassy freed him and he was allowed to leave
on a vessel that went to Faro, Portugal. On
January 9,1939, he was arrested in Aalborg,
Denmark, charged with trafficking in mor-
phine. The charge was withdrawn a week
later but he was escorted to a ship leaving
for Norway. During the short voyage he
suffered a nervous breakdown; when the
ship docked at Bergen on January 18, he
was put in a hospital. On May 26 he was
discharged.

npHE case history was now unobtainable
because of the war, and possibly for



THE METAL MONSTER MURDERS

the same reason there was no further record
of Shilling until he appeared at the Amer-
ican consulate in Trinidad on September 9.
The war had started and all aliens had to
register. On September 23, he was sent to
a hospital in Trinidad with malaria. He was
discharged in ten days and immediately got
a visa for Chile. He turned up in Chile in
the port of Antofagasta, where he again
registered. Here the trail ended, this time
for good.

It was as if Jim Shilling had disappeared
from the face of the earth for a period of
fifteen months. He had been in Antofagasta
on October 20th, 1939, and had arrived in
New Orleans on a steamer from Haiti on
January 23rd, 1941. The time between
those two dates was a complete mystery.

Continental’s connections had made the
job of tracing Shilling a fairly easy one,
after the Agency decided what kind of man
they were after. They had gone to contacts
in the State Dept., convinced that Shilling’s
trail would be marked by more or less fre-
guent brushes with foreign police and, con-
sequently, American legations. And they
had been right— they had been able to put
a finger on him six times, at least, within
eighteen months. And then, for an almost
equal period, they found not the slightest
trace of him.

Again and again they went over what
they knew, and at my insistence they sent
one of their South American operatives to
Antofagasta, to try to pick up the trail
again. The effort failed, but the operative
sent up a report that he believed the man
they sought (he had no idea that Shilling
was dead) had been connected with a drug
ring that had been broken up shortly after
Shilling’s arrival in Antofagasta. But, no
sign of the man. Continental went back to
its connections and hammered away, more
sure than ever that Shilling could not have
stayed out of official hands for so long a
time. They dug up more information— indi-
cations of Shilling’s unofficial encounters
with the law, charges of vagrancy, mendi-
cancy, one for assault (fine: 100 pesos), one
for immoral behavior (he had wandered
about naked one night, dead drunk), one
for consorting with swindlers—but all of
these concerned the period of which we al-
ready knew. Of the other, nothing.

Early in April of this year, | decided it
was time to give up. Broome came into the
city to see the Continental people with me
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and then he went to Army headquarters to
exchange his farmer’s deferment for a com-
mission in the M.P.’s. That evening we sat
down and looked over Hammond’s diary,
which Dr. Schumer had sent down with
Broome. It was while we were reading it
that the idea struck us, or, | should say,
struck me.

Right at the beginning of the diary, en-
tered under October 31, 1943, Hammond
mentioned receiving a card from Peru that
Shilling had sent him. The entry for No-
vember 3rd described Shilling reading aloud
the opening chapter of his new book. The
chapter had dealt with a small Peruvian
monastery along the coast. | had been at
the houseboat that day and | remembered
Shilling’s reading, and the strong impression
it had left on me. How stupid | had beenl
Here |1 had had positive indications that
Shilling had been in Peru— I had had them
all along, when nothing in the Continental
reports had ever touched Perul

The next morning John and | went back
to the Agency. A report was radioed to
Panama and an operative left for Lima.
We knew what he was doing. He was
checking the Peruvian monasteries to find
one that fitted Shilling’s description. There
were several. The operative left Lima and
was gone three weeks. On Friday, April
28th, Continental phoned me to read the
radiogram they had received from Lima. It
said: “Full Information Sent Air Mail. Be-
lieve Successful.” Five days later the letter
arrived.

(TEXT OF LETTER FROM CHARLES
JESSUP TO THE NEW YORK OFFICE
OF CONTINENTAL DETECTIVE
AGENCY)

Hotel EIl Mirasol
Lima, April 28, 1944

Dear Mike:

1 think I have what you wanted and
probably more than you bargained for.
Neither Rico nor 1 know what in hell to
make of it. Whoever this Shilling is,
and whatever line you’re after on him,
he’s bad medicine. He’s wanted down
here, but they don’t know where to look
and 1 didn’t tip much. Here’s the
story.

1 lined up four monasteries that
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sounded good. When 1 got to Lima 1
found your instructions and the pic-
tures waiting for me. I routined two
of the monasteries without a lead. The
first day 1 tried the third one, 1
landed in the local can and had to send
for Rico, as you know from him. The
whole setup looked like I needed Rico.

This monastery is dedicated to San
Stefano, the name of the town right
next to it. It stands offshore on the
first rise leading to the mountains.
It’s about halfway between Chancay
and Huacho, about forty miles north of
Callao and Lima, but it’s kind of alone
there. A lot of this country is des-
ert, but this section is irrigated and
they raise sheep and cattle in the
grassland. They got a lot of differ-
ent kinds of people. Some that work
the farms and ranchos are Indians and
the mestizo mixed breeds. Then they
got the owners and a lot of other dons
that own haciendas in the area. This
place is so near the big cities that
they use it like a seashore resort. So
you get queer mixtures of population
in San Stefano; and some places very
high class right near dives and such.
They have different seasons for the
farming and the ranchos and the resort
angle, so the population changes dur-
ing the seasons. The monastery is
maybe four hundred years old, and the
monks are very powerful. They have
their own farm and rancho and the dons
kick in to keep the place nice. Got
the picture? It’s a little unusual, 1
think.

When 1 hit San Stefano 1 went
straight to the chief of police. 1
showed him the pictures of Shilling
and asked him a few questions. | knew
1 hit him right off the bat, but this
guy tried not to let on. He sent out
somebody with an order he wrote on pa-
per and half an hour later a monk came
in. He told me later he was like the
assistant to the head monk. His name
was Brother Rafael. He spoke good
English. He looked at the pictures and
asked me what I wanted. 1 told him who
1 was, but gave him the Panama office
and no connection to you, and said I
represented some people who wanted to
findhim. He told me he had known Shil-
ling, only he called him by the name of
Raoul Besancon. 1 didn’t give any
name, saying I didn’t know. The monk
said I could have my questions answered
by the head monk, but the head monk was
in Lima and was expected back very
soon. Then he left.

About two minutes later 1 tried to
leave and found out 1 was under arrest,
only it wasn’t really arrest. It was
police custody on suspicion. The
chief told me I was suspected of being
a friend of this Besancon and they were
going to investigate me. He had no ob-
jection to my sending someone to Lima
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to get hold of the consulate. 1 had
to spend the night in the can and mean-
while I decided it looked as if 1 could
use Rico. The next morning the con-
sulate had somebody down who got me out
fast and everybody apologized. The
chief went with me to the monastery and
spoke to Brother Rafael, but he said |
would havé& to wait for the head monk.
1 sat down and waited.

Two days later Rico was up from San-
tiago. When I gave him the dope, he
told me he d been on Shilling’s tail in
Antofagasta and told me what he knew.
There was still nothing doing from the
head monk, so Rico put on a dirty shirt
and started to nose around. They got
a small harbor there where they load
small coast ships with stuff they sell
elsewhere, and that’s where Rico went.
He figured there must be a reason Shil-
ling hugs the coast, so maybe ship peo-
ple would know him. Before he found
any reason, Rico found a couple of In-
dians who recognized the pictures.
They hadn’t forgotten him in more than
four years. They took one look at the
pictures and beat it and they didn’t
come back. That afternoon every In-
dian around the harbor disappeared.
The chief sent for me and told me that
Brother Rafael wanted me to come to the
monastery.

He knew about Rico. The Indians had
gone back to the hills and told their
people that a friend of the evil man
had come. That’s one of the names they
called Shilling. The other was devil’s
son. The Indians had got panicky and
left everything to hide in the hills
and one of them ran to the monastery
and told the monks. Meanwhile this
Rafael had sent word about me to the
head monk and the answer had come back
that it was all right to tell me, see-
ing 1 was from the police. First he
made me promise to keep away from the
Indians. He said they had had a hard
time getting them to forget the whole
thing.

He told me that Besancon came to the
monastery the week before Xmas, 1939.
He was sick and hungry. He had holes
in his shoes and he wore rags. He said
he was Raoul Besancon, a Canadian. The
monks took him until he gotwell. Then
he told them he wanted to stay. He told
them he had lived a bad life and wanted
to start all over. He said he wanted
to turn to religion. The monks didn’t
know what to do. It seems this mon-
astery isn’t the kind where the monks
all stay inside the place. Like 1
said, they are sort of in business and
they share everything with the people
who work for them. So they gave Be-
sancon a job on one of their fishing
boats, which was what he wanted. In
about a month he was in charge of one
of the boats.

He was always quiet and neat in his
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habits and he went to church regularly.
Then he made some friends among the
rich people. January and February are
the middle of the summer here, and the
dons were at their summer villas with
plenty of guests. Somehow Besancon
was able to make friends easily and he
was invited everywhere. In the day-
time he was a fisherman, but at night he
was in high society. It went on like
that for a couple of months . The monks
heard only nice things about him for
awhile and they figured he was a well
educated man and finding a new place in
the world for himself. Then they be-
gan to hear other things. Some of the
Indians told the monks that Besanoon
had an evil smell and that he wor-
shipped evil gods.

Brother Rafael said that if they
hadnt mentioned the evil smell, the
monks might have paid attention to the
stories. But the monks knew the smell.
It was something very sweet, almost
overpowering. You could smell it the
minute Besancon came into a room and
it was there after he left. But they
figured it was a sort of perfume, like
many of the dons used, only more pow-
erful. The devil worshipping was all
a lot of rumors. No Indian that came
to the monks said he had seen it him-
self, but he knew it from other Indians
back in the hills, around the coco
plantations. Around July they heard
of wild doings on one of the coco plan-
tations. The Indians there had killed
the overseer and his family and ran
off. The Indians around San Stefano
said it was all Besancon®s doings.

Late in July two monks set off into
the hills to see what was going on.
They didn’t come back, and a month
later some half crazy mestizos were
found wearing their robes. The police
got busy. They went in and came back
with stories that a whole village in
the interior was crazy, that Indians
had tried to kill them, and so on. So
more police went in, but they couldn’t
figure it out. It looked like some-
thing for doctors to investigate and
they got some to come, but just then
the whole thing was called off. It was
Spring again and the dons were coming
out and there were a lot of parties.

But the monks went to Lima and raised
a fuss that got the investigation go-
ing again. Then, one Sunday after-
noon, Besancon was brought to San Ste-
fano, under arrest. Secret police had
caught him the night before near the
Indian village. There were also some
young girls from prominent families
mixed up in it, but the whole thing was
kept secret, including the charges.
Besancon was to be taken to Lima the
next day, but that night he disap-
peared. There was a lot of undercover
work after that but nothing came of it.
That was in November, 1940. Most of
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the story never leaked out. Most resi-
dents of the town don’t know about it
unless they have relatives who were
mixed up in it and the monks forbid
them to talk about it. The monks got
what they know from the Indians.

Now, there’s two angles to this Be-
sancon-Shilling. One is the business
end. He was mixed up with a ring of
dope smugglers. He was a kind of
clearing house. He used his fishing
boat to contact others along the coast.
The ring delivered to him and he
passed back what was needed, but he
had the main cache. The police found
about fifty pounds of morphine and her-
oin in the place he lived, also a lot
of chloral. There was supposed to be
a lot of money hidden away too. The
police were searching the coast all
that time, but they never figured on
looking for dope in a monastery boat.
The Indians on the boat were scared
stiff of him, as 1 will try to explain.

Then he had a side racket. He was
peddling the stuff among rich addicts
and others who were taking to it. The
monks figure some of these people used
their influence to oall off the first
investigation because Besancon got
them to. They also figure these peo-
ple got him bought out of jail and
hustled him out of the country before
he could be pumped. Or else he was
knocked off quietly. There may be a
tie-up between him and the July riots
that year, but nobody is sure. The In-
dians say this white overseer found
out what Besancon was doing and Besan-
con got the Indians to kill him. The
coco plantation may be an angle, but
it’s just a quick guess because 1 hap-
pen to remember they get cocaine from
coco.

The other angle to this Shilling is
the crazy one. He was up to something
with the Indians but no one knows ex-
actly what. They had doctors watch-
ing him that night and they talked to
him later. They decided he was crazy.
This Brother Rafael says that Besan-
con had the Indians worshipping an
iron god and that he had a great in-
fluence over the Indians. The doctors
and the police told the monks a
slightly different story. They say he
had a metal contraption with batteries
and lights and that he could practi--
cally hypnotize these Indians with it.
But he also began to branch out later
and brought in these girls from
wealthy Peruvian families. He got
these people to come to a place in the
hills where they worshipped his thing-

amajig. He smashed it when the police
closed in. They found parts for an-
other one in his place, but couldn’t

figure out how to put it together.
This Brother Rafael says that some

of the girls went insane later, and

they found the same thing among the
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Indians. The doctors told the monks
that Besancon had been insane, but the
monks aren’t sure. The sure thing
seems to be that Besancon-Shilling
used chloral for himself. That was
supposed to give him that sickening
sweet smell.

There it is, Hike. 1 don’t know
what it adds up to, but maybe you do.
If there is anything more doing on this
Shilling, 1 °d like to know, unless it’s
in the Confid file. Seems to me if he
is alive he must be doing something
worth hearing about.

Yours,

(COMMENT BY AUTHOR)
O COMMENT of mine is needed here.
N It would be hard for me adequately to
describe my reactions to the Continental
report. And Dr. Schumer, accustomed as he
is to what | consider the weird side of life,
was affected much the same way. 1've had
time to get used to it while | put this manu-
script together, but I don't know if one can
get used to an unfinished story like this one.
For it is unfinished, of course. This we
have and this we know. Compared to what
we don’'t know, it’s not much—but it is
enough for our hypothesis. | have tried to
present it here in a dialogue between Dr.
Schumer and myself, which I combined and
edited from notes of several talks we had.
There were others present at some of these
talks, but for the sake of simplicity I have
confined the active roles to just we two.
The point of departure for this dialogue
was my remarking to Dr. Schumer that |
had decided we would never understand
what had happened to Hammond, no mat-
ter what we found out about Shilling. It
was one of the few instances | ever saw the
Doctor look disgusted.— D.V.R.
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(DISCUSSION BETWEEN DR. LEO-
POLD SCHUMER AND DAVID V.
REED)

“TT IS foolish to hope for full under-
A standing of something of this na-

ture,” said the Doctor. “But if we are
to try, our hopes must be based on the

attempt to understand Shitting, not
Hammond, as you still think.”
“Understand Shilling? The more

we found about him, the less we really
knew,” | said. “Sometimes I've won-
dered if we were talking about the same
man, the Jim Shilling I knew.”

“Exactly. Already we know some-
thing very important. We recognize
at once that the Shilling known to you
and others was but one facet of the
man. Our discoveries show us other
facets, present facts— and these facts
built a new man for us. These facts,
added to what is in the diary, also lead
us to logical deductions.”

“For example?”

“For example, we know that Shil-
ling was depressed for a long time after
his book was published. He couldn’t
write again— "

“1 think that kind of frustration is
quite common,” | said.

“It is, but most people readjust
themselves. If they do not, they con-
tinue to be unhappy, and sometimes
they become institutionalized patients.
In the early stages, such people often
go to psychiatrists and they may be
helped. It is quite possible that Shill-
ing consulted a doctor and was advised
to try a change— a long sea voyage, say.
You know, doctors prescribe sea
voyages outside the movies too. Or
else he did it on his own initiative. He
was educated and introspective enough
to have been very well aware of what
was happening to him.  Writers, espe-
cially, believe firmly in the therapeutic
value of change.”

“Yes, I've heard it referred to as ‘re-
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filling the dry well’ or ‘recharging the
battery?’ So he took the first voyage to
get away?”

“To leave the scene of his frustra-
tions and attempt a readjustment.
Hammond wrote of Shilling’s slow dis-
integration. At the end of two years,
Shilling was a desperately unhappy
man. He had no funds, so he took a
job as assistant steward on a liner.”

“And he quit because he was still un-
happy?”

“Possibly even more unhappy, |
would say. The job was too menial for
a man who had been a minor literary
celebrity two years before. By the
time the ship reached Rio, he had
enough. He abandoned the ship and
drifted south, driven by unhappiness.
Three months later he had an attack of
temporary amnesia. It was a char-
acteristic ailment. Amnesia is often
a symptom of neurosis. The motiva-
tion is obvious— the man seeks to for-
get his troubles together with his iden-
tity. The motivation is not conscious,
of course, but if the amnesia persists,
the troubles are gone; it fails, the inner
conflict resumes.”

“And his amnesia lifted fairly
quickly,” 1 said.
“Yes. But before then he had al-

ready taken other, conscious steps to
forget his misery, to dull the mental
anguish. A psychologic unbalance can
qguickly be compensated for by the use
of narcotics, and we have later evidence
that Shilling was well acquainted with
at least morphine and chloral hydrate.
At this time, however, the police of
Porte Alegre were satisfied that he
owned a hypodermic syringe, which—

“Which he denied was his.”

“It isn’t illegal to own a syringe, but
this one was confiscated, so there must
have been other circumstances in-
volved. | think he was an occasional
user by this time, probably as a result
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of having entered into business ar-
rangements with a drug ring. He had
no money, so how did he support him-
self? He could have been very useful
to such a ring. He was an educated
American citizen, with no criminal
record.”

“1 DUT then he went to Uruguay and

took a berth as messman on a
freighter to get to Morroco,” | said.
“1f he was in the employ of a drug ring,
why not go comfortably?”

“And display sudden affluence? And
what about the drugs | imagine he was
carrying? It would be much easier to
get them across as a seaman than as a
traveler. Look at what else happened.
He left the ship,in Morocco, was ar-
rested, but quickly got out of it. Then
he went to Spain, then in the midst of
the fascist revolution. Again he was ar-
rested, but no charges were entered.
Rather strange, was it not, unless he
had influential friends? At any rate,
he was not wanted and was deported to
Portugal. Then he turned up in Den-
mark. He was traveling a good deal,
you will notice, and making much
swifter progress than one might expect
from a drifter. Rather, he resembled a
man of commerce— and the commerce,
according to the Danish authorities,
was concerned with morphine. Surpris-
ingly, he again managed to go free.
There is no record of the Consulate’s
intervention, and the Continental
people believe his freedom was bought.
Once again he was deported, and
while making the short trip to Norway
he had a ‘nervous breakdown.” You
know from our talks what this euphe-
mism means.”

“Yes, but tjie reasons? Wasn't he
better off then?”

“Of course not, my dear man. His
original troubles were still with him,
and he had plenty of new ones. You
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may be sure he had been very careful,
but in spite of it he had been in the
hands of police four times. He was
constantly on the move. He was be-
coming addicted to the use of a deadly
drug. Only a fool could not realize
what a bitter end awaited him. It was
too much for him and he ‘broke down’
under the new troubles. You may say
that hospitalization of four months was
a short period for a serious condition?
Perhaps it was not serious, perhaps he
had friends with influence enough to
secure a doubtful discharge— he had
already proved his value. From then
on his assignments were less danger-
ous. In a few months he appeared in
Trinidad, and came to official notice
only because he had a bout with
malaria. It was a mild attack, and he
was out in ten days.

“This is very interesting. You see
why?”

“The malaria?
stand.”

“You would if you were a physician.
Malaria and morphine are old traveling
companions. Merchant sailors number
a high proportion of addicts, and Shil-
ling had sailed as a crew member at
least twice. Many addicts share the
same syringe, and an infected syringe
has been known to carry the disease to
scores. This is especially true of those
addicts known as ‘straight-line or main-
line shooters'— the slang term for those
who inject themselves intravenously.
Malaria is almost endemic among such
drug addicts. Shilling may have con-
tracted it innocently, but his quick re-
covery would seem to indicate an ac-
quired tolerance for the disease.

“But as soon as he left the hospital
he went to Chile. It was a precipitate
departure for a man just out of a sick-
bed, was it not? It seems to imply that
Shilling’s health was better served by
an immediate voyage after spending a

No, | don’t under-
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little time under observation of
doctors: It is not very difficult to de-
tect drug addicts. He went to Antofa-

gasta and vanished. The rest is not
difficult to follow?”
T NODDED. “Continental tells us

A they believe Shilling was connected
with a drug ring that was broken up
in that city shortly after he arrived. So
Jim Shilling disappeared from Antofa-
gasta, and two months later Raoul
Besancon arrived in San Stefano, Peru.
We know what he did there. He
served the coastal drug traffic and sold
morphine to wealthy addicts, probably
recruited a few himself. But that was
his business, and | don’'t see how it
explains the other things he did.”

“Naturally not. We are interested
in Shilling’s psychological development,
so we must seek our information in the
account of his personal life. Here we
find two surprising facts. One, that he
remained in San Stefano for eleven
months, and left only when he had to.
Two, he was using chloral. Do you see
what these two things mean?”

“1 don’t think so. 1'd say he stayed
in San Stefano because he had an im-
portant job to do there. As for the
chloral, I suppose it was a substitute
for morphine. Maybe he had gotten
too afraid of morphine.”

Dr. Schumcr shook his head. “I
must disagree,” he said, “and | will tell
you why, but first I will tell you what
these two things mean to me. | con-
sider both of them as indications that
Shilling was making a readjustment to
life. He—"

“You mean he was recovering from
what you described as his abnormal
state of mind, his unhappiness and so
on?”

“No, no, you must not allow me to
confuse you. To adjust means to learn
to accommodate a new condition. It
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may mean compensation, not recovery.
If one loses one’s hearing and learns
to read lips, one has adjusted, but hear-
ing has not been recovered. When | say
that Shilling was readjusting, 1 mean
that he was learning to find happiness
in a new way. He might have found
happiness if he was able to write once
again. He might also have found hap-
piness in other ways which compensated
for his original distress. Do you see
what | mean?”

“l think so. You are saying that
Shilling’s long stay in San Stefano and
his use of chloral are indications that
he was finding happiness from things
which compensated for his original
troubles, but that I am not to construe
this as meaning he was normal?”

“Exactly. First, then, we see that
he remained in San Stefano until he
was forced to leave. This is a striking
change from his record of two years
of wandering. No assigned task of
business necessity could have kept him
there unless he wanted to stay. Just as
his wanderings was a symbol of un-
rest, his long stay there was a sign of
adjustment.

“Second, his use of chloral. We
have had indications that he used mor-
phine, and morphine is a drug to which
one may easily become addicted. You
supposed he used chloral as a substi-
tute, possibly because he had become
too afraid of morphine. But chloral is
not at all a possible substitute for mor-
phine, especially where morphine itself
is easily available. Chloral is a seda-
tive, not a narcotic. Any morphine ad-
dict would find chloral wholly inade-
quate. As for his fears— there are ad-
dicts even among doctors, who know
better than most people the dreadful
end that awaits them, and yet are pow-
erless to stop by themselves. The fact
that Shilling used chloral— when he was
in possession of an enormous quantity
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of morphine, and had already used it—
shows us that he no longer needed
morphine.”

“Then why did he need chloral?” |
asked. “You say that if he was a mor-
phine addict, he couldn't change to
chloral. But if he wasn’t an addict,
why did he need anything?”

rJ"HE Doctor smiled and shook his

head. “These things are not mat-
ters of black and white. A leg is either
broken or not. A habit is a process. |
do not think Shilling was ever com-
pletely addicted to morphine; probably
he used it when his distress seemed oth-
erwise unbearable. But when life im-
proved for him, he still retained a
psychological habit. Now he could af-
ford to let his fear of morphine affect
him, but to satisfy the habit, he used
chloral. Remember also that | am not
saying he needed nothing. Rather, I
am saying that a sedative was enough
for him, a powerful sedative, to be
sure.”

| said: “That is to say that he was
fairly well adjusted.”

“Just so. The delicate factors of
happiness were fairly well adjusted, but
this sedative helped keep a good bal-
ance.”

“And what were these factors?”

“There were several. A minor one,
probably, was the fact that he was mak-
ing money; financial success is always
of some help. But much more im-
portant, he was now Raoul Besancon.
The very act of playing this new man
helped the old, inner Shilling. Mental
illnesses sometimes take the form of
dual personalities in a patient. | had a
case once where a woman lived two
distinct lives; in one she was a model of
virtue, in the other she did things I
blush to recall— but neither personality
knew of the other’s existence. | do not
mean this is what happened to Shilling,
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but there is generally great comfort in
playing another person if the original
person has not been happy. One may
often be transported by an assumed
role.

“As Besancon, the humble fisher-
man, he had social connections which
were apparently based on his perso-
nality, his charm and magnetism, his
erudition. Doubtless he was able to
make many friends on that basis alone,
friends who were ignorant of his wicked
dealings. Though deep inside him he
knew the truth, it was a tonic to have
many people think other things. In this
way Besancon might have felt, more
often than not, that he was a success
once more.”

“What about the fact that he still
wasn’t writing?” | asked. “I can't feel
that that sort of thing would be
enough.”

“Ah,” smiled the Doctor. “You
mean that none of these things touched
the real basis of his despair? Quite so.
He was a writer who could not write
anymore. He had to find something
else, to providfe for that unhappy inner
man, the writer who could not write.
Now we reach what Mr. Jessup, in
his report, called ‘the other angle, the
crazy one.” The Indians said Shilling
had them worshipping an iron god.
This god appears to have been a con-
trivance of lights and batteries. He was
also involved with some young girls, in
connection with this god.

“Here, for the first time, we run
across the word hypnotism. Mr. Jes-
sup writes: ‘ ... he could practically
hypnotize these Indians with it ...
later he brought in the girls.” At this
point, you see, we have established con-
junction with our hypothesis. We find
at least three elements common to the
Jessup report and Hammond’s diary—
the metal god or monster or Thing—
hypnotism— and the unsavory business
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of the young girls, which parallels the
case of Katherine Gray. There is a
passage in the diary which throws some
light on this metal god affair.”

(We took out the diary and turned to
the section where Hammond describes
Shilling’s visit on that last Saturday
afternoon, and in which he tries to tell
us what they spoke about. Here is that
passage the Doctor meant: “ . and
underneath was the veiled and un-
spoken thought that he was somehow
abjectly bound to the Thing, that he had
been bound from the beginning . .. and
there was something else, something
that linked his work to her influence.
Something to explain more than any-
thing had, why he had found such peace
and strange exhilaration in the yards.
Something utterly beyond comprehen-
sion. . . ")

“TN THIS,” resumed Dr. Schumer,
“we have the connection between
Shilling’s metal god, or goddess, and his
work! The passage is very valuable,
but if it had not appeared in the diary,
I would have assumed the connection
myself. | would be forced to do it be-
cause there is no other suitable explana-
tion. There had to be something which
either took the blame for his failure to
write, or somehow made it possible for
him to write again— or even both. The
metal goddess did this for him.”

“But it was something he himself
created!” | objected.

“It was nonetheless powerful for
that. Primitive peoples all over the
world worship gods of their own crea-
tion, objects they have fashioned from
wood, stone, metal.”

“Are you comparing Shilling’s mind
to that of a primitive?”

“You think it unfair? Perhaps I
should point out that these practices are
not confined to primitives alone. Also,
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it is difficult often to differentiate be-
tween the beliefs of primitives and
those we call civilized. | must dis-
agree; | consider the comparison quite
illuminating. The primitive creates a
god because he has a specific, well-de-
fined need for one. Shilling had a des-
perate need for something outside him-
self, some external force, to which he
could transfer responsibility for his
failure, or to which he could turn for
help. Remember he had been living
among people who were primitive
enough, despite the Church’s teachings,
to create their own gods. Is it not con-
ceivable he was influenced by them,
however subconsciously?”

“l don’t know,” | said. “It’s some-
thing 1'd have said would be a startling
thing to hear from a psychiatrist.”

“No, no,” said the Doctor, emphati-

cally. “There is nothing here to startle
a psychiatrist. The psychiatrist least
of all. You seem to react well to

examples; let me give you one. | had
patient once who went around destroy-
ing thermometers. He was perfectly
well except for this manifestation, or
seemed to be. He had once been a
very wealthy man and he lost his
money. He had owned a huge cattle
ranch, there had been a long, terrible
heat wave that dried up the rivers and
destroyed the grazing lands— in other
words, the weather. He confided in me
that his enemies had put devils in the
thermometers to raise the mercury and
thereby ruin him, so he smashed ther-
mometers. Another example— "

“But that man was insane,” | pro-
tested. “Mentally ill, I mean.”

“Yes,” the Doctor agreed, “and so
was Shilling. | thought you understood
that. Shilling’s adjustment was pos-
sible because of this compensation.
Men in Shilling’s state of mind some-
times end up in asylums with perse-
cution complexes. They may blame
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their troubles on some individual, some
force, anything at all—a devil in the
thermometer. Many cases of paranoia
are characterized by a simple mona-
mania. Paranoia is a slow, progressive
disorder. We know that Shilling was
mentally abnormal for several years.
The step from neurasthenia, through a
poorly-recovered ‘nervous breakdown’,
to such a monomania is a small and not
unlikely one. And it might very well go
beyond that, later on.”

“You obviously think it did go on,”
| said.

1 T\R. SCHUMER smiled. “You

mustn’t make a god of me. | am
only theorizing from a few facts. Yes,
| do think it went further. For one, |

think Shilling’s use of chloral might
have helped him there, at least in the
beginning, because a relaxed person is
more suggestible. Once he had his god-
dess, it possibly became necessary to
convince others. Some manias may re-
main private and give satisfaction,
others not. If you think you are Na-
poleon, for example, you will insist on
being treated as an emperor. If you
believe in a goddess, how much more
satisfaction you will get if others also
believe it!

“So Shilling began to convince the
Indians. They were simple people and
excellent material. | see you are get-
ting ready to object. You think there
is a contradiction here?”

“It seems to me,” | said, “that his ar-
rangement of batteries and lights was a
conscious trick to impress the Indians.
How could he reconcile the real exist-
ence of his goddess with the fact that
he had to trick simple Indians into be-
lieving it?”

“l had a patient who believed she
was haunted by her dead siste- because
she had married her sister’s husband.
She told me her sister came into her
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room every night and moaned. | ex-
pressed my doubts, so one night my
patient began to moan until an at-
tendant came. She insisted we had
heard her sister, and thereafter she
moaned every night in an effort to con-
vince me. This did not weaken her be-
lief in the ghost. She justified her
action to herself by believing that her
sister’'s ghost was particularly unac-
commodating. She knew it was there, so
she took the liberty of transmitting the
moans so we could hear them too.”

“And Shilling did the same thing?”
| said. “He knew there was a real god-
dess, but he had to use a trick to prove
it. He knew it was a trick, but he felt
justified because he knew there was also
a goddess.”

“Exactly so. Perhaps he even gave
the Indians a little chloral to help them;
chloral is soluble in water and can be
drunk, and it is an excellent hypnotic.
And then he had his lights and possibly
a ritual, and after awhile he had gotten
to be quite expert at inducing hypnosis.
This question of hypnosis may bother
you unless you have had experience
with it in some way. Have you had
such experience?”

“Some,” | said. “When | took
psych in college we had a professor
who could hypnotize half the class in
less than a minute. He’'d pick his half,
too. He’'d extend an arm and say that
he was going to hypnotize the first five
rows to the left of his arm. And I've
seen the same thing done as entertain-
ment in theatres and at parties.”

“Good,” Dr. Schumer nodded. “Then
you know how quickly it can be done.
It is basically a matter of suggesti-
bility. One does not have to agree to be
hypnotized for it to be done. It can be
fought successfully if one knows it is
being attempted, but if nothing is said it
can easily be done. One will not even
remember it later if a post-hypnotic
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suggestion to that effect is given.”

“You mean the whole thing is for-
gotten?”

“Yes. For instance, there has been
some notable success in the breaking of
certain habits. A man comes to a
psychiatrist and wants to be broken of
his habit of smoking. He is hypno-
tized and a post-hypnotic suggestion
is given to him that he will not smoke
for the next twenty-four hours, and
that he will forget that he was hypno-
tized. When he is brought out, he is
told to return the next day. The sug-
gestions then slowly increase his periods
of abstinence to forty-eight hours, to
four days, a week, and so on, depend-
ing on the strength of the habit.”

“And this is what you think Shilling
was able to do?”

“1 think he became expert at it. He
was able to hypnotize those Indians
with increasing ealse. When he was
sure of himself, he began to branch out.
He chose several young girls as subjects
and brought them into the rituals. He
chose them because they were probably
highly suggestible, but I think there was
also another reason, which | will come
to in a moment. Here, unless you have
any questions, | think we can leave
Shilling’s development.”

T SUMMED it up: “He was caught

while carrying on his rituals and
brought back to San Stefano. There
were people there who were afraid of
what he might reveal if he was forced
to talk, so they hustled him out of the
country. He made his way to Haiti
and then came home to New York, mad
as a hatter.”

“Yes, quite mad, though 1'm not too
sure of that. | think he was really
happy then. He got himself a job in a
dumping-grounds for metal, where he
could conceal his goddess, or where he
could believe she had taken up new resi-
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dence. His equilibrium was restored.
We have found no evidence that he used
chloral and | don’t think he did. He
needed only his mania, and maybe
that was only a work habit by then.
There are well known instances of great
writers who could not work unless they
put on a black robe. Balzac, or was it
Flaubert, had to smell the odor of de-
caying apples which he kept in a desk
drawer where he worked. So the god-
dess permitted him to work again, and
he had almost completed a novel by the
time Hammond accidentally found him.
Until then he had made no attempt to
seek out his old friends.

“Indeed, it is quite possible that Shil-
ling had really ‘refilled the dry well’ in
his travels and adventures. His first
book was auto-biographical, and many
an author has written such a book and
found he has exhausted his store of
material. Now Shilling had enough for
half a dozen books. He might have
written and published this new book
and been quite a normal man after that,
if the book was well received by the
public.”

“From what | heard,” | said, “it was
excellent. | felt he had really matured
in those three years.”

Dr. Schumer shrugged. “We will
never know now what the truth really
was. Perhaps it was a chance remark
of Hammond’s that set him off again.
The yards affected him oddly. They
didn’t impress you in any way, but they
did strike others. If you will glance at
the early pages of the diary, you will see
how it might have happened. Ham-
mond said the yards seemed to have
an unearthly beauty and strength. How
easily this might have struck a respon-
sive chord in Shilling. Hammond writes
that Shilling laughed, then grew somber
and dreamy. Right then the seed was
planted.

“In other words, what Shilling had
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done to the Indians and the girls, he
now did to Hammond?”

“'Y 'ES, maybe tentatively at first. It

must have been a great tempta-
tion not to try. Shilling could hypno-
tize him in a moment, and then he
could suggest anything. He proceeded
slowly. When Hammond came to visit
him, he let him ponder the ants and the
ghost crabs. He had a different kind of
mentality in Hammond and he dealt
differently with it. His first real move
was to suggest to Hammond that the
sound of the wind he would hear run-
ning through the mountains of metal
was something to listen to, that it was
like a choking, crying voice.

“And then Shilling met Jean Lowell.
He went for a walk with her that after-
noon. He had a terrible weakness for
girls, and perhaps he exercised his
power over her. She had listened to
him reading with an attention so rapt
that Hammond remarked about it, so
she was already quite suggestible. Shil-
ling knew that she was supposedly
Hammond’s girl, and he might have
taken steps to ward off Hammond’s in-
fluence. She asked Hammond to go
for a walk, but she listened quietly and
seemed distant. And then, strangely,
she became lost and would not answer
him when he called to her. Might this
not have been a suggestion of Shilling’s
— that she leave Hammond and return
alone? And because it was so dark she
couldn’t find her way back, and waited
to be found. As for Hammond, by
then all he needed was the sound of the
wind and he was off in reveries.

“It went on from there. Hammond
kept thinking about the mud and the
ghost crabs everywhere he went. Shill-
ing just couldn’t resist going further.
One night he took Hammond to the
yards. The diary tells us he gripped
Hammond’s arm and told him to listen.
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Until then all Hammond heard was his
own breathing, but now he heard the
‘wonderful’ sound, as Shilling called it.
Hammond agreed. Before this it had
been a mournful sound, but if Shilling
called it wonderful, it was wonderful.
That same night Shilling told Ham-
mond about the Thing. Their conver-
sation is very revealing, viewed in retro-
spect. I'll show you a sample or two
that will show you.

“At one point, Hammond writes,
Shilling ‘smiled a slow, humorous smile’
and said: 7 think there is a different
kind of communication— a way of hav-
ing a thought put in one’s mind.” Ham-
mond thought it was a reference to the
Thing, but it was another reference
that exacted the smile from Shilling.
Of the Thing, Shilling said: ‘It wasn't
an intelligence open to usual cognition,
but it was there.’ Yes, of course,
exactly as my patient knew a ghost was
was there. Or: ‘It wasn't always
there, but from time to time it made it-
self felt. £nd then, after awnhile it was
no longer in my mind alone.” There are
more, if you want to look.

“Then Shilling gave Hammond a real
jolt— he let him hear the Thing speak.
We have no doubt who did the speak-
ing, but Hammond has a helpful pas-
sage here too; he writes that after the
voice was gone, he opened his eyes and
saw Shilling beside him. After that he
probably was allowed to keep his eyes
open, because he didn’'t know what he
saw anyway. But what did the Thing
have to say? It quoted poetry, exactly
the sort of poetry one would expect
from Shilling’s literary background.
But by this time there was no limit to
what Shilling could do. There is very
little limit to the progressive influence
an expert can have with an habitually
hypnotized subject, but then, as you re-
call, Shilling did have some minor diffi-
culty with Hammond about the Thing.”
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“\X/'HEN Hammond came to see
me?” | asked. “He told me that
he was afraid to talk about it, and didn’t
understand why he was able to at all.”
“That was part of it. Just before
that, he had had a talk with Shilling
in which he confessed his fear of the
Thing and insisted it was too great a
secret for them alone to keep. Ham-
mond wrote a very curious remark
here: ‘From the beginning, | think, |
felt its mind was unhealthy.” Curious
indeed, considering what we know
about Shilling! Hammond seemed to
be getting out of hand, so one night Shil-
ling let him actually see the Thing.
What did Hammond (see? A small fila-
ment, with current passing through it.
It was suspended in air, but that was a
simple matter to arrange—an over-
hanging loop of wire with two inches
of insulation cut away. It was all sim-
ple, once Hammond was hypnotized.

“The poor fellow couldn’t get it out
of his mind. He found this girl, Maria
Denisov, waiting for him in his apart-
ment the night he left you, and her
love for him transfigured her. He was
half deranged, and here was this fine
girl offering him comfort and love. |
do not say he was not in love with
her, but we must remember his state
of mind at the time. He ran off with
her and they were married, but it was
no use. He couldn’'t forget that he
knew a terrible secret. He—"

| interrupted. “Dr. Schumer, he
wasn’t actually hypnotized all this
time, was he? Didn’t he have lucid
moments in which he might have real-
ized what was going on?”

“Lucid? No. Comparatively lucid?
Perhaps. He was not under hypnosis
constantly, but there were post-hyp-
notic suggestions that carried him be-
tween the times he saw Shilling— just
as a smoking addict is carried between
sessions with the psychiatrist. He had
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been told to believe and he had to be-
lieve. The best he could do was strug-
gle. He went along normally for a
day or two and then he saw an ant.
Instantly the post-hypnotic suggestion
was activated. The whole chain of
associations came to life. He ran out
to sit near the mud and thought about
the things Shilling had put into his
mind.”

“But Hammond'’s actions don’t seem
normal to me,” | said. “l keep think-
ing that it could never have happened
to me, or to a lot of people I know.
Am | so very wrong, or was Hammond
exceptionally predisposed toward be-
ing subjected so easily?”

“Again,” said Dr. Schumer, “you
want a black and white answer. I don’t
know if it could have happened to you.
Partly it would depend on you, but
there might be all sorts of other fac-
tors. The time might be important,
the way you happened to feel, and so
on. | would say that Hammond was
very well disposed toward subjection
by hypnosis, but the yards also af-
fected him. So did his trust and ad-
miration for Shilling. And it was a
progressive thing, you see. Take this
girl, Katherine Gray, for example. |
believe Shilling chose her quite care-
fully, and one of the reasons for his
choice was that she was highly sug-
gestible. She was a poetess, and prob-
ably admired Shilling greatly. And
she was shy and retiring, rather like
Hammond, a quiet person. You see?”

“T MEANT to ask you about Kathy

Gray,” | said. “The diary has
Hammond coming to the yards that
night without Shilling knowing it. He
was exhausted, then he heard a scream.
He went to the ridge and saw Shilling
holding Kathy. She was crying as he
kissed her. Then she ran away from
him as Hammond heard the Thing re-
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cite those lines about death arriving.
Hammond saw the flame Kill her. She
vanished, and later he saw her lying
dead in the swamp. Hammond lay
down on the beach and left hours later.
But—at no time that night did he
speak to Shilling or get close enough to
let Shilling see him, so he could not
have been hypnotized that night. If
that is so, how can you account for
his story of what he saw?”

Dr. Schumer asked: “Do you believe
he actually saw the things he says he
saw?”

“No, but he wasn’'t hypnotized that
night, so where did he get the whole
idea?”

“We are going to have this difficulty -

again,” said the Doctor, “so | might
as well attack this problem now. Don’t
you realize that if Shilling could tell
Hammond what to see— that he could
also teU him what he had seen? If, at
some later time, Shilling told Ham-
mond that he had seen the Thing kill
Katherine Gray that night, Hammond
would then believe it.”

“I'm not sure | understand.”

“Suppose you had been to the movies
last night,” the Doctor said, “and you
saw a picture about the army. Tonight
you came to me and | put you under
hypnosis and told you that you had
seen a wild west picture last night.
Tomorrow night, if 1 asked you what
was the picture you saw— you would
tell me it was about the west.”

“l see. You mean that the whole
story of Kathy and the Thing was
something Shilling later made Ham-
mond believe?”

“Correct,” the Doctor nodded. “It
was not even necessary that Hammond
should have been in the yards that
night, for him later to believe that he
had been there and had seen this affair.
As it is, we know he was there.”

“Then what do you think happened
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that night? If you think anything!”
uf | '"HE possibilities are almost infi-

nite,” the Doctor frowned. “Shil-
ling put the pieces together in the pat-
tern he wanted, but the same pieces
could make many, many patterns. |
have my own, naturally.”

“Then begin with Kathy Gray,” I
suggested. “How does she fit?”

“You recall that Hammond wrote
he couldn’t understand what there was
between Katherine and Shilling? He
wrote that she reminded him of Helen
Drew. Shilling was once engaged to
Helen but she left him and married an-
other. | think Katherine reminded
Shilling too of Helen. 1 believe Helen’s
desertion was a serious blow to Shil-
ling, especially because it came during
his worst days, and he never got over it.
When he decided to enlarge the group
that worshipped his goddess, he chose
girls, we know. Part of the reason was
their, individual suggestibility— but |
think if we could pursue the matter,
we would find that most of these girls
were of Helen’s Drew’s type. By get-
ting them to worship his goddess, he
was also subjecting them to him— and
he was getting back at Helen.

“When Shilling met Katherine,
Hammond was already under his
power, so to speak. She reminded him
of Helen, and his success with Ham-
mond made him think of including her.
He began to see her surreptitiously.
Hammond’s lawyer hired a detective to
look into their relationship, and the
detective, you recall, believed they
were carrying on an affair. It is not
important, except that it tells us Shil-
ling saw the girl with some frequency.

“She was there the night Hammond
came. Something was going on and
Hammond saw it. | don’t know what
it was, but it was enough to frighten
Hammond out of his wits. Maybe
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there were strange rites— we had that
suggestion from the Continental re-
port. Maybe what happened was so
repugnant or terrible that Shilling’s
hold on the girl was just about broken.
You recall Hammond wrote that Shil-
ling’s relationship with the Thing was

‘diseased.” | don't know what that
could mean, but it sounds horrible
enough. Whatever it was, Hammond

saw it, and he saw it when he was not
hypnotized.

“You can imagine what that did to
him. For weeks he had been believing
in the Thing. It had made life un-
bearable. Now he saw something that
was obviously hypnosis. He couldn’t
just thrust everything out of his mind
at once. It didn’t immediately become
clear. He saw enough to shake him to
his roots, but he didn’'t know what to
believe and what to understand. He
understood enough to realize that
something was terribly wrong— enough
also to realize that Katherine’s life was
in great danger, if not already forfeit.

“TTNNOTICED, he crept back to the
beach and lay there, trying to
work it out in his mind. His world
was in chaos, he could not think. He
knew only that he had to warn Jean
Lowell, because she was closest to
Shilling and in the greatest danger.
Finally he left the yards. He had been
soaked by the tide and he looked like
a maniac. He went to Jean’s house and
tried to warn her, but Shilling had long
before put Jean beyond Hammond'’s
reach. Wasn't her refusal to speak to
Hammond a strange thing? She had
been very close to him for many years;
no matter what she might think, how
could she let him beg and weep out-
side her door and not speak to him?
It was not a normal reaction.
“So Hammond went home. There he
found Maria’s sister and was forced to
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listen to an undeserved denunciation.
When the sister threatened to take
Maria away, he couldn’'t stand it any
longer and he almost threw her out.
When she had left, finally, all he could
do was to stand there and scream. It
was hours before he recovered suffi-
ciently to tell his wife what was hap-
pening and what he had seen. It
couldn't have made much sense. He
still didn’t know what to believe, what
was real and what was Shilling’s work.
In the morning, Maria called her doc-
tor. She didn't know what to think,
and she checked herself when she was
on the verge of confiding in the doctor.
Besides, Hammond was shouting again.

“If you will examine Dr. Pryce’s
testimony, you will see that Hammond
did not really threaten his wife. He
shouted that her life was not safe with
him, that she should leave before it was
too late, and he would face it alone.
Far from a threat, this was an offer of
protection. Hammond had seen some-
thing that made him realize that he was
in danger, and he feared that Maria
might be hurt because of him. Finally
he was given a sedative and he slept.
While he was asleep, Shilling tele-
phoned.

“What had happened to Shilling,
meanwhile? He had had Katherine on
his hands. Something had gone wrong,
his hold was breaking. He had gone
too far and he was afraid of what she
might do. He was terrified by the
thought of Katherine going to the
police with a story that might end in
connecting him to Raoul Besancon. By
five o’clock that morning he knew he
had to do away with her. But he let her
leave— so she could be seen leaving, to
establish his alibi if she were traced
to him. Then he went out through some
secret exit and headed her off before
she got to the trolley. Either by vio-
lence or persuasion, he got her back
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into the yards. He could have stran-
gled her right there in that deserted
street and carried her back. Then he
hid her body until he could dispose of
it within the next few days.

“T)UT the next morning the chief

watchman, Mulvaney, told him of
Hammond's visit the night before. In
his bewilderment he at first denied it,
but a moment’s reflection made him
change his story. He said Hammond
had left at midnight with Katherine.
That story was no good either, because
of the watchman who had seen the girl
leave hours after Hammond had left,
but it gave him time to think, to look
for a way out, in case he suddenly
needed an alibi.

“Of course, it occurred to him that if
he got rid of the watchman, he could
let the guilt gravitate to Hammond, but
this plan was far fetched and dangerous,
and quite worthless for another reason.
For he knew what Hammond might
have seen the previous night; if Shil-
ling had feared the girl's talking, he
feared Hammond even more. There
was no immediate danger— nothing had
happened yet— but he had to act quick-
ly. He knew he had to get rid of Ham-
mond. Was there perhaps a way of
doing it that incriminated Hammond so
overwhelmingly that nothing Hammond
could say would help him? He had had
a great power over Hammond— was
there some way he could use that power
now?

“He was forming a plan. Very likely
Jean had called him that morning and
told him of Hammond’s actions, the
night before. The first thing he had
to do was check on Hammond. He tele-
phoned, and to his surprise, Maria an-
swered. Their conversation should not
be too difficult to imagine. Shilling
learned he was speaking to Hammond’s
wife, and she learned she was speak-
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ing to the man her husband had told
her about. They both made cautious
inquiries, but Shilling had the ad-
vantage of knowing what it was all
about. When he learned that Hammond
was ill and in bed, he knew where he
stood. He told Maria he had seen
Hammond the night before, that Ham-
mond had been acting strangely when
he left with Katherine— so strangely
that Shilling called to inquire about
him. The response was excellent. To
Maria he was a normal man, an old
friend of Hammond, contradicting the
little she had understood of her hus-
band’s incoherent story. Shilling ad-
vised that Hammond rest, and with a
slight note of urgency, promised to
come to see him the next day.

“The call increased Maria’s fears,
so she called her doctor and told him
he need not return. In the evening she
telephoned her sister to reassure her.
For the rest, she kept tryihg to make
Hammond change his story. When she
told him what Shilling had said, Ham-
mond didn’'t know what to think. He
saw something was afoot, but he
couldn’t begin to understand it. He
waited for Shilling to come, determined
to find out what Shilling was up to.

“But he was useless against Shilling.
As he wrote, he looked in Shilling’s
eyes and knew he was lost. Shilling
fooled him completely, caught him off
guard. He pleaded for Hammond’s
help before he said anything else. He
presented himself as a victim, and
quickly showed Hammond that they
were together in the tragedy and in
what might happen. ‘There was no
denying him* Hammond wrote. ‘There
was no sense fighting him if we were
together in this* After that, he was
slowly hypnotized.

“CHILLING’'S plan was dangerous
and elaborate, and he had to work
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with great caution and skill. He made
Hammond tell him everything— the
fact that he had told Maria the story,
the fact that he had been to see you.
Instead of trying to dominate Ham-
mond, to force him to do what Shil-
ling wanted, Shilling worked on a dif-
ferent method. He worked out the
story of the cycles, of his loss of will.
He persuaded Hammond as to what
Hammond had seen. He made him for-
get some things and got him to ‘remem-
ber’ others. The whole story was
pointed toward making both of them,
and potentially, many others, the vic-
tims of the Thing, and the plan was
to destroy the Thing. That object of
the plan— the destruction of the Thing
— was something Hammond wanted so
badly that he was a magnificent sub-
ject. He had weeks of domination be-
hind him, he was all confused and his
nerves were shattered. He believed
everything— that Shilling could have
let him be blamed for the girl’'s mur-
der— that he had actually witnessed an
entirely different scene that night in the
yards— that the plan was the only way
out.

“There was another part to this plan
of which we know nothing but the re-
sult—the fact that Hammond stran-
gled his wife, but I will try to explain
that when we come to it in a moment.

“Meanwhile, what of those aspects
of the plan which we do know? When
Shilling left Hammond, he met Maria
in the street and they talked. Maybe
he told her then that Katherine was
dead, maybe he waited until the next
day, but she promised to come to the
yards the following afternoon, where
he had sortiething to show her. She
might have become suspicious of him;
her remarks to her sister can be inter-
preted in various ways. At any rate,
she called her sister that night and told
her she’'d be at the party the next day.
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“She came to the yards that Sunday
afternoon and spoke to Shilling several
times. He told her where she would
find the body, and toward evening she
went to the remote part of the yards
where it had been hidden and she saw
it. Shilling followed her. He told her
that Hammond had committed the
murder, that he was unbalanced. May-
be Shilling offered to help her— it does
not matter, because he knew that when
she went home, that would be the end
of her—”

“That’s the part | don’'t understand,”
1 said.

Dr. Schumer sighed. “All in good
time. | promise you nothing, but I will
try to show you what might have hap-
pened. | told you when | began that it
was foolish to hope to understand
everything in this.”

T MADE a resigned noise and the

Doctor continued:

“Shilling knew, | repeat, that Maria
would soon be out of his way. It did
not matter to him what she thought or
believed. The party would continue,
the dynamite was close at hand, ready
to be connected. It began to rain and
everyone went home. That did not
alter matters, because Hammond had
been given a prearranged time when
everyone would have been gone any-
way. Shilling kept Jean there because
she was part of his plan to involve
Hammond.

“Look how it would have appeared if
the plan had worked according to
schedule. At the pre-arranged time,
Shilling would take Jean out of the
houseboat because he would have
heard some sound, some voice— the
signal, of course, but he could later say
that was what made him go out of the
houseboat. The dynamite had been
so planted that it would blow up the
houseboat, but the dynamite under the
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body was purposely left unconnected.
Hammond would depress the plunger,
there would be an explosion, the police
would come. What would they dis-
cover?

“They would find no fingerprints ex-
cept Hammond’s. They would soon find
Maria in Hammond’s home, murdered
by strangulation. They would find
Katherine’s body, and'see that she too
had been strangled to death. They
would hear Shilling’s account of the
night when Katherine was killed— how
Hammond had come there, behaved
strangely, and had left with Katherine.
Everything could be explained, and the
story was clear. The story was almost
exactly what the District Attorney later
decided— that Hammond, insane with
jealousy, had married Maria; that he
had killed Katherine to have the blame
put on Shilling; that Shilling had found
it out and told Maria; that Hammond
had then killed his wife, come to the
yards and tried to murder both Shilling
and Jean. The use of the dynamite was
itself so violent a conception that it
would point to one explanation— that
Hammond was a dangerous maniac.

““FTER that, what could Hammond
do to save himself? Who would
listen to him? What if a watchman
swore he had seen Katherine alive at
a time when Hammond was elsewhere—
what would that matter beside the
evidence of another strangulation? If
Hammond said anything about the
Thing, the metal goddess, it would be
further evidence of his unbalanced mind
— something to which you too could
testify— or else he would be considered
a faker, as he actually was considered
during the trial.
“Do you see how it all fits? Do you
agree with my logic?”
| said: “Yes, but what about Maria?
And what about the box? | know there’s
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a connection somewhere, but what is it?
Maria’s sister testified that Shilling ran
after Maria and g>we her that box when
she went home, and that he had said
he wished she hadn’t gone home alone.
Later he could bring that up as evi-
dence that he was afraid for her, that
he warned her— while to us it is cer-
tainly evidence ithat he expected her
to be killed. 1 see also that he could
claim there was originally some of Ham-
mond’s belongings in the box, and he
could not account for the mud later
found in it— "

“No,” said the Doctor, “he did not
expect the box to be found. The way
Hammond took it along and then hid it
in the curio shop makes me think he
had full instructions about the box— "

“But what about his killing Maria?”

“1 don’'t know,” the Doctor shrugged.
“There is little to go on here, but this
is what | think: that Hammond killed
her as the result of a post-hypnotic in-
struction from Shilling. Shilling told
him that, and more, the last afternoon
he saw him. The box with its mud and
ghost crabs was the releasing factor—
the instruction was to take effect when
Hammond saw it. That’s why Shilling
made sure Maria took it.”

“Do you really think Hammond could
strangle his own wife because of a sug-
tion given to him while he was under
hypnosis? |'ve always read that no one
can be made to do anything he wouldn’t
ordinarily do.”

“Then perhaps Hammond did not
love his wife as much as we seem to be-
lieve,” said the Doctor. “l agree with
you that it would be a rare instance if
we knew that hypnotism alone com-
pelled him to kill her if he did not want
to, or was not at least partially amen-
able to the idea. Or she may have
shown him the box and said something
to him that drove him into a frenzy—
a contingency forseen by Shilling— and
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this released the suggestion.”
“Then you really think Hammond
strangled his wife ?”

“jV fY dear fellow,” said the Doctor,

1 A patiently, “we know he really
strangled his wife. We may not know
why, we may not know what made him
do it, but we do know he did it. There is
no other explanation. There was no
one else there; no one else could have
done it. Your only alternative is to be-
lieve Hammond’s account of how Maria
died. Can you believe that, and not
what | am saying?”

| had to say no, but | had more ques-
tions. “What about the rest of what
Hammond wrote, then? He described
the way she came in, what she told him,
and so on. He didn’t see Shilling after
that happened, so how did he come by
that account? Was that also something
Shilling had told him beforehand— I
mean, did he tell him what to do and
then what to believe had happened?”

The Doctor looked puzzled, so I put
it a different way. “You say Shilling
told Hammond that he was to strangle
Maria when the box was opened. All
right, Hammond did it. But did Shilling
also tell him what he was to believe had
happened after he did it? That’s pretty
Steep.”

“l don’t know,” the Doctor said.
“Maybe Hammond made it up later on,
when he thought he remembered. I'll
show you what | mean. Look at the
diary and see what Hammond wrote.
Here he says:‘. . . somehow within me
was the prescience of tragic doom . . .
You can accept that for what it appears
to be—a foreboding— or you wonder
whether Hammond meant that he knew
he was going to kill her. Then he asks
himself: “. . . how am 1 to tell myself
these memories are false, that 1 have
created them?’ Is he referring only to
the fact that I told him all his memories
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were false, or did he himself wonder?
He also wrote: ‘The catalyst of doubt
still operatesBest of all, he wrote:
‘And finally, to confess that most of that
hour is as vague as it has always been’
—s0 he admits he really can’t remem-
ber. (

“He says he dimly remembers her
terror, supposedly because of what she
knew, but it might have been because
he began to strangle her. He thinks he
remembers the box pressing against him
as he leaned forward— which might
have happened as he strangled her. He
says: ‘I do not trust these imperfect
images which my brain has crusted with
horror.” He also admits he has never
remembered what was in the box— so
here we have an excellent example of
motivated amnesia— the memories are
crusted with horror. But the ‘small blue
marks that ringed her throat’ tell us
what happened.

“"EFTER he strangled her, however,

something happened to him. He
saw her lying dead, and part of his
consciousness came alive. He dimly
realized that Shilling was to blame for
all this. He was almost in a state of
shock, but he was still acting under
some compulsion. He went to the
yards, possibly didn’t know or didn’'t
care that Jean was with Shilling, and
blew up the houseboat, believing also
that he had destroyed the body of Kath-
erine Gray. He still had the box with
him, and dazed and hurt as he was, he
remembered to take it along and get rid
of it somewhere.”

“And then?” | asked.

“And then, returning home, he sat be-
side his wife’s body, and the full reali-
zation of her death, of his part in it,
was too much for him. Everything
welled up within him, and his mind re-
treated— he was the soldier on the bat-
tlefield caught in a searchlight. The
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light was too dazzling, too bewildering,
and the shock was on him completely.
He was safe from everything and every-
one at last.

“He stayed that way for a long time,
but gradually, as you know, after he
came here, he began to recover. He
lost his fear of mud, he stopped acting
out the listening to the Thing. He be-
gan to wonder who | was, where he
was. Then he began to remember
things, but they were such horrible
things that he needed some justification
for them— he needed something which
would let him feel sorry for himself.

“Gradually he built up the notion
that he was under sentence of death,
that the Thing had passed that sen-
tence. He built up the defense for what
he had done to his wife. He had Shill-
ing’s tale of suspended death in Kath-
erine’s case, so he made a parallel case
for Maria. Then he must have included
himself among them— believing that the
same box that had Kkilled his wife
could kill him. That was one thing he
never told me, the part the box played,
because it was his defense— it made him
a victim among victims. He was such
a victim, of course, but he remembered
that he had Kkilled his wife.

“rfjHNALLY, he began to forget again,

because there was too much trag-
edy to bear in what he remembered. He
might have forgotten it all if I had not
been encouraging him to consider all his
memories as delusions. | had enough
influence with him to get him to believe
that it might be so, yet he was forget-
ting, and it worried him. He decided
to write a diary and | encouraged the
idea.

“In his mind the diary was to be the
vessel into which he would pour all his
delusions, half memories, real memo-
ries. It was as if he sought to im-
prison what he feared in the past on
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paper. Once he had it on paper, he
might have destroyed the whole thing,
as if that would destroy the past and
what he feared and remembered in it.
| understood that, and kept copying the
diary as he wrote it. But there was
always the box to plague him. How
could he be sure of anything unless he
could see that box, or find out there was
no box? So he told me what he remem-
bered of it and asked me to try to get it.

“Meanwhile he wrote the diary.
Some things were very clear. He was
always clear reporting early conversa-
tions, for instance. When he wrote of
those that had occurred when he was
under hypnosis, he was less clear and
often confused. As he wrote, he brought
that whole period back and he had
lapses, because he really wanted to for-
get. But he kept struggling, because
deep inside him he felt there was no
box and there would be no box. If
that was so, then he was really writing
delusions, and that gave him strength
to go on.

“He wrote that he could not record
these things if he really believed them,
but his doubts multiplied as he drew
closer to the end, to the part where he
would have to write of Maria’s death.
When he wrote of Shilling’s visit to
his home, he subconsciously revived the
suspicion and distrust he had felt at
that time and it colored his writing.
When he wrote of what happened in
the yards the night Katherine was
killed, he told the story Shilling had
told him. That story, you saw, was
that Shilling opposed the Thing’s Kill-
ing, and it had more of those quotations
of which Hammond was ignorant. The
very fact that he remembered them so
accurately— and didn’'t even know they
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were quotations when he came to you
shows how indelibly impressed they
were by hypnotic suggestion.

«f-jpHE parable of the murderer and
the sleeper 1 have explained as
something akin to the product of a
trance. Here again his suspicions of
Shilling were evident. But it was at
the very end, where he had to explain
Maria’s death, that he resorted to real
delusion, because he could not face the
truth. He even wrote that he was not
sure the Thing had been destroyed,
because how could it have passed a sen-
tence on him if he had destroyed it?
“Yet he had pinned all his hopes on
that box coming to nothing, that it
would be meaningless when he saw it
again, if it really existed. He offered
to ‘surrender’ to me, to believe every-
thing was a delusion, in that expecta-
tion. When he came downstairs and
saw what was in it, his worst fears
were realized. He was at a high pitch
of excitement— he was ready to take his
first step of real freedom, no matter
what he would have to accept. But he
did not expect that it would revive
everything he had fought for two years.
This time the shock was too much for
him. It Kkilled him. A blood vessel in
his brain burst and he was free at
last. . .

(COMMENT BY THE AUTHOR)

I had my notes. They ended the story
of the metal monster, as far as | knew, but
I wasn't sure of anything by then. 1I'm still
not sure and | don't think 1| ever will
be—D.V.R.

THE END



WHEN DRUNKENNESS WAS A CRIME
By ROBERT LAWRENCE

esting story, and yet there is much that we

never read about. In the early days of our
own country, for instance, we can find astound-
ing true tales, evidences of which are found in the
law records of the times. They tell us of the day-
to-day existence of living, breathing, individuals;
we are able to get some insight into their prob-
lems of maintaining order, their crime waves. For
in the days of the New Amsterdam Dutch (1647
—) they had a crime wave. It gained such a
shocking extent that the new governor threw his
arms up in alarm, and yet he was almost power-
less. Every one of his constituents, the entire
community, was on the side of the criminals.

The problem can be bluntly stated here and
now. It was drunkenness! Peter Stuyvesant, the
famous Dutch governor with the wooden leg, was
no prude himself. He had a dangerous pair of
fists and a hot temper. He was a beer-guzzler
besides. When he arrived on the shores of this new
land and surveyed the colony he was to govern,
even he was shocked at the drunkenness he found.
The amouYit of liquor being consumed in that
community of only seven hundred souls was be-
yond belief. There Were only about one hundred
and fifty houses in the entire village, and at least
forty of these buildings sold wine and ale. With
the only plausible excuse they could muster up,
these thirsty citizens told their new governor that
they considered the drinking water in their new
land unsafe.

From the outward appearance of the town and
its activities one would hardly assume them to
be a community of drunkards. The homes were
quaint, spotlessly clean, topped by thatched roofs
and wooden chimneys. There were two or three
roughly cobbled streets dotted with pillories for
punishment of petty thieves. Everywhere the
stocky Dutch burghers strolled about puffing on
their slender clay pipes. You could see them seated
calmly here and there, sitting over their beer.

As peaceful as this may all have seemed at first,
it turned out to be only skin deep. Far too many
of the townspeople fell into the canal that ran
near Whitehall Street, mute evidence' that they
had been so stewed they couldnt find their way.
A juvenile delinquency problem was also well un-
der way since liquor was obtainable to young
and old alike.

What constituted an extreme, a slaphappy ex-
treme, in mishehavior was the early Dutch prac-
tice of really “letting go” around holiday time.
For three weeks after Christmas the drinking and
merry-making in the colony continued. The lone
representative of law and order in the town,
the “shout,” was a sort of combination sheriff and
district attorney. This poor overworked creature

T HE pages of history reveal many an inter-
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was supposed to scout around outside the barri-
cade and watch for Indians. With all the whoop-
ing and fireworks going on inside, it would have
been impossible for him to hear an Indian tribe
riding up, let alone yell loud enough to warn the
population within. His work was made still more
difficult by the pranks of small boys in the town.
They greatly enjoyed hiding in the shadows, then
yelling “Indians!” at the tops of their young
lungs.

The Governor had to do something about this
sorry situation. It was his duty to remedy the
problem, and mustering all the impressive words
he could he drew up an official message which
listed a very lengthy group of prohibition laws,
amendments and interdictions. Included there
could be found a nine o’clock curfew bell.

It would seem that now the liquor flow through
the colony would be stopped, the men would once
more be able to walk a straight line and not face
the danger of drowning while in a drunken stupor.
But what actually was the result when these new
restrictions were placed upon the people?

Liquor was no longer sold legally in the town.
With a high tax it was sold in the area surround-
ing the town. The taxes rose higher and higher;
the blind pigs became more numerous all the
time; the beer became thinner and thinner. The
beer became so terrible that often disputes over
it reached the courts. Customers would refuse to
pay for their liquor stating how distasteful it
had been. Thereupon the innkeeper would take
him to court and demand his money under the law.

A typical trial over the quality of beer often
ran something like this. The defendent said that
the beer was bad, completely distasteful, and fur-
thermore he wouldnt allow even his worst enemy’s
dog to drink the stuff without having it on his
conscience. The plaintiff denied this, insisted that
the defendent was only interested in not paying
the bill, and as an argument added that people
wouldnt buy his beer if it wasnt good. The de-
fendent with an unusual gleam in his anger-filled
eyes suggested that there was only one way for
the judge and jury to find out the truthful quality
of the beer in question. He suggested that the
entire company go to the tavern. Conscientious
in their desire the entire group half walked, half
ran to put the liquor through the real test. They
had a grand time drinking up the last remains of
exhibit A

During Stuyvesant’s governorship the town ex-
panded. After eighteen years of hard labor di-
rected toward making it a peaceful sober com-
munity, Stuyvesant’s successor found 1400 worthy
citizens living there. They were all steady, con-
scientious drinkers.
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the thick earthen blast-wall into

- the change house of the explo-

sive plant. She punched the clock with
seconds to spare and ran to her locker.
Strip to brassiere and panties and cot-
ton socks. Rush to the barrier to be
inspected by two efficient matrons for
bobby pins in her curly black hair or
other contraband. Pass the barrier and
clothe her sturdy figure in white slacks
and tunic top, its red buttons indicat-
ing that she handled high-explosive.
Pull on hand-sewn, nailless shoes and
pop the white cap on her head. Walk—
no running allowed— down the long cor-
ridor with the shops staggered off it for
blast protection, to the fuse-loading
room. Slip into her place at the as-
sembly bench and draw a deep breath.
The other eighty girls and half dozen
men were in their places, chatting.
Ruth’s brown eyes flashed a greeting at
Bruce, over on the tightening machine.

RUTH BARTON hurried through

The lights flickered and the grave-
yard shift swung into action.

Facing Ruth was an open-end box
with a thick glass front. She picked up
a fuse from the tray with her left hand
and slid it into the box. Her right hand
selected one of the vital detonator pel-
lets, flashed into the other end of the
box, and, watching sharply through the
glass, her expert fingers placed the pellet
in its cavity. She then slid the loaded
fuse along the bench to blonde Margot
who screwed on the brass cap and
passed the deadly instrument to.the
tightening machine.

Bruce shoved the fuse down into the
machine, gave the tightening handle a
twirl, removed the fuse and gently
placed it in a tray to be carried off to
the packing room.

By the time Ruth had checked off two
trays on her scratch pad the shift was
running smoothly, and some of the
girls began to sing. The boys on the
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tightening machines started to harmo-
nize Melancholy Baby with the girls
joining in on the chorus.

“Oh, gosh,” muttered Ruth under her
breath, “if | had a decent singing voice
I wouldn’t have to sit here and get my
hands stained yellow from ‘tetryl.” Why
haven't I got glamor?”

She watched her nimble fingers under
the glass. Clever fingers, doing a vital
job to smash the Axis, but stained
brown-yellow as if they were bathed in
nicotine.

Ruth wasn’'t ashamed of them, ex-
actly, but when that nice army captain
had danced with her, she had felt a bit
embarrassed about placing her discol-
ored hand in his tanned fingers.

The girls were crooning Smoke Gets
In Your Eyes, and she shivered deli-
ciously, recalling the thrill of having
Captain Bob Hammond, tall, rangy,
and sort of ugly, sit down at her table in
the crowded restaurant and diffidently
inquire, “1 say, do you mind if | share
your table?”

Of course she hadn’t minded, and
when he had shyly asked her to go danc-
ing out on the lake for the scant two
hours remaining before she had to get
to work, Ruth had incredulously ac-
cepted.

“Nonsense,” she told herself firmly,
“You don’t fall in love just like that
with a man who deliberately scrapes an
acquaintance in a restaurant and then
dances a few times with you.” But,
suppose he had a soft, sympathetic
voice, and nice blue eyes; and suppose
over a couple of cokes he had told her
bluntly that he thought she was a
charming girl and wanted to see more
of her? Well, Miss Barton?

She shivered again, wondering at the
impulse which had made her, at the
gates of the plant, suddenly plant a kiss
on his cheek before jumping out of his
car.
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ripH E lights flickered twice, and Ruth
A looked up in surprise. Now, what?
Work stopped and the hands all gath-
ered at the end of the shop.

Government inspectors, in their white
uniforms and gray buttons, gave crisp
orders.

“Girls into this room, please.
will go down the corridor.”

They were quickly marched into a
vacant room and efficiently searched by
matrons. No word of explanation was
given. When the search was over, the
girls were returned to their places, the
men rejoined them, and the shift swung
back into action.

But there was no more singing now.
The exuberance had gone out of the

Men

shop. Ugly rumors drifted around.
Why the search? Sabotage? Contra-
band? Theft? Or had some official

merely wanted to give them a scare?
A couple of weeks ago a man had been
found with a single match in his pos-
session. He had been instantly dis-
missed and heavily fined. Vital danger-
ous work necessitated constant vigi-
lance.

Nimble fingers, deftly handling deli-
cate instruments and deadly tetryl,
making food for the hungry guns. This
one will shoot down a bomber, this one
will blast a tank, that one will save a
merchantman.

Brown - stained fingers, clever and
sure, backing the boys in khaki, chang-
ing desperate defense to smashing at-
tack, and sweeping the Axis wolves back
to their dens.

The lights flickered once. Recess.

Ruth checked her tally on the scratch
pad, stood up and stretched gratefully.
Several of the girls headed out for the
canteen. Others simply lay down on
the thick linoleum floor and promptly
went to sleep.

Bruce came over and took her arm.
“Come on, Ruth, I'll treat cokes.”
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She smiled up at him. “Thanks,
Bruce, 1'd like one.”

They hurried down to the canteen,
Ruth pattering along beside him, his
well-knit figure and glossy good looks
calling many an envious glance from the
other girls.

They found a table and he grinned
at her over his drink. “Like to go
swimming with me tomorrow— I mean
today?”

Ruth’s eyes opened wide in surprise.
The handsome Bruce asking her for a
date? Darn ij. Just when she had
practically promised Captain Bob that
she would spend the afternoon with him.
She contrasted Bruce’s flashing smile
and dark wavy hair with the captain’s
moody grin and unruly blond cowlick
— Bruce’s clean-cut jaw and handsome
features with the captain’s faintly bull-
doggish appearance.

But then, Bruce didn't make her
heart go flitter-flutter, did he? And
Bruce didn’t make her feel sort of warm
and comfortable inside, did he?

“Gosh, I'm sorry, Bruce, but I've got
a date for today.”

“Okay.” His grin was rueful. “We’'ll
make it another day soon.”

Recess over, hurry back to the shop
and settle down into the swing again.

D UTH was absorbed in her job, her
yellow fingers flashing under the

glass, when a familiar voice behind her

said, “How goes it, Miss Barton?”

Startled, she looked up— into the ex-
pressionless blue eyes of Captain Bob
Hammond. He was standing behind
her with two inspectors, all three of
them watching her intently.

“Oh, hello, Captain,”
shyly.

“I've been watching you. That's a
very important job you're doing, young
lady.” His voice was flat, impersonal.

“Thank you,” said Ruth drily, and

she smiled

155

turned back to her work. Captain Bob
and the inspectors strolled on, pausing
here and there to watch an operation.

She felt a stab of disappointment.
He had been so cold, so mechanical.
Then a thought struck her. Of course!
He was there on an official trip and
didn’t want to get personal in front of
the inspectors.

A band touched her on the shoulder.
She looked up. It was one of the in-
spectors.

“Miss Barton, will you please report
to the office at once?”

Wide-eyed, Ruth nodded and got up
from her stool. Wonderingly, she
watched the inspector pick up her
scratch pad and start ahead of her out
of the shop.

She stepped into the office—and
stopped. Captain Bob Hammond was
seated at the desk, facing her. Grouped
about the room were her shop super-
visor and several plant officials.

The inspector laid Ruth’s scratch
pad down on the desk and went over to
stand at the door.

The captain’s blue eyes, cold and
hard, flicked up at her.

“Will you sit down here, please, Miss
Barton?”

A chill of apprehension ran down
Ruth’s spine. There was an air of ten-
sion in the room, an air of watchful
waiting. She sat down opposite the cap-
tain.

“Yes, Captain Hammond?”

He stared at her steadily for a mo-
ment, then picked up some papers.
“You are Ruth Barton, twenty-four
years old, single, with two years at col-
lege and a good business education.
What made you take a job in this plant,
Miss Barton? | should think that a
secretarial position would have been
more to your liking.”

“Why,” stammered Ruth, “I — |
thought 1'd be helping Out more this
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way. It seemed more like being in the
war, than if | were pounding a type-
writer.”

Captain Hammond nodded.
record here is excellent.”

Suddenly angry, Ruth blurted, “And
may | ask just what this is all about?”

The captain’s eyes met hers stead-
ily. “Sabotage, Miss Barton.”

“Sabotage?” Bewildered thoughts
raced through her head. The search.
The seemingly casual trip through the
shop. “But what has that got to do
with me?”

“Why, you see, Miss Barton,” his
voice was cold, flat, “a number of fuses
have been coming through without de-
tonator pellets. Instead of the explo-
sive a wad of paper had been substi-
tuted. Now, do you understand?”

“Your

DUTH jumped to her feet. She

struggled to keep the tears from
her eyes and the sob from her throat.
“1 understand a lot of things, Captain,
that I didn't understand before! But
there are seme things you don’t under-
stand! | had two brothers in the serv-
ice. I've only got one now. Ted was
killed at Singapore. My brother jerry
is flying over Germany every mght!
You didn’t know that, did you? Did
you?”

Captain Hammond sighed. “Yes,”
he said heavily, “lI knew that. But
look!” He flipped open her scratch
pad. “You see? Several pieces have
been torn out of the back of the pad,
next the cardboard.”

Ruth stared at the pad, her mouth
dropping open.

“ljow do you account for that, Miss
Barton?”

Ruth’s head reeled. She felt a ter-
rific sinking sensation in the pit of her
stomach. It couldn’t be true!

“Well, Miss Barton?”

“l1 don’'t know! 1 don't know any-
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thing about it! 1 didn’'t tear those
sheets out, and | didn’'t sabotage any
fuses!” She glared through tear-filled
eyes at Captain Hammond. He was
watching her gravely. Then he
shrugged.

“For the time being you may go back
to your bench, Miss Barton.”

Ruth sank down into the chair.
felt weak, sick.

“l don’t want to go back to work. |
want to go home.”

Captain Hammond nodded at her su-
pervisor. “Give her a release.” He got
up and walked around the desk to stand
in front of her. “I'll drive you home.”

Ruth jumped to her feet and stamped

She

her foot. “You will not! I'll go home
by myself!”
“No. I'll drive you home.”

She glared up at him. “Am | under
arrest, Captain?”

He grinned. “No. Of course not.”

“Then will you kindly stand aside?”

Captain Hammond nodded thought-
fully. “This has been quite a strain for
you. Things will look brighter after
you've had a bit of sleep. I'll see you
later in the day, after lunch.”

“After lunch,” snapped Ruth, “I'm
going to the beach with Bruce, one of
the boys in my shop.”

“No,” he said quietly, “you’d better
have a talk with me. Here, dry your
eyes, Miss Barton.” He held out a
handkerchief.

Ruth snatched it and scrubbed her
lips— lips that had kissed Captain
Hammond.

“l suppose,” she said icily, “you
want to make love to me again, so you
can pump me some more! Goodbye!”

She turned to the supervisor,
snatched the work release from his
hand and ran out of the room.

TN THE change house she slipped out
1 of her slacks and tunic, passed the
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barrier, and donned her own clothes.
Scribbling a note to Bruce accepting
his invitation to go swimming, she
stuck it in his rack on the time clock,
punched her own card, and ran out to-
ward the gates of the plant.

Captain Bob Hammond was waiting
for her. He grabbed her arm. “Just a
moment, Ruth.”

Ruth jerked her arm away. “Take
your hands off me. | hate youl”

In the gray light of the early dawn,
his bull-dog face was impassive. He
looked down at her. “Listen, Ruth,”
his voice was earnest, quiet, “I’'ve got
to talk to you.”

“Why?” she flared,
done enough to me?
leave me alone!”

“Ruth, listen to me, please.”

“Yes! Listen to you! |1 listened to
you last night! 1 should have known
better, | suppose. The gallant Captain
Hammond scraping up an acquaintance
with Ruth Barton. Taking her danc-
ing, and whispering nice things into her
ear.” Her voice broke in a sob. “And
all the time you were just trying to trap
me!”

The captain shrugged. “Yes, that’s
all true, of course. But then, it’s not all
of the story. Don’t you see, Ruth? |
do not think that you are guilty. | think
you are a swell girl, and I've got to
clear you; but I can’t help you unless
you cooperate. | want to be your
friend, Ruth.”

“1 don’t believe you!”

The captain sighed. “Ruth, | don't
expect you to believe me, now. Later,
perhaps you will. In the meantime, the
evidence points toward your guilt.”

Ruth’s shoulders drooped. She felt*
tired, beaten. “I’'m not guilty.”

“l believe you.” Captain Ham-
mond’s voice was quiet, patient. “But
the evidence is there. You handle the
fuses. You put the detonator charge in.

“haven’t you
Go away and
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The paper is missing from your pad.
The only way to prove you are not
guilty is to find out who is trying to
frame you. Jump in my car and I'll
drive you home.” He put his hands on
her shoulders, reassuringly.

Ruth felt an urgent desire to put her
head on his chest and feel his comfort-
ing arms around her. But then, he had
been comforting last night, too.

She jerked erect. “Thank you. I've
just got time to catch the bus.” She
turned her back on him and ran to the
bus stop.

T ATER—tossing on her bed, vainly
attempting to sleep, Ruth tried and
tried to find a solution to the sabotage.
Let’s see, she put in the explosive pel-
let. Then she passed it to Margot.
Margot screwed on the cap. Then it
went to Bruce, who shoved the fuse
into the tightening machine. He didn’t
handle it except with the cap on. The
only person who could remove a pellet
would be Margot or one of the inspec-
tors. Margot? Blonde Margot with
her incessant chatter about her little
daughter, two years old? Impossible.

And then, how did that paper disap-
pear from her scratch pad? Come to
think of it, she had been replacing the
pads a little oftener than usual, lately.
But who could take the sheets out with-
out being noticed? Margot worked
next to her. Margot? No. Then who?

Ruth slipped off into fitful slumber,
to be wakened from a horrid dream by
the strident alarm clock. Time for her
date with Bruce.

She got up and dressed, feeling ill.
A couple of aspirin might help relieve
that splitting headache, but what would
take away the heavy feeling inside her?

She decided not to return to the
plant. Just send them a note of resig-
nation, requesting that her pay check
be sent on to her. Let them find some-
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one else to blame for the sabotage. Let
the clever Captain Hammond make
love to all the other girls in the shop,
if he felt like it. She didn’t care. Did
she? Well?

Ruth went into the bathroom and
scrubbed her vyellow hands with a
brush. With time, the stain would wear
off, disappear. But how about the stain
on her heart?

An auto horn blared outside. Bruce.
She dabbed some powder on her shiny
nose, snatched up her bathing suit and
cap, and ran down to the street.

“Hi, kid! How do you feel?” Bruce
was grinning at her from behind the
wheel of his roadster. She jumped in,
slammed the door, and he swung the
car away from the curb.

Speeding out the lakeshore drive,
Ruth was jerked from her moody
thoughts by Bruce’s concerned voice.

“What's the matter, Ruth? You left
the plant so suddenly this morning.
Not feeling well? You don’t look so
good, kid.”

“Oh, | feel all right, Bruce. Just had
a bad shock, that’s all.”

Bruce slid his arm sympathetically
around her shoulders. “Tell me what
it is. Maybe | can help you.”

Glad to have someone to talk to,
Ruth blurted out the story, indignation
fighting the sob in her throat.

“H-m-m-m.” Bruce was thoughtful.
“1 wouldn’t quit your job, if | were you.
It would look as though you were run-
ning away, wouldn’t it?”

“Perhaps. But then, if the sabotage
still goes on after | have left, they’ll
know it wasn’'t me, won't they?”

Bruce took his eyes off the road for
a moment to eye her closely. “But why
let them chase you away? Why not
stay and face it through?”

Ruth shrugged. “Well, perhaps
you're fight. [I'll think it over.”

“That's the spirit! Well, here we
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are. I'll meet you on the beach as soon
as you are ready.”

She nodded, jumped out of the car
and ran into the bathhouse.

'""pHE sea was Kkicking up quite

roughly, and Ruth soon forgot her
headache and her troubles, diving
through the huge waves with Bruce,
and letting the breakers wash over her.
Impossible to remain downcast on such
a day.

Finally, exhilarated and exhausted
by the pounding of the water, they
stretched out on the sand to soak up
some of the sunshine.

Ruth was idly chatting to Bruce,
when her eyes, which had been vacantly
looking at Bruce’s legs, suddenly fo-
cussed on his left ankle.

She was looking at a small brown
stain. Yellow-brown, the same color
as her fingers.

Ruth wrinkled her brow. Now, how
did that get on his ankle. A tetryl
stain!  Why— Suddenly, its signifi-
cance smote her. The saboteur.

A series of pictures flashed across
her mind— pictures which heretofore
had no importance, but now were
deadly in their evidence.

Bruce— placing the fuse in the tight-
ening machine, fumbling once in a
while, and cursing at his own clumsi-
ness— fumbling long enough to screw
off the cap before it was tightened and
remove the pellet. Bruce — reaching
down to scratch his ankle— and slip the
pellet inside his sock, where it stained
his skin. Bruce’s frequent trips to the
washroom— to flush the pellets down
the drain.

And Bruce, with his friendly grin,
walking over at recess to stand at her
bench, chatting to her with his hands
behind his back— and tearing sheets off
her scratch pad to substitute for the
explosive pellet!
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Ruth gasped, and looked up at him.
He turned lazily to grin at her, and
their eyes met, held a long moment.
Then he smiled, and jumped to his feet,
reaching down for her. “Come on,
Ruth. I'll race you out to the float.”

Ruth hesitated, but he pulled her to
her feet, and she stumbled after him
into the breakers. Her brain seemed
numb. What should she do?

In a matter of seconds they were
swimming side by side, now on the crest
of a swell, now in the trough, hidden
from the shore by the huge waves.

When they were out a hundred yards
or so, Bruce stopped swimming and
treaded water. He was looking at her
again, and this time he wasn’t smiling.
It hit her then; he knew that she knew!
Terror came as he lunged at her and
shoved her head under water, forcing
her down.

Suddenly submerged, Ruth struggled
frantically, holding her breath, fighting
to get up to the surface, up into the
sunshine, up into the precious air.
Squirming and kicking, Ruth tried to
break his hold, but his legs locked
around her body, holding her in a vise-
like grip. There was a roaring in her
ears, and her straining lungs were on
fire. The fight oozed out of her. She
was tired— tired.

Ruth hardly noticed that Bruce’s
legs weren’'t gripping her any longer.
Her weakly flailing arms met cloth-cov-
ered limbs. Then strong hands pulled
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her to the surface.

Her head broke through into the air.
Blessed air, so clean, so fresh.

From far away, she heard a rough
voice, Captain Bob Hammond’s voice,
say, “Take it easy, Ruth. There’s a
boat coming.”

He was holding her up, holding her
head above water, letting her breathe.
She gulped in great mouthfuls, cooling
her heaving lungs.

The air revived her and her vision
cleared. Captain Hammond, his blond
hair plastered over his eyes, was tread-
ing, water and supporting her anxiously.

“Sweetheart! Are you all right?”

Ruth nodded, and automatically be-
gan to move her limbs, keeping herself
afloat. She looked around.

Bruce’s head bobbed up on a wave
a hundred feet away. He was swim-
ming shoreward as fast as he could go.

Ruth gagged, spat out some water,
and gasped, “You've got to stop him!
He’s the saboteur! He hid the fuses in
his sock; | saw the stain—"”

“Yeah!” Captain Hammond grinned.
“1 know. We found tetryl on his socks.
A couple of the boys are waiting for
him on the beach.”

Ruth decided to wait until later to
snuggle her head on his shoulder, only
he didn’t let her. He kissed her right
in the water and suddenly she hoped
something would delay the rescue
launch.

THE END
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FEATURE ATTRACTION

MURDER

By RICHARD W. BISHOP

ILLUSTRATED BY CARL PEMBLE

ies didn't provide the best alibi

in the world. That was why he
chose them. It wouldn’t be too obvious.
And with his elaborate precautions, it
should be safe enough.

Ben knew that he would have to de-
pend on his alibi to pull him through.
He would have to answer questions, he
expected that. There were only three
of them who knew the combination to
the big office safe at Central. Only
three of them who knew it would be
bursting its doors with real pay dirt
tonight.

As Ben purchased his ticket at the
Majestic, he wondered which of the
other two would be holding the bag.
Old Carson would be home in bed. Ben
knew that. He always went to bed at
nine-thirty as regular as the minutes
of the hour. A swell alibi that would
be for him.

“What time will the pictures be
over?” he asked the ticket seller.

“The vaudeville is on now,” she told
him. “You should be out at eleven-
forty.”

She’d remember him now. She’d seen
him before. Every Tuesday night for
nearly a year. A year’s planning. But
a hundred grand was a good year’s pay.

Secretly Ben hoped that Carson
wouldn’t be pinned for it. He'd much
rather see Green get the works. Green,
he figured, had been seeing too much

BEN WROTH knew that the mov-

If you're planning a
nerve-wracking stunt,
okay, smoke—but not
iIf the stunt's murder!

of Marge lately. More than made Ben
comfortable. But Marge was going
away with Ben as soon as the heat was
off.

Not that Marge knew the score; she
didn’'t. She might have been squeamish
about it. Ben painted pictures to her of
a little chicken farm in the country. An
uncle had left it to him, he told her.
That was a good one. The more he
thought about it the more he wished
he’d made it a villa in the south. Oh
well, that could be changed.

Ben cupped his cigarette and nodded
at the ticket taker. “Good show, Jim?”
He had cultivated Jim’s friendship for
months now. The taker nodded. A
little absent-minded, Jim, but he'd do.
He’'d remember.

Ben slid down the aisle and found a
seat near the opened exit door. Even
in the dark he could picture the crooked
corridor that led to the outside. He
drew covertly on his cigarette, still
cupped in his hand, so the usher
wouldn’t see him.
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The last actor bowed off the stage
and the feature began. Ben knew it by
heart. He had sat through the same
show a week before in a distant city.
He waited until the audience had settled
down to enjoy the show. Then he
flicked away his cigarette and eased
himself out of his seat.

~NJpHE drive across town was easy. The

A traffic ban had reduced the number
of cars to a minimum. Ben made good
time without hurrying. His watch
showed that only a half hour had
elapsed since he had left the theater.

Ben grinned to himself as he thought
of feeble, hard of hearing Trist, the
night watchman. What a set-up! Even
the black-out regulations were helping
his plan.

With black gloves on his hands, Ben
let himself into the factory building and,
with a different key, into the office. It
was as black as pitch but he needed
no light. He was on familiar ground.
His hand felt and found the circular dial
of the huge, old-fashioned safe. A mo-
ment later and the same hand lifted out
great manila envelopes of currency.

It was as easy as that. Ben carefully
locked the office door behind him and
soft-shoed his way through the factory
corridor.

He was almost at the door when his
foot struck something hard and a waste-
basket tipped clattering to its side. A
side door swung wide, enveloping Ben’s
form in the shaft of light it poured into
the room.

“Who's there?” Trist's silhouette
showed in the doorway, a perfect target.
Ben was ready for him. He fired only
once. Trist crumpled to the floor.

More quickly now, but noiselessly
again, Ben slid through the outside door
and hurried to his car. He’'d have to
get back at once, he thought, before the
time came for Trist to punch his clock
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again. Before the alarm.

Driving back across town, Ben
lighted another cigarette and turned on
the radio. His self-assurance was re-
turning. He could slide through the
side door and into the theater without
difficulty. Hadn’'t he practiced it be-
fore? The ushers didn’t watch the exit
door. Its spring lock prevented it from
being opened from the outside. Hadn’t
he a key made for that very purpose?
He tossed the manila envelopes into
the glove compartment and breathed
more freely.

Tomorrow they would ask him where
he had been. “At the movies,” he'd tell
them. He could see their skeptical
looks now.

“See anybody you know?”

“Sure.” Had he? He should hope
to say so. A lot of people. He would
give their names. And he would tell
them all about the picture too.

It was the kind of alibi that Ben
knew would hold. It wasn't a strong,
cement-vault alibi that immediately
looked suspicious. It was the indispu-
table, unbreakable alibi that no amount
of checking would show to be false. It
was the kind of alibi that would let him
out and one of the others in.

He was glad Marge had gone out
with some friends tonight. Green
wouldn’t be with her. He chuckled.
Perhaps Green had gone to the movies
too. Alone. He wondered if Green
knew any ticket seller or ticket takers.
It didn't make any difference. There
was always Carson. Ben flicked his
cigarette out of the window and swung
his car around the corner toward the
theater.

Cold sweat broke out on his forehead.
Something had gone wrong! The mar-
guee that had been so brilliantly lighted
was black now! Ben was startled, un-
nerved. He drove by the theater slowly.
There was no light from within.
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Outside, a few stragglers stood about
the door as if watching. They seemed
to be talking and they made funny lit-
tle excited gestures. Ben dared not stop.

He looked at his watch. Eleven
o'clock. Time for the regular news
broadcast.

A near panic at the Majestic
Theater was averted tonight by the
quick thinking of the manager,
Harvey Spencer. The audience
pled out under his direction as the
cloth drapes on the east side caught
fire and the flames went to the ceil-
ing. The sprinkler system pre-
vented a serious holocaust, but
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thoroughly drenched the patrons.
The fire, which took place shortly
after the feature picture had
started and was of only a few mo-
ments duration, was believed to
have been caused by a cigarette
dropped by a careless patron who
failed to comply with fire regula-
tions. The fire commissioner has
ordered an investigation.

Ben swung to his right and toward
the turnpike leading out of town. But
somehow he knew that out there state
troopers would be waiting, hunting for
him.

THE END

COPS1 COLLEGE

have opened their classrooms and labora-

tories to thousands of policemen, detectives,
sheriffs and other peace officers who have turned
students. They are eagerly learning to fight crim-
inals in the best and most scientific ways.

Sometime ago, in a quiet Philadelphia suburb,
an automobile ran wild. A young girl, hurrying to
keep a date, glanced up too late. A cry, a thud,
and a crumpled heap in the street. But the speeder
dashed on, not even glancing back.

A few days later, in another suburb, the scene
was repeated. But out from a side street a road-
sterknifed ahead of the speeder, forced him to the
curb. Out jumped a young policeman, to scan
the driver’s license papers, also the car from top
to bottom.

“You and | are going for a ride” said the po-
liceman firmly. But first he carefully removed
something from the running board of the car and
put it into an envelope. At the police station he
gave this to the sergeant.

"Is that whaj. they teach you at Cops’ College?”
asked the sergeant. He asked no more when he
saw the report; threads from silk stockings and
long human hairs. The speeder, who was also the
hit-and-run driver, is now in prison.

That policeman was one of the first products of
the movement. It started in the four counties
around Philadelphia. ITiere are substantial Phila-
delphia business men who are tempting marks for
the criminal, there are industries that require
protection, at times against raiding dty crooks in
automobiles. In general, this is the problem
throughout the country, how to get better-trained
suburban and township police.

L:EADING colleges throughout the country

A Philadelphia citizen suggested one school for
the region, something like the G-Men’s school in
Washington with G-Men as teachers. The G-Men
proved receptive to the idea, apd so were other
“professors” from the Pennsylvania State Police.
The school was opened in rooms offered by
Swarthmore College.

The teachers demonstrate different ideas and
teach one how to gather evidence, how to present
it in court to make a case stick and escape a
dismissal with angry words from a judge.

The elementary course for the “Cops” covers
practical work from patrolling to undercover de-
tection, traffic, fingerprinting, latent evidence, legal
medicine, crime prevention, preparation of evi-
dence, etc.

Beyond this is the advanced course that will
made an officer a specialist in identification or
other phases of police work.

More and more colleges are pioneering in this
new field. However, few can maintain extensive
crime laboratories like the excellent ones at North-
western, Harvard and Chicago.

Good, citizens everywhere are working to extend
this movement. They want every community
better protected not only from its now criminals,
but from its neighbors’ criminals. They want
everywhere, in cities, towns and villages, better-
trained law officers, detectives, fingerprint experts
and chemists using methods more efficient and
familiar to all.

In any emergency these men will know not only
what to do, but how to do It. Then dty and
country will be safe for Mr. and Mrs. Average
Citizen and the children to live in—E. Randy
Norman.
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Death Rides a Convoy

By WILLIAM LAWRENCE HAMLING

Coen almasid an American
c&nooy Qetiman tuujA, tried to
iMotcl\ M aridt'l pAeeiani tluepAlnil

OMMANDER ROGER MARSH
C settled back on the leather cush-
ions of the taxi and relaxed. It
was all over now but the shouting. He
had finished plans for America’s own
secret weapon, the legendary “land
battleship” safely on his person, and the
weapon itself was sealed in hundreds of
crates aboard a Liberty ship ready to
sail at midnight. It would join the
convoy somewhere in the Atlantic.

Humming softly to himself, Com-
mander Marsh looked at his wrist
watch. It was 2310, just fifty minutes
before sailing time. But there was no
hurry. He’'d be there in a few more
minutes. He patted the black brief case
on his lap and smiled. The admiral
had been worried he recalled.

“Be careful, Roger,” Vice Admiral
Cowell had said just a short time before.
“The enemy would do anything to get
their hands on those plans. 1'm almost
afraid to let you carry out this assign-
ment alone.”

Commander Marsh had replied
grimly. “I realize that, sir, but it’s best
| do carry it out alone. We'd only draw
attention if more men were put on the
job. And the fewer who know about
it the better.”

They had shook hands on it then.
And Commander Marsh had left the
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admiral’s office with the brief case. Now
he relaxed against the taxi’s back seat.
If only he had been able to see Betty
Cowell before he sailed, then everything
would have been complete. She had
been hiding something from him for
weeks with that devilish little smile of
hers, a surprise she had said. But hell,
you couldn’'t have your cake and eat
it too.

The taxi was rounding a corner into
Front street. Ahead loomed the somber
vastness of the Navy shipyards. The
driver was whistling Mairzy-Doats soft-
ly to himself.

The truck came out of nowhere. Two
bright lights had magically appeared
off to the right side of the cab and bore
down upon it at terrific speed.

The cab driver let out a curse and
whipped the cab sharply to the left.
But it was too late.

There was a screeching of brakes.
The lights of the truck veered on a
forty-five degree angle, and then the
body of the truck side-swiped the taxi
against the curb and up on the side-
walk. The cab rolled over on its side
and stopped.

The truck pulled to a halt and two
men leaped from the driver’'s seat. A
street light’s rays glinted on short snub-
nosed automatics. The men raced over
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to the smashed taxi. One of them
jumped on the tiltel running board and
pulled open the back door.

Commander Marsh lay sprawled
against the opposite side of the cab. He
was attempting to crawl to his knees
and a slow trickle of blood oozed down
from his forehead. The brief case lay
on the seat beside him.

“That’s it!” A harsh voice croaked
out. A hand reached inside.

Commander Marsh was hazily aware
of what went on. There was a blinding
pain in his head where he had struck
the metal hand rail on the front Seat.
He heard someone moving beside him
grasping for the brief case. Feebly he
struck out.

The man cursed and lashed the barrel
of his gun across Marsh’s jaw. The
Commander slumped.

Down the street came the shrill blast
of a whistle.

“Hurry up! It's the cops1” The man
outside called. Then his partner joined
him with the brief case. Together they
raced to the idling truck. Gears clashed
and the truck moved off into the night.

<tJpHAT was a hell of a close call!”
Captain Henry Marlowe, USMS,
commanding the liberty ship, Tampa,
paced the length of his quarters.
Commander Roger Marsh was sitting
on the edge of the captain’s bunk, a
bandage draped across his forehead.
There was a cigarette in his hand. A
grim whiteness was around his mouth.
“l had a feeling something like that

would happen,” he said. “That'swhy I
took the brief case along. Naturally I
didn’t have the plans in it. | kept those

taped against my body. All those agents
got was a sheaf of blank paper.

“But it proves one thing. We're being
watched by a cunning group, and |
won't feel safe until we land this convoy
atthe BI1.”
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The captain nodded. He continued
to pace the cabin thoughtfully.

“l don’t think you’ll have to worry
any more, though. We’'re on our way
right now. And 1'd like to see anyone
try something aboard my ship! Be-
sides the antecedents of every member
of the crew on this ship have been
examined three generations back! En-
sign Dobel personally chose the crew.
They’re a fine bunch of merchant sea-
men.” He paused, and a smile crossed
his rugged features. “Incidentally,
there’s someone aboard you know.”

Roger Marsh looked up. He frowned.

“Someone | know?”

Captain Marlowe nodded. “We've
got a couple of new radio operators,
WAVES. One of them is Admiral
Cowell’s daughter.”

Marsh nearly dropped the cigarette.
“Betty?” he said in disbelief. “A
WAVE? But that’s impossible!”

Captain Marlowe shrugged. “Maybe
so, but the old man himself gave her
the appointment. It was as neat a bit
of Naval politics as I've seen in twenty
years of service. | gathered that she
had been keeping her work a secret.”

Commander Marsh got slowly to his
feet. He felt gingerly at the bandage
on his head and started for the door.

“Where are you going?” Captain
Marlowe asked, smiling.

“Radio room, sir,” Marsh replied
and strode from the cabin.

'"T'H E night was dark. Heavy clouds
cloaked the Moon as Marsh made
his way aft to the radio room. The
Atlantic rolled in billowy swells. There
was a fairly stiff breeze blowing down
from the north and the clean salty air
helped to clear the dull throb that still
lingered in his head.
There were no visible lights aboard
the Tampa. Somewhere off in the dark-
ness Roger Marsh knew a United States
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destroyer, would be lurking, ready to
come about should help be needed.
They would join the convoy sometime
on the following afternoon, far from
land. The exact spot only Captain
Marlowe knew.

Marsh was painfully aware of the
importance of the cargo the liberty
ship carried. With the invasion of west-
ern Europe only a short time off, per-
haps any day now, the newly developed
“land battleship” of the United States
would play a major part in the opera-
tions. For it was just what its name
implied. And nothing short of a 105mm.
could even attempt to stop it.

The enemy would stop at nothing to
get a look at those plans that were
accompanying the finished product
overseas. And if the sub pack of Hitler
could get the convoy’s position there
would be hell to pay.

He was feeling his way along the
starboard rail when somebody loomed
before him. He couldn’'t see clearly,
but there was a deeper patch of black-
ness blocking his way. He stopped and
called out.

“Who's there!”

Nobody answered. There was a scuf-
fle of feet in the, darkness. Marsh
tensed. He drew his breath in sharply
as something lashed out against his jaw.
But this time he was ready. He rolled
with the blow and ducked down against
the railing. Then a foot smashed against
his chest and the breath whistled from
his lungs. He knew that the next blow
would finish him. But it never came.
A voice called out in the darkness.

“Did someone call out here?”

Footsteps hurried off and faded away.
Commander Marsh crawled slowly to
his feet and stood leaning against the
railing catching his breath. A blackout
flash beam shed a pin-beam of light in
the night. He walked toward it. A
A voice cried out.
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“Roger! Good heavens, what's hap-
pened to you?”

Commander Marsh knew that voice.
He knew it as well as he knew his own.
It was Betty Cowell. She grasped his
arm and pulled him in a cabin. The
door shut behind them and a light
clicked on.

ILTE stood swaying on his feet blinking
against the sudden illumination.

She was clad in drab dungarees. Her
raven hair peeped out from under a
seaman’s cap. Her eyes were wide, al-
most fearful. He glared at her.

“Betty, what are you doing aboard
this ship!” he demanded. His tone was
angry. Inwardly he was cursing him-
self for allowing his attacker to get
away. This was the second time in one
night. And he suddenly knew that the
taxi episode wasn’t going to be the last.

The girl moved over to the radio set
and seated herself before the dials and
key. She looked up at him.

“This is the surprise 1've been sav-
ing, Roger,” she said. “l joined the
WAVES two months ago. 1'm a radio
operator now. | wanted to do my bit
too—you men get all the glory! Be-
sides,” she added lowering her gaze, “I
wanted to be with you overseas. |
couldn’t bear the thought of anything
happening to you . . .” Her voice
trailed off. Roger Marsh looked down
at her and he knew he should have
taken her in his arms. But that was out
now. They were on the high seas. A
precious cargo was sealed in the ship’s
bowels, a cargo that well might mean
the difference between success and fail-
ure in the coming operations. Too,
there was an enemy on board, and there
was an enemy waiting out in the deep
waters— waiting to send tons of high ex-
plosives hurtling into them. Both un-
seen enemies, but both malignantly
present.
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“This is no place for a woman|” he
said angrily.

She gazed up at him in surprise.
“Why not? If it wasn’t nle it wquld be
someone else—you know that! Or is
it that you’d prefer me to call you ‘sir’
now that I’'m in a uniform!”

Roger Marsh laughed at the fire that
had leaped into her eyes. She was a true
Cowell all right. The admiral must
have gotten quite a kick out of assign-
ing his daughter to the same ship Marsh
was on. Not tliat he would have too
much to say about it. She would have
demanded it. Anyway she was here,
and he couldn’'t keep down the glad
feeling it produced inside him.

“Roger, you haven't told me what’s
happened to you, why the bandages—
and your face is swollen!” There was
anxiety in her voice.

“It’'s nothing, Betty, | had a little
accident coming to the pier. A truck
ran into my cab.”

He leaned over and planted a Kiss on
her mouth.

“Now get back to your job. I've got
some things to attend to. And don't
expect any special favors just because
I'm going to marry you!” There was a
trace of humor in his yoice.

“l don't expect anything, sirl” she
said defiantly.

The door opened slightly and some-
one quickly stepped inside. Marsh
turned around. A slim ensign saluted
him.

“I've been looking for you, sir,” he
began.

“Oh, hello, Dobel. Glad to see you.”
Marsh replied.

“Sir, there’s something queer going
on— 1| just came from your quarters,
and well, I wish you’d come along.”

Roger Marsh frowned. He glanced
aside at Betty Cowell. She was gazing
at them quizzically.

“Come on,” Marsh motioned to the
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ensign. Together they slipped through

the door and outside into the night.

“r yOU didn’t see or hear anyone go
aft from this deck a few minutes

ago, did you, Dobel?” Marsh asked as

they descended a spiral stairway.

“Why, no sir, | didn't.”

Marsh entered a narrow companion-
way and the ensign followed. He
stopped before the door to his quarters.
It was open. A frown crossed his face.
The interior of the room was a
shambles. His clothing was scattered
over the floor and bunk, the drawers
of his desk were pulled out, papers scat-
tered haphazardly, even the bunk itself
was torn up. The whole thing gave the
appearance of a hasty ransacking.

“This is what I meant, sir. | passed
here just a few minutes ago and the
room was like this. Shall I inform Cap-
tain Marlowe?”

Marsh walked into the room and
looked around. It all began to click
now. Whoever the spy was he was
wasting no time and sparing no effort.
That was why he had been attacked on
the above deck. The rat must have
just left the companionway when he’'d
come from the -captain’s quarters.
Marsh faced Dobel.

“l understand, Dobel, that you were
in charge of the crew of merchant sea-
men signed on for this voyage.”

The ensign nodded. “That’s right,
Commander, | checked the lists of
every man, but the actual signing and
declaring | left to Officer Higgins. Do
you think one of the men ...”

Marsh walked over and sat on the
edge of his desk. He gazed closely at
Dobel. “I don't know what to think
yet,” he replied. “But I'm damned well
going to start finding out. | want a
complete list of every man on board this
ship, with all the available records of
each of them.”
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“Very well, sir,” Dobel replied.
“Shall | send someone in to straighten
up your quarters?”

“No, I'll take care of this myself. And
incidentally, don’t mention it to anyone
— not even Capain Marlowe. We've got
a long trip ahead of us and there’ll be
enough tension as it is.”

The ensign nodded, saluted, and left.

Roger Marsh closed the door to his
quarters and began to clean up the
mess. He worked swiftly and silently
and his mind turned over this latest
development. Whoever was behind this
sinister plot was getting desperate.
Caution was being discarded. It was
obvious that someone wanted to get the
plans before the convoy was fully or-
ganized on the high seas. Roger Marsh
knew that he must catch whoever was
behind the plot before the convoy got
fully under way.

He seated himself at the desk after
awhile and lit a cigarette. A knock
sounded at the door.

“Come in,” he called out.

The door opened and a short stocky
man with a sheaf of papers in his hand
stood in the opening.

“C.P.0O. Higgins, sir. Ensign Dobel
said you wanted a list of the crew.”

Roger Marsh eyed the crew chief and
nodded.

“Have you kept a close check on
the men tonight?” he asked.

The C.P.O. frown. “I'm not sure
I know just what you mean, Com-
mander,” he replied.

“1 mean do you know if the men have
been at their stations— and not wan-
dering about the ship— especially
around the radio room?”

Higgins shook his head. “As far as
I know, sir, nobody left his post, but
I'll make a check on it. Is there any-
thing wrong?”

Marsh waved his hand.
special, but check on it.

“Nothing
That'’s all.”
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Higgins saluted and left.

Some time later Marsh sat back in
his chair and wearily glanced at his
watch. It was 0430 and he had drawn
a blank. There wasn’t a thing in the
records to even hint at a possible agent.
He sighed heavily and looked across
at his bunk. It was time he got some
rest. There would be plenty to do be-
fore the day was over. The convoy
would be organizing for the long peril-
ous trek through sub infested waters.

He made sure his cabin was locked
before he turned in.

TT was noon when Commander Marsh

joined Captain Marlowe on the
bridge. The captain stood with his
binoculars raised gazing out to sea.
Marsh shaded his eyes and glanced
over the water. His heart leaped.
Barely visible to the naked eye were a
series of small dots against the hori-
zon. Faint wisps of smoke from count-
less funnels smuddged the skyline. It
was a glorious sight, this forming of the
convoy. It never failed to thrill Marsh
every time he witnessed it.

They seemed to come out of nowhere,
these ships, all meetjpg at a predeter-
mined spot in a mighty vastness of
water. A half mile astern a sleek de-
stroyer plowed through the rolling
swells, black smoke belching from its
funnel. Helio signals flickered across
the water. Captain Marlowe turned.

“Oh, it's you, Marsh. We're getting
ready to form a rendezvous. It's a
great relief to me. As far as I'm con-
cerned these first hours at sea are al-
ways the hardest. You never know
what is coming when you're alone. Now
the Navy can take over.”

Marsh smiled. “That’s our job, sir.
I've got my share of it right here.”

Captain Marlowe looked closely at
him. “Still thinking about that taxi
affair?”
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“It’s more than that, I'm afraid.”
Marsh replied. He recounted the
events of the night in a few sentences.
Marlowe swore in astonishment.

“You mean there’s someone aboard
my rhip— an enemy agent?”

Marsh nodded grimly. “There is.
And I've checked over the crew my-
self without finding anything. Our
man is devilishly smart.”

Captain Marlowe stroked his chin
worriedly.

“I'l have Dobel post a guard at
every companionway for the rest of the
trip!” he said.

Commander Marsh shook his head
as he gazed out to sea.

“1 don’t think that’s the answer, Cap-
tain. He might be one of the guards
you posted— and even if he wasn't, it
would make him wary. No, | want to
catch him, not scare him.”

The captain snorted. “I’'m damned
if 1 can see any other way. As long as
he concentrates on you what chance
will you have? If it was someone
else ...”

Marsh turned his gaze from the sea.

“Someone else?” he said half to him-
self. He faced the captain for a mo-
ment and then came to a decision.

“1 prefer to handle this in my own
way, Captain. | think there’s a chance
to get him before the convoy gets fully
under way.”

He left the captain standing staring
after him. Marsh’s eyes were grim
as he sought his quarters. Once there
he deliberately stripped off his clothes
and removed a sheaf of papers that
were taped to his body.

rJ"HE long rolling swells of the At-

lantic became flecked with count-
less ships as the rendezvous continued.
It was like the forming of a gigantic
puzzle, with eash piece a ship, fitting
into place with the precision and ease of
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a carefully planned move. Liberty
ships took their place among capital
ships of vthe fleet. Sleek, swift de-
stroyers plowed through the swells,
darting in and out like sheep dop pro-
tecting their flock. Helio signals
flashed across the water between ships.

All afternoon Captain Marlowe stuck
to his bridge, receiving messages and
answering. Off and on he wondered
what Commander Marsh was doing.
He hadn’'t appeared since noon. And
the dread grew in Marlowe’s soul as he
viewed the might of the convoy, think-
ing that there was a man who could
put that vital supply line in peril.

Toward dusk the Tampa's position
was firmly plotted, and Captain Mar-
lowe began thinking of supper. He
turned from the rail to find Commander
Marsh approaching. There was a tired
look on his lean features.

“Everything going
schedule, sir?” he asked.

Captain Marlowe nodded, handed
Marsh his glasses. He noticed that the
commander held a packet in one hapd.

“Yes, not a hitch in the plan. The
convoy is well on its way now. And
it's a load off my mind. What happened
to you this afternoon?”

A wan smile crossed Marsh’s face.
“I've been busy, sir,” he glanced around
the bridge. Ensign Dobel was busy
with dividers and scales on the wall
charts. C. P. O. Higgins was coming
up from the port companionway. Marsh
motioned to him. Higgins approached
and saluted.

“Did you want me, sir?”

Marsh nodded. “Go below and bring
radio operator Cowell up here.”

Ensign Dobel looked up from his
charts and stared at Marsh. Captain
Marlowe frowned. Higgins saluted and
left.

“What do you want with her?” the
captain queried.

according to
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Marsh pocketed the packet and ad-
justed the binoculars to his eyes.

“It was just something | thought of,
sir,” he replied. He studied the con-
voy in the fading light for a few min-
utes. Then steps approached behind
him. He turned. Higgins had brought
Betty Cowell to the bridge. There was
puzzlement on her face. She carried a
brown handbag under her arm. Marsh
took her aside. He spoke lowly.

“Betty, there’s something | want you
to do for me.”

The frown of puzzlement increased
on her face.

“What is it, Roger?” she asked.

He took the packet from his pocket.
“l want you to hold something for me
for a few days.”

She looked at the packet. “Not a
present for me, is it?”
He laughed. “It might be, in a

roundabout way. Just take care of it,
I'll explain later.”

She took the packet and put it in her
handbag. Then she gazed up at him.

“l won't even pretend to under-
stand,” she said. “Is that all?”

He nodded. “I'll drop in on you a
little later tonight. “You're going on
duty right away, aren’t you?”

“Yes. I'll be on until 0600. Don’t
forget now.”

He smiled briefly as she saluted him
and left the bridge. Higgins followed
the girl.

“What was that all about?” Captain
Marlowe walked up to Marsh. The
Commander moved alongside him star-
ing out to sea.

“Just a hunch, Captain,” he replied.

Marlowe snorted. “Have it your
own way, but it better be good. 1'm go-
ing below to eat. Care to join me?”

Marsh nodded. “I'll be along right

away. | want to get at the helio first
though. I'll join you in a few min-
utes.”
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Captain Marlowe shrugged and
turned away. Commander Marsh dis-
missed the seaman at the signal sta-
tion.

"MIGHT was a black blanket cloaked

over the Atlantic. Clouds from
the north had rolled onward obscuring
the face of the moon. But the convoy
steamed ahead unmindful of the dark-
ness.

Betty Cowell sat before the glowing
radio set of the Tampa, humming softly
to herself. She glanced at her watch.
It was 2330 and Roger hadn’t showed
up yet. He had been acting queer.
Could it be he resented the fact that
she was now in a uniform? Or was it
something bothering him that he
wouldn’t admit? And why had he giv-
en her that packet? She glanced at
the chair beside the door where her
handbag lay.

She almost jumped when a knock
came from the door. A smile spread
over her face. That would be Roger.

“Coming,” she called out.

She left the radio set and walked
over to the metal door. She switched
out the overhead light before opening
it. Blackout regulations were strict on
the high seas.

The door opened and the cool At-
lantic breeze fanned her face.

“Roger?” she called softly.

No one answered. She stepped
through the opening.

A hand reached out in the darkness
and closed over her throat. Another
hand grabbed her arms and pinioned
them behind her. A wave of fear
coursed through her body and she
struggled, trying to scream. But it was
as if a vise had been clamped around
her neck. Blood pounded in her head.
She kicked out futilely. The hand
tightened on her throat and her senses
reeled away.
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Someone breathed hard in the dark-
ness as expert hands trussed and gagged
the girl. Then she lay prone in the
companionway. 1
A tiny bead of light flickered from

a small blackout flash. It fell on the
girl’s handbag inside the door. An
eager hand reached out for it. The

light disappeared. There was a rum-
maging in the darkness and the sound
of a quickened breath. Then the hand-
bag dropped to the floor of the com-
panionway.

The door of the radio room closed
almost silently.  Minutes ticked by
slowly. Betty Cowell regained her
senses and struggled feebly in the dark-
ness. There was terror in her heart as
she lay there helpless. A dim under-
standing was beginning to grow in her
mind.

Suddenly she stopped her struggles.
Footsteps sounded on the deck. Some-
one moved beside her. She couldn’t see
in the blackness, but there was some-
one. A foot touched her. Then a hand
rested against her cheek. She tried to
cry out but only mute sounds issued
from the gag. Then the hand was gone.
A voice whispered.

“Quiet!”

She stilled. The footsteps moved
away from her. That voice—

The door to the radio room opened
suddenly before her. She caught her
breath. A dim glow from the set issued
from the room. Then a shadow hurtled
past the door.

There was a loud exclamation. A

scuffle. The blast of two shots filled
the night. Then there was a groan and
quiet.

A few moments later someone came
out of the radio room, gun in hand. He
stooped beside the girl and loosened
her bonds.

“It’s all over now, honey,” the voice
whispered in her ear.
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APTAIN MARLOWE paced the
length of his cabin. He faced Com-
mander Marsh and BettylCowell.

“l can’t believe it!” he muttered.
“Higgins was a trusted man— Chief
Petty Officer!”

Marsh nodded grimly. “They usu-
ally are trusted men. Men that we'd
never suspect- But | knew it had to
be someone on the inside. An ordinary
seaman wouldn’t wander about a ship
at sea unchallenged.”

Betty Cowell interrupted. “But why
did you give me that packet, Roger?”

Marsh lit a cigarette. “l used you
more or less as bait, honey. | knew
1'd never get him unless | could put
him on someone else’s track. 1 laid a
trap for him. This afternoon I drew up
a set of false plans, not complete of
course, and put them in that packet. |
gave them to you on the bridge, so that
anyone interested in what | was doing
would see it. Then | hid in the com-
panionway tonight and waited.

“Higgins took the bait. He couldn’t
afford to lose such an opportunity. He
thought you had the plans and did just
what 1'd been hoping. | had to kill him
when he pulled a gun on me. But that
saves us a courtmartial!”

“But he was at the radio sending out

information!” Captain Marlowe
stormed.
Marsh nodded. “That's right. |

wanted him to do that. You remember
before I came down to supper | said |
wanted to use the helio? | signaled a
destroyer and instructed them to cover
the short wave bands tonight. By now
they’ve got the position of the sub pack
Higgins was contacting. | wanted him
to use that radio. Our destroyers will
have a surprise package all their own
for Heinie. But I'm afraid he won't
appreciate it.!”

A broad grin crossed Captain Mar-
lowe’s face.
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“That was good thinking on your
part, Commander. [I'll see that you
get credit for it too.”

Roger Marsh took the girl's arm.

“Forget it, sir. All in a day’s work.”

He looked at Betty Cowell. “You're
supposed to be on duty, aren’t you?”
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She nodded rubbing her throat ap-
prehensively.

“Don’t worry, no one else will grab
you tonight— that is, not an enemy
agent, anyway,” he said, pulling her to
the door. “We’ll sit out the rest of
your watch together.”

WANNA BUY SOME DOUGH?

OST of us think of advertising as being a

characteristic of modern big business.

The newspaper chains, the broadcasting
systems send out millions of words to convince
us to buy a certain car, eat a certain cereal,
use a certain toothpaste. Every manufacturer is
determined to convince us that his product is
the cheapest, the most exclusive and of the finest
quality.

Advertising is an old game. It has been used
by politicians, by kings and queens, and even by
criminals. As a matter of fact, some criminals
have been able to put advertising to use in a
much more artistic and effective manner than
many other groups.

For example, read this circular from a police
file that originally was sent by a group of counter-
feiters to prospective passers of fake money.

“No doubt when you receive this letter you will
say it is some trap for you to get into trouble;
but such is not the case. | promise you this, as
true as there is a God in Heaven, | obtained your
name through a friend of a friend of mine who
passed through your place, so this is all 1 know
of you; and on my solemn oath | speak the plain
candid truth and | swear before the Almighty God
in Heaven, my purpose is far from harming you
either in word, look or action; and should you
make up your mind to answer this letter, | will
give you my word of honor that no person, man,
woman, or child shall ever hear from my mouth the
least thing that ever passed between us and 1 will
keep this promise as sacred as I would my oath
before God in Heaven.

“l will be plain with you. | am dealing in
articles of paper goods, Is, 2s, Ss, 10s, and 20s,
.. . (Do you understand?) 1 cannot be plainer
until 1 know your heart is true to me, then 1 will
send you full and plain particulars that 1 mean
you right, and will satisfy and convince you that
I can furnish you with a fine, safe, profitable ar-
ticle, that can be used in any manner and for
all purposes, and no danger. Now understand me
fair and square; | ask no money in advance nor do
I want it. | want to give you plain and positive
proofs that, should I give you my assistance; |
can and will help you out of any money or busi-
ness troubles you may be in, and no matter to
what extent; and no power on the face of God’s
earth need be the wiser for it unless you betray

me; and as my intentions are square and upright
to you, and as | never have or will harm you
by word, look, or action, | ask you before Heaven,
as a man of honor and principle, not to expose me
or betray me. And if I have made a mistake in
sending you this letter, 1 ask you to forgive me,
and let the matter rest whSre it is, for my inten-
tions are as upright to you as Heaven itself, for
man can have honor and principle no matter what
his business may be in this world, so do not harm
me, for my motto in life has been, if you can't
do a fellow-being some good, do him no harm, no
matter what his calling may be.

“Now a word of advice in regard to this busi-
ness. There are some unprincipled men in this
city advertising goods the same as mine. But be-
fore God and man they are far from it. They
will send your circulars and promise all things and
should you be foolish enough to send them money,
that is the last you will hear of them or your
money, and there are other firms here dealing in
green goods of a very poor quality and not safe
to handle. Now | am not writing this letter
through malice or selfishness to get your trade,
but to warn you against them should you at any-
time receive their circulars (as these people have
their agents going from one state to another, get-
ting storekeepers’ names, and in fact names of
people in all kinds of business) and should you
make up your mind write and place confidence in
me, with a view of trading with me, | will take
it as a matter of honor and strict friendship be-
tween us, if you will notify me if these people
send circulars to you, as | will prove they are
not reliable men to trade with, and this is the
Almighty God’s honest truth, as I am the only
person who can furnish you with a safe and prof-
itable article that will stand a critical test, and
I will prove each and every promise | have given
you before | will expect-or receive one dollar.

“lI will as a test of honor and confidence on
your part request the return of this letter. 1 will
then know you mean me no harm, for 1 will not
answer any communication unless it is returned
to me.

“1 will not deviate from this rule and on my
sacred oath and honor, before God and man, | will
return yours.”

The letter was signed “Yours in honor and
friendship.”— Arnold Young.
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CHAPTER |
Father and Son

ENTERED the managing editor’s

office without knocking and flung

the page-proof on the table. “What
the hell’s the idea?” | demanded.

The page-proof fluttered to the edge
of the desk and started to fall off. Lee
Langer lunged for it and slid it back to
safety.

“You forget,” Langer said softly,
“that reporters don't talk like that to
managing editors.”

It wasn't so long ago that he had
been a reporter himself. That was be-
fore he had married the publisher’s
daughter and buried an unsavory past.
There’s nothing like being the boss’
son-in-law to get ahead.

“1 don’t pause to choose my language
when you accuse my father of mur-
der,” | said.

Lee Langer showed his teeth. They
were strong white teeth in a deeply
tanned face and he liked to display
them on any provocation. “Look who's
talking. You've accused your father of
worse than murder.”

He was right, in a way. | was in the
midst of writing an expose of corruption
in the city administration. My father
was the mayor.

“I've kept my father’s name out of
print,” | protested. “Personally he’s
not a crook.”

“Not directly. Maybe he never lined
his own pockets. But he likes being
mayor and he has his eye on the gover-

nor’'s mansion, and he couldn’t be dog
catcher without Ezra Rice’s support,
You’'re not fooling anybody, Jerry. The
mayor is head of the city government
and he’s not blind. He knows what'’s
going on.” He flattened out the page-
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What can you do when your own family
plants a murder frame-up on you?

proof on his desk. “This story doesn’t
accuse the mayor of murder.”

“Not in so many words, because
you're leery of libel. But the implica-
tion is plain.”

“Sure.” Lee Langer spread his palms.
“Like in your expos6.”

He had me there. God knows I'd
spent enough sleepless nights coming to
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terms with myself. How much loyalty
does a son owe to his father? How
much integrity to his job and to his

own soul? The two conflicted. | had
made up my mind. Yet. ..

“But murder1” | said.

“It’s been murder all along.” Lan-

ger’s jaw ridged, the way it always did
when he was worked up. “Wasn't it
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murder when five people died in that
River Street fire three months ago?
That place was a trap, but Andrew
Weems, the building commissioner,
didn’'t enforce the law. His palm was
amply greased by the landlord. Your
father appointed Weems and backed
him in the investigation. That's only
one example. Read your own articles
for the others.”

J  HAD no argument. It was that par-
ticular fire, and the scandal | dug
up while covering the story, that had
made up my mind for me. It had also
made Andrew Weems, the building
commissioner, try to go honest.

“1 can understand your reluctance to
rake up the Weems business, so | as-
signed one of the other men to it,”
Langer went on. “It’s a lot better than
the vague stuff in your expose. After
the fire, Weems phoned me that he
would show up in my office the follow-
ing afternoon to spill his guts about
Ezra Rice and the mayor and the rest
of the city hall gang. Either he talked
to somebody he shouldn’t have or his
conversation with me was overheard.
An hour later Weems’ body dropped
eight stories from his office window and
was smashed on the sidewalk. Fell or
jumped was the official verdict. Every-
body knows he was pushed.”

“My father wouldn’t stand for de-
liberate murder.”

Langer shrugged. “It goes further
than that. Andrew Weems wasn’'t a
good crook. He was pompous and reli-
gious and had a conscience. The fire
got him down. He might have jumped,
but not right after making an appoint-
ment to tell all to the Post. If he had
seen me the next day, page one of the
Post would have kicked the mayor out
of office within twenty-four hours.”

I said: “So it was murder. There
were others, Ezra Rice especially, who
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had as much to lose.”

Langer fingered the page-proof.
“You read this story. You know now
that Jones dug up the fact that the
mayor was seen half a block from the
building, walking away in a hurry, a
few minutes after Weems’ body hit the
sidewalk.”

It was the nasty sort of thing news-
papers do. The two things, the murder
and the mayor's presence nearby,
weren’'t legal proof. The paper had
only to present the facts, plus the ob-
vious motive, and let the readers draw
their own conclusions.

“If that story is on the street,” I
said, “then so will | be.”

Langer’s eyebrows arched. “lIs that
a threat? You mean you'll quit?”

“If you consider my quitting a
threat.”

Langer thought it over, then his
teeth flashed again. “You win, Jerry.
Not because good reporters aren’'t a
dime a dozen, but because of your mys-
terious source of information about ad-
ministration dirt.” He grinned. “Don’t
tell me you get the dirt from your
father?”

“You’'re not funny,” | said.

“So I've been told.” Langer picked
up his pencil as a sign of dismissal.
“Your copy in yet, Jerry?”

“You’'ll have it before deadline.”

I went out to the city room and sat
down at my desk, but I didn't write
anything. | was thinking of Dad and
what close friends we used to be before
he got the political bug and became
mayor, with Ezra Rice’s support.

It was weeks now since | had seen
him. We had drifted apart ever since
I vigorously disapproved of what he
was doing as mayor. Now everybody
was talking about how a newspaper-
man’s son was fighting to keep his
mayor father out of the governorship.
I didn’'t want to do that. All I wanted
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was to tell the truth because it needed
telling.

Dad would understand. He always
had in the past. He used to tell me
how self-respect was the prime neces-
sity to make life worth living. Maybe
all he needed was his son to stand at
his side and help him kick out Ezra
Rice and his boodle gang.

Quickly, before | could change my
mind, | grabbed my hat.

t'O R a moment, as | turned into my

father’'s house, | thought it was an
insect buzzing past my ear. Then |
turned and saw the dagger imbedded in
the telephone pole at my shoulder. It
quivered like a live thing in fury at
having failed. | stared at the dagger in
wonder before fear came. Then | too
trembled.

It had been very close. And it had
come from the direction of the house,
which meant that it had been thrown
from a window or from behind one of
the shrubs.

A twig snapped. | tensed, peering
into the darkness. There was a second
sound farther away, and | knew that
whoever had thrown the dagger was
leaving in a hurry.

| started forward, then stopped. Un-
armed and in that darkness, pursuit
would be either futile or suicidal.

In the telephone pole, the dagger was
quivering only gently now. | gripped
the smooth bone handle and tugged the
point out of the wood. The size of the
blade surprised me. It was thin as a
needle, almost, and no more than two
inches long. It would have had to bury
itself to the hilt in a particularly vul-
nerable spot to be effective.

Then | understood. | had not been
slated for murder— not yet, anyway.
The dagger was thrown to miss me or
to inflict a minor wound. In other
words, a warning of what wquld happen
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to me if | refused to be frightened off.

Dad? Would he, if he were desper-
ate enough, pull some such stunt to
scare me? But he might have missed
missing me. The dagger hadn’t passed
far from my throat, where it could have
been fatal.

Dropping the dagger into my coat
pocket, | strode up the walk to the
house.

When | rang the bell, there was the
usual pause, followed by the weary
shuffle of Mary’s feet carrying a body
which was growing too heavy with ad-
vancing years. The door opened, and
automatically Mary’s face creased into
an eager smile. She had been our house-
keeper since | was born. Then Mary
remembered and frowned with dis-
approval.

“Jerry, why do you do it?” she
scolded. “You're breaking your poor
father’s heart.”

My bitterness came out in low, harsh
laughter. “Nothing will break his heart
except being defeated at an election.”

“Please, Jerry!” Mary said. “He’s
been good to you. Be good to him.”

In the living room the radio went on.
The voice of a news commentator came
in in the middle of a sentence. He was
discussing the fact that Mayor George
Norwood’s apparent majority at the
coming state convention was not as sta-
ble as it had been before the Center
City Post had started to muckrake his
administration.

“His own son!” Mary said accus-
ingly.

Fingering the dagger in my pocket,
I moved past her up the hall and turned
at the living room door. Dad’s voice
said, “Who is it, Mary?” and suddenly
we were face to face in the hall.

JT~AD looked more tired than | had
ever seen him, and his shoulders
were no longer as straight as they had
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been. He was still a fine figure of a
man, though, with little surplus fat in
spite of his years. There was a quiet
dignity about him which graced the
mayor’s office. He would be the hand-
somest governor in the history of the
state.

“Hello, Dad,” | said, sticking out
my hand.

He looked at my hand without mov-
ing his arm from his side. “What do
you want?”

“To visit you and Sis.”

“Are you sure it isn’t to spy on me?”
he said bitterly.

My heart twisted in me at the
thought that here we were, my father
and I, deadly enemies. | put my hand
on his arm. “Dad, if we can have a long
talk together------ "

He knocked my hand away.
out!”

I'd known it would be like this. |
knew Dad. | spun toward the door.

“Jerryl1” my sister Carrie called.

| turned. Carrie was stepping around
Dad. She put up her lovely face to be
kissed.

Her mouth under mine was cold.
She’s forcing herself, 1 thought. She
hates me as much as Dad does, but
she’s trying to fight her hate.

She kept up the act. She tucked a
hand through my arm and led me into
the living room.

There were visitors. Ezra Rice and
his son Kerby were standing at the
radio, listening to the commentator.

Ezra Rice was the political kingpin
of the state. He held no official position
himself except that of chairman of the
Party executive committee. A thin,
dour, wild-haired man, he was not any-
thing like the caricatures of a typical
politician. He had made my father
mayor and he would make him gover-
nor.

| stopped at Carrie’s side, wondering
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how to take him. Ezra Rice decided for
me. He did not greet me. His thin
mouth tightened; that was all. | was
his enemy, and he was remorseless with
his enemies.

In my pocket | felt the weight of the
dagger. Ezra Rice would not stop at
murder if he thought it necessary to
protect himself. The juiciest parts of
my expose concerned him.

“Would you like a drink, Jerry?”
Carrie asked, trying to sound bright
and gay.

“No, thanks,” | said.

There was an awkward silence.
Then Kerby Rice spoke. “Have you
heard the news, Jerry? Carrie and |
are to be married.”

So it had come to that. The political
boss and his number one stooge were to
be united by the marriage of their chil-
dren.

“1've heard rumors,” | muttered and
looked at Carrie.

She faced me boldly with that set
smile of hers. She probably liked
Kerby. Well, he was young and hand-
some and successful—a lawyer who
cashed in on the fat fees a friendly
administration could throw his way.
But | was thinking chiefly that Kerby
had as much as his father or the mayor
to fear from my expose. He was a
sportsman and would have the ability
to throw a dagger from a house win-
dow.

And there was nothing to be said
by anybody. Dad was squatting in
front of the fire, poking the smoldering
logs into a blaze so that he would not
have to look in my direction. This
was the only home | had ever known,
yet now | was an intruder.

"JpHE radio commentator’s voice rang

clearly in that brittle silence. “In
political circles it is being discussed
what can be behind this open warfare
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between Mayor Norwood and his son.
One thing is certain: Jerry Norwood is
doing more than any individual to de-
prive the mayor of the nomination for
the governorship------ "

Furiously Carrie clicked off the ra-
dio.

Ezra Rice chuckled without mirth.
“You can’t shut out the truth, Carrie.
Thank God | haven’t a son who is
sticking a dagger into my back.”

“You ought to know about daggers,”
I said. “I mean real ones as well. Like
this.” And | took the dagger out of
my pocket.

None of their faces showed anything
but puzzled interest.

I said: “It was thrown at me as |
entered the house. It missed me by a
hair.”

Carrie gasped, but my eyes were on
Dad. Slowly he was rising to his feet,
staring with strange fixedness at the
dagger on my palm.

He knows, | thought. Something,
anyway, if no more than that Ezra Rice
would like to see me dead.

Then Ezra Rice laughed derisively.
“That toy!” he turned to Dad. “Your
boy thinks he’s smart, George. In to-
morrow’s Post you’ll read how you at-
tempted to murder him. Would any
sane man use that toy for a weapon?”

I could see Dad’s doubts melt away
under Ezra Rice’s reasoning. That
thin, two-inch blade was, of course, a
toy, and suddenly the dagger embar-
rassed me.

“It was a warning then,” | said. “If
Andy Weems was pushed out of a win-
dow, why shouldn’t something happen
to me?”

Dad’s eyes darted up quickly,
searching my face. Was he wondering
how much | knew about the murder?

“Weems jumped,” Kerby Rice said.
“His corruption was on his conscience
and he jumped. The five people burned
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in that fire were driving him mad. He
admitted as much to the mayor. Didn't
he, George?”

Dad nodded abstractedly, as if he
hadn’t really heard Kerby. He was as
tired as any man 1'd ever seen. Yet he
wanted to be governor. The poison was
too deep in him.

And then Carrie dropped her act.
She took Kerby's hand and said:
“Haven’t you done enough to us,
Jerry?”

I felt myself shake all over. | heard
myself say without wanting to say it:
“Not nearly as much as Dad has done
to the citizens who elected him and
trust him.”

My father recoiled as if | had struck
him across the face.

Carrie gawked at me for an eternal
second, and then her mouth twisted.
“Get out of here, Jerry! Go back to
that cheap woman of yours1”

For a moment | was bewildered.
There was no woman of mine, cheap or
otherwise.

“That Irma Pollack!” Carrie flung
at me. “I've heard about the kind she
is.”

My mouth opened and closed. What
could | say?

Kerby laughed. “Your plaster-saint
brother can’t even defend himself, Car-
rie.”

| dropped the dagger back into my
pocket and went out without a word.

In the hall, Mary was waiting for
me. “Jerry, you're cruel. He’s lonely.
He needs you.”

“He’s got plenty of company,” | said
savagely. “Every crook in the state!”

CHAPTER I

The Dagger

N'T MY desk I worked slowly and
* finished my copy barely ten min-
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utes before deadline. My expose was
supposed to be so hot that the individ-
ual articles of the series had to be
okayed by the managing editor before
they went through the usual channel of
city editor and copy desk. Lee Langer
glanced through the pages.

“Bilge!” he snorted. “This is the
rehashed paving-block story which had
whiskers a year ago. | didn’t kill Jones’
story on the Weems murder for this.”
His teeth gleamed. “Don’t tell me
you're going easy on your old man?”

“I’'m writing the truth,” | said dully.

“Then get some hot truth. What'’s
happened to your mysterious source of
information? Has it run dry?”

As a matter of fact it had,, almost.
| said: “l’'ve the promise of one more
bang-up story, this time with documen-
tary proof. It'll cost five hundred
bucks.”

Langer whistled. “Your source of in-
formation is getting greedy.”

“So far it has given value received.
I understand that this is something spe-
cial.”

He studied me. “And Kill the last
chance your father has to get the nomi-
nation for governor?”

| said nothing.

Langer snapped on his office commu-
nicator and told the bookkeeper to
make out the check. “To cash, as
usual,” he said. Then he grinned up at
me, showing every tooth in his mouth.
“Tell her to make this one worth five
hundred bucks.”

| was turning to leave before |
caught it. “How do you know it's a
her?”

“My job here requires that I know
everything.” He rocked in his swivel-
chair. “Of course, | could have tapped
Irma Pollack myself, but you were wise
to her first and 1'd have assigned some-
body to write the stuff up anyway. It's
all for the good of the Post.”
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“For the good of the Post," | echoed,
with my mouth crooked.

ANDREW WEEMS had been a very

cautious grafter. As building com-
missioner he had had his hands as deep
as any in the city treasury, but he had
put on a convincing act as a stuffed-
shirted, church-going citizen. Even the
reformers believed, until the fire, that
he was the exception among city offi-
cials.

Nobody knew about Irma Pollack,
either during his life or after his death.
He was careful enough to make her
legally his wife, but her background
was not the kind for the spouse of a
politically ambitious man, so he kept
her under wraps. | had been lucky
enough to stumble across the marriage
record in a nearby state while looking
for something else, and found Irma Pol-
lack broke and willing to pick up a
little side dough. Weems had made her
the confident of his sins and those of
his accomplices, and she had a good
memory.

Irma Pollack lived alone in a charm-
ing cottage in the suburbs. As always,
| arrived after midnight and parked
my car several blocks away and slipped
across the opposite side of the block to
the back door.

She was waiting for me in a slinky
dressing gown — an artificial blonde
who lived hard and showed it around
her eyes and mouth. Tonight she was
scared. “This is the last time, Jerry.
If Ezra Rice, or any of them, should
find out------ "

“He knows I've been coming here,”
| told her.

In a single second she showed her
true age. “Oh, God! Are you sure?”

“Probably he thinks I came here for
pleasure. At least that's what he told
my sister. You said nobody knows you
were Andrew Weems’ wife.”
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She turned to a cabinet and turned
out a bottle and two glasses. “There’s
not much Ezra Weems and that boy of
his, Kerby, don’t find out. If they sus-
pect the real reason you're coming here
—————— " She shivered.

“All they’d do is pay you more than
I can,” | said. “That would be cheap-
est. But they don’t know or they'd
have made a move before this.” | hesi-
tated, then decided that as she’d been
square with me, | would be with her.
“My managing editor, Lee Langer, also
knows.”

“Does he?” She didn't seem at all
worried about Langer, and that was
easy to understand. “This is the last
time/’ she insisted.

My answer was to take out the check
and place it on the table. She looked
at the amount greedily and lost some
of her nervousness.

“Okay, Jerry. But you cash it like
the other times and send me the cash.”

“After you tell me.”

She patted my cheek. “You know,
Jerry, you're the only guy | ever
trusted in my life. Maybe because you
never made a pass at me.” She turned
to the cabinet to hunt for a corkscrew.
“God knows why you do this. You
won’t like what I'll tell you.”

“That’s my business,” | said.

She found the corkscrew and started
to twist it into the cork. “Andrew was
murdered and | know why.”

“So does everybody.”

“They think they know.” She
hunched over the bottle, carefully not
looking at me. “The rumor is that An-
drew had a conscience and blamed him-
self for the five people who were
burned. That’s a laugh. Andrew had
a conscience like Hitler. The truth is
that he was broke. He’'d been playing
the stock market and he needed margin
in a hurry. He couldn’'t borrow any
more, so he tried the mayor. It was a
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form of blackmail for five grand. An-
drew said, fork up or I spill my guts.
He knew he could pull that only on the
mayor, who they say is honest himself.
But the mayor told him to go to hell.
That’s when he phoned the Post. He
was so sore and desperate he was going
to make good his blackmail threat.
And a little while after that he was mur-
dered.”

| IMPLY | dropped into a chair and
watched her uncork the bottle.
There was more to the story of Weems’
murder than even Langer suspected.
The implication was plain. My father
was the'one who had known of Weems’
intentions; he had known what Weems’
talking would do to him along with the
others. And he had been very close to
Weems’ building a few minutes after
the murder. Added together, the an-
swer was almost as bad as could be.
“You have proof?” I asked hollowly.
She dipped a hand into her bosom
and brought out a sheet of paper.
“Andrew was afraid he mightn't get
away with it. He gave me this the
night before he died to make public if
anything happened to him.”
“But you didn’t use it.”

“l was afraid of Ezra Rice,” she
said. “After Andrew died, |1 didn't
come forward and say | was Mrs.

Weems because Rice might get the no-
tion that Andrew talked too much to
me. Anyway, like I told you, Andrew
was broke and there was no dough to
claim by being his wife. Now this way,
with nobody knowing how you got this
paper, I'll be safe in giving it to you.”

I read the paper. | had seen Andrew
Weems’' handwriting and this was it.
The couple of hundred vi'ords were
dynamite. They weren't proof that
Dad had actually murdered him, but
they showed that Dad knew, at the
very least, what Weems was up to. No-
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body but the mayor was mentioned be-
cause, as far as Weems had been con-
cerned at the time, it was the mayor
only from whom he was trying to get
the blackmail money.

This would do more than keep Dad
from the governorship. It would blast
him to bits as mayor.

Well, wasn’'t that what | had been
trying to do all along? No, 1'd been
attacking the crooks in the administra-
tion, not even mentioning the mayor.
And this paper would make my father
the scapegoat without touphing any of
the others. It seemed to make the mur-
der a strictly personal affair between
the mayor and Weems.

Slowly | tore up the paper.

Irma started to protest, then
shrugged. “That’s all right by me.
You're paying for it.”

I stood up and took the check from
the table and tore it also. Irma yelled
and grabbed my arm.

“What's the idea? That dough is
mine.”

“You'll get it,” | said.
isn't buying it. 1 am.”

| piled the bits of paper into an ash-
tray and burned them. Irma watched
me narrowly. When | sat down to
write out my personal check to her for
five hundred dollars, her painted mouth
smiled.

“1 get it,” she said. “You're saving
your old man’s skin. Well, why not?
You're his son and 1I'm after the dough.
Let’s have a drink on it.”

She filled two six-ounce glasses with
rye and handed one to me. I'm not
much of a drinker, but | needed a drink
badly then. She raised her glass. “To
crime,” she said, and we both drank.

There was too much in that one dose
for me. | spluttered and put down the
half-empty glass. The rye traveled two
directions, up to my head and down to
my legs. | reeled and grabbed the edge
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of the table and could not hold on.
And suddenly | knew that it was not *
the rye that was doing this to me.

“Damn you!” | said thickly.
doped the drink!”

On the other side of the table she
stared at me in horror. Her face started
to dip. | thought it was an illusion
caused by my own crumpling, and then
| realized that she also was sinking to
the floor. Her face was level with the
table top, and it was a contorted mask
blown out of all proportion.

I was on the floor then, and all of
the room blurred and went dark.

“You

QOMEBODY dashed cold water
across my face. It trickled into my
coat collar and down my chest and arm-
pits. My eyes opened and Dad’s face
hovered anxiously above my own.

“Are you all right, son?”

Nausea churned my stomach, and
suddenly I remembered. | had passed
out in Irma Pollack’s house. Somehow
I had left the place without being aware
of it. Where was | now?

| sat up, closing my eyes against a
spurt of pain. “Easy,” Dad said, and
helped me to my feet.

Heavily | leaned against him. | was
still in the living room of Irma’s cot-
tage. That wasn’t surprising, but Dad’s
presence was.

“What are you doing here?” | said.

His voice was strangely low and un-
steady. “After you left, |1 thought over
your suggestion that we have a talk.
After all, you're my son. You weren't
at your office or in your hotel. | heard
that you— ah — visited this woman,
Irma Pollack, so I came here.”

“Where’s Irma?”

Dad drew in his breath. “Right here
where yon left her.”

I looked around and didn’t see her.
| said, “Where is she?” and then my
voice choked in my throat. My eyes



COME HOME

had dropped to the floor. Jutting out
past one of the table legs was a human
leg with a velvet mule hanging at a
weird angle from the bare toes.

I went around the table and there
she was. She was lying on her back
with her arms outflung and her eyes
staring at the ceiling. Her head was
thrown back, exposing the white col-
umn of her throat. Protruding from
the flesh was the handle of the dagger
which had been in my pocket.

Only a toy, Ezra Rice had called it.
But the slender, short blade had been
long enough to reach her jugular vein.

“You shouldn’t have done it,” Dad
said quietly.

” | was looking at the top
of the table and it was all wrong.

The glasses on it were smaller than
the two out of which Irma and | had
drunk, and the bottle was a different
brand of rye and almost empty where
the other had been practically full. The
check | had made out to Irma was gone.

“Did you move anything from the
table, Dad?”

“Nothing.
utes.”

| put the palms of my head against
my throbbing temples. | had to think,
and it was not easy. “Dad, what do
you think happened?”

He looked away from me. “lIsn't it
obvious? You and that woman were
drinking heavily. For some reason you
murdered her. From what I've heard
of her reputation, I imagine it was a
jealous fit. Then, because of all you
had had to drink, you passed out.”

I'm here only a few min-

rJ~'HAT was the pattern. That was

what the police were meant to be-
lieve. The check had been removed be-
cause it wouldn't have seemed likely
that 1 would give five hundred dollars
to a woman | intended to murder with-
in a few minutes.
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“Listen1” | said. “The rye we both
drank was drugged. When we both
passed out, the murderer came in and
took the dagger out of my pocket and
stuck it into Irma’s throat. Then he
removed the drugged liquor and the
glasses and substituted these others.”

Dad’s eyes didn’'t believe me. “It
won’'t convince the police. She was
known to be your woman.”

“But she wasn’t. | was paying her
for information for my expose. She was
Andrew Weems’ wife. Tonight she sold
me proof that Weems tried to blackmail
you the day before he was murdered.”

“Proof?” He seemed to sag on his
feet. “What kind of proof?”

“A statement in his handwriting. |
paid her for it out of my own money
and then burned it. Dad, who mur-
dered Weems?”

Heavily he said: “He committed sui-
cide. His dishonesty caused five deaths
and he couldn’t face it. | don’t believe
that this woman was Meems’ wife. You
tried to find fault with your father’s
morals. Your own were hardly exem-
plary. And now . . . murder.”

The wall was between us, and neither
could cross over to the other side.

Bitterly I said: “All right, call your
cops. Do your bit to hang me.”

My father’s face was like something
hacked out of stone as he squatted
down beside the dead woman and
pulled the dagger out of her throat.
There was blood on the tiny blade.

“Four people saw you with this dag-
ger,” he said tonelessly. Carefully he
wrapped it in his handkerchief and
dropped it into his pocket.

“Four people saw me with it,” |
echoed in a whisper. “You and Carrie
don’t count, which leaves Ezra and
Kerby Rice. Ezra Rice knew | was
seeing Irma and probably suspected
why. He decided to get rid of both of
us at one stroke.”
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“No,” Dad said. “Both Ezra and
Kerby are at an executive committee
meeting of the Party tonight. | was
supposed to be there, but | begged off
in order to find you. A few minutes
before | entered this house, | phoned
the meeting from a public booth. Ezra
and Kerby were still there and had
been since ten o’clock.”

The drug was still in me, making my
head spin. | couldn’t think straight.

Dad said wearily: “Go now, son.
Nobody need know you were here.”

“What about you?”

“I'll leave in a few minutes. We’'ll be
more easily observed if we leave to-
gether.”

He was right— it was the only way.
Let the police find me here and all the
mayor’s influence wouldn’'t help me.
The frame-up was too neat. The only
way to lick it was to squirm out of it
before it was too late.

“Thanks, Dad,” | said.

He didn’'t answer. His face was set
in granite as he watched me leave.

ripWENTY minutes later my car

pulled up in front of the Party club-
house. Although it was after two in
the morning, the executive committee
meeting had only just ended. Along
with a number of other reporters, | cir-
culated among the committee members,
asking questions. It had been an ex-
tremely turbulent meeting, we learned,
because the downstate portion of the
Party was becoming restive under Ezra
Rice’s rule. Rice, as chairman of the
committee, had presided.

No, there had been too much heat
during the meeting for Ezra Rice to
have left his chair for a single minute
during the four hours. Yes, his son
Kerby, who had acted as secretary, had
sat at his table throughout the entire
period.

Slowly I left the building. That was
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that. Neither of the Rices could have
taken the thirty or forty minutes neces-
sary to go to Irma Pollack’s cottage and
back. A killer might have been hired,
but would Ezra Rice lay himself open to
a squealer or possible blackmail? This
was the kind of job that had to be
done in person.

I got into my car but did not start
the motor. Suppose Dad had found out
that Irma Pollack had that statement?
He had stopped Andrew Weems and he
had to stop her. He couldn’t go as far
as to frame his own son, but he had gone
through the motions and then destroyed
the evidence to make me grateful to him,
to hold it as a club over me, if necessary,
to stop my muckraking.

Was that why he had put the dagger
into his own pocket instead of giving
it to me to get rid of? Had he insisted
on staying after | left because he hadn’t
had time to dispose of the bottle of
doped rye and the glasses?

Dad had been bitten by the political
bug and the poison was in him. Would
he stop at anything to become governor
of the state?

| stepped on the starter and drove
home.

CHAPTER Il
Ths Trap

JT WAS still dark out when the ring-
A ing of the telephone awoke me.

“Jerry,” Lee Langer’s voice said,
“Irma Weems was found murdered in
her cottage.”

I glanced at my watch. It was not
yet five o’clock. How had the body
been discovered so soon?

“Were you there tonight, Jerry?”
Langer asked grimly.

“Before twelve. She was all right
when | left. She said she was scared of
Ezra Rice. As a matter of fact, Rice
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knew | was seeing her. Now it seems
that he knew why.”

“Is that the way you figure it?” His
voice was skeptical. What he was
thinking was obvious. “l’ve got Mort
Jones there covering the murder angle.
You’d want to be there to cover the
political tie-in, if any.”

“Yes,” | said. “l want to be there.”

For the first time since | had been
visiting that cottage, | drove right up
to the front door. The street was
jammed with prowl cars and official
cars and reporters’ cars. This murder
of an apparently obscure woman
seemed to have gotten everybody out.

The body, I learned from Mort Jones,
had been found shortly after two
o'clock. Langer hadn’t called me until
he had learned of the possible political
implications. And the same thing had
roused a number of big-shot political
officials from their beds. When | en-
tered the living room, | saw, in addi-
tion to Police Commissioner Hagen and
Chief of Detectives Manners, Ezra
Rice, the mayor, the president of the
City Council, and such. They stood
about grimly and uncomfortably, try-
ing to hide the fact that they were wor-
ried.

Dad looked up at me and nodded,
frozen-faced, then turned toward no-
body in particular. In the room full of
men, he seemed to be utterly alone.

The body had been removed to the
bedroom. A couple of minutes after
| arrived, Medical Examiner Atkins
strode briskly into the living room.

“Obviously she was drunk,” Atkins
reported. “How drunk the complete
autopsy will tell. She was stabbed
through the throat, piercing the jugular
vein. Preliminary examination reveals
that the weapon had an unusually nar-
row blade— something, perhaps, like a
flat and sharpened needle. Curiously,
the blade was injected only far enough
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to reach the jugular. | wonder why
the murderer stopped there instead of
plunging the weapon all the way in,
as would be natural at such a moment
of passion. Of course, there is the
possibility that the blade was no long-
er...”7

Ezra Rice’s thin body swiveled slow-
ly and his eyes lay flatly on me.

He remembers the dagger, | thought.
But what can he prove?

Police Commissioner Hagen moved
so suddenly that everybody looked at
him. For a breathless moment |
thought he was headed toward me, but
he turned aside and stuck a hand into
Dad’s coat pocket.

Sound ceased in the room. My
father’'s face went ashen as Hagen’s
hand came out with the bunched-up
handkerchief.

He didn’t get rid of it, | thought hol-
lowly. The dagger is still in that hand-
kerchief.

Dad said nothing. He looked like a
man who was dead on his feet.

J.JAGEN turned with the handker-

chief in his hand and lifted one
corner. His back blocked out, from
the others in the room, sight of what
was in the handkerchief. Eagerly the
reporters started to press forward. Ha-
gen said something to Manners, and
seconds later, we reporters were being
cleared out of the house. Our protests
did no good. The cops shouldered us
out to the sidewalk.

The reporters’ voices were a tumult
of questions swirling around me. They
knew that something big had happened,
but didn’'t know what. | stood among
them, wordless and sick with terror.

Minutes later the cottage door flew
open and cops brushed us aside to
clear a path toward an official car. Dad
moved in their wake, walking between
Hagen and Manners. He looked at
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me as he passed, but | don't think he
saw me. The three got into the car
and drove away.

By the time | reached my own car,
it was too late to follow. For the next
couple of hours I went wild trying to
find out where Dad had gone or had
been taken. | tried the municipal hall,
the municipal building, finally the
county jail, but I couldn’t find out a
thing. Obviously there were orders
not to give information.

If news would come out, the best
place to get it was in a newspaper office.
The last edition of the Post had long
ago appeared on the streets and the
city room was practically deserted. |
hung around the wire room, waiting
for something to come over the tape.
There was plenty about the murder,
but nothing that I wanted to know.

Presently | slumped down at my
desk with my head on my arms. |
must have slept, for the next thing I
knew | was being shaken. My sister
Carrie was standing over me. She
looked as if she had just seen a ghost.

“Jerry,” she said, “they’ve arrested
Father for murder.”

So there it was. | stared dumbly up
at her.

“Don’t you hear me, Jerry. Father
phoned me from Headquarters to
get him a lawyer. He wants Sam
Arnold.”

“Arnold is a good man,” | muttered.

“Jerry, it's insane. We've got to do
something.”

Mort Jones had come into the city
room. He dropped his eyes when he
saw me looking at him. | beckoned
to him and reluctantly he came over.

“l heard about my father,” | told
him. “Have you any dope?”

Glumly Jones nodded. “There was
a dagger wrapped in the handkerchief
Commissioner Hagen pulled out of
Mayor Norwood’s pocket. It had a
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very slender, very short blade which
just fits the wound in Irma Pollack’s
throat. There was blood on the blade.
They're also charging him with having
murdered Andrew Weems.”

“Thanks, Mort,” | said dully.

He went to his desk at the other
end of the city room and twirled paper
into his typewriter. | knew that Car-
rie was staring down at me in horror.
I couldn’t meet her eyes.

“That dagger!” she whispered.
that the one you had last night?”

| stood up and put a hand on her
shoulder. “Leave this to me, Sis.”

“What does it mean? Pa couldn’t
murder anybody. And you had the
dagger.”

“Please, Sis!” | said. “Let me work
this out.”

“For him or against him?”

I looked at her, and with a sob she
slumped against me.

“I'm sorry, Jerry. | didn't mean what
I said. 1 know you’ll do all you can
for him.”

But what can | do? | thought. Ezra
Rice has discarded him. And if I tell
the truth, Dad will be an accessory after
the fact.

“1 had Kerby on the phone,” Carrie
was saying. “He refused to help. He
said he couldn’t marry the daughter of a
mur— Her voice broke.

| felt my jaw muscles harden.
get Dad out,” | promised her.

“Is

T GOT in to see Police Commissioner
A Hagen with so little trouble that I
was sure he was expecting me. He was
one of Ezra Rice’s favorite boys and
about the worst of many bad appoint-
ments. He was fat and incompetent
and a bad actor. When | entered, he
failed in his attempt to look solemn.
“It’s tough,” he sighed. “Of course,
the mayor is the man who gave me my
job, but I am sworn to do my duty.”
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With an effort | fought down the urge
to ram his hypocritical words down his
throat. | was here for information and
not to start a row.

“What does my father say?” | asked.

“Not a word. That’s the funny part.
He won't explain that dagger in his
pocket, or anything. Won't even tell
where it came from.”

Which meant that neither Ezra nor
Kerby Rice had told that it had been in
my possession earlier last night. And
they probably wouldn’t. 1 was small-
fry. They were after the mayor now,
for a reason | couldn’t understand.

“You really haven’t anything,” I said.
“That dagger by itself isn't proof. He
might have picked it up.”

Hagen bit at the bait. “We have mo-
tive. There is good reason to believe
that the mayor murdered Weems.”

“The official verdict was that Weems
jumped or fell,” | reminded him dryly.

Hagen shrugged. “You know how it
is. We knew that Weems tried to hold
up the mayor for five grand or he'd
blacken his administration. We knew
that the mayor turned him down and
then Weems got in touch with the Post.
We learned from the elevator operator
in Weems’ building that the mayor had
gone up a few minutes before Weems
landed on the sidewalk. The mayor
walked down the steps, so he can’t prove
what time he left, but he was seen a
block away only a couple of minutes
after Weems’ death.”

The case against Dad was getting
stronger every time | heard it. Now an
elevator operator placed him in the
building itself.

“Yes, we knew all that then,” Hagen
was saying, “but we were all the mayor’s
friends and maybe tried hard to forget
a few things. Then, when he up and
murdered Weems’ wife------ "

“When did you learn that Irma Pol-
lack was Weems’ wife?”
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“Now, that's a funny thing. Nobody
ever suspected that a stuffed-shirt like
Weems would marry a woman like Irma
Pollack. What happened was that last
night an anonymous phone call came
into Headquarters. The voice said that
Irma Pollack had been murdered in her
house and that she was really Mrs.
Weems.”

“Did the voice also tell you to look
into my father’s pockets?” | asked.

“Sure thing. The second call came
when we were all in the house. It was
for me, and that'’s just what the voice
told me. The whole thing makes sense.
Weems tried to blackmail the mayor
and the mayor killed him. Mrs. Weems
probably had the same dope and tried
to use it the same way, so the mayor
killed her too.”

In spite of the case Hagen was trying
to make out, a load dropped from my
chest. One thing was certain: Dad
hadn't murdered Irma Pollack. He
would hardly have phoned in the tip
implicating himself. But there was also
the murder of Andrew Weems.

“Where did the anonymous voice get
its information?” | said.

Hagen shrugged. “We get a lot of tips
that pan out. Why worry about where
they come from if they give the facts?”

“You don’t want facts,” | said. “You
want to crucify my father.”

Commissioner Hagen didn’t take of-'
fense. “Naturally you're upset. I'd
be, too, if my old man was in such a jam.
Would you like to see him?”

11’HE mayor might be charged with
A murder, but he still got plenty of re-
spect from the prison officials. We were
given the best reception room in the jail
for my visit.

I expected him to look old and
broken, but instead he came in springily
and his fine eyes flashed fire. He took
my hand firmly.
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“I'm sorry, Dad,” | muttered. “If |
hadn’t started that muckraking in the
Post------ "

“You were right,” he cut in. “Abso-
lutely right. | realized that yesterday
after you left. My own son showing me
the road to decency! | told Ezra Rice
as much and we had a terrific argument.
I said that in the morning | would pub-
licly repudiate him and expose him and
every dishonest official in the city, even
if it meant my political suicide. He
called me a fool and went to the Party
meeting. | was due there also, but in-
stead | went to look for you.”

“He had to stop you before morning,”
| said slowly.

“And they were afraid of Irma Pol-
lack also and killed her. By ‘they’ |
mean Ezra and his son. Their plan was
to frame you for the murder and
threaten to give you up unless | be-
haved.”

“No,” | said. “That's the part that
doesn’t jibe. Neither Ezra nor Kerby
left the meeting.”

“Are you sure, son?”

“Positive. They might have hired a
professional killer------ "

“No, no!” Dad said. “Ezra wouldn’t
lay himself wide open. He always be-
lieves in doing a nasty job himself so
that nobody can hold a club over him.
Like murdering Andrew Weems.”

| felt myself relax inwardly. Dad
wouldn’t lie to me now. “So Ezra Rice
pushed Weems out of the window!” I
murmured.

Dad went to a window and looked
out. “Weems tried to blackmail me. |
told him to go to hell, t»ut I was fright-
ened. He could cause a lot of damage.
I phoned Ezra and told him and Ezra
said he would take care of Weems. They
have now bribed or intimidated an ele-
vator operator to swear he had taken
me up to Weems’ office. That is a lie,
but it will be hard for me to prove. |
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was walking home for lunch and passed
within a block of the building at the
time. When | returned to my office
and learned that Weems was dead, |
phoned Ezra again. He said with a
chuckle: ‘I told you | would take care
of him.” Naturally I was extremely up-
set, but also more frightened than be-
fore.”

“You couldn’t have proved anything,
anyway.” | was all the way on Dad’s
side now.

“The point is, | wouldn’t have used
proof if | had it,” Dad said to the win-
dow. “I knew things were going on
around me but | deliberately shut my
eyes. Although | never took a dis-
honest cent in my life.”

“l know, Dad.”

“No you don’t!” He swung from the
window and faced me squarely. “1'm as
much of a crook as any of them because
I permitted it. 1 wanted to continue to
be mayor or else to become governor. |
was a fool.”

SPHERE was a silence.
knuckles.

“Always a fool,” he went on bitterly.
“1 left that dagger in my pocket. A dag-
ger isn't easy to dispose of so that it
will never be found. | was confused
and uncertain by what had happened,
and | was called back to that house too
quickly by the discovery of the body. |
did not dream that the pockets of the
mayor would be searched.”

“The murderer saw you put the knife
in your pocket,” | said. “He was watch-
ing all along, from outside or in the
house itself, to make sure the murder
frame stuck.”

Dad started pacing the room, mutter-
ing, “But if it was neither of the
Rices------ ” He stopped. “Did you tell
the police anything at all?”

“No. Anything I say will make you
an accessory. We've got to work out a

| studied my
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harmless explanation of how the dagger
came to be in your pocket. Then I'll
take the rap and you------ "

His voice lashed out fiercely. “Use
your head, sonl Ezra and Kerby know
you had that dagger. They know you've
been visiting Irma Pollack at night. But
they haven’t said anything about it.
They don’'t give a hang about you; if
you didn’t do the muckraking, the Post
would set another reporter to doing it.
It’s | they have to shut up. As mayor
and leading candidate for governor,
anything | said would have carried great
weight. But I'm not mayor now, ex-
cept in name. |I'm merely a man ac-
cused of murder, and any charges |
make from my cell will be put down as
the ravings of a sorehead.”

“But if | take the rap and you get

“They’ll never let me out. They’'ll
throw us both in jail, one of us as the
murderer and the other as accessory.”

“In other words, you think we're
licked?”

He didn’'t look like a man who was
licked. His eyes glowed with a light I
had seldom seen in them. He looked
eager and almost happy. He came
over to my chair.

“Who said anything like that, son? |
may be a fool, but I'm not a complete
idiot. When Weems was Kkilled, | real-
ized for the first time how utterly ruth-
less Ezra Rice was. | took steps to pro-
tect myself. Over the months | have
accumulated documentary evidence in-
criminating every out-and-out crook in
the administration, especially Ezra and
Kerby Rice. A mayor, whom they need
for their crooked work and think is a
perfect dupe, can gather such evidence
easily.”

I caught his fire.
safe place?”

“Safe enough. Do you remember the
stamps you collected as a kid and

“You have it in a
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haven't looked at in fifteen years?
That's where the stuff is. You're a
newspaperman with the columns of the
press open to you. Those documents
aren’t the vague and petty charges you
made in your paper. They’re absolute
proof of crimes in black and white—
suppressed police statements, proof of
bribery, juggling of city funds, use of
city equipment for private construction,
and so on.”

“But none of that will clear you of
this murder charge,” | pointed out.

“Never mind that. The important
thing is to pull the whole rotten struc-
ture about their ears.”

He was a different man now, or had
again become the kind of man he
had been when | was a kid. | was very
proud of him

| went to the door and turned. “Dad,
when | visited you last night, Ezra and
Kerby Rice were in the living room with
you and Carrie. Had either of the
Rices left the room during the five
minutes before I came in?”

He shook his head. “Neither of them
could have thrown the dagger at you.
Anyway, it was a very peculiar weapon.
I don’t understand it.”

“l think I'm beginning to,” | said.
“Listen for the crash, Dad.”

CHAPTER IV

The Killer

| STARTED for home— or rather, the
* house that used to be my home— and
then changed my mind and went to the
office instead. Those documents could
keep an hour or two longer.

The city room of the Post was in a
high state of excitement. The arrest
for murder of the mayor and leading
candidate for governor was the biggest
local news in the history of the city.
Curious glances followed my progress.
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They knew 1'd been attacking my
father’s administration, blit this was dif-
ferent. | tried hard to keep my face
impassive.

| passed my desk and moved on to
the desk of Jim Arthur, our gossip col-
umnist who knew everything and dared
print only part of it. For a while I
consulted him in whispers. When | left
him, his lips were pale and his eyes
scared.

A copy boy rushed over and said that
Lee Langer wanted to see me at once.
The managing editor was alone in his
office, waiting for me.

“It’s a hell of a note, Jerry,” he said
solemnly. “Naturally I'm keeping my
mouth shut.”

“About what?”

His voice dropped to pulpy softness.
“That you were in Irma’s house before
or after or during the murder.”

“Talk and be damned,” | said. “I’ve
nothing to hide.”

His eyebrows arched. “No, of course
not. Still---—--- ” He shrugged. “The
publisher had me on the phone an hour
ago. We're going after the mayor ham-
mer and tongs, and the boss thinks that
under the circumstances it will be em-
barrassing for you to stay on the Post.
| tried to argue with him, Jerry, but
even though he’'s my father-in-law, I
got nowhere,”

I said dryly: “What you really mean
is that you wouldn’'t want one of your
star reporters found guilty of murder.”

“Don’t say that, Jerry.”

“Why argue?” | told him. “There
will be plenty of other papers that will
grab me up with what I have.”

“More of Irma Pollack’s political
stuff?”

I handed him one of his own toothy
grins. “Not this time.”

Langer studied the top of his desk.
“Let’s see it, Jerry. If it’s good the
boss might keep you on.”
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I said, “You'll see it in page one
spreads in a rival paper,” and went out.

I FOUND the front door of my
* father’s house partly open, so |
didn’'t ring. | went into the library and
looked through Dad’s desk for the snub-
nosed .32 automatic which | knew he
kept there. The box of cartridges was
in the drawer, but not the gun. That
was strange. For years it had been
there untouched.

Suddenly I thought of the open door.
Mary was a crank about keeping doors
not only closed but locked. Why was
it open now?

“Mary?” | called.

| listened for an answer. When the
house maintained its silence, | knew
that | would need a gun in a hurry and
wondered how 1 could get my hands
on one.

I went up the stairs and up the hall
to the room which had been mine be-
fore | left home. And there on the floor
lay the old housekeeper in a pool of her
own blood.

“Mary!” | cried and dropped down
at her side.

She was not dead. Her breath came
in agonized gasps. A ragged furrow
was laid open in her temple where she
had been struck. With the barrel of a
gun, probably.

Had he found what he had come for?
Was he still in the house with that gun
ready?

| opened the closet door and took a
pile of old school books from the top
shelf. My stamp album was among
them. It was bound in leather— a birth-
day gift from my mother many years
before. The album was bulkier than it
should have been. | removed the cover
and there, between it and the hard-
board cover of the aloum, was a sheaf
of papers.

“So that’s where you kept it?” a dry
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voice said. “The trouble was, | hadn’t
any idea where to look.”

Kerby Rice, tall and athletic and
tight-lipped, stepped into the room. His
right hand held a big revolver. There
was a fleck of red on the muzzle where
it had raked Mary’s temple.

Wearily | said: “You and your father
think of everything. Of course there
was a dictaphone in that jail room. You
listened to my father and me talking,
and you rushed here to get the papers.
Mary heard you and came upon you
searching my room, and you knocked
her out.”

“You came back too soon, Jerry.”
Kerby’'s gaze was fixed with frantic
hunger on the papers in my hand. “Let’s
have them.”

I didn’t move.

“Those papers, Jerry,” he repeated
tightly, and his gun shifted toward my
heart.

Then we heard somebody coming up

the stairs. Carrie?
“Watch out, Sis!” I yelled. “Kerby
has a gun.”

JY'ERBY didn’t turn. His lips were
~  drawn back over his teeth, and he
continued to watch me narrowly. The
steps were moving up the hall now.
There was more than one pair of feet.

And then Carrie appeared in the
doorway. She entered the room with
stiff, mechanical steps, and her face
wore an expression of dead hopeless-
ness.

Ezra Rice was behind her, and he
had Dad’s little automatic lined on her
back. Kerby turned his head then for
a moment. When he looked back at
me, his face was suddenly haggard.
Carrie, after all, was the woman he had
intended to marry.

“She was sneaking about outside,
looking through the windows,” Ezra
said heavily. “She must have thought
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you were still downstairs, and she had
that gun, and perhaps she was going to
shoot you from a window if she could.
It’s lucky | came with you, Kerby. |
slipped up behind her and took the gun
from her.”

“1 should have shot you when | had
a chance,” Carrie’s voice lashed at
Kerby. “l saw you searching in the
downstairs rooms, but | didn't know for
what.” She lifted her eyes to me. “What
is it they want, Jerry?”

I shook the papers in my hand.
“These will send them and other crooks
to jail. Last night Dad told them he
had such papers, and so they framed
him.”

Ezra Rice shook his head. “We didn’t
frame him. Obviously you or he mur-
dered Irma Pollack. And now------
The muscles of his gaunt face hardened.
“We can't let them live, Kerby.”

Carrie cried hoarsely: “Kerby, you
can’'t kill us1”

Kerby roused himself as from a
dream. “You know too much,” he
mumbled. “It’s you two or us.”

And it had to be us. Kerby probably
had never loved Carrie; it had merely
been a good political match. Still, he
must have been fond of her, yet not
nearly as fond as of his own skin. We
knew too much. We had seen too much.

For moments the only sound was the
sharp breathing of Carrie. Then Kerby
said hollowly: “Give me that gun, Dad.
I'll take care of this. The maid is still
unconscious. She didn’t see who struck
her; she won't know anything. The
idea is that it will be a double suicide.
They couldn’'t stand the disgrace of
their father being a murderer and took
their own lives with his gun.” His voice
thinned shrilly. “Beat it, Dad!”

Slowly Ezra Rice nodded and handed
the automatic to Kerby and then went
out. We heard his dragging feet in the
hall. Neither of them liked this at all,
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but that alone would not stop them. |
suppose once you get in deep enough,
you have to do a lot of things you don’t
like.

Carrie was utterly silent now. She
stood very straight, looking at Kerby,
and Kerby would not meet her eyes. He
dropped his own revolver into his
pocket. He tilted the automatic up to
my chest.

A ND all at once he was stumbling.

Gripped by unendurable tension,
none of us had noticed Mary had re-
covered consciousness. We did not see
her grab Kerby’s ankle.

Frantically Kerby kicked at her with
his free foot. His toe caught the
wound in her temple. She sank back
to the floor; her hold on him loosened.
But by that time | was on him and drove
an uppercut into his jaw. He was off
balance anyway, and my blow dropped
him to the floor.

I fell on him and hit him again. His
head lolled; his eyes glazed. He had
forgotten about the gun, or he had no

coordination to make use of it. | tore
it out of his fingers.
Feet pounded in the hall. Ezra Rice

was back. In the doorway he stopped
dead, gawking down into the muzzle of
the automatic in my hand.

Carrie uttered a long-drawn sigh and
knelt beside Mary. The housekeeper
was unconscious again, but she had
done her job.

Kerby was recovering, sitting up and
rubbing his jaw. | took his revolver
from his pocket and handed Dad’s auto-
matic to Carrie.

“Use it if you have to, Sis,” | told her
grimly. “We're all going downstairs, ex-
cept Mary. [I'll phone an ambulance
for her and the police for you two.”

There was no talk at all as we went
down to the library. Carrie stood
against the wall, with the automatic
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against her hip, as | phoned for an am-
bulance; | was about to make the sec-
ond call when Ezra Rice spoke huskily.

“There is nothing in those papers that
will get off your father.”

He was right, of course. Whatever
happened to the crooked politicians,
Dad would remain a murderer in the
eyes of the law.

“Listen to me, Jerry,” Ezra Rice went
on urgently. “We can make a deal. In
return for those papers, I'll give you my
word that | will have the indictment
against the mayor squashed.”

“Your word!” | snorted.

“Jerry, wait!” Carrie said. “We can
hold onto the papers until Father is free.
After all, his safety is all that counts.”

| stood at the table with my hand on
the phone and bit my lower lip. They
were all watching me in breathless sus-
pense.

“He wouldn’'t want it that way,” |
said: “He gave me a job to do, and I'm
doing it.” | picked up the handset.

My left side was to Kerby, and he
banked on the fact that Carrie, who
once had loved him, could not bring her-
self to shoot him down. And he was des-
perate enough to try to stop me from
using that phone at all costs. So he
threw himself at me.

I dropped the phone and spun toward
him, but | would not have had time to
use the revolver. His shoulder touched
mine when thunder rocked the library.
Abruptly he fell away from me to the
floor.

Carrie shot him, | thought. And then
there was a second shot, and fire cut a
track along my ribs.

For a single bewildered moment | did
not get it. Carrie had not moved, nor
had the position of her gun.

“The window!” Carrie gasped.

It clicked then, all of it. One win-
dow in the room was open a couple of
inches from the bottom, and without



COME HOME TO MURDER

taking time for thought | threw a hur-
ried shot at it. The pane shattered. |
raced across the room and stuck my
head out between the shards of window-
pane.

It was a reckless thing to do, but
luckily my shot had frightened him off.
If it had been night, he might have got-
ten away in the darkness; but it was
still afternoon and there was nothing on
that side of the house but a smooth
stretch of lawn. He was no more than
twenty feet away, running for his life.

Deliberately, in cold fury, | shot at
his back. 1 shot again and again until
he went down and lay still in the grass.
Then | opened the window and dropped
out.

He was not dead, but he was dying.
A cop with drawn gun was running
across the lawn and other people were
spilling out of their houses. | waited
until the ambulance | had called for
Mary clanged up and then I returned to
the house.

In the library Carrie was standing at
the window, watching the crowd outside.
Kerby still lay where he had fallen be-
side the table, his body twisted in a po-
sition which no live man could have
held. Ezra Rice was a limp bundle of
clothes deep in a chair, and his face was
in his hands.

Carrie turned from the window.
“Who shot Kerby?”

| could feel blood trickle from the
wound in my side, but there was little
pain. It could not be serious.

“Lee Langer,” | said. “Both bullets
were meant for me.”

VjT/ITH my side taped, | was resting
” in Dad’s favorite chair in front of
the fire. Carrie was curled up on the
couch, and Dad, as usual, was poking
the smoldering logs.
“Kerby’s death made Ezra Rice go to
pieces,” Pa said. “He blames himself for
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what happened to his son, and of course
he’s right. He admitted murdering An-
drew Weems. He admitted many other
crimes | had never suspected.” His
voice hardened with self-recrimination.
“1 was the perfect dupe.”

Carrie set fire to a cigarette. “What
about Ira Pollack and Lee Langer?”

“It’s the old story,” | said. “Irma
married Andrew Weems because he
looked like an easy living. When he
died broke, she had trouble making ends

meet. One way was to sell me political
dirt. The other was to blackmail
Langer.

“She had letters and she was making
Langer pay through the nose. He had
become managing editor of the paper
through marrying the publisher’s
daughter. He liked his job and family,
and Irma could deprive him of both.
So he paid, but Irma was too greedy,
and he determined to get rid of her. To
simply kill her was too dangerous. He
hadn’'t been too careful and certain
people knew of his past, which would
lead the police to suspect him first of all.
So he had to have a fall-guy, and | was
elected.

“This morning | realized that it had
to be a personal murder. Both Ezra
and Kerby Rice were out as the actual
murderers, and neither of them could
have thrown the dagger. Anyway, it
was a lot safer for them or any other
politician to buy her off than Kkill her.
Secondly, they would have done some-
thing about it before she'd sold me
nearly all her dope. And the dagger
was not a murder weapon— certainly
not for throwing. It was thrown to get
it into my possession. Under the cir-
cumstances it was curious enough for
me to keep and probably to show it to
people who would identify it after the
murder.

“It had to be somebody, then, who
was aware that | was seeing her. Lee
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Langer was one of the very few people
who knew. Knowing how Irma would
sell anything for money, the idea ap-
pealed to me. | learned the truth from
Jim Arthur. The pattern fell into place.
Langer, having just given me the check,
knew | was bound there. The bottle
had been drugged. When Irma and |
were knocked out by the rye, Langer
had only to remove the dagger from my
pocket and use it.

"The idea was to have the police find
me there while | was still unconscious.
But Dad came in and revived me.
Langer saw that. What happened
changed hfs scapegoat, but nothing else.
He thought he was sitting pretty until
I hinted that | had received non-po-
litical dirt from Irma. From Jim Ar-
thur he learned that I had questioned
him about Irma’s boy friends and that
Jim had told him that he, Langer, was
one of them. He must have got the no-
tion then that Irma had sold me the let-
ters. He was scared stiff and got a gun
and—

My dad turned from the fire. “Didn’t
you guess that he would do that?”

“| wanted him too,” | said. “How else
could I pin the murder on him? | hoped
to be ready for him, but Ezra and Kerby
Rice confused the whole thing. Langer
was outside the window when we were
in the library. Maybe he thought that

TWISTED

INCE truth is often stranger than fiction,
S writers of crime stories for magazines as well
as radio serials have often gotten their best
ideas from police records of actual cases. Police
departments have tried to cooperate in the be-
lief that if the public became aware of the evils
of crime, the number of persons going astray
would be reduced. They were especially hopeful
that this lesson—crime does not pay—would reach
the youth of the nation. However, in order to
make the stories more exciting, the facts were often
distorted and many times the criminals ended up
as haroes instead of villains.
About four years ago at a meeting of the In-
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the papers we were talking about were
the letters with which Irma had been
blackmailing him. More likely he saw
what seemed like a perfect chance to
liquidate me and have Ezra and Kerby
take the rap, just as you were taking
the rap, Dad, for his first murder. Any-
way, he was too frantic to think much.
He knew chiefly that he had to get rid
of me and there was his chance.

“It wasn’t an easy shot to begin with,
and Langer wasn’'t much good with a
pistol, and Kerby leaped at me just
then. Kerby took the bullet. Langer
shot too quickly the second time and
only raked my side. He lived long
enough to make a confession to the
police.”

Dad stood with his back to the fire
and his hands clasped behind him.
Gravely he said: “I’ve one job before |
resign as mayor, and that’s to clean out
the rest of them.”

“You will not resign!” | protested.
“You’'ll go to the people. They’ll under-
stand. Maybe they’ll still make you
governor. And if you're licked at the
polls, at least you’ll go down with your
head high.”,

Carrie smiled, and Dad came over
and put his hand on my shoulder.

“1 was waiting for you to say that,
son,” he said.

THE END

FACTS

ternational Association of Police Chiefs, a resolu-
tion was passeji whereby all the chiefs agreed to
stop the practice of giving out factual informa-
tion on crime. No longer wpuld the announcer
be able to claim that the “following story is taken
from the records of the police department in
City X.” No longer could distorted facts be
passed off as truisms.

This ban has been lifted to a certain extent
and programs such as “Gang Busters” still appear
on the air using actual facts from police files.
But these programs always portray the criminal
in his true role of menace to society and the
moral is always “you can’t win.”—W. Lin.



THE GERMANS CALL

By PETE

TEINBECK’S “The Moon is Down” is one
S of the forbidden publications in Denmark

but Danish students got it translated, mimeo-
graphed and distributed. A student was arrested
in whose home some copies of it were found. The
Gestapo asked, “Who wrote it and where is he?”
The student told him. “You liel He’s here and
you know where he is hiding. Confess, or you’ll
suffer for it!”

It took the student three hours to convince the
Gestapo man that the author really was an Amer-
ican living in America, and even then the matter
was reported to Berlin for further investigation.

OpHE Gestapo recently concentrated its attention
2% on Danish doctors, suspecting them, not with-
out reason, of having helped wounded and other-
wise injured patriots who would have been arrested
throughout the country, but the Germans seem to
be discontented with this result, and people expect
further investigation and persecution of the doc-
tors. Some of these are also accused of having
helped people to escape to Sweden.

“ AT LAST | feel like a good Dutchman—for

I have been in jail.” With these words, a
Hollander just released from a German prison
camp, greeted his relatives and friends. “Now |
am like everybody else in my neighborhood,” he
added.

Before the German invasion imprisonment was
no less a stigma for a Hollander than for any
other national. In fact, Holland had for many
decades shared with Great Britain and the Scandi-
navian countries the distinction of having the
lowest per capita crime rate in the world.

A LITTLE, far from unusual, item broadcast
by the Swedish radio gives a telling glimpse.
At Elsinore a Danish police officer, Larsen, was
shot and seriously wounded by a German coast
guard. With him was a young clerk, Leif Ohlsen.
“Ohlsen, who was arrested, admitted that he had
been on board a ship bound for Sweden, carrying
a suitcase.”
His crime sounds to a Dane as it would sound
to a New Yorker that people had been shot and
arrested for trying to take a ferry to Staten Island.

N NORWEGIAN clergyman, Pastor Tori, was
A conducting a service in his church when a
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congregation member suddenly left after having
heard the sermon and prayers. Shortly after, he
returned with a German policeman. The German
walked toward the altar to arrest Pastor Tori.
On asking why he was arrested, the clergyman
was told he had prayed for prisoners of war and
for banished bishops and pastors. Tori admitted
this, but asked if the arrest could not be post-
poned until the end of the service. This request
was bluntly refused, and the pastor dressed in
clerical robes was taken to Kongsvinger Fortress.

'T'HE “inefficiency” of Dutch farmers has been
A one of the most effective means of resistance
to the Germans. Now the lands, cattle stocks and
property of these farmers are completely at the
mercy of the Germans.

A new decree by German and Dutch German
officials confiscates entire lands and cattle stocks
of farmers who “neglect their duty” of delivering
fixed parts of their product to the authorities.
The same ruling applies to those cultivating their
land or managing their stocks “inefficiently.”

VIJONSEIGNEUR STEPINAC, Archbishop of

Zagreb, preached a sermon to 20,000 people
condemning the German practice of shooting inno-
cent people. Priests circulating copies of the ser-
mon or reading it from their pulpits were arrested
by the Germans. In Dalmatia alone it is reported
that 72 priests have been imprisoned for this
reason.

Although the Archbishop has been repeatedly
denounced by the German press, he is one of the
most popular figures in Yugoslavia and has not
yet been arrested.

/"\PEN resistance continues in Holland. Recent-

ly, Germans arrested a Dutch woman under-
ground worker and took her to prison by train.
Watching for an opportunity she jumped off the
train, but was badly injured, German guards found
her and took her to a hospital. There she was
heavily guarded and no one was allowed to enter
without a pass.

Some fellow workers managed to fake a pass
and entering the hospital during visiting hours,
bound and gagged the guards, and rescued the
woman. All escaped safely.

1%



By H.

D TOLAN waited in a dark door-
way across the street from the
dimly lighted tavern. The brim

of his gray felt hat was pulled low
over his eyes and the collar of his over-
coat covered the lower part of his face,
His gloved hands were buried deep in
the overcoat pockets. His right hand
gripped a .38 automatic.

When Leroy Mannix finally emerged
from the tavern, Ed straightened and
his muscles tensed. There was another
man with Mannix, someone he had evi-
dently met at the bar. The other man
was short and thin, a little guy who
couldn’t have been much over five feet
tall. They talked for a moment and
then separated, the little guy moving
with a limp in one direction, Mannix

WOLFF SALZ

walking briskly away in the opposite
direction.

Ed crossed the street diagonally, fol-
lowing Mannix. He stayed ten yards
behind the other’s tall, lean figure. The
street was deserted. The warehouses
and factories on both sides were dark,
Mannix was apparently absorbed in his
own thoughts. He seemed unaware that
he was followed,

When Mannix neared the mouth of
an alley, Ed quickened his pace. Man-
nix turned suddenly, evidently aware
for the first time of the clicking foot-
steps behind him. His myopic eyes
squinted at Ed’s approaching figure un-
certainly, then opened wide in astonish-
ment as he finally recognized Ed.

“What— what are you doing around
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When you take justice into your
own hands and set out to even
the score, you can expect a
little help from the blind

old lady. She wields a

mean eraser herself!

Ther. was only the wind rustling the curtains
197
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here, Tolan?” he blurted.

“1’'ve been following you.”

In the wan glow of a distant street
light, Mannix’s tired face seemed to
turn gray.

“Why?” he demanded in a cracked
voice.

Ed moved to within inches of Man-
nex. His right hand emerged part way
from his pocket, enough to reveal the
automatic cupped in his big, gloved
hand. “Does this fgve you the answer?”

Mannix started violently, his eyes
moving in horror from the exposed
automatic to Eld's grim face. “Listen,
Tolan— it won't do you any good!
Killing me won't------ 7

“Shut up!” En snarled.
talking!”

Mannix’s eyes darted wildly up and
down the dark street. His breath caught
in a sob as he saw they were alone.

“I'll let Judy get die divorce!” he
gasped. “Listen, you don’t have to kill
me! I'll let her have the divorce,
Tolan!”

“It’s too late now, Mannix. The last
time | asked you to give Judy her free-
dom, you laughed at me! It's my turn
to laugh! You think I'd believe what
you say now, when you're facing this
automatic!”

“l swear it, Tolan! Let me goand I
won’t stand in your way!”

“No, you won’t stand

“I'll do the

in my

Ed’s finger released the automatic’s
safety catch. A moment later, a cone of
orange-yellow flame spurted from the
muzzle. The report in the midnight
stillness was like the crack of a bull-
whip. A small black circle appeared
suddenly between Mannix’s eyes, above
the bride of his nose. He crumpled
soundlessly to the sidewalk.

17 D pocketed the automatic and knelt
over the inert figure. Calmly he
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probed the dead man’s pockets, found
the wallet. He straightened and darted
into the alley as he heard startled
shouts from the doorway of the tavern
halfway down the block.

Less than five minutes later, when he
reached his parked car four blocks
away, he paused in the darkness, ex-
tracted the few bills he found in Man-
nix’'s wallet, and tossed the empty bill-
fold into the gutter. Probably, the cops
would put the motive down as robbery.
It was that kind of neighborhood.

A smile of satisfaction touched his
lips as he drove away. Even if the cops
didn’t believe the motive had been rob-
bery, there would still be no reason to
link him with the murder. Other than
Judy Mannix, there was now no one on
earth beside himself who knew he and
Mannix had even been acquainted.

He and Judy had been careful. Man-
nix would never have guessed a thing if
Ed hadn’'t gone to his house one eve-
ning, introduced himself and flatly de-
manded that he let Judy divorce him.
Mannix had refused to believe Judy no
longer loved him, had laughed in Ed’s
face. Even Judy’s demands had failed
to move him.

Ed fought down the urge to drive
straight to Judy, tell her that Mannix
no longer stood in their way, to hold her
in his arms, press her close. But that
would have to wait. Now, more than
ever, they would have to be careful.

Later, in two or three months, there
would be time enough for the full ec-
stasy of her warm lips, and the heady
fragrance of her soft blonde hair.

He was humming a lilting tune under
his breath as he opened his apartment
door. He shut the door, flicked the
light switch. His breath caught in his
throat as he stared wide-eyed at the thin
little man who sat in a chair facing the
door. The little man smiled, stood up.
His coat was unbuttoned, exposing a
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blue-striped shirt.
his hand.

“Greetings, pal.”

“Who are you?” Ed demanded in a
stunned-voice.

“A pal sent me.

“You—you must be in the wrong
apartment.”

“Naw, you're Ed Tolan, all right.
Mannix describedyou toa T.”

“Mannix!”

“Yeah, a friend of yours. He thinks
a lot if you. Thinks your life is worth
as much as five C’s. Can you imagine
that! Five C’s, cash on the barrelhead
for a punk like you! Usually, | do a
pushover job like this for two or three
C’s.”

Ed’s mouth was suddenly dry. His
tongue felt thick, hairy. “Listen,” he
whispered hoarsely, “Mannix is dead!”

There was a gun in

"THE little man grinned wisely.
1 “You'll have to dig up a better
angle, pal.”

“It’s the truth! | swear it!”

“He must have died awful quick,” the
little guy retorted, still grinning, “be-
cause | just been with him not an hour
ago. He told me about you—and I
don’t like rats like you. Me, | believe
in shooting straight where dolls are con-
cerned. Yeah, it'd almost be a pleas-
ure to knock you off for free.”

The little guy backed towards the
open window. Beyond him and the
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softly billowing curtains, Ed could see
the rail of the fire escape. He saw the
tightening of the little guy’s fingers
around his gun.

“Wait!” Ed called hoarsely.

There was a red flash. Something hot
tore into his chest. The room spun as
Ed teetered on his heels, sank to the
floor. Through a red fog of pain he
saw the little guy put one foot over the
window sill, sit there a moment. He saw
the little guy aim his gun again, deliber-
ately, calmly.

Somehow, Ed found his automatic in
his hand. He lifted his leaden arm,
slowly, with his last ebbing ounce of
strength. He aimed it at the little guy’s
head. Through a blur, he saw the little
guy’s eyes widen in surprise, but only
momentarily. Then there was the re-
verberating thunder of rapid gunfire. Ed
pulled the trigger of his automatic as
darkness closed over him.

The little gunman sat astride the win-
dow sill for a stunned moment. A circle
of red spread slowly over his striped
shirt. His head bowed forward and he
stared down at the widening crimson
spot on his chest with dull, unbelieving
eyes. Then slowly, he tilted forward
into the room again, flat on his face, and
lay motionless. Above him, the or-
gandy curtains billowed softly into the
room.

THE END

JUSTICE UNDER GERMANS

“ Jt URDER as a political weapon is severe-

ly punished when it is employed

A against Germans,” the Stockholm Ny

Tid, Jan. 21, states, “but when the murderers are

Germans and their victim is a patriot the coun-

try’s own police authorities are prevented from

seizing the murderers. ... It throws a revealing

light on legal conditions in German-occupied coun-
tries.”

These editorial remarks refer to news from Den-
mark that the German police has stopped the in-
vestigations by the Danish police into the assas-
sination of the noted Danish pastor-playwright,

Kaj Munk. The Danish police inspector in charge
of the case turned in a report of 127 pages to his
chief. Kaj Munk is said to have been fetched by
German Gestapos who motored him to Silkeborg
where he was examined. Three men belonging to
the so-called Schalburg Corps (blackest of re-
maining Danish Germans) were ordered to bring
him home again. They murdered him on the way,
with or without a bint having been given them.
Their leader was a Danish German from South
Jutland, or Slesvig, a fanatic pro-German and
member of "Schleswigscb Kameradschaft”—Rays
Marlows.



Die, Mi. Spiaggins!

By TED STRATTON

ILLUSTRATED BY ROBERT FUQUA

ITTLE Elmer Spraggins stepped
| off the curb at Medford and

Spring. He had pre-empted a
daily, unnecessary task— that of flag-
ging down the bus— and it gave him a
sense of power.

The black sedan veered around the
lumbering bus and hurtled down on
Elmer. When he glimpsed the sedan,
Elmer was too scared to move. He
caught a fleeting view of a gray-hatted,
long-nosed man crouched over the
wheel.  Then a brawny hand jerked
Elmer and flung him to the sidewalk.
The sedan roared past, tires whining
against the flagstone curbing.

Jake Ehlers, a husky steelworker
peered at the thin figure lying on the
sidewalk. “Almost conked you, pal,”
Jake growled.

Mr. Markle, one of the commuters,
sputtered angrily: “No sober man
would drive like that!”

Elmer scrambled to his feet, dusted
off his shiny blue suit. The commuters
got on the bus. Jake warned: “Meant
to Kkill you, he did.”

“No,” Elmer protested mildly, “he
must have been drunk.”

“Not in my book, pal. The guy was
a killer.”

The bus driver told Elmer: “Caught
a piece of that license. RH-247-some-
thing. Wanna report him, huh?”

“No,” Elmer sputtered, and hid him-
self at the back of the crowded bus. No,
he assured himself, he didn’'t want any-
body’s license number. Nor any traf-
fic with the police. Why once when his
older daughter had broken a neighbor’s



Elmer Spraggins had never harmed a
By, yet today somebody was out to Kill
him—and make no mistake aboutit! But why?
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window, the police came and— Elmer
shivered at the encounter.

But he did wonder what it would be
like to become a hero. Like Mr. Markle
up front. Mr. Markle wore glasses and
was very sedate. Hadn’'t he hurled a
can of soup at a stickup gent who'd
walked into the store where Mr.
Markle clerked? What if the can had
smashed only a plate glass window?
Hadn't Mr. Markle thwarted the stick-
up and blossomed into a neighborhood
hero?

“Someday,” Elmer thought, “maybe
I can be a hero.”

He left the bus and walked two
blocks to Higgins’ Hardware Store. All
day he delivered packages and waited
on customers and listened to their
eternal questions. “You're sure this
paint won’'t fade?” Or, “Why haven’t
you got galvanized garbage cans?”

Each time Elmer would explain
that the paint was fade-proof or your-
money-back and that one garbage can
would supply metal for four machine
gun barrels, that's why. At six pa .
he left the store and hurried to the bus
corner. While he waited, he spotted a
parked sedan across the street. Some-
thing familiar about the driver’s gray
hat and long nose. He seemed to be
watching the bus corner.

Elmer gulped. Wasn't that the very
man in the same black sedan that had
almost Kkilled him this morning?
Panicky, Elmer ducked behind an
elderly woman just as the 6:10 bus
braked at the comer. In the bus, Elmer
leaned across two stout ladies and
peered out the grimed window. The
driver of the sedan had shifted his atten-
tion to the departing bus.

Elmer saw the license plate. The let-
ters and figures seemed to leap at him.
RH-2476-L. “6-L” completed the li-
cense that the morning bus driver had
given Elmer.
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One of the ladies snapped: “Get off
my toes, squirtl”

“S-sorry, m-madam,” Elmer gasped.

Now he was sure he was trailed by a
killer. And for about the hundredth
time in his life, EImer Spraggins experi-
enced the paralyzing sensation of terror.
He kept staring out the rear window,
half expecting to see the dreaded sedan,
in pursuit.

AT MEDFORD and Spring, Elmer

ducked off the bus and crouched
behind the corner mailbox. The long
street lay dark and deserted in the twi-
light. Elmer squared his shoulders.
“Like— like Clark Gable,” he assured
himself and crossed the macadam and
entered Medford.

In the middle of the empty block, he
halted. That sedan! Thirty feet
away! A man leaned big shoulders
out an opened car window. Something
gleamed in his hand. Elmer took three
frightened steps and dove headlong over
a three-foot high board fence. SPANG!
A bullet splintered the fence. Elmer
tried to burrow into the frozen ground.

Nearby, a door opened. Rapid steps
across a wooden porch floor. A car
raced off in second gear. “Just a car
backfired,” a man said clearly. Re-
treating steps, slamming door.

Very cautiously a scant inch at a time,
Elmer raised his head until he could
peek over the fence top. No sedan. No
killer with a leveled gun. Just the
blank, windy street. Elmer climbed
over the fence. Two dead leaves
rustled on the sidewalk at his back.
Elmer fled down the walk like a man
with the devil grinning over his shoul-
der.

Along a bungalow to the backyard,
up three creaky steps, into a hot kitchen
so fast that the gray-haired woman bent
over the gas stove looked up and ex-
claimed: “Scared the wits out of me,
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you didl” She eyed him sharply.
“You’'re white as a sheet, EImer Sprag-
gins.”

“I—I'm c-cold,”
“1I—1 ran.”

His wife returned her attention to
the stove. “Running at your age, tax-
ing your heart!” Emma scolded.
“And you with growing girls on your
hands.”

Two tow-headed girls, aged four and
six, burst into the kitchen and created
a diversion. Elmer managed to bolt his
supper. When the little girls went
upstairs with their mother, he pulled
down every shade. He washed the
dishes and swept the floor. Then he
hid a pot of garbage in the trash basket
under the sink. No, sirl  Wouldn't
catch him venturing into no backyard
to empty garbage tonight.

He sat at the table and read the
evening paper. Suddenly he shoved the
chair back so violently that he toppled
over backwards. Emma walked in.
“Elmer,” she scolded, “what you doing
on the floor?”

“D-damed chair leg snapped and
pitched me,” he explained sheepishly.
What he meant to say was that he'd
sat for five minutes while the overhead
bulb threw his shadow against the
shade!

Emma snapped: “What you got the
shades pulled down for?” Quickly she
hoisted them up halfway.

“Keep 'em down,” Elmer protested.
“l read it in the paper that drawn
shades keep out the cold.”

“Nonsense.” Emma picked a torn
piece of paper off the floor. She walked
to the trash basket, whirled angrily.
“Why’'d you leave the garbage pot in
the basket?”

Elmer trembled. “Why— why----- "

Emma thrust the pot in his trembling
hand. “Outside with this.”

Elmer hesitated.

Elmer chattered.
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“You scared of the dark, Elmer
Spraggins?” Emma taunted. She gave
him a good-natured push toward the
door. “Rim along.”

into that backyard. Not for a
million.— For a fleeting moment

Elmer thought of revolting. He knew
it wouldn’'t work. On leaden feet he
trudged to his death. The door

opened, closed behind him. The cold
air snapped at his face and hands. He
shivered.

Something stirred in the darkness
by the foundation. A swift, darting
black shape! The killer! Oh, gra-
cious God, Elmer prayed frantically,
don’t let him Kkill me. Not on my
own doorstep.

The pot of garbage slipped from his
nervous hand. It clanged violently
atop the metal top of the garbage can.
Elmer jumped. A scavenger cat scut-
tled off and whisked over the side fence
into Mr. Vanowski’s backyard.

Elmer was too frightened to see the
scurrying cat. He bolted across the
brief backyard. He didn't remember
about Emma’s low-hung clothes line,
either. The line slapped his forehead.
Elmer’s feet kept running. His body
flattened out and he landed with ter-
rific force on the frozen ground.

To his terrorized mind, the back-
yard seemed to spout gunmen. Shots
exploded every which way. Miracu-
lously, he hadn’'t been killed. He
scrambled up, lunged past Mr. Caesar
DeWitt’s garage and fled along the
driveway like an Olympic sprinter.
Five blocks away he collapsed from
exhaustion against a shack next a
lumberyard.

His lungs burned inside his chest.
Arms and legs were numb. Beneath
his thin cotton shirt his heart pumped
like mad. A Kkiller . . .

Elmer tried to think. There must be
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some reason for a killer to trail him.
Obviously a man didn’t get shot at un-
less there was a logical cause. Who
was the big man in the sedan? Where
had he seen him before? On the street?
A customer in the store?

Elmer checked back. Customer—
big, gray hat, long nose. No, the de-
scription didn’t click. Wait a second |
An apartment—no, an office on—on
Elmwood Avenue. Sure, that’s where.
Or had he? Gradually his mind re-
called the incident. He’d delivered an
order. The last mailbox from Higgins’
store.

“Let'ssee. The doctor— yes, itwas a
doctor, but darned if he could remem-
ber the namel When the doctor had
seen Elmer, he'd pulled his hat lower
over his eyes. He’d hustled Elmer out
of the office and waved away the change
from two one-dollar bills. Something
vaguely familiar about that big doctor.
What was it?

There was a sure way to find out.
Elmer trotted down the street, hugging
the shadows, shivering in the cold. He
entered a sidedoor of a drugstore on
Lotus Road. The phone booth was at
the back. Elmer located a nickel in his
pants pocket and dialed.

A voice brogued: “Police Head-
quarters. Officer Clahan speaking.”

“Got to get the name of a car owner,
please. The license is RH-2476-L.”

“Oh, and would you now? Just a
minute, lad.”

Elmer peeked out the booth window.
He was cold. An overcoat and several
white jackets hung on hooks just out-
side the door. Hah, if he could borrow
that overcoat just to get homel

Then Clahan’s voice: “Sure and
would you be seeing a car with that
license?”

“Yeah, I did.”

“And just where?”

Elmer tensed. That was the police,
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always poking their noses into your
business! “On— on the street,” he said.

“Is that so now? Well you just wait
right there and I'll send a couple of the

‘C'LMER dropped the receiver on the

hook. He had to leave. He wasn’t
waiting for any squad car to arrivel
Cautiously he sidled from the booth.
A single clerk lolled up front. A lone
customer sat at the counter. Keeping
his eyes on the clerk, EImer fumbled
for the overcoat.

The clerk turned. “Heyl” he sput-
tered. “What you------ "

Blindly Elmer grabbed, then opened
the sidedoor and plunged into the
street. His feet beat a fast rhythm on
the sidewalk. He was fifty feet away
when the clerk hollered: “Come back
here, you!”

Elmer cut across a lawn, streaked
around a house and raced into an adja-
cent street. It seemed as if he had run
blocks before his legs quit. Then he
looked at the overcoat. Only it wasn’t
an overcoat. It was a white jacket
similar to the one the clerk wore.

Oh, Lord, he groaned, every move |
make gets me in deeper. Now I'm a
thief over a clerk’s jacket!

But he was cold and slipped into the
jacket.

During the five years that EImer had
lived in this town he had delivered sup-
plies everywhere and knew he was a
block or two from Elmwood where the
doctor lived. Why not go there? Per-
haps he could catch another glimpse of
the doctor to see if he really was the
killer. Besides, if he went home now,
wouldn’t the Killer be waiting?

That last thought set EImer’s feet in
motion toward Elmwood. The office
was in a two-story, facia-bricked build-
ing. A young woman sheathed in a fur
coat came out as Elmer mounted the
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steps. Sighting the curious little figure
in the clerk’s coat, she hesitated, one
hand still holding the door ajar. 1t was
an invitation for Elmer to enter.

“You'll catch your death of cold in
that thin jacket,” the girl warned.

“T-thanks,” Elmer chattered, grab-
bing the door.

He soaked up warmth in the lobby,
then dragged his feet to the doctor’s
office on the first floor. No light shone
from wunder the office door. Nor
through the keyhole. A sign read:

DR. HENRY M. STOVENS, M.D.

HOURS: Two to Four P. M.
EVENINGS BY APPOINTMENT

A second sign suggested: WALK IN.

Elmer sneezed. Gosh, now he was
catching a cold and Emma would raise
the dickens when he got back. Well,
here he was. What to do? The office
was deserted, the door unlocked, so he
entered and snapped on the light.

Drawn black shades behind thick cur-
tains at the window. New furniture.
Magazines on the library table. Two
pictures of mountain scenery on the
wall. A door lettered private.

Elmer tiptoed to the door and opened
it. The faint odor of ether, or some dis-
infectant. He closed the door, pressed
the light switch. Files. A broad desk.
Medical books ranged in neat rows on
shelves. A large picture on the wall.
A man’s face stared back at Elmer.
Short straight hair, a long nose, half-
smiling lips. Why it was------

His eyes located a large certificate of
graduation from a medical college. It
was in a dark corner of the room. Elmer
placed a chair before it, focussed a
goose-necked lamp for more illumina-
tion, mounted the chair. The name—
Dr. Henry M. Stovens.

The “e” in the “Henry” looked as if
it had been printed over an erased let-
ter. A short curling line had been at-
tached to the “r” so that the name read
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“Henry.” The original had been
“Harry.”

Look at the capital Ml A straight

stroke added to a “N” had made that
“M”1 Harry N—could the original
name have been that of Dr. Harry N.
Stevers?”

Elmer did not hear the door open. So
engrossed was he in the study of the
last name of the altered certificate and
its significance that he did not turn until
a voice spoke.

“Good evening, Mr. Spraggins.”

PALMER teetered on the chair, nearly

fell off. He managed to turn. A big
man wearing a gray hat and topcoat.
He had a long nose. Once the eyes
might have been kindly. They were
hard now. The man was Dr. Stovens.
No, Dr. Harry N. Steversl

“Get down,” the doctor ordered.
The gun in his hand said the rest.

Elmer got down. Then he sneezed.
“C—caught a cold,” he stammered.
“Thought you could f— fix me a pre-
scription.”

“l've got a good prescription for
you, Spraggins!”

The doctor studied the room. “Not
here,” he decided aloud. “Too much
noise. Maybe------ ” He gestured
toward an inner doorway. “In the back
office, snooper. A little chloroform is
the prescription.”

Elmer stared wildly. “No, nol You
wouldn’t—you can’t------ "

“Move.”

Elmer wet his dry lips. “l won't tell '

the cops what you done back in EIk
City! Honest, I------ 7

His eyes like marble, the doctor mo-
tioned with the gun. The buzzer rang.
He whispered: “Keep quiet. Lucky |
locked the door and switched off the
lights!”

The buzzer rang a second time, more
insistently. Then a steady, angry buzz-
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ing.
the doctor whispered.
you good, Spraggins.”

“Doc, | got a family—kids! Why,
you delivered my little girl! Remem-
ber?”

“Yes, | remember.”

His tone was bitter. “Spraggins,
I'm sorry you moved from Elk City to
this town and found me. After— after
—well, what could | do but turn to
medical work? | was safe here with so
many doctors leaving for the service and
there were no questions asked. Then

The buzzing stopped. “Gone,”
“Now I'll settle

you saw me! |'m tired of dodging from
one city to another. Now it’s either me
or you!”

The doctor pointed to the door.
“Move.”

Woodenly Elmer turned toward the
fatal door. One hand, the right, was
jammed in the side pocket of the clerk’s
jacket. Elmer’s fingers closed over an
object. Grasping a straw------

He turned. His legs were numb.
They wouldn’t function. He couldn’t
walk through that door. The doctor
would have to drag him to death.
“Please,” he begged, “I won't tell the
cops.”

“It’s got to be this way, Spraggins.”

The gun barrel pointed toward the
rug. Elmer withdrew his hand. All he
clutched was a half-opened cardboard

box. Not much with which to face a
gun. Elmer flung the box in the doc-
tor's face. Gleaming thumb tacks,

the kind which clerks use to tack posters
and signs on the wall. Dozens of sharp,
piercing points.

jC'LMER tried to run past the doctor,

stumbled. His hundred-thirty
pounds struck the doctor’s gun hand
and the gun fell to the rug. The doctor
recovered, turned killer. He slammed a
a fist into Elmer’s ribs. Elmer stag-
gered backward, crashed into the wall.
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His ribs ached from the blow. Never,
never had he been so scared. The Killer
fumbled for the dropped gun.

“Run, run, there’s a chance,” Elmer’s
fear shouted.

He ran. One toe tripped on the
scuffed up rug. Elmer plunged to the
floor. His face struck the Killer’s hand.
Instinctively EImer grabbed the killer’s
wrist in both his hands. He clamped
his teeth on the wrist. The big killer
howled. He brought a fist down on
Elmer’s neck. Someone rapped on the
window pane, but Elmer was past all
hearing as fear clogged his eardrums.

His teeth bit deeper and deeper into
the wrist. Something warm salted his
tongue. Blood! A floor lamp crashed
to the floor. A Windsor chair spun
across the room. The doctor screeched
in pain. A crackling, tinkling crash of
glass. A draft of cold air. Something
pounded hard on Elmer’s neck. A light
exploded in his brain. Slowly he blacked
out_

The first thing Elmer saw when he
came to were two policemen. The doc-
tor lay on the rug, moaning. One hand
clamped fast to his mangled wrist.

“Cripes,” a cop panted, “what teeth
you got!”

“Couldn’t hardly get his wrist loose,”
the other cop growled. His eyes swept
the disordered room. He picked up the
gun. “Yours?” he asked Elmer.

“N-no, his.” Elmer nodded at the
doctor. “Three times today he tried to
kill mel”

“Yeah? You better talk fast, squirt.”

Elmer explained all that had hap-
pened from the sedan on Medford and
Spring to the phone call from the drug-
store.

One cop nodded. “The sergeant
rushed us over to find out what you
knew about that car. It was reported
as stolen. The clerk told us about your
taking that white jacket. He followed
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you this far, then gave up and went
back. Lucky for you we trailed over
here.”

“What's the rest?” the other cop
asked.

“Once | lived in Elk City,” EImer ex-
plained. “The doctor— his name was
Harry N. Stevers then— delivered one
of my daughters. He left town sud-
denly. He—he killed a man in EIk
City! He got away from the police.
That was four-five years back, see?
I— | delivered a package here about a

week ago. He thought | recognized
him, see?”

The doctor groaned: “He’s lying.
He tried a stickup.”

“No, no,” Elmer gasped. “Look at

his medical certificate on the wall. You

FBI

SUPERLATIVE war job is now being
A done by the Federal Bureau of Investiga-

tion. Thousands of potential saboteurs
are under arrest and the backbone of the German
and Japanese epionage systems within our borders
has been broken.

The FBI has expanded enormously in the war
against spies and saboteurs. Yet it has met its
new tasks without confusion as a result of thor-
ough planning, careful choice of personnel, and the
common sense of the men who run it

In July 1941, the Sebold case netted German
agents Frederick Duquesne and Axel Wheeler-Hill
and 31 accomplices. In August 1941, Herr Kurt
Ludwig, Gestapo agent, was arrested along with
six assistants. And in December, Major Bor-
chards friend and pupil of General Karl Haus-
hofer, the geopolitical planner of the Third Reich,
landed in the FBI’s detention cells. The big shots
of German espionage were checked.

The leaders of the Duquesne gang were con-
victed by the G-Men by actual motion pictures
and recordings of their conversations, made from
a room next to that of the conspirators. Posing as
spies these Special Agents trailed every one of
this group by secret radio station through which
Duquesne transmitted his reports to Germany.
These reports had been carefully edited by the
U.S. military and naval intelligence officers to
confuse and mislead the Germans and they did.

Gestapo man Ludwig finally fled and was picked
up on the Pacific coast. During his flight he
stopped at a tourist catnp to burn some incriminat-
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can see how he changed the letters to
Dr. Henry M. Stovens! Look, will
you?”

One of the cops scrutinized the certifi-
cate. “Why the little runt's rightl
'‘Less you checked close you'd never
knowl” He turned to the other cop.
“Buzz Headquarters. Get a tracer on
that murder charge in Elk City.”

Then he stared in amazement at
Elmer’s thin shoulders. “Why'd you
tackle this big guy when he had a gun?”

Elmer stared. Tackle the big guy?
Why— why it had all been an accident!
He'd tried to run away. Still— He
squared his shoulders. “lI— | guess—
well, | wanted to be like Mr. Markle,
I guess. He was a hero too.”

THE END

HAS GONE TO WAR

ing papers. The G-Men radio were trailing him
let him bum the papers, later ope of them gath-
ered up the ashes, packed them carefully in cotton
wool and sent them to Washington. The FBI
technical laboratory treated mid photographed the
charred scraps and pieced them together into its
original form.

In a master touch of counter-espionage, the
FBI caught in two weeks the eight Gestapo agents
who arrived on our shores by submarine. The
people who harbored them are now in jail.

The FBI was ready long before the war, since
Mr. Hoover sent FBI men to visit the police de-
partments of Europe where they learned the tricks
of espionage, secret inks, modem coding and
ciphering, the organization of rioting and street
fighting, and the sabotaging of machinery.

J. Edgar Hoover’s greatest problem was to
get the man power to do the necessary work.
Before the war hundreds applied every week, now
the average is 1000.

Realizing that the war would require new types
of work from the Bureau, Director Hoover eased
his previous rule that every Agent must be a
lawyer or public accountant, and added to his
staff a group of men who know how to do every-
thing from deciphering to building a radio station.

Local police forces have been of great help to
the FBI in checking thousands of suspects and
arresting the guilty.

What this country needs is more J. Edgar
Hoovers and more federal bureaus with the speed
and efficiency of the FBI.—A. Morris



By STAN KNOWLTON

registered with a dull, rattling

clang. “On good time, tonight,”
he genially told the bus driver. He
pulled out his watch. “Eleven twenty-
three.”

“Yeah,” the driver answered. “Didn’t
make many stops this trip.”

Cycil stepped off. With a grinding
of gears the bus swung from the curb,
rolling away, its tail-lights growing
smaller in the darkness.

But Cycil was not watching the tail-
lights. At a sharp run he already was
headed for home. That's for a starter,
he told himself. The driver would re-
member letting him off there at twenty-
three minutes past eleven. And it was
twenty-minutes walk to his house.

And it was: a good twenty minutes
walk to Cycil’s house by the road that
looped the swampy, wood area between
the main highway and the lonely, out-
skirt section where he lived.

Cycil smiled thinly. “But it’s not
taking me twenty minutes, tonight” he
muttered.

He slipped between the bars of the
white-painted fence that bordered the
side-walk, pushed through the tall dry
grass and brush to the edged of the
swamp. Gnarled trees, rich in the col-
orful foliage of early fall, rose crook-

CYCIL WADGHTON'S two coins

edly from the soggy soil, leaf-thick
vines trailing heavily from their twisted
branches.

Cycil turned up his collar, took a
flashlight from his pocket, stepped in
between the trees. The ground
squished moistly beneath his feet. By
the light of his torch, dimmed through
the blue paper he had pasted over the
lens, he picked his way.

He had made the trip once. Several
weeks before, when the green leaves
were beginning to turn to yellow-orange,
he had made it. Carefully, painstak-
ingly he had gone through, mapping out
in his mind the quickest way from the
highway to his house on the far side.
But that was in daylight, and he was
dressed for it. Stout, high leather boots,
corduroy breeches and canvas hunting
jacket.

And the shotgun he had carried
backed up his story to Martha: he had
been out hoping to flush a partridge in
the swampland.

“You're filthy!” had been Martha’s
reaction. “Get out of those clothes and
take a bath!”

And Cycil had. His lips, turned sul-
len at the thought of his wife, twisted
away from his white teeth. But, he
swore savagely, he would take no more
orders from her!
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Only one thing was
NECESSARY TO MAKE
CYCIL WAUGHTON'S
MURDER PLAN PERFECT
— HE HAD TO BURN HIS
BRITCHES BEHIND HIM.
SO HE BURNED THEM!
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His marriage for money had not
panned out as he had expected. He
was still working at his old job; still
communting to and from the city. At
first, Martha had driven him to the bus
stop in the morning, picked him up
there in the evening. But not now.
Now, he walked— both ways. And
what he wanted, or needed, he paid for
from the money he earned— from what
of it was left after he had turned over
to Martha his share of the household
expenses.

And — damn her — Martha’s domi-
neering ways. Cycil cursed as the re-
membrance of them flashed across his
mind. Do this, Cycil— Cycil, do that.
She ordered him around as she saw fit,
planned for him his every move. Each
night she laid out his socks, underwear,
shirt and tie for the next day, told him
which of his three suits he was to wear.

/~"YCIL swore roundly as his foot
~  slipped off a tufted hillock, sank to
the knee in the sticky mire. He grasped
a tree trunk, worked up his leg. His
foot came out of the mud with a sucking
pluttl

And what a hell of a fuss Martha had
made, when he bought that last suit
without consulting her. A suit exactly
like one he already had. She had said
that he was crazy. Crazy! Yeah. He
grinned to himself. Crazy— like a fox.
He knew why he wanted two suits alike.
He had known when he got the second
one, months ago.

Cycil plunged on through the bog, his
legs soaked to the knees by the muddy
water, his clothing torn and disheveled
by the clinging brambles and snapping
branches. At the edge of the woods
near his house, he stopped; by the light
of his flash he looked at his watch.
Eleven thirty-one. Eight minutes to
come through. He had a lee-way of
twelve minutes in which to make the
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phone call, and another five or six to
complete his plan—to make it tightly
fool-proof.

As he had expected, the house was
dark. Martha no longer waited up for
him on the nights that he was detained
at the office. She had made no com-
ment the previous evening when he in-
formed her that he would have to work
late the following night, but he had no
doubt that she had checked with the
firm.

On the lawn in front of the house he
wiped some of the mud and slime from
his shoes, removed them. He carried
them in his hand up the steps to the
veranda. He unlocked the door. Noise-
lessly he opened it; closed it behind
him. Silently, in his stockinged feet, he
went to the kitchen, snapped on the
light. He left the shoes in the sink,
descended the stairs to the cellar. From
a beam overhead he took an old-fash-
ioned .32 which he had owned since he
was a young fellow. A gun no one, not
even Martha, knew he possessed.

Cycil went back to the kitchen. His
watch said eleven thirty-five. He had
plenty of time. He climbed the carpeted
stairs to the second floor, threw the
switch to the hall light by Martha’s
bedroom door. He could hear her
measured breathing from inside the
room. He opened the door.

The shaded bulb in the hallway threw
a diffused light into the bedroom. Cycil
could plainly see Martha. She lay
huddled under the neat, white bed-
clothes, her nightcapped head turned
sidewise on the feather pillow. She was
sleeping the untroubled sleep of the just.

Cycil spoke sharply. “Martha!”

Martha stirred uneasily. Cycil spoke
again. “Martha!”

Martha sat up, stared sleepily at him.
Cycil’s aim was good. Martha slumped
back, a stain of crimson on the white
of her nightgown over her breast.
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Cydl worked rapidly. He dragged
Martha from the bed, laid her on the
floor. He disarranged the bedclothing.
He kicked askew the rug. He knocked
several articles from the dresser— per-
fumes, powders, a mirror. He over-
turned a chair. He surveyed with satis-
faction the havoc he had wrought.
Mute testimony, he figured, of the vali-
ant struggle Martha had made for her
life.

For a moment Cycil looked callously
down at her. Now, he gloated, he was
sitting pretty. Martha never had made
a will. Everything would come to him.
No more slaving for a paltry salary.
No more skimping for this and that. No
more being roused from a warm bed on
cold mornings. No more commuting
back and forth— back and forth— back
and forth. How he hated it! And, too
—a warmness tingled through him—
there was that cute little blonde at the
office.

Cycil left the hall light burning, hur-
ried down to the kitchen. Eleven-
thirty-nine. In four minutes he must
make the phone call. He wiped the gun,
held it in his handkerchief-mittened

hand. He opened the kitchen door,
stepped out on the back piazza. He
hurled the gun far into the night. Let

them find it. There would be no finger
prints on it; it could not be traced to
him.

D ACK in the kitchen, the door again

locked, Cycil stripped off his coat,
vest, trousers and socks. He wrapped
them into a sodden ball, the muddy
shoes in the center. He turned on the
cellar light, hastened down the steps.
Deep under the coal in the bin he buried
the soggy bundle. He was panting when
he got back to the kitchen. He unlocked
a pantry window, raised the sash. He
tipped over things on the shelf under the
window, spilled them on the floor. He
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rinsed his hands at the sink, dried them.

Eleven forty-three. He had planned
things to the dot! Had he come around
by the road from the bus stop, he would
have been getting home now.

In his dress shirt, tie, shorts and
bare feet, he dialed the operator.

“Emergency!” he barked breath-
lessly into the receiver. “Get the po-
lice!”

“Police station,” came back to him
after a moment. “Lieutenant------

“Quick I” Cycil cut him off. “Send the
police! My wife’'s been murdered! |
just got home and found her. Some
prowler got in through the pantry win-

Yes! 43 Lambert Street. . . .
Hurry! Hurry!”
Cycil hung up. He had five or six

minutes before the police scould get
there. He darted up the front stairs,
flung himself into his bedroom, snapped
on the light. He put on fresh socks, an-
other pair of oxfords. He carefully
scrutinized himself in the mirror of his
dresser. On his mad journey through
the wooded swamp his upturned coat
collar had protected the shirt and tie.
They were no more soiled than from an
ordinary day’s wear.

Cycil went to the closet, reached into
it. Crazy, was he? Crazy to have two
suits exactly alike? Yeah. Crazy ...
He reached deeper into the closet.
Crazy. Yeah. Like a------ He opened
the door wider, peered inside. Per-
plexity shadowed his face. He looked
around the room— on the chairs, on the
bed.

He rushed to his wife’'s room, turned
on the light. He looked in her closet,
on the chairs. He dashed down stairs to
the first floor, looked through all the

rooms. He stumbled back to his own
room. “Where the hell------ ?” He was
sobbing wildly. “Where the hell------ ?”

Cycil again looked in his-closet. Only
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three empty suit-hangers met his eyes.

“Where the hell---—- ?”

He looked dazedly around the room,
saw a paper on the dresser. In his haste
he had not noticed it. He snatched it
up. His eyes raced over the bold, angu-
lar writing— Martha’s.

Cycils’ flushed face turned ashen. He
clutched at the dresser. For a moment
he stood rigidly there, staring unsee-
m ly into space.

Then he again read the note. “No,
Martha,” he whispered. “NoJ”
A third time he read it. Stumbling,

incoherently he mouthed the words.
“‘Wear the same suit tomorrow,
Cycil,”” he mumbled. “ ‘I sent the
other two to the cleaners.’ ”
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Unhurriedly, methodically he tore
the missive into tiny shreds, cupped
them in his hand. Then Cycil tossed
back his head and laughed. Laughed
long and loudly. “Yeah,” he chortled.
“ ‘Wear the same suit------ "

From a distance came the sound of a
siren.

In a gesture of resignation, of utter
futility, he threw up his hands, loosed
the fistful of tattered paper bits. Slowly,
like drifting snowflakes, they sifted
down, gently settled on his head, on his
shoulders.

Outside, a motor hummed; brakes
screeched. Then came running, crunch-
ing footsteps on the graveled walk. A
thumping on the door.

GASPARILLA— ARISTOCRATIC PIRATE

O THE lists of swash-buckling captains
I that have fought and laughed their way
along the coasts of the youthful, growing
United States, recent investigation has added the
name of Jose Gaspar, or Captain Gasparilla as he
was known in the rascalous pirate society of the
1800%s. Of all the handsome Castillians who turned
their talents to piracy, he was the handsomest; of
all the fabulous Kings of the Pirate World, he
was the most daring and romantic; and of all the
murderous cutthroats who ruthlessly massacred for
coin and jewels, he was the most merciless.

The story of this pirate king makes adventurous
reading. Bom in 1756 of one of the wealthiest
and most highly respected families of Spain, Jose
Gaspar seemed destined for the respectable life of
a Grandee. He felt the weight of this respectabil-
ity early and joined the navy to escape it. There
the fire and the spirit that was so characteristic
of his actions brought him quick promotion and
he soon reached the rank of Captain.

The sea seemed the natural home for his adven-
turesome spirit and, with Spain depending on her
navy to protect her precarious possessions, Jose
Gaspar could easily have become an admiral. But
Gaspar was a restless rascal—and dishonest to
boot—and was soon in "hot water” with his gov-
ernment. It was circumstance that forced a de-
cision. He was selected by the Crown to deliver
a package of precious jewels; Gaspar was plagued
by temptation. A few small jewels out of this
huge collection could so easily extricate him from
his embarrassing position in regard to several gam-

bling debts. It seemed a shame to overlook the
opportunity. He succumbed.

Well, the Spanish government was quite put
out. Respectable family or no they could hardly
allow the Crown’s jewels to be pilfered without
punishing the culprit. They moved quickly to
arrest Gaspar, the thief, but they did not move
quickly enough. He suspected their intention and
led them a merry chase halfway across Spain.
Finally, after commandeering a vessel in one of
the Spanish harbors, he set sail with the threats
of his countrymen behind him and the future a
precarious one, to say the least.

But Jose Gaspar was a confident culprit with-
out a shred of conscience to make him turn back!
If society would not seek to understand his ad-
venturous soul, then “hang society and let the devil
take the hindmost-" If he were to be an outcast,
then at least he would be a successful and wealthy
outcast!

Gasparilla, for so he called himself, won over
the crew of his stolen ship with the shrewd and
cunning tongue that was his happiest weapon.

“Run up the black flag,” they cheered. “Gas-
parilla is our chief, and we will follow him to the
death!” They headed for the Spanish Main.
There the richly laden vessels ploughed the seas
to and fro between Spain and her colonies filled
with gold and silver from the Mexican mines and
expensive finery for the Spanish nobles who ruled
the colonial possessions. They were rich prizes
for the pirates who sailed the seas in hunt for
quarry. Gasparilla was determined not just to
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have his share but to establish himself at the head
of this murdering pirate society and reign as a
true Pirate King.

As a fitting home for a King of the Pirates,
Gasparilla chose the Florida bay now known as
Charlotte Harbor. On a little isle now named
Gasparilla Island he landed men and guns. There
he put his men to work constructing a place of
residence for “his majesty." In legend it is de-
scribed as, a palatial home filled with pieces of the
finest Spanish furniture, with china and glassware
of exquisite workmanship—all the booty and
plunder acquired in their attacks upon unwary
merchantmen. It was as if Spain, the country
that had been so unappreciative of his talents,
had suddenly relented and sent these cargoes spe-
cifically for his use. Gasparilla expressed his
pleasure at their kindness and generosity of emp-
tying the cargo-holds of Spanish ships regularly
and inevitably.

But it was not with genteel manners and subtle
tongue that Captain Caspar made his conquests.
He was as quick and facile with the pistol and the
sword as he was relentlessly murderous and plun-
derous. Moreover, and this was his tour de force,
the years he spent with the Spanish navy had made
him master of the long guns that his ships carried
in great number. This, together with a native
cunning, made him a tremendous success in the
blood business of piracy.

More than one merchantman, while sailing
peacefully through the calm waters of the Gulf
of Mexico, saw a sleek dark ship appear from out
a cove on the Florida shore. While the unsus-
pecting cargo-ship would maintain its steady
course toward the Atlantic, the strange vessel
would set its course to intercept. Suddenly from
its sides would pour a deadly volley of shot and
shell, aimed to tear the galleons rigging and bring
down spars and sails. Then the pirate ship would
race in violently to ram the helpless victim. Over
her side would swarm the murdering cutthroats
with bowie knives and pistols pulled for action,
and always at their head would be Gasparilla,
bloody King of the Pirates!

The battling would be swift and furious. His
men would scourge the ship from stem to stem.
After the victory those men of the merchantman
who had not fallen in the fight would be given a
sihgle choice. Either they joined the pirate crew
of Gasparilla or were quickly murdered. No man
aboard was permitted to escape to tell the bloody
tale.

Toward the women, however, this rascal had an
attitude characterized by the gentlemanly gallantry
of the Spanish nobleman and the egotistical bar-
barism of the Pirate King. He maintained a
harem of innumerable females taken from the ships
voyaging toward the New World with wives for
the Spanish colonists. Those ladies of quality
whom he chose as his concubines were wined and
dined, treated royally as if he were courting them
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in a royal palace. But the results were inevitable.

When he tired of them he would pass them on
to his men. They too maintained harems on a
much smaller scale than the King.

Gasparilla’s dual nature can best be seen in the
story of an encounter which he had with a noble
Spanish princess whom he kidnapped on one of
his raids. She was a beautiful woman, aristocratic
and proud. Gasparilla played the adoring swain
and applied all the courteous gallantry that he
had learned as a Spanish nobleman.

This woman, however, did not succumb. She
criticized him bitterly for his actions in preying
on the ships of his own countrymen. Gasparillo
had expected coldness at first and accepted her
anger calmly; he invited her to stay at his home.

There he continued his wooing in a most per-
suasive manner. She refused his attentions and
told him in no uncertain terms her opinion of him.
Her criticism was an insult to his egotistical na-
ture, and sensing her resistance as unmovable, he
drew his pistol and shot her through the heart.

King Gasparilla reigned over his pirate kingdom
for many years. But, as was inevitable, his plun-
dering forced the great nations into action. Cam-
paigns aimed at destroying the pirates were carried
out with determination and strong force. They
were caught and hanged as ruthlessly as they had
murdered and plundered. Gasparilla saw the
handwriting on the wall and decided to break his
reign. So, calling his men together, he divided
the booty which is said to have been over thirty
millions in gold and silver, and he prepared to
sail away with his share of the loot and favorite
concubines.

Just as they were heaving up anchor; they
sighted a large ship entering the bay. Gasparilla
rubbed his hands as he thought that this last
haul would be a fitting farewell gift for the break-
ing up of his “kingdom.” This large lumbering
merchantman, seemingly British, would probably
be well-loaded with expensive wares. With his
sword waving, he shouted to his men.

Suddenly a tremendous roar rent the air. Round
shot screeched and crashed through the hull and
rigging of the pirate ship. Men fell dead and
wounded; spars came tumbling down; splinters
flew, and guns were dismounted. The disguised
merchantman was actually a warship of the United
States Navy, and it raced upon the stricken pirate
ship, turning upon Gasparilla his own ruthless
tactics.

Gasparilla was trapped! There was not the
slightest chance of offering resistance; no escape
was possible, the pirate saw only the hangman’
noose as his inevitable punishment. Gasparilla
faltered.

Suddenly his decision was made. Seizing a piece
of chain cable, he wound it about his waist. Then,
with a defiant shout to his foes, he leaped into the
sea—spectacular to the end. A fitting exit for
the King of Pirates—Marian Adams
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ITH idle curiosity, Tommy
W Brent studied the girl who
had walked around the

corner on the opposite side of Fifth
Avenue. She was wearing a short
black Persian lamb coat that obviously
had cost a lot of money, and a neat
full-brimmed hat that seemed to have
been expressly molded for her head.

The girl took about ten steps up the
block, then stopped as though unde-
cided. She was not the type one usu-
ally found in this dingy vicinity, and
the way she kept peering up and down
the avenue, it appeared she was
nervous about something.

Tommy Brent had a commanding
view of the intersection from where he
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stood waiting in a dark doorway, and
he could see nothing except deserted
loneliness. Imagining this poor little
rich girl was here to secretly meet
her date— probably someone her family
had forbidden her to see, he dismissed
her from his mind. The skinny, raw-
boned police reporter was disgruntled
that Georgie Harker hadn’'t shown up
yet.

Not that he and Harker were
friends. They weren’t. Harker, who
was a gossip columnist with the same
paper he worked on, had printed too
much dirt on Brent’s personal friends.
Nor did he trust Harker. Harker
regularly ran big-money poker games
with Toby Scott, a questionable ex-
bookie who operated a cigar store in
the adjoining block.

It was the typewritten note Harker
had sent him that had brought Brent
here. Hie note had read:

T ommy—Let's forget our differences
and work to our mutual advantage.
The fact is, I've got a tip on where
Mara Marshall is. She's mixed deep
in something that w ill make hot head-
lines. But it's a two-man job to swing
the story. How about sharing the by-
line with me when | file?

If you're interested, meet me at the
corner of Fourth and Main at eight
tonight.

Georgie Harker.

How Harker had gotten wind of the
missing Mara Marshall was beyond
Brent. Because Brent was his and
Mara’s friend, the wealthy John Mar-
shall had enlisted the police reporter’s
aid in locating his young wife after
she fled to the city from his downstate
farm. It had all been done secretly in
an effort to get the impulsive Mara
back without nasty publicity.

Brent hadn’t found a trace of Mara
in her old haunts. And the startling
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knowledge that Harker apparently
knew plenty about her frightened
Brent a little. Knowing the kind of
rat Harker was------

~pHE girl on the other side of the

avenue began walking back toward
the corner. This time her face was
plain to Brent in the street light. A
beautiful oval face, lily-white, framed
in gleaming red hair. The girl was
Mara Marshalll

It was so unexpected, Brent mo-
mentarily lost his head. He charged
across the street, yelling, “Say, wait a
minute, Maral Waitl”

She gave him one quick, backward
glance. Then with a flash of silken
legs, she ran around the corner and
down Main Street. She twisted into a
between-building passageway in the
middle of the block and vanished.

Brent was close behind her. And
when he hammered through the black,
narrow passageway and into a wide
cobblestoned service alley, he col-
lided with a tall, thin man. The man
swore as they* tangled, throwing a
quick punch at Brent's head. The
hook came up from his hip and had
enough power to knock Brent off bal-
ance.

Brent caught at the brick wall beside
them to keep from falling. He strug-
gled back erect, snarling, “You dirty
— " But by that time the tall man was
halfway up the passageway.

Brent twisted back to the service
alley and raked his eyes about the
darkness, searching for the girl. There
was no immediate sign of her. Yet
he was sure she hadn’'t had the time
to get to the single street-exit of the
alley. The street light across from the
alley mouth revealed no sign of her
running toward it.

That was the moment he spotted the
lighted and wide-open door which led
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into the rear of the narrow, two-
storied old brick building directly op-
posite him. It was the rear entrance
to Toby Scott’s cigar store. This door,
he recalled, led into the back room
where Toby and Georgie Harker held
their poker games.

It gave him a queer feeling that
Mara Marshall had run into this par-
ticular alley. Considering that Harker
knew things about the girl, the possi-
bility arose in Brent’s mind that she
might have ducked into Toby’s back
room. He hurried to the wide open
rear door, stepped through it and stood
motionless.

The back room was barren-looking,
its pea-green paint peeling and hang-
ing in hideous strips from the walls. A
drop-cord cone light hung low above an
old-fashioned round dining table that
had around eight or nine wooden fold-
ing chairs drawn up to it.

T>RENT saw a thin young man, with

thick, perfectly-combed straw-col-
ored hair, leaning against the frame of
the inside doorway. It was Georgie
Harker. The gossip columnist had
one hand clutched to his narrow chest,
the lapels of his gabardine coat bunched
together in his skinny fist. He looked
a bit drunk.

“Okay, | meet you here instead of
on the corner,” snapped Brent. “Tell me
where the girl is. I'm pretty sure she
ducked into this back room.”

“Girl?” blurted Harker.
girl?”

“l saw Mara Marshall out on the
street and chased her in this direction.
I’'m positive that she’s here, considering
the way you're acting.”

Harker swayed, gasped out: “It was
no girl. It was a gun— exploding in
my face— ” and he sank limply to the
floor as if he didn’t have a muscle in
his body.

“What
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Brent stooped over him, snarled:
“Listen, you damned drunken—" He
stopped short, hair rising on his neck
as he stared at Harker. The colum-
ist's hand was away from his chest
now, and Brent saw the blood that
stained the man’s shirt-front. There
were two ragged bullet holes in the
blood stain, close to the heart.

A quick grab at Harker’s wrist re-
vealed to Brent that there was no pulse.
Georgie Harker was dead. He had died
the same instant he had slumped down.

Brent had to fight back the chilling
horror that gripped him. In God’s
name, who had killed Harker, and for
what reason? It was madness to be-
lieve Toby Scott had killed him. Toby
wouldn’t have left the body here in his
wide-open b?tck room to damn him.

Thought of Mara rushed back to
Brent, and he hurried through the door
which took him toward the front. He
found no sign of her in the darkened
cigar store. The street door was still
tight-bolted, chain-locked.

Long strides carried him up the nar-
row staircase which led out of the shop
and up to Toby’s flat on the second
floor. Toby wasn’t up in the flat.
Neither was Mara. And Brent became
tortured with the fear that the girl had
not come into the building after all.
Worse, he had walked straight into
the murder of a man who was his known
enemy |

He returned to the back room where
Harker lay. There was no trace of the
murder gun anywhere. He hastily
searched Harker, despite that the out-
turned pockets betrayed that the killer
had searched the columnist too. And
he discovered something in the man’s
vest pocket which the killer had missed
—a calling card, folded into a wad. A
message, scribbled on the back of it,
read:

We've got to locate Mara before she
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-can cause us dangerous trouble. And
by aU means, keep an eye on my damned
brother4dn-law.

"PARENT turned the card over. His
eyes narrowed as he read the name
imprinted on it:
VINCENT DURANT
25 RIVERSIDE DRIVE

He knew Durant—a small, benev-
olent-looking man of fifty, a familiar
figure around the night spots. He had
never trusted Durant. He never trusted
churchy-appearing men who hang
around the rowdy clubs.

Did Rurant write this note to Har-
ker? If so, what was the significance?
If Harker was working with him in some
illegal enterprise, in what fantastic way
could Mara Marshall figure in the pic-
ture?

And who was this brother-in-law the
writer had asked Georgie Harker to
watch?

Brent thought of his old friend,
Charlie Bowland. Charlie was up on
almost everyone who haunted the night
clubs. He practically lived in the clubs
and knew Durant very well. There was
a chance he would know if Durant had a
brother-in-law.

Shoving the card into his watch-
pocket, Brent turned to the wall phone
he knew stood beside the inside door
. . . then went rigid, staring at how the
receiver was hanging off the hook. His
little scene with Harker probably had
been audible at Central, if some girl had
listened in at the time.

A feesh spasm of worry assailed him,
driving home the full horror of his posi-
tion. His bitterness against Georgie
Harker was well known to the police.
They would be quick to suspect that
he Mid Harker had argued again— an
argument which, this time, had ended
fatally.
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He saw no good in troubling over
that now. While he still had the chance,
he had to dig to the very bottom of this
mystery to save his own neck. And he
took a step toward the phone to get that
call through to Charlie Bowland.

“Stay where you are, Tommy!” a
voice suddenly warned from the still
open door to the alley.

He whirled around and saw the figure
of Detective-Lieutenant Ferguson step-
ping into the room. It brought him a
sick, nauseating feeling of hopelessness.
Ferguson was the one officer on the
Force who had a deep malignant grudge
against him.

CHAPTER I
Where Is Mara?

TWO uniformed officers crowded

in behind him, Ferguson waggled
his revolver meaningly at Brent. “Just
stay where you are, Tommy,” he re-
peated. “l don't want to have to
punch holes in your carcass.”

Brent glared. “You're a damned
idiot!”

“We’'ll see.” Ferguson walked over and
examined the dead columnist. “Well,
well— it's Georgie Harker. | seem to
recall you and him never got along to-
gether— isn’t that right?”

“Ferguson—if you had half a
brain— "~
“Strange. The murder gun is no-

where in the room.” Ferguson frisked
the police reporter. “Not onyou either.
Where did you hide it? Better tell us,
Tommy. We'll be bound to find it
quick enough.”

Brent’s hot gaze burned into Fergu-
son’s round reddish face. Ferguson’s
face might have been handsome, except
for the drooping eyelids and deep-
slashed lines around the warped lips.
At the moment, the lieutenant was glow-
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ing with an evil joy.

“Yeah— 1 know,” growled Brent.
“You’'re out to get even with me. Ever
since that time | butted in when you
started beating up that girl who
wouldn’t tell where her crooked brother
was hiding out— "

“That'’s got nothing to do with it. I've
got facts. | was about a half-mile from
here, up Main Street, making a routine
investigation, when headquarters
phoned me and told me to come here.
Headquarters told me the phone opera-
tor said Harker was trying to get your
room at the Imperial Hotel when some-
body came in and started to argue and
fight with him. She heard the shots.”

“You utter lame-brain! The fact
Harker was calling me on the phone is
proof enough I'm in the clear.” Brent
tapped a finger on Ferguson’s broad
chest. “You’'re not going to railroad me
on this killing. The inspector is on to
you. He knows you've been laying for
me ever since | had that suspension
hung on your neck.”

Ferguson smirked. “We’ll see who
packs the weight around here. You're
going to be whittled down plenty,” and
turned to the phone to call head-
quarters.

It took only ten minutes for the
homicide crew to reach the murder
scene. Inspector Wade—tall, gray-
headed, his rugged face grim— came
with them, and he asked Tommy Brent
to tell his story.

'T'HERE was no sense in mixing Mara
A Marshall into the mess, and Brent
said: “l got a note from Georgie Har-
ker this evening. He said he wanted
bygones to be bygones and that he had
some hot news story he wanted to share
with me. He was supposed to meet me
at a comer near here. When he didn’t
show up, | thought he might be here
with Toby Scott. The back door was
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wide open, and | found him here like
this. Toby was nowhere around. So
help me, Inspector, that’s the truth.”

“Don’t believe him, Mr. Wade,” Fer-
guson sneered. “You know yourself
how he and Harker got along.”

Wade gave Ferguson a sharp look
and turned back to Brent. “We won't
hold you, Tommy. But | suggest you
stay close”by in the event we need you.”

Brent took a deep breath of relief. He
hadn’t been expecting a break like this.

“Thanks, Inspector,” he said. “I ap-
preciate your faith in me.”

“It isn't exactly faith,” Inspector
Wade told him. “Recently | heard a
rumor that Harker was bragging a lot
about some big-time blackmail setup
here in town. Whether he’s in it or
not, I don’'t know. One way or the
other, it hints this might be something
bigger than a mere grudge ending be-
tween you and him.”

Brent's eyes flicked wide as he
thought of the scribbled card he’'d found
in Harker’s pocket. He said nothing,
turned and walked toward the alley
door.

He saw Ferguson glaring maliciously
at him. Plainly, by fair trick or foul,
Ferguson was going to do all in his
power to nail him to the wall for the
crime. It wasn't a very comfortable
feeling.

He walked back to Main Street and
took a trolley to the old Imperial Hotel,
where he lived. During the ride, he
struggled to think sanely, knowing he
was far from being in the clear yet. By
necessity, he would have to dig around
for additional clues to his own inno-
cence. At the same time, he had the
grim premonition that Mara Marshall
was somehow hooked up with Harker’s
murder too.

TJTS thoughts went back to the old
A days, when Mara was doing her
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remarkable tap-dance routine in the
higherclass supper clubs. She was lovely,
smooth, breath-taking— much different
from the pigtailed, freckled girl he had
been raised with in that small lowa
farm town. His regard for her was
more than admiration, but he knew he
didn't have a chance, considering all
the society men with whom she was
keeping company.

A little over a year ago, she married
one of them— John Marshall, a pen-and-
ink artist who lived on a small estate
forty miles downstate, devoting most
of his time at raising prize beef. Some
time before, Brent had been a close
friend of Marshall, and he was con-
vinced that the marriage was a good
match.

Marshall had come up to town the
previous week, looking worried. Mara
had left him, leaving a note saying she
was returning to the city for good “so
I can have some fun instead of being
cooped up here with the rest of your
prime Herefords.” That wasn't at all
like Mara, yet Marshall assured Brent
that there had been no argument be-
tween them. He begged Brent to locate
her and bring her back without ugly
publicity. And Brent had promised.

Now, though, Brent worried over the
real reason behind her flight to the city.
Considering that Inspector Wade had
said Harker probably had been in a
shakedown setup, had these blackmail-
ers— in possession of awkward facts in
regard to Mara’s or her husband’s past
— forced her to return to town for some
fantastic reason? And had she crossed
them up, so that now they were search-
ing for her as a definite danger to their
organization— as the scribbled calling
card suggested?

But in that case, why hadn’t she re-
turned directly downstate to Marshall’s
farm? And why had she been wander-
ing so carelessly out in die open? Whom
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had she been looking for on that street
corner? Queerest of all, why had Har-
ker written him that note, begging him
to meet him on that same corner?

TDRENT tried to convince himself

that he was reasoning wrong. And
there was only one way to find out if
Mara was in some way connected with
Barker’s death— and that was by ques-
tioning the girl himself. But at the mo-
ment, that seemed like wishful think-
ing. It looked like he would never get
near her again . . .

Finally, when he reached the Im-
perial Hotel and got to his room on the
second floor, he was surprised to find
a note pinned to his door. The note,
written in a firm feminine hand, read:

Tommy—I1/ need your help badly.
Will you come to where 1 live— Apart-
ment 2B at the Carleton House— as
soon as you can? | am living there un-
der the name oj Lorna Johns.

Mara Marshall.

Tommy Brent stood stiffly, rereading
the short message. It brought to mind
his blackmail theory. And the fact that
Mara had not called him into this till
now made him feel that the murder of
Harker had placed her in a very dan-
gerous position.

Why had Harker been killed? Could
it be that he had gone soft on Mara
and had been ironed out in an attempt
to rescue her from that gang? Some-
how that fit with the way the gossip
columnist had arranged to meet him on
that street comer.

Brent went into his room and turned
on the light, musing over the irony of
this new, unexpected twist. Charlie
Bowland lived in Apartment 2A in the
Carleton House— was the girl’s neigh-
bor. And Brent had often visited his
old friend at that flat during the past
week.

He took out a snub-nosed revolver
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that was hidden in the bottom drawer of
his dresser, checked the loaded weapon
and thrust it into his pocket. Granted
that he was correct about why Harker
had been murdered, this gang plainly
was desperate to get the girl back for
their own purposes. They probably
would burn down anybody who stood
between them and Mara. W.ith this un-
comfortable thought in mind, he walked
out of his room again.

'"Y'HE minute he reached the street
and looked for a cab, he spotted a
lean man with a turned-up topcoat
standing in the building shadows. He
recognized him as one of Ferguson’s
detectives, and it brought back the full
impact of his own predicament.

He went to work on the detective,
leading him a crazy route— in and out of
taxicabs, hotels, and railway stations. A
good twenty minutes were wasted, shut-
tling back and forth like this, but it paid
off in the end. Later, when he was
finally striding up to the Carleton
House, there was no sign of his shadow.

The hulking, four-storied Carleton
House was one of those typical re-
modeled old places one finds in the back
streets of town, and it had been doc-
tored up to look Colonial— painted ala-
baster white, with bright-green shutters
at the windows. No one was in the big
front hall as Brent entered, and he went
directly to the second floor and knocked
on the door marked 2B.

Mara did not answer his knock, which
worried him. If she had left a message
for him to come here at once, desperate
as it seemed she was, surely she would
be waiting for him. He knocked again,
loudly.

“What’s wrong, Tommy?” a voice be-
hind him said. “Worried because Miss
Johns isn’t in?”

Brent saw the house manager stand-
ing near the head of the stairs—* young
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blond man, with greased-down hair
parted in the middle, and a thin, sensi-
tive face. His name was Endicott mid
was one of the men who often had
played in the poker games in the rear
of Toby Scott’s cigar store.

“Is she?” Brent asked.

Endicott shook his head. “She went
out some time ago and | haven't seen
her since. What's the matter? Did she
stand you up on a date?”

“Maybe. Tell me, has this girl got
red hair and . Brent described Mara
Marshall in detail.

The manager grinned; nodded. “You
must have been peeking in her win-
dows, son.”

Brent scowled. Positive now that the
girl was Mara, he wondered again why
she hadn’'t come directly here after
leaving that note on his door.

“Charlie Bowland in?” he asked.

“Yeah,” nodded Endicott. “I saw
him come in a few minutes ago. He
looked keyed up.”

“He’s generally keyed up or tanked
up,” muttered Brent, and went over
and pounded on door 2A.

The door opened carefully a few
inches, which wasn’'t Charlie’s glad-
hand style at all. Charlie spoke from
inside, nervously: “Who . . . who is
it? Oh, it’s you, Tommyl Come on
in. Come on in.”

Brent entered and walked into the
living room of the flat, which was

furnished in cheap Early American
manner. He studied his old friend
curiously.

“What's eating you, Charlie?”

“Nothing— nothing a tall,” Charlie
said. “Have a chair, kid, while | rassle
you up a drink.”

IDRENT sank into a soft chair, watch-

ing Charlie work at his liquor cabi-
net. Charlie Bowland tfas tall, thin,
with a wealth of white hair, and dressed
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in a natty striped gray suit. Years ago,
Brent had given up trying to talk
Charlie out of the life he led. Women
and liquor were all that seemed im-
portant to the lovable old reprobate.
The weakness for women kept him in
constant trouble.

Charlie swiftly manufactured two
whiskey sodas. He worked a bit awk-
wardly, favoring his right hand. It
bothered him as he handled the syphon.

“What’s wrong with your mitt?”

Charlie jerked nervously, but he
didn’t answer till he brought the drinks
to the table beside Brent. He smiled.
“Like an ass, | slipped in the bathroom.
Half-sprained my wrist, damn it.”

They sipped their drinks a moment.

“Remember that girl I mentioned I'm
looking for?” Brent asked suddenly.

Charlie nodded. “Yeah— Mara Mar-
shall. You showed me a picture of her
and asked me to keep my eyes peeled
for her in the night spots. Why?”

“1 saw her out on the street tonight,
but she got away.”

“The hell you say.”

“1 found out something else too. The
girl who lives next door to you here—
Lorna Johns—is actually Mara Mar-
shall.”

Charlie almost choked on his drink.
“My God, is that right? Well, what do
you know. | never—"”

“What do you know about her,
Charlie? What about visitors she’s
had? See many of them?”

“No. In fact, | never even got a
look at the gal. She’s only a name to
me,” and it seemed Charlie was choos-
ing his words a little too carefully.

“What about Vin Durant?” asked
Brent. “Did he ever come around?”

Charlie looked at Brent steadily.
Then he drained his drink and set the
glass on the,table.

"No,” he said.
around.”

“l never saw him
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“You're a friend of Durant’s. Tell
me, did you ever meet his brother-in-
law?”

Charlie’'s eyes turned momentarily
hard. “No, | never knew he even has
a brother-in-law. For that matter,
Durant and | aren’t as good friends as
a lot of people think.”

1) RENT started a bit in surprise, hear-
ing Charlie say that. It sounded
like a lie and bothered him like did the
way Charlie was nervous and keyed up.
Brent rose up. “Well, if you spot
this girl coming in, go over in her flat
and see that she can’'t get away. Tie
her up if necessary.”

“1 will if she comes around in time,”
Charlie told him. “I'm just getting
ready for a weekend in the country. I'll
be leaving in a minute.”

“Good idea. The country air prob-
ably will do you a lot of good,” and
Brent went out of the flat. He knocked
on the girl's door again. Getting no
response, he wondered if he should
break into her flat for a look-around.
He finally decided against it.

He was thinking of Charlie Bowland
as he left the building. Charlie was in
another one of his jams. There seemed
no doubt that he was sneaking out of
town a while until the trouble blew
over.

“Probably some blonde’s husband is
hunting for his scalp,” Brent reflected
as he headed out of the Carleton House.

He dropped into a drugstore down the
block. He telephoned the Blue Gardens
night club, where Vin Durant generally
spent his evenings.

“Look, Frank,” he said after he got
connected with the headwaiter. “I1've
got to talk with Vin Durant. Try and
find some reason for keeping him at your
joint till I reach there. Sic one of your
bar blondes on him, if necessary, but
make him stay put.”
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“Tommy, Mr. Durant isn’t here,” the
headwaiter replied. “He went out about
a half-hour ago. He seemed very wor-
ried. He hasn’t been himself at all
recently. Business troubles, perhaps.”

“Did you hear where he went?”

“He said he was going straight
home.”

“Thanks, Frank. Confidentially
though, do you think he’s worried over
his brokerage business, or is it some-
thing else not so honest?”

“I'm sure it’s business,” maintained
the headwaiter. “It couldn’t be any-
thing crooked. Mr. Durant is very
decent.”

“Sure, because he pays you such nice
tips. Do you think the trouble might
be between him and Charlie Bowland?”

“Charlie Bowland? Tommy, that's
impossible.  They are very close
friends.”

“That’s what | thought too,” and
Tommy Brent hung up, frowning. He
went out of the drugstore and luckily
found a cruising cab. As he rode away,
he noticed that it had started to rain
lightly, depressingly . . .

CHAPTER Il
Sleeping Beauty

TT WAS still raining when the cab

dropped him off near Durant’s resi-
dence on Riverside Drive. The rain
was steadier now. From all appear-
ances, it seemed that the town was in
for a wet, disagreeable night.

Tommy Brent looked up and down
the street to be sure one of Ferguson’s
men hadn’t spotted him and followed
him here. Seeing no one, he put up his
coat collar and headed toward Durant’s.

Judging from the home he had,
Durant was decidedly in the bucks. It
was a huge stone mansion set in a land-
scaped grounds of well-tended trees and
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shrubs and wide-sweeping lawn. As
Brent took a short cut across the lawn,
heading toward the drive that curved
up to a hulking porte-cochere, he was
more than ever convinced Durant was
making his money the wrong way.

Brent halted, eyes narrowing, when
he spotted the brief flare of a match
almost directly ahead of him. He hadn’t
yet reached the driveway, and he peered
intently at the shrubs on this side of
the port-cochere, where he had seen the
brieflight. Then he saw a dim, tiny red
glow. Someone was behind those shrubs,
smoking.

Whoever it was, was watching the en-
trance to the house. Why? There
seemed only one answer to that. Durant
had been tipped off he probably was
coming here— tipped off by the head-
waiter at the Blue Gardens or someone
else. A guard must have been posted
to see that this unwanted visitor did not
get into the mansion.

The fact that Durant did not want to
see him made Brent more than anxious
to speak to the man. He slid his gun
from his pocket and advanced toward
the guard from the rear. The fresh-
clipped lawn, soft from the rain, made
no sound beneath his feet.

T_TE SAFELY reached a thick dm

tree which stood near the shrub-
bery. Digging eyes into the dark ahead
of him, he could make out the figure of
the hunching guard— a stocky, small-
statured man impatiently sucking at a
glowing cigarette.

It was Toby Scott, the man who
owned the cigar store where Harker
had been murdered!

Brent’s suspicions of Toby rose up
again. He charged, swift and silent,
across the space that stood between
them—rammed his gun into Toby’s
back.

“Not a move, Toby!” he gritted
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tightly.

Toby stiffened and stood still.

Brent frisked him, taking possession
of Toby’s small automatic. He slipped
the gun into his own pocket and stepped
around in front of his prisoner. Toby
Scott sagged a little when he recognized
him.

“Brent!

7

God, | never thought you

“Cut out the hogwash, Toby,” Brent
snapped. “You were expecting me.
You were watching for me on orders
from your boss.”

Toby Scott seemed to go into spasms
of fear. “What do you mean— boss?
| don’t take orders from anybody but
myself!”

Nuts. It was on orders of the head
man of your blackmail racket that you
blasted down Harker.” Then, in
further inspiration, Brent added grimly.
“1 saw you duck out right after Georgie
was burned down.”

“l swear | didn't kill Georgie!”

Brent’s voice turned hard. “Talk,
Toby. Why did Harker come over to
the back room of your store?”

“Seeing you saw me run out, | won’t
deny | was there when he was shot,”
Toby said. “I was just ready to go out
when he comes in and says, ‘Let me
use your phone, will you? | was sup-
posed to meet a guy on the comer, but
there’'s a mug prowling this neighbor-
hood who’s doing some queer spying.’
He says no more except that it was a
very private call, so | take the hint and
go upstairs. | was up there only about
a minute when | hear some banging
downstairs— like shots. | got down to
the back room to see a guy lamming
out into the alley. Georgie was down
on the floor, trying to get up. | ran
out to stop the guy who shot him, but
got scared when | saw you in the alley.
I figured you were in the Killing too.”

“What do you mean too?” barked
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Brent. “You killed Harker yourself—
on orders from your boss, who caught
on that Georgie was selling out the girl
to me.”

“l don't know anything about a
girl' Toby cried frantically. “And
I can prove | didn't burn down
Georgie! You see, | recognized the
guy who had shot Georgie. It was your
old pal, Charlie Bowland.”

For the second time that night,
Tommy Brent lost his head. He swore,
“Damn you, you filthy snide! Trying
to frame Charlie in this too . . .” and
swung the barrel of his revolver at
Toby’s head.

A TRANSFORMATION came over
Toby Scott. He lost his hysteria,
moved with rapid purpose. The gun
missed his head as h§ slid sideways,
and his fingers caught Brent’s forearm
in a torturing grip that sent the re-
volver flying from the police reporter’s
fingers. In the same instant, Brent
went sailing over Toby’s shoulder.
Ju-jitsu! Brent realized that the
moment Toby’s fingers clamped his
forearm. The man’s hysteria had been
faked few the sole purpose of getting
Brent to relax and grow careless.
Brent landed in the wet, dripping

bushes, crashed down into the soft
mud. Cursing, he slithered up to his
feet. Toby Scott, by that time, had

taken it on the lam and was well
on his way to the street.

There was little use trying to catch
him, and Brent retrieved his fallen gun.
His forearm ached a bit as he thrust
the gun back into his pocket. He
didn't believe the fairy tale that
Charlie Bowland had killed Harker,
and he brushed the mud from his rain-
damp clothing and walked up to the
door of Durant’'s house.

He thumbed the bell-button again
and again. Even kicked at the heavy
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door. No response. Despite the lack
of lights in the house, he imagined
somebody should be inside— at least,
the servants. He tried to tell himself
that Durant was inside and would not
open up to him.

It wasn’t until after he had walked
down the street to a drugstore and
phoned Durant’'s number that he was
convinced that nobody was there at the
house. No one answered the phone.

But what if, after all, Durant wasn’t
this blackmail boss? What if he were
the brother-in-law who was supposed
to be watched?

Brent felt he had muffed the deal
with Toby by working on the murder
instead of trying to get out of him where
Mara had been taken— that is, if these
men had gotten hold of her, as he
feared. And after he located a taxi and
began riding back toward the Carle-
ton House on the possibility that the
girl had returned there, he realized
again she was the only person in town
who might definitely help him clear
himself of Georgie Harker’'s murder.

"T~'HERE was Toby’s story, of course,

A of seeing Charlie running from the
murder. But all that, Brent reasoned,
was a lie—a stunt to confuse the case
in his mind, seeing he had tricked Toby
into admitting he had spotted him on
the scene of the Kkilling. At least,
he knew that Toby was the man he'd
have to work on if he didn't locate
Mara at the Carleton House.

Then suddenly he remembered the
tall man he had run into at the alley
passageway. The man had struck him
viciously and had fled as though he had
been running away from something.
That fitted with Toby’s story. So could

it be the actual truth that the tall
man had been the murderer of
Harker?

Recollection of how keyed up Charlie
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Bowland had appeared jolted Brent’s
brain. And Charlie had been nursing a
sore right hand. Could it have been
from socking somebody— from striking
down Brent after they had collided di-
rectly outside of the alley passage?

God knew that it fit. Yet Brent
tried to convince himself it was
too feeble — a coincidence. Charlie
wasn’t the type to commit murder. It
wasn’t beneath him to make love to his
best friend’s wife, or to chisel liquor
money out of a drunk. But murder?
No Charlie was too good-natured.
To hurt or Kill someone was no part of
his life.

But granted Charlie had been
pressed hard enough . . .? Playing on
the fringes of scandal, he would be a
ripe victim for blackmail. And if
Harker and his pals got the hooks tight
in Charlie and Charlie could no longer
pay the price they asked.

It was utterly fantastic— too weird
for Brent to believe. He wanted more
definite proof before he went off on
crazy tangets like this.

Yet after he reached the Carleton
House, his worry deepened. Neither
Charlie Bowland nor Mara Marshall
were in their flats. Charlie, of course,
had said he was leaving for a week-
end. But the fact that the girl was
still away strengthened the theory that
her enemies had captured her.

T) RENT went downstairs to the office-
apartment of Manager Endicott.
Endicott had just come in, because
when he answered his door he was still
wearing a rain-speckled raincoat.
Endicott grinned, looking at Brent’s
wet, mussed clothing. “What's cook-
ing, Tommy? You look like you've
been playing tackle on a muddy
field.”
“1 came here to get the raincoat I let
Charlie borrow last week,” Brent told
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him. “Charlie isn't in. | know it's a
little irregular, but I wonder— "

“—if you can get into his flat for
the coat? Sure. | trust you.” Still
grinning, Endicott dug out his key ring,
selected the right key and handed it to
Brent. “Don’t forget to bring it back
right away.”

“You can depend on me. Thanks
much,” and Tommy Brent headed up-
stairs again.

After he got up into Charlie Bow-
land’s flat, he made a careful search
of it—yet he found nothing of use to
him in regard to the murder or the
blackmailers. And he found himself
wondering if he had been completely
crazy, trying to believe the circum-
stances which painted Charlie as a mur-
derer. He cursed himself for even
worrying about it. His job was to pre-
vent himself from being implicated in
Georgie Harker’s death—not to try and
pin the murder on anybody.

And the fact that Mara Marshall
wasn’'t in her flat left him only the alter-
native he had decided upon earlier.
Toby Scott was the man who obviously
knew plenty in regard to Harker’s
death. And the logical place to find him
was in his flat above the cigar store.

Brent took possession of one of
Charlie’s raincoats, then returned the
key to Endicott. And when he got out-
doors again, he found the street was
literally running with water from the
now driving rain.

It took a while to locate a cab, and
after he did he made fast time. The
rain had driven the evening traffic to
cover, and it was only a short while
until he was back in the vicinity of
Toby’s cigar store.

The cigar store— the entire building
—was dark. The homicide squad had
finished their work here and had de-
parted. Out in the street in front,
Brent ran into a slickered beat cop

making his rounds.

“Hello, Mike,” he said. “How did
things work out about Georgie
Harker?”

“You better keep under cover,
Tommy,” the cop told him. “Fergu-
son has the call out for you. It seems

a phone operator overheard you talk-
ing to Harker before he died— some-
thing about you accusing him of har-
boring a girl. At least, Ferguson
thinks it was you.”

“Nuts. When | got here Georgie was
dead. What about Toby Scott?”

“Toby came here immediately after
you left. He gave a solid alibi that he
was nowhere near his store all evening,
and Inspector Wade let him go. Toby
said Harker carried a key to his back
room because they ran the poker games
together. The key was found in Har-
ker’s key-case, all right.”

“Sure,” muttered Brent, and he
walked away. It made him uncomfort-
able how smoothly Toby had arranged
a good alibi for himself. It hinted that
the blackmail ring— of which it seemed
pretty sure Toby was a part— would
take advantage of his blundering upon
the scene of Harker’s death. The manu-
facture of a little additional evidence—
and with Ferguson eager to push it
through— they had a good chance of
sinking him for the murder.

TLTE WORKED his way back to the

service alley and discovered that
the rear door to Toby’s building was
locked. Yet it was a simple, old-fash-
ioned common lock, and Brent took out
his key ring and tried the skeleton key
he habitually carried there. The key
did the trick, and he quietly opened the
door and entered the back room.

He felt his way through the back-
room into the store. He knew where
he was going— upstairs to Toby’s flat
—and if Toby was up there in bed, he’d
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get right to work on him. If he wasn't,
Brent planned to wait for him. In his
mind there was only one way of get-
ting information to clear himself, and
that was by hammering it out of Toby.
He had no way of knowing if the dope
Toby had would help him, but God
knew it was worth a try.

He climbed upstairs to a small hall
and stood for seconds before the door
that led into Toby’s flat. Finally he
reached out and noiselessly turned the
knob. The door was unlocked, and
very slowly he pushed it wide. He
wanted to be sure he made no mistakes
this time.

A trace of cigarette smoke tinged the
blackness of the flat. Someone was
smoking, or had recently smoked in
these rooms. As he tiptoed through the
door, Brent slid his gun out of his
pocket.

His intent ears heard no sounds—
nothing. Beams from the street light
came in through the windows, revealing
the old-fashioned mission furniture of
the dingy, untidy living room. Even
in the darkness, the room looked as
though it hadn’t been cleaned in months.

There was a closed door in the one
wall— a door which, he remembered, led
to Toby Scott’'s bedroom. He stepped
silently up to it. But the instant he
stealthily eased the door open, the
-muscles of his body tightened. He be-
came aware of deep breathing within
the bedroom.

He was sure it was Toby Scott in
the bed, sleeping in the security of his
bought alibi. It deepened his anger.
Fingers tight on his gun, he slid into
the room. Gradually his eyes made out
the dark shape of a dresser standing
against the near wall, and the tall old-
fashioned brass bed, with a chair be-
side it. Carefully, he fingered the wall
beside the door, found the light switch
and snapped it.
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He caught his breath sharply when
the light illuminated the sleeper— a girl,
her hands and feet tied with ropes to
the uprights of the bed ends, and with
an adhesive plaster sealing her mouth.

It was Mara Marshall— the girl he
had been searching for!

CHAPTER IV
WeVe Tried Everything

'Y'OMMY BRENT was beside her,

shaking her by the shoulder. She did
not stir. He shook her again, more
determinedly , but still there was no re-
sponse. It frightened him— but after
he caught up one of her wrists and felt
the easy, regular throb of her pulse, he
realized what was wrong. Mara Mar-
shall had been drugged.

He stood up and looked down at her.
She was still wearing her short black
Persian lamb, but the coat was winged-
back from her curved body, giving full
view of the girlish blue print dress she
was wearing. Her hat was gone, and
her striking deep-red hair hung tousled
about her vital oval white face.

Obviously, the blackmailers, getting
hold of her at last, had brought her here
as soon as the police had left. They had
drugged her to save the necessity of
watching over her.

Brent didn’t try to figure out why the
men were holding her. What was im-
portant was to get her out of here— to
some safe place where he could have a
doctor check her over. Drugs, admin-
istered by an amateur, sometimes can
be dangerous.

He untied the girl’'s hands and feet
from the ropes whch held her to the
brass bed. In one sharp motion, he
ripped the adhesive from her mouth.
Mara did not feel it, and it awoke new
worries in his mind. He gathered her
in his arms as gently as he could and
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carried her out of Toby Scott’s flat.

He got out of the darkened building,
down to the alley, without mishap. The
rain had considerably lessened and now
was no more than a drizzle. He began
worrying about the beat cop. It wasn’t
going to be easy avoiding Mike, carry-
ing a girl in his arms.

The way proved to be clear— even
after he bad gotten through the passage-
way to Main Street. The street was
empty, dark, except for Kruka’s drug-
store in the middle of the block past
Fifth. Brent had known Henry Kruka
for years, and he carried the girl to
the store.

Henry Kruka was at the point of
dosing up for the night— tiny, wizened,
appearing like a bait, baldheaded boy
in the over-size white coat he was wear-
ing. He glanced from the unconsdous
girl to Brent, blinking his small blue
eyes in shocked amazement.

“Tommy— what in the world . . . ?”

“She’s out cold— doped, Henry. Is
there somewhere here where we can
take care of her?”

“Sure. Sure. But where did you
find— "

“Never mind,” snapped Brent. “We
can talk this over after we've tended
to the girl. She needs medical atten-
tion.”

“Old Doc Winter lives in the next
block— "~

“Get him, by all means. Meanwhile,
if you've got an extra bed upstairs ...”

T~N-RUKA bobbed bis head. He locked
n and darkened the store, then led
the way up to his bachelor flat on the
second floor. The flat was neat as a pin,
and the little druggist fussed and darted
around his quarters like an excited bird.
He took Brent into his bedroom and
rolled the candle-wick Spread back, al-
most with the loving fingers of a house-
wife.
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“Now,” he said, after Brent had laid
the girl on the bed, “I'll get Doc Win-
ters. I'll be but a moment . . .

It took more than moments to get
the doctor up to the flat. It took twenty
minutes, and another ten before the
medico finished his examination of
Mara.

Doctor Winters was a chubby, white-
haired old man, wearing horn-rimmed
glasses. When he turned from the bed
at last, he said to Brent: “She’s been
dosed by some powerful sedative. It
is difficult to ascertain how long it will
be before she wakes.”

“Do you think it'd be advisable to
get a nurse?” Brent asked.

“Hardly. The dose doesn’t appear to
be too heavy. All anyone can do is let
the girl sleep it off. | suspect she may
be coming to in an hour or so.”

Brent breathed his relief. He turned
to Kruka. “Mind if | use your phone,
Henry?”

“Go right ahead,” the druggist said
eagerly. “There’s a phone in the living
room.”

Brent stepped out to the phone and
put a call through to the girl's hus-
band. Though it was around one in
the morning, John Marshall answered
promptly.

“John,” Brent said. “This is Jimmy.
I've found Mara. If you'll drive up
here right away, you can see her. She’s
been drugged— but the doctor | called
in says she ought to be out of it in a
couple of hours.”

“Drugged?” Marshall was shocked,
incredulous. “6ood God, Jimmy—
what has she gotten into?”

“1 think there’s a lot more to her
running away to the city than you real-
ize,” Brent said grimly. “How long will
it take you to get here?”

“Two hours at the most, Jimmy.
Where shall I meet you?”

Brent gave him the address of Kru-
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ka's store. Then he cradled the phone
and turned away.

He went back into the bedroom and
said to the doctor, “I think it best you
remain here until the girl’s husband ar-
rives. He will repay you well. He is a
rich man and is very concerned over his
wife.”

“I’ll be glad to remain,” Doctor Win-
ters nodded.

Kruka blinked his blue eyes at Brent.
“Where to now, Tommy?”

Brent's thin features crinkled into a
tight grin. “1'm going out to see a dog
about a corpse,” he gritted, and went
out.

rp'HE moment he hit the street, the

grin dropped from his face. It would
be a long while before he could talk
to Mara, and he wasn’t so sure she
could help him. There wasn’t the time
to risk waiting for her story. Lieuten-
ant Ferguson was longing to pounce on
him, and these blackmailers were bound
to give him his opportunity.

Brent headed back for Toby Scott’s
cigar store.

The rear door was still unlocked. He
wondered if Toby had returned yet and
prayed that the man hadn’t. It would be
easier to work things out if the other
members of the blackmail organization
were unaware that he had Mara Mar-
shall. Gun in hand, he walked into the
darkened back room of the building.

He paused there. Reassured when
he heard no sounds, he strode through
the store to the stairway. His plan was
to wait until Toby arrived, and then
he could drag him over to Kruka'’s flat.

The only danger was that Toby might
come with three or four companions.
Common sense warned Brent that he
should call the police into this. Yet he
realized Ferguson might upset all his
plans. Ferguson, the beat cop had said,
was looking for him at this moment.
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After Brent climbed to the hall at
the head of the stairway, he stopped
dead, staring at the wide open door to
the flat. He could hear the brassy voice
of Toby Scott talking in low, exdted
tones inside the living room.

“1 tell you—she’s gone! Somebody’s
come up to the bedroom and snatched
her ... Sure ... We've got to get right
at this. There’s no time to . . .”

Brent slid up to the open door and
looked into the dark living room of the
flat. The only light came from the il-
luminated bedroom, and it splashed on
the stocky, curly-headed figure of Toby
Scott, who was at a telephone, seated at
a table that was set against the living
room wall. Toby’s back was to Brent.

A swiveling glance about the flat con-
vinced Brent that Toby was alone. With
one quick, silent leap, he was behind
Toby. He ground the muzzle of his
pistol into the cigar storekeeper’s broad
back.

“Stand stiff, Toby,” he whispered.
“Finish that conversation naturally and
hang up. Remember, I'm not afraid
to burn you down.”

And then without warning something
crashed against Brent’'s head from out
of the darkness. It was a brutal blow
that sent him crumpling down . . .
TTE IMAGINED that he had been
unconscious for only brief seconds,
yet it must have been longer than that.
His wet raincoat had been stripped off
him, and he was supine on the bedroom
floor, his arms and legs outstretched.
A length of rope was tied to his one
wrist, looped tight under the legs of a
narrow radiator, while the other end of
the rope fastened his other wrist. Each
of his ankles was tied to a leg of the
foot-end of the old brass bedstead.

Toby Scott was standing over him.
So was Endicott. Apparently the sleek
blond manager of the Carleton House
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was more than merely another sap who
had played in those poker games which
were regularly held downstairs in the
back room.

“You were a fool, Tommy,” Endi-
cott grinned. “We heard you coming
up the stairs. We knew it wasn’t Vinnie,
so Toby faked a phone call so | could
bat you down without trouble when you
jumped him.”

Toby swore and shoved Endicott
aside. He glared down at Brent. “What
did you do with the girl? Where did
you take her?”

“He probably worked it with Charlie
Bowland, Toby,” remarked Endicott.
“All along I've felt he’s deeper in this
than merely working with Georgie to
smash us and make a newspaper scoop.
Anybody can see he’s hooked up with
Mara too.”

Toby ignored Endicott to snarl
thickly at Brent.
with the girl?” he repeated.

Brent locked intense eyes with Toby,
his head throbbing from the blow Endi-
cott had given him.

“Do your damndest, Toby,” he said.
“l won't trade with you, even if you
work on me all night. And if I get out
of here alive, God help you.”

Toby grinned wolfishly and began
the endless business. Taking turns, the
two men worked Brent over, both with
their feet and fists. They didn't ask
questions any more. They pounded
Brent without respite.

FULL hour ground by. They had
taken off their coats and were wet
with sweat, red-faced from the exertion.
It was Endicott’s turn now. He was
kneeling on Brent’s stomach, slamming
fists to the reporter’s bruised, bloody
face. Toby sat in a chair nearby, curs-
ing and rubbing his aching fists.
“You fool, Tommy1” panted Endi-
cott His greased blond hair was hang-

“What did you do'
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ing in twin half-circles to his glaring
eyes. “Do we have to kill you before
you'll talk?”

Brent’s breathing was harsh, fast.
The fact that Charlie Bowland was
working against these men too gave him
new hope. He grinned thinly at Endi-
cott.

“Damn you!” Endicott lashed out a
fist that snapped Brent’s head sideways.
Brent didn’t turn his head back and
lay with closed eyes.

Endicott rose up angrily. “He’s
given out at last. Damn him, Toby,
he’s got to talk. It's plain he was in
on this match of Mara from here—"

Toby growled. “He’s deep in it—
the same as Georgie was. |I'm sure of
that now.”

“It’s hell you had to kill Georgie.”

“What else could | do? We knew
he was the guy who swiped those
business records from us, and when
he barged into my back room tonight, |
suspected he had come to start trouble.
But all he said was that somebody
was tailing him and he wanted to use
the phone for a private call. 1 listened
in from the store and heard him call
Tommy Brent’s hotel. That tipped his
hand he was planning to smash us for
a paper scoop and was going to swing
Brent in to help him. When | came
out and told him so, he tried to slug
me.”

Endicott scowled blackly. “Charlie
Bowland must have been tailing him,
seeing he popped up at the back door
just after you'd burned Georgie down
and you were taking over that paper
evidence Georgie had on him to show
Brent. It’s bad enough that Charlie
lammed before you could stop him—
worse, that | didn’'t know about this
business after he returned to his flat
to arrange to go in hiding. What I
can’t figure out is why he hasn’t notified
the police by this time. It's un-
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natural.”

“1 think Charlie feels | didn’t recog-
nize him, Endicott, and he’s biding time
till he and Mara can smash our entire
setup. We've got to silence him and
the gal.”

“But how are w6 going to find him
now?”

"I'm sure Brent knows where both
Charlie and Mara are. We've softened
him up plenty by now. He’ll be talk-
ing soon enough.”

Brent lifted his battered face. He
taunted: “What do you mean, Toby,
I'm softening up. It’'ll take more than
you two punks to handle me.”

Endicott threw up his hands. “God,
Toby, | never saw a guy like this!
We've tried everything— "

"JNHE telephone rang suddenly in the
living room. Toby wiped his fore-
head on his sleeve and went out to
answer it. He said into the phone:
“Yeah, Vinnie . . . Yeah, we've got
Brent hog-tight . . . Charlie Bcrwland?
You saw him near here? Good, we’'ll
meet you and help take care of it. ..
Nice idea, finishing up everything at
West Higjh Road . . . Okay.”
Toby returned into the bedroom.
“Did Vinnie say he spotted Charlie
near here?” asked Endicott curiously.
“Yeah,” said Toby. “And he asks
us to help snag him. Then we’ll grab

the girl. He’s also found out where
she’s hidden.”
"VInnie’s been deliveriog,” chuckled

Endicott with relief. “What about
Brent? Are we going through with
the original plan to sink him for
Georgie’s death?”

“No, we can’t chance it now, with all
he knows. He goes later— with the
others.”

“Okay,” nodded Endicott. He fol-
lowed Toby Scott out of the dingy
fiat . . .
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Lying helpless in the bedroom,
Brent was past cursing himself for blun-
dering into this. What was important
was that both Toby and Endicott bad
referred to tbeir partner as “Vinnie”—
convincing proof that Vincent Durant
did head this hard, merciless blackmail
setup.

Georgie Harker, it seemed, had not
been a part of these blackmailers, but
had been striving to smash them so he
could get a scoop for himself. Charlie
Bowland and Mara, on the other hand,
were striving to smash these black-
mailers for some other personal reason.
And Toby Scott had admitted him-
self that he had shot down Harker.

The way it appeared, Durant had
given Toby the order that, if it seemed
Harker was becoming dangerous, the
columnist should be wiped out. And
when Toby obeyed that order tonight
and Brent had blundered on the mur-
der scene, Toby had jumped at the op-
portunity to frame Brent for the crime.
But the way things were developing,
the ruthless blackmailers had decided
against following that up, but planned
to mercilessly murder Mara, Charlie,
and Brent. It seemed they were will-
ing to kill and Kill again to save their
well-paying racket.

It irked Brent that he could do
nothing to prevent this inhuman mas-
sacre. Wildly, he churned his body,
tugging at the bonds which restrained
him.

And the brass bedstead rolled an
inch to a sharp jerk of his legs!

CWIVELING his head up, he saw

that the bed was set on casters. It
gave birth to desperate hope. He
jerked again and again— frantically—
knowing that three lives depended upon
his getting free. Inch by struggling
inch, he pulled the bed toward him—
until, at last, the bed was so near
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to him that he was able to squirm to
a twisted, sitting position, his back
against the tall narrow radiator which
restrained his wrists.

Then came the chill realization that
the effort was getting him nowhere.
He could do nothing more— absolutely
nothing— the firm way the rope behind
the radiator legs held his wrists. He
was sunk. Not unless—

That was when he saw the radiator
was set well away from the wall. He
pressed his shoulders against the sharp
edged coils as he forced the radiator
back. The floor pipe cracked from the
pressure, but he managed to lift the
front legs of the radiator from the
floor. He got one end of the rope
under a raised radiator leg— jerked at
it. The rope slipped through with a
snap!

Swiftly, he did likewise with the
other end of the rope. He panted a
breath of relief, lifted his body and slid
the rope downward underneath him,
until he got his hands beneath his
thighs. A moment’'s rest to ease the
ache of his arms, then he maneuvered
his hands until he got his fingers into his
trouser pocket and pulled out the stocky
knife he carried on his key-chain.
Opening the knife, he made short work
of his wrist bonds.

His limbs spread-eagled to the feet
of the bed, he had to twist into a pain-
ful position to slash at the ropes. But
getting one ankle free, the remaining
bond was a simple matter. At long
last he staggered to his feet and rubbed
his aching legs.

It was almost a miracle that he had
managed to free himself. Yet he was
only thinking of Mara in that moment.
He knew he had to get Mara out of
peril and into some safe hiding place
at once. With this thought burning in
his aching brain, he hurried out of the
building.
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TN LESS than five minutes, he was

at Kruka’'s drugstore on Main
Street, running up the rear stairway to
the druggist’s apartment. More than
two hours had elapsed since he had left
there, and there was a good chance that
Mara had now regained consciousness.

He saw Kruka the minute he stepped
into the flat. The little druggist was
bending over the tall, aristocratic-look-
ing figure of'John Marshall, who
sprawled across the sill of the door to
the bedroom.

Kruka twisted around, stark fright
on his tiny face when he heard Brent’s
step. He pulled himself erect and
clawed excitedly at Brent's arm.

“Tommyl” he blurted. “Heavens
Tommy—"

Brent could see into the bedroom
from where he stood. The bed was
empty. Mara was nowhere in sight.

“Where’'s the girl?” he demanded
harshly.

“She’s been kidnapped!
pened only a minute ago!
two armed men came in—"”

“l can see what happened,” Brent
snarled angrily. He had been too late—
too late, only by minutes. Toby and
Endicott had the girl again. And this
time they would watch over her care-
fully. They wouldn’'t give him the
ghost of a chance of rescuing her again.

Its hap-
Tommy,

CHAPTER V
Voice in the Dark

TDRENT studied John Marshall, who
still sprawled unconscious from a
nasty bleeding wound on his brow. He
whipped his hot gaze back to the drug-
gist.
“Where’'s Doc Winters, Henry? |
thought I told him to hang around.”
“Mr. Marshall’s doings,” Kruka rat-
tled out. “He came in about twenty
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minutes ago, and when Winters as-
sured him the girl was all right, he paid
the doc off and sent him home. The girl
had just opened her eyes when these two
gunmen burst in.” He wrung his small
hands. “Tommy— this girl— this poor
girl—"

“For the love of hell, get hold of your-
self. Tell me how it happened.”

“Mr. Marshall and | were bending
over the bed, watching the girl open her
eyes, when these men burst in. Mr.
Marshall was carrying a revolver in his
pocket, but the men brutally struck him
down before he could use it. They
shoved me aside and carried the girl
away.”

“You were lucky,” Brent told him.
“Toby Scott and Endicott aren’t usually
so easy on people.”

Kruka's eyes went wide. “Toby
Scott the man who runs that cigar
store? Tommy, Toby wasn’t one of the
men. | recognized the man who
slugged Mr. Marshall. You know him
too. It was Vincent Durant.”

Brent stiffened, his lips clamped
tight.

“It’s the gospel truth!” Kruka cried

excitedly. “l swear it was Durant,
Tommy. | didn’t recognize the other
man. He was tall and lean. . . .”

Brent wasn’t listening, his racing
brain a merry-go-round of hopeless
thoughts. Granted that he did know
Durant was the blackmail boss and
Toby, Endicott, and this other man
were his underlings— and that Toby
had shot Georgie Harker. Where was
his proof? It almost drove him out of
his mind to realize that he had abso-
lutely nothing to back up any accusa-
tions he might make to the police.
The only hope he had of proving he was
innocent of any part of Harker’s death
—and God only knew what false evi-
dence Toby had already fed to Lieu-
tenant Ferguson—lay in Mara Mar-
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shall and what she must know.

Still, it was pretty obvious where
Durant must have taken the girl—a
place no great distance from Kruka™s
store. And he turned abruptly and
strode back to the exit door of the
flat.

“Tommy!” Kruka cried anxiously.
“Where are you going now? What
should | do about . . .”

Brent paused at the door, his taut
eyes burning at the little druggist. “Do
what you can for Mr. Marshall, Henry,
and tell him to wait here. 1'm going
out and bring back the girl.”

Quickly, then, be left the flat.

A FTER he got down to Main Street,

luck played into his hands for
once. A lone cab was cruising up the
street, and he grabbed it. And it was
less than fifteen minutes later that he
was over at Vin Durant’s place again,
striding into the dark, well-tended
grounds.

Though it was no longer raining,
the air was wet and chill, and the black
shapes of trees which loomed about
him hung heavy and dripping. The
grim stone house itself was unlighted,
as cold and dead-looking as some vast,
deserted tomb.

This time Brent did not plan to an-
nounce himself at the door. An ob-
stinate part of his brain was insisting
that Mara bad to be inside the house.
And the only means of finding out was
to break his way inside in order to
make sure.

His brain was a turmoil. Why
Mara was involved in this vicious busi-
ness was beyond him, as was the fact
that she had become such an enemy of
these blackmailers that she was marked
for death. Even as Charlie was slated
for death— Charlie Bowland who was
aiding Mara for some reason, and who
had refused to confide in Brent, know-
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ing Brent was seeking to return the girl
to safety downstate.

From the absolute beginning, the
whole case had seemed one long parade
of madness. But none of that com-
pared with the new horror that now ex-
ploded in Tommy Brent’s face.

As he stepped to the drive on his
way toward the hulking porte-cochere,
he heard a voice, tight and gasping:

“Mara ... oh, my God, Mara. ...”
And it ended with a queer-sounding,
sobbing cough.

He whirled around, fists knotted.
All he could see was wet, dripping
nothingness about him. He heard no
more sounds, but only a stillness
which seemed weighted with the
menace of death.

A GOOD two minutes he stood with

his ears attuned for sounds that
did not come. He was unsure whether
he had revealed himself or not. It
would be foolhardy, he knew, to try
and move in any direction.

Then the voice came again, rising
from the shrubbery that stood left of
the driveway. It was the struggling
gasping sob of torturing pain. Who-
ever was back there seemed des-
perately injured, but Brent couldn’t
be sure.

He took a wild chance and made a
dive to a thick-boled tree not far away.
Nothing happened. And as he
hunched there, his body tense, arched
for an attack that did not come, the
feeling grew on him that there actu-
ally was a wounded man behind the
shrubbery.

He slipped away from the tree and
by a wide sweeping route worked his
way behind the shrubbery. He stood
unbreathing, his mind filled with the
memory of how he had once discov-
ered Toby Scott standing watch in al-
most this same identical place. It
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made him afraid that this might be
some trick.

And in the next moment the head-
lights of a car, turning the street
corner directly beyond the grounds,
swept its beams over Brent and the
dripping shrubbery before him. In
the briefly bright sweep of light he
spotted the tall, thin figure of a white-
haired man, dressed in a gray striped
suit, lying face-down in the wet mud
beside the shrubbery. It was Charlie
Bowland.

Brent ran forward and dropped to
his knees beside him. He rolled him
over, fumbled a cigarette lighter out
of his pocket and snapped it alight.

Charlie’s face was ghastly, his chin
red from blood that had dribbled from
his mouth. A soggy bullet hole gaped
in the fabric of his coat, almost di-
rectly above the heart.

“Charlie!” Brent
Almighty!”

Charlie was breathing in small gasp-
ing breaths that frightened Brent. Yet
Charlie seemed to recognize the voice.
His lips moved slowly. His words were
strained, barely audible now.

“Tommy ... | knew you'd come
through, Tommy. You're decent . . .
I told Vin so.”

blurted. “God

“What happened?” Brent asked
thickly.
“Mara! When we brought her

here, they had followed us. They've
taken Mara and Vin away— away
to West High Road. ...” A choking
cough broke off Charlie’s voice. “I
heard— heard Toby say that as | lay
here. Toby thought | was dead.. ..”

His voice turned horribly weak as he
struggled on: “God ... we never
thought he— would go in— for murder.
We thought we could force him— back
to decency. But he’s utterly mad . . .
a maniac. . . .”

“Who, Charlie?” Brent asked.
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“Who?”

“Don’t you know, Tommy? Don’t
you know why Mara ran away here-
to the city—” Charlie was caught in
another spasm of coughing— a gagging
sound horrible to hear. And it broke
off when his head suddenly rolled side-
ways.

Brent shook him. “Charlie! Charlie!”

/CHARLIE BOWLAND did not stir.

His effort to speak had hastened
the end, and now he was dead. He
had died without naming his Kkiller.

Or had he . . .? Brent snapped off
his flickering lighter and rose slowly,
numbly to his feet as the startling,
incredible thought swept through him.
It seemed too fantastic, too weird to
believe. But the facts began falling in
place, like the larger, more obvious
pieces of an intricate, bloody jigsaw
puzzle.

From what Charlie had said, he had
been with Vincent Durant when
Durant had snatched Mara from
Kruka’s flat. They had brought the
girl here, only to be overtaken by Toby
and Endicott. Charlie was shot in
the scuffle. Mara and Durant were
taken away as prisoners.

Then Vin Durant wasn’'t the “Vin-
nie” who was hooked up with Toby
and Endicott. Probably he was the
man mentioned on that scribbled card
Brent had found on Georgie Har-
ker's body— the brother-in-law, the
actual head of the blackmail ring
wanted watched.

Who, then, was this actual blackmail
boss?

It became pretty obvious to Brent
now that that man was John Marshall.
The fact that Charlie and Durant had
snatched Mara away from Marshall
was proof of that.

Plainly, Mara had discovered her
husband was behind a big blackmail
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setup here in the city and had de-
serted him, hurrying to Vin Durant,
Marshall’s brother-in-law, with her dis-
covery. Durant had swung his old
friend, Charlie Bowland, into the busi-
ness, placing Mara into an adjoining
flat so Charlie could watch over her.
Meanwhile, they were striving to force
Marshall out of crime and back to hon-
esty and decency.

The whole thing was so simple it was
frightening. Sickening too, considering
how Marshall had lost all his self-re-
spect and honor and was willing to kill
and kill again to save both his reputa-
tion and his nefarious racket. Worst
of all, devilish madman he had become,
he had every chance of succeeding in
this ungodly viciousness. Charlie was
dead. Mara and Durant were helpless
in his power, because Charlie had said
Toby had mentioned they were taking
the prisoners to some place on West
High Road.

West High Road! A short pave-
ment that ran between a group of small
farms just inside the west city limits.
The road was less than a half-mile long.
There was a slim chance— by a quick,
thorough search.

Brent broke into a run toward the
street, checked himself and raced back
to Charlie. As he had hoped, he found
a revolver on the body. He broke it
and found six unfired cartridges in the
cylinder. Thrusting the weapon into
his pocket, he went in wild haste down
the concrete driveway on his way out
of the grounds.

A sedan swung into the driveway as
he reached the street, breaking sharply
to avoid striking him. He jerked to a
halt, dazzled momentarily by the blind-
ing glare of the headlights.

Someone leaped from the car and
rammed a gun into his ribs. A brassy
voice grated, “This is as far as you
go, Tommy Brent!”
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Brent stood stiff. He raised his hands
in repressed fury when he saw the un-
welcome figure of Detective-Lieutenant
Ferguson beside him.

CHAPTER VI
West High Road

JARENT was frantic as Ferguson dis-

armed him. Despite what he now
knew, he still had no tangible proof.
The only ones who could save him from
whatever case Ferguson was cooking
up against him were Mara and Durant,
and they would die if he didn't get di-
rectly to West High Road.

“For God’s sake, don’t stop me now,”
he pleaded. “I've got to get over to the
far West Side— fast! Ferguson, there
are two people—”

“Can the bushwa. Me and Jake—"
Ferguson nodded at the other de-
tective climbing out of the car— “were
prowling the neighborhood, looking for
you, when we got orders to investigate
here. Somebody heard some shots.”

“You crazy lout!” cried Brent.
“This is a matter of life and death.
It’ll probably solve Harker’s death too.
You can come along with me and make
the pinch.”

“Save your lying breath, murderer,”
snorted Ferguson. “We're going into
the grounds here and look things
over. Who knows who else you might
have killed? From the way things are
stacking up— "

“Stacking up?” yelled Brent—and
with an incredibly fast movement, he
knocked the gun away from him with
his forearm. His left hand locked on
the weapon while his right came up
fast, an uppercut which drove Fer-
guson’s head back. As Ferguson went
crashing down to the walk, Brent
quickly spun the gun around in his
left hand.
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“Hold it, Jake!” he warned. And
when the detective stopped with his
gun half-drawn: “Drop the rod and
kick it away, Jake. | mean what I
say.”

Jake cursed him, but he dropped his
weapon and kicked it out of his own
reach.

“Don’t move, or so help me I'll give
it to you,” Brent snapped. Still cover-
ing Jake, he slid into the driver’s seat
of the police car. He backed the car
out and sent it roaring down the street.

Jake yelled. He swooped up his gun,
fired after the car and missed.

Brent sent the car around the nearby
corner in a reckless two-wheeled turn
and began heading west. His future—
everything— was staked on the one pos-
sibility that he could locate the hide-
away the blackmailers obviously had
on West High Road. If he failed, this
incident with the bullheaded, unreason-
able Ferguson would sink him, for it
was almost a confession that he was
deeply involved in Harker's murder.
Also in the death of Charlie Bowland.

rJ"'HE car radio began blaring out po-

A lice orders. It grated his tight
nerves, and he snapped it off. One thing
lay in his mind. His ride through to
West High Road was going to be a
perilous business. Every police car in
town would be watching for him.

He rode all the way out to the west
end of town without seeing a single
prowl car. It was incredible how he’d
done it, and he glanced at the dash-
board clock. A quarter of four. Al-
most dawn. Mara and Durant had been
prisoners for close to an hour and a half
already.

It took less than five minutes to cover
the remaining distance to West High
Road. He rode the length of the short
road, studying the houses— rode back
again, almost sobbing in his frustra-
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tion. He hadn’t seen the smallest trace
of a light in any of the houses.

Curses blurted from his lips when
it became apparent that Marshall had
taken his prisoners elsewhere. And as
he hunched in the car at the mouth of
West High Road, the wail of a police
siren rose suddenly in the distance be-
hind him. The police had scented his
trail!

He snapped off the car lights, leaped
out and began running wildly down the
road. He covered about fifty yards
before he realized that running along
the road was the worst thing he could
do. A thicket stood on the other side
of a water-filled drainage ditch on his
left, and he leaped over and hid inside
the shrubbery.

The black shapes of a house and out-
buildings loomed beyond the shrubbery.
It offered a temporary refuge from the
pursuing police, and he shouldered
through the thicket and strode toward
the buildings.

He caught his breath sharply after
he had advanced some twenty paces. A
big old Cadillac was standing in the
crush driveway not far from the house.
It was Endicott’s car— the Cadillac
Endicott customarily kept parked in
front of the Carleton House— and the
astonishing truth thrust itself through
Brent's-startled brain. This darkened
house was the very one he had been
seeking. Incredibly, Fate had led him
straight to the place where Mara and
Vin Durant had been taken!

Whipping out the gun he had taken
from Ferguson, he began moving for-
ward cautiously. And when he drew
abreast of the Cadillac, he caught sight
of Endicott.

A sleek, expensive-looking coupe was
parked in front of the Cadillac, and
Endicott was leaning, half-sitting on
the front right fender. That he had
been posted as a guard was obvious.
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Brent stood unbreathing in fear that
he would betray himself. Distantly,
that siren wailed again, but he was deaf
to it. Crouching down, he crept be-
yond the coupe till he was beside its
heavy front bumper. Rising swiftly,
he flung himself toward Endicott.

JANDICOTT had turned his head in

Brent’s direction, as though some
vague instinct had warned him of dan-
ger. He let out a yelp, sprang back,
digging at his hip.

Brent came in too fast, his weapon
swinging through the darkness. It
caught Endicott on the side of the head,
sending him down. He rolled over on
his back and lay unmoving.

A glance at the house showed Brent
a small crack of light shining weakly
through the cracks of one of the
heavily-shuttered windows. Though
he had no way of knowing how many
men might be inside the home, he was
past worrying about it. He gagged En-
dicott with a handkerchief, used the
man’s belt and shoe strings to tie him
securely, and then shoved him into the
coupe.

Finally he started grimly toward the
house. It was all or nothing now. And
in his taut brain rose the picture of
how mercilessly both Charlie Bowland
and Georgie Harker had died.

A complete circuit of the rambling
frame farmhouse revealed no means of
getting safely and secretly inside. But
when he tried the cellar door, he
thrilled to find it unlocked. Quietly,
gently, he shoved it wide open.

Four wooden stairs led down from
the door, and there was the vague sug-
gestion of light down in the cellar.
He descended the stairs, which led to a
door opening to the main part of the
cellar.

The light was coming from the
opened door to a section of the cellar
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which had been boarded up. He
could see nothing inside the room from
where he stood, but he could hear the
sound of movement there. And he heard
the soft, pitiful sobbing of a woman.
Mara was inside there— still alive!
His eyes turned harsh and hot, and
with his gun poised before him, he crept
noiselessly forward. He paused beside
the open door, his lean body in a half-
crouch as he peered into the room.

PO UR people were inside the room,

two of them seated stiffly in old arm-
chairs. One of the latter was Mara,
her face white beneath her tousled red
hair. Fear and horror, it seemed, had
swept away all the after-effects of being
drugged.

The man in the chair beside her was
small, baldheaded, benevolent - appear-
ing, dressed in a tuxedo. It was Vin
Durant. His little hands tightly
gripped the arms of his chair as he
stared hollow-eyed at Toby Scott and
his companion.

Toby Scott was uncoiling a long
length of rope. A wide-shouldered,
swarthy ltalian was next to him, cover-
ing the prisoners with a heavy auto-
matic. Brent recognized the Italian—
Tomaso Vinarso, ex-convict, and a fa-
miliar figure in the daily police lineup.
This probably was the “Vinnie” who
had phoned Toby’s flat.

“Take it easy, Durant,” Toby sud-
denly said. “You're only going to be
tied up here with Mara until we can
locate Tommy Brent and bring him
over.”

“You fellows aren’'t going to get
away with this madness,” Durant pro-
tested in horror.

“Nuts,” grinned Toby. '“Who's to
stop us? Nobody knows about our
place here and—"

Brent spoke then, his voice dangerous
and soft:

MAMMOTH DETECTIVE

“Hold it still, Toby—or I'll come
in shooting!”

Toby and Vinarso whirled toward
the door— stopped dead, undecided, at
the threat of the gun in Brent's steady
hand.

“Drop that gat, Vinarso! I'll slap a
slug between your eyes before you
make another move as sure as God
made little apples.”

Vinarso swore in Italian as the heavy
automatic slipped down out of his un-
willing fingers.

Durant leaped up and slammed a
hard fist into Toby’s face, knocking
him down. He cried, "That’s for shoot-
ing Charlie without giving him a fight-
ing chance!”

Mara ran over to Brent, sobbing in
joy at this sudden release from this
hopelessness.

In this flurry of excitement, Brent
temporarily forgot the precaution he'd
meant to take. It had been his plan
to place Durant in charge of Toby and
Vinarso while he went upstairs to ac-
count for that lighted room he had
seen.

His utter folly sickened him, because
in the next moment a gun muzzle was
grinding into the small of his back. A
voice warned from behind him: “You’'re
through, Tommy. | think you had bet-
ter drop your gun.”

Mara had fallen back from him,
wide-eyed in terror, her palms pressed
to her white cheeks. He could see
Durant standing rigid in angry defeat,
glaring at the man just outside the
door.

Brent dropped his gun and stepped
deeper into the room. Then he turned
to face John Marshall— a tall, heavy-set
man, dressed in tailored tweeds. The
wound on Marshall’'s high forehead
from where Durant had struck him at
Kruka’s flat, gleamed redly against his
white, tight-drawn face.
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CHAPTER VII
Frenzy of Fear

“P'ORTUNATELY none of you re-
alized | was in my study upstairs,”
Marshall said in a calm, even voice.
“I'm glad you've broken in this way,
Tommy. It saves my boys the trouble
of going out to find you. I'm sorry
this had to happen, Tommy. I've al-
ways liked you— just like I've always
liked Durant and Mara. You three
have brought this on yourselves.”
Brent said nothing. He still could
hardly believe anything like this of his
old friend, Marshall.
“Let me at Durant!” raged Toby,
his face livid as he climbed up from

the floor. “I’ll bust every bone in his
dirty little body!”
“You’ll have your revenge soon

enough,” Marshall told him sharply.
“Calm down.”

“John! John, I'm vyour wife,”
pleaded Mara. But Marshall unfeel-
ingly thrust her aside and turned
grimly upon Vincent Durant.

“This is not my fault,” he said.
“When Mara ran away from the farm, |
thought it was as her farewell note had
said— which is why | asked Tommy to
help find her. Later, | learned my per-
sonal files had been tampered with
and certain very revealing papers had
been taken. | knew then that she had
snooped and found out what | actually
was and intended to turn me over to
the police as a common criminal. You
might call her a redheaded murder
maker herself. If she had stood by me
like a good wife would, none of this
would be happening now.”

“John! John!” Maria cried desper-
ately.

He merely nodded his men out of the
room.

“We'll leave them locked up here
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until 1 decide how best to handle the
situation,* he told them. The door
closed behind the three men as they de-
parted.

Brent ran to the door, tried it. It
was locked. He turned and surveyed
the prison room. It had once been a
laundry; stationary tubs stood along
one wall, next to an old three-burner
gas stove. There wasn’t the smallest
chance of escaping from the place.

1 JV/TARA, meeting the look of Brent's
eyes, dropped into a chair— hope-

less, frightened, stunned.
“1 realize now that you're Marshall’s
brother-in-law by one of his former

marriages,” Brent said to Durant. “I'd
like to hear the rest now.”
Durant scowled darkly. “Georgie

Harker got the first clue to it; a gossip
columnist was bound to get wind that a
lot of people in town were being black-
mailed. And I believe he originally felt
that | knew Marshall is behind it, be-
cause he made veiled remarks to me
which roused my suspicions. | made a
visit down to Marshall’s farm and told
Mara about it, asking her to find out
what new business Marshall was in. It
was the following week she fled here.
She had those revealing documents with
her. She originally hoped that Mar-
shall loved her enough that he'd give
up this criminal stuff to get her back.”
“John’s fortune had been wrapped up
in the Far East,” Mara said des-
perately, “and when the Japs began
their operations in the Pacific, it sent
everything crashing. He was a hard
loser and began brooding, practically
losing faith in the world itself. Then he
began making big money suddenly— a
new job, he called it. | didn’'t know un-
til 1 saw those papers that he's black-
mailing people who believe he is their
friend. 1'm sure he’s gone mad.”
“It’s an almost fantastic setup he
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has,” explained Durant. “He has
enough friends among our town’s fast
set to know who are ripe for a shake-
down. He fakes awkward situations
for these people, being pen-and-ink
artist enough to forge damning letters
and documents which back up the
manufactured situations. His victims
daren’t risk the publicity of trying to
disprove the forgeries, and they’re all
wealthy enough to be glad to pay off to
Toby and Vinarso, who're handling the
shakedown angle . . . And after Mara
came to me, | hid her under an assumed
name in a flat adjoining Charlie’s.
When Mara’s original plan didn’t move
Marshall, we decided to get him under
the same kind of pressure he gets on
his victims. We hoped to force him to
quit this racket, believing he would ul-
timately see he had been playing the
part of a fool.”

“There wasn’'t that kind of evidence
at the farm, and it convinced us John
has some headquarters here in town,”
spoke Mara. “We swung Georgie
Harker in, hoping he could help us.
Charlie didn’t trust him.” ,

Brent nodded. “Charlie was right.
Harker was hoping that he and | could
split the case wide open, getting a
scoop, publicity, and a big bonus with
our story. That's why he asked me to
meet him at Fifth and Main tonight.”

AyfARA gasped.
iVA corner!”
“What were you doing there, Mara?”
“Charlie felt Harker was going to
doublecross us, and we were following
him in a car. After he got out of a
cab near the corner, Charlie trailed him
on foot. Charlie was gone so long, |
started looking for him. You fright-
ened me and | ran into that alley and
hid—j'ust as Charlie fled toward the
passage with Toby chasing him. Toby
hid when you came running on the

“It was you on that
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scene. He ducked away after you enr
tered his back room. And seeing you
go in there made me sure you were in
with John too— as Vin and Charlie sus-
pected, because John had you searching
for me.”

Brent frowned. “That doesn’'t make
sense. After suspecting me of being an
enemy, why did you leave a note on
my hotel room door, asking for my
help?”

“l thought you'd kidnap me and
take me to the headquarters we were
looking for, and Charlie and Vin could
follow us there. 1 was sure John
wouldn’t hurt me. But Toby had seen
me on Main Street, trailed after me and
captured me as | came out of your ho-
tel. He took me to Endicott’s apart-
ment at the Carleton House. Endicott
was astonished, learning | was Lorna
Johns. They doped me, and | didn’t
know any more till 1 woke up in that
druggist’s flat, and Vin and Charlie
were rescuing me from John.”

Brent’s taut eyes swung to Durant.
“How come you located Mara there?”

“It was a lucky fluke,” muttered
Durant. “Charlie was convinced Mara
had been snatched. He got in touch
with me and we searched for her. We
finally headed for Toby’s, hoping he'd
lead us to Mara. And as we reached
Main Street, we saw Marshall himself
drive up to Kruka’s drugstore— which
was proof she was being held there.
We were convinced then that this was
Marshall’s secret headquarters. So
first we snatched Mara and took her to
my place. We were unaware Vinarso
had been tailing us all the while. He,
Toby, and Endicott trapped us there,
and Charlie wasshot in the scuffle . ..
and we were taken here to this house.

“Like a damn fool I didn't realize
Marshall had come here from Kruka’s
and was upstairs,” concluded Durant.
“l should have warned you. | don't
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know how you fit in this business, but
tell me— does anybody else know you're
here? Has anybody been working on
this with you?”

Brent shook his head grimly. “I
tried to suggest it to a couple of cops,
but they wouldn’t listen. No one knows
I'm here, so it looks as though we've
got to fight this out alone. We—"

ripHE door to the room abruptly

swung open as Marshall and his two
companions entered again. Marshall
and Vmarso were gripping guns. Toby,
however, was carrying a coil of rope.

“A very enlightening conversation,”
Marshall remarked. “I was sure you
three would talk this over if | left you
alone. It is gratifying, Tommy, to
learn you did not take anyone else into
your confidence. Only Durant can’t
fool me that he doesn’t know how you
fit in this. When Toby was watching
Durant’s house, convinced that Charlie
Bowland would come there, you jumped
him suddenly. That's irrefutable proof
that you have been working with Mara
and Durant all the while.”

Brent stared at him stonily. ”"I've
long considered you my.friend, Mar-
shall. | knew the day would come when
you would go utterly mad.”

“Mad?” spat out Marshall with deep
rancor. “You call me mad that | should
get back from this crazy world what it
has taken from me? The only way a
man can exist these days is by ruling
his existence with an iron hand. I've
discovered a method to get the money
to live in the comfortable style I'm ac-

customed. No one— friend or foe—is
going to stand in my way. Under-
stand?”

“1 didn't mean that you are actually
insane,” Brent answered coldly. You're
a man who worships your smug respect-
ability and will go to any means to save
your face and reputation. 1've been po-
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lice reporter long enough to know that
most brutal crimes are born of this in-
ordinate desire to preserve respectabil-
ity. And you intend to commit whole-
sale minder, merely that you fear ex-
posure. God, Marshall, you're low.
You haven’t got the guts to face a short
prison term for blackmail, but rather
would Kill your dearest friends to avoid
it!”

Desperately, Brent was trying to
shame Marshall into the realization of
the mad course he was choosing. But it

had no effect on Marshall. The man
merely smiled thinly.

“Damn you, Marshall!” exploded
Durant. “Why don’t you shoot us

down? That's what you intend to do,
isn’'t it?”

Marshall shook his head. “Vin, I
suggest that you, Mara, and Tommy
seat yourself. Toby is going to tie
all of you up securely before we open
the jets of that gasrburner over there
beside the stationary tubs.”

“John! Johnl” Mara clawed at him.
She was frenzied now in the grip of
awful, complete fear. “Vin and |
didn’'t intend to turn you over to the
police— don't you understand? We
were merely—"”

A/fARSHALL flung her aside unfeel-
ingly. He sent her sobbing,
stumbling down to the floor.

“John, try and get a grip on your-
self,” Brent said in a subdued, reprov-
ing voice to Marshall. “You know that
anything like this will only end in the
electric chair. Such useless, wholesale
murder— "

“I'm willing to take the chance,”
snapped Marshall. “Get down to busi-
ness, Toby.”

Sweat stood out on Breat’s forehead.
He had tried to shame Marshall to rea-
son and had failed. And when he saw
how closely he, Durant, and Mara,
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were covered with the guns, he real-
ized none of them was going to get a
break.

Toby shoved Brent into a chair,
twisted the end of the rope around the
reporter’s wrist and began binding the
wrist to the chair arm. As Toby bent
to this task, Brent saw he was wear-
ing a gun in a shoulder holster under
his coat.

Brent saw his play. His free hand
caught the gun by the butt, and he
dragged it upward, viciously. The
muzzle gouged a furrow across Toby’s
startled face, from the chin across his
nose and brow.

Toby shrieked, clawing at his tor-
tured face. Vinarso fired excitedly at
Brent— missed. And Brent shot the
Italian squarely between the eyes.

Marshall fired point-blank — but
Brent had ripped his half-bound wrist
free and was lunging toward him, with
Toby Scott gripped fast and helpless
against him like a shield. In blind fury,
Marshall fired again and again.

Toby’s defenseless body jerked from
the impact of the slugs that drove into
his body. Brent stumbled down from
the weight of Toby’s lifeless body, fight-
ing desperately to get clear and into a
firing position before one of Marshall’s
bullets crashed into him.

And on the flaming crest of that hor-
rible moment, the cellar room about
him suddenly seemed filled with mov-
ing feet. There was the blue of police
uniforms. And Brent had a fleeting
glimpse of the grim figure of De-
tective-Lieutenant Ferguson.

John Marshall— mad with the fear
that he would be ignobly exposed as a
common criminal— seemed to lose his
head completely. With a sobbing gasp
of defeat, he tried to fire at the officers.
And their answering volley literally
blasted him off his feet.

Ferguson stamped angrily over to
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Brent and twisted the gun out of the
police reporter’'s fingers. His heavy-
lidded eyes were burning with anger.

“Well,” he barked, “what have you
got to say for yourself? There are two
murders on your neck now.”

TT WAS the first time since Brent had

known him that Ferguson actually
was a welcome sight. He grinned and
said, “My God. How did you manage
to catch up to me?”

“You said you were heading for the
West Side, didn't you? The car |
called from headquarters for me got
into this vicinity when the radio an-
nounced that a prowl car had spotted
you turning into West High Road.”

“It took more than that, Ferguson.”

“Sure. There’s a guy tied up in a
coupe outside. He was flashing the
car lights on and off to attract atten-
tion. We came over here to investigate
when this war broke out in the cellar,”

“|1 tied Endicott up,” Brent told him.
“He probably was trying to attract the
attention of Marshall inside the house.
Thank the Lord for that.”

“Who’s Marshall?” stormed Fergu-
son. “What in holy hell’s been going
on here, anyhow?”

“l can tell you that, officer,” Vin
Durant said, stepping up. In swift,
terse fashion he related the complete,
fantastic story, ending, “Toby Scott’s
gun— the one you took from Brent—
will account for the bullets in Harker’s
and Charlie Bowland’s bodies. And
there’s probably a lot of evidence about
the blackmail setup in Marshall’s study

upstairs.”
“Well, what do you know,” ex-
claimed the astonished lieutenant.

“Well, what— do—you—know!” He
caught himself and spun angrily at
Brent. “All this isn't going to help
you, Mister. You didn’t think we’'d
be smart enough to trail you out here.
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Stealing a police car and striking an
officer are serious offenses in this
man’s town.”

“Wait, Ferguson,” said Brent. “I
know you hate my guts, but let’s say
that’s all under the bridge. This is a
big scoop for me. And when | file this
story at my paper, don’t forget how I
always give the police department a big
splash. You’'re heading the cops here,
don’t forget.”

Ferguson stared at him a long minute.
Finally he scratched his fleshy ear and
grinned. It was very obvious that he
was thinking of his name and picture
being plastered over the morning extras.

“Damned if | didn’t get this wrong,”
he chuckled. “It’s all a big misunder-
standing, my boy. You borrowed my
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car with my permission—now didn’t
you, Tommy?”

“Sure. Sure,” said Brent, and
turned away. And he saw Mara Mar-
shall staring at him, white-faced,
stricken, helpless. He walked over to
her.

“Mara,” he said, his voice oddly
gentle. “Keep your chin up, Mara.
John was my friend too, remember.”

She broke down then, burying her red
head into the hollow of his skinny
shoulder. It was like the old days,
when they had been kids together.
Those times, then, when she had had
her little troubles, he had been like an
older brother to her.

“Tommy 1” she sobbed.
heaven, Tommy. . . .”

“Oh, Godin

MATHEMATICAL MAGIC

MATHEMATICIAN is an adventurer
A who dives into the world of the unknown,

balances and juggles abstract quantities,
and many times is able to note the presence of sci-
entific phenomena which have escaped the probing
eyes and microscopes of scientists for centuries.
Yes, a mathematician is a virtual Houdini; he pulls
rabbits out of hats for our great men of the
laboratory.

The practical man is not apt to value the place
of the mathematician in science. The great Edi-
son, and even Faraday, were loud in their insults
toward pencil-and-paper research. The pure
mathematician is always thought of as the cold
intellectual, a stuffy sort of fellow, who considers
the juggling of numbers and symbols more im-
portant than the control of the forces that regu-
late the earth’s motion or produce the raw mate-
rials on her surface. Whoever carries that idea is
wrong. Faraday found himself eating his own
words a few years after he made this statement:

“l do not perceive that a mathematical mind,
simply as such, has any advantage over an equally
acute mind not mathematical. ... It could not
of itself discover dynamical electricity not elec-
tro-magnetism, not even magneto-electricity, or
even suggest them.”

A mathematician named Maxwell was needed
to develop Faraday’s theories so that they could
be used. For although Faraday's brilliant experi-
ments with electricity and magnetism led him to
propose the theory of the electromagnetic field,
they were not able to suggest, and his non-mathe-
matical mind was not able to formulate, the full

implications of his theory. James Clark Maxwell
had the ability to convert Faraday’s vague idea of
lines and tubes of force extending through space,
translate the basic assumptions into mathematical
terms, and then by a process of pure logic project
the known into the possible. Maxwell, utilizing
Faraday’s principles, predicted the phenomenon of
radio waves.

Maxwell was positive that radio waves existed
and said so. He was staunch in this belief because
his equations had revealed them on paper.

A short time after Maxwell publicized his find-
ings, a famous physicist, Heinrich Hertz, proved
to all the world that what had been discovered
with a paper and pencil was real and also usable.
The setting up of a mechanism known as the spark-
gap apparatus in the laboratory demonstrated for
Hertz that radio waves did exist.

The findings of Maxwell and Hertz furnished
the groundwork from which Marconi began to as-
semble his own theories. He put them into prac-
tical form by evolving a system of radio communi-
cation-sending messages which were called
marconigrams.

Thus ratio was heralded into the world by the
discovery of the existence of radio waves from the
numbers and calculations appearing on a mathe-
maticians piece of paper. Aided by a physicist and
disciplined to useful service by engineering, these
findings resulted in the radio. Our real debt for
the invention of the radio and all its later applica-
tions belongs to mathematics, the tool that made
man first aware of the presence of those magic
waves— Carter T. Wainwright
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By 63S11

Ohio Penitentiary

Maybe it might pay
you to take a tip about
burglars and how they
operate from a man who
certainly should know!

‘V I IHERE ain't no honor among
I thieves,” laments Jimmy the
Peteman, as he berates himself
for trusting the “shifter” who “fingered”
him. Jimmy knows, belatedly, that in
almost every case the shifter, or go-
between who transfers loot from cook
to fence, will squeal in order to get off
with a lighter sentence for himself.

Jimmy has the reputation of being
one of the best petemen in the country.
That is, when he is outside. At present
Jimmy is doing a bit for a job in Cleve-
land, for which he was caught while un-
loading the remains of the loot through a
shifter.

Jimmy works with two other men,
one of whom acts as the spotter. The
spotter has a good front and it is his
job to find a likely prospect and “case”
it. Posing as a city building inspector,
telephone repairman, or solicitor, the
spotter visits various business places,
keeps his eyes and ears open, then re-
ports to Jimmy whenever he spots a
good layout.

Then Jimmy and his helper, “Nitro,”

take over. If the job is an important
one with a probable big score, they case
it further, spending as much time as nec-
essary to get a thorough plan of the lay-
out. Finally they are all set. They
place their “keister” carefully in the car
— it contains caps, fuses, nitro-glycerin,
crowbar, jimmy, hatchet, chisel, screw-
drivers, rope, wire, a small acetylene
cutting torch, drill, and various other
tools— then drive to the place.

It's 3 am . when they arrive— the
favorite hour for burglars. The job
the spotter has lined up is a four story
department store with an alley running
alongside; on the third floor is supposed
to be a safe containing between $8,000
and $10,000 in cash, besides other valu-
ables. They also know, through the
spotter, that there are electric alarms
on the entrance doors and windows and
they figure there will be one on the sky-
light. There will be no watchman to
contend with.

They run the roads. No cruising po-
lice cars. No stray pedestrians. The
cop on the beat won’t be along for an-
other twenty minutes. They park the
car, duck into the alley, pull themselves
up a rain spout then swing to the fire
escape. They avoid the lower end of
the fire escape because they know it is
“bugged” and will go off if it is pulled
down. In three minutes Jimmy and
Nitro are on the roof of the building.

After cutting a hole through the roof,
they lower themselves into the store.
Jimmy looks carefully about for one of
the tricky photo-electric beams which
had cost them a previous jail term.
They know that “black light” is almost
invisible until you come into its direct



ray: then the beam is broken and the
alarm goes off.

Satisfied that there is no electric eye
in the place, they hurry downstairs and
make their way into the office where the
safe is located. They open their Kit,
almost leisurely, and appraise the
square dark object. They look close to
make sure there is no “rat trap” around
the safe— a contraption filled with thou-
sands of tiny copper wires that send an
alarm if broken or displaced a few
inches.

IMMY runs his glove hand over the

combination lock of the door. He
isn’t naive enough to think he could feel
out the combination like the fictional
Jimmy Valentine. Locks haven’t been
made for a long time that can be worked
by feel, no matter if a fellow sandpapers
all the skin off his finger tips to make
them sensitive.

Not a bad safe, they decide. Might
take all of ten minutes to open with the
drill and nitroglycerin. Rigging up the
drill, they are soon busy cutting a small
hole through the steel above the com-
bination. In several minutes they are
through the steel. Then they place their
charge of “soup.” They plug up all the
holes and throw several blankets, which
they had picked up on the fourth floor,
over the safe to deaden the noise. The
charge they are using is known as a
“jam shot” a shot powerful enough to
blow the door off. They stretch out the
wire leading to the charge until they are
a safe distance away from the “pete.”
Then Jimmy touches the ends of the
wires against the pole of a small flash-
light battery. A second later there is a
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muffled puff and the safe door swings
crazily on its hinges. It is a neat job,
one they can be proud of. They clean
out the cash and a large Case of jewelry,
step out on the fire escape and dash
down to the car: remembering, of
course, the bugged lower end of the fire
escape and avoiding it. They leave
their valuable tools behind— as they al-
ways do whenever they make a big
score.

They make their getaway over the
previously planned route directly to
their plant where the spotter is waiting
for his cut. They divide the loot care-
fully, giving the spotter his customary
ten percent cut.

They remain in their hideout until
the heat dies down, then Jimmy and
Nitro visit a “pigeon joint”—a store
that supplies burglar tools— where they
purchase another complete set of tools
in preparation for their next job.

Would you believe your property to
be safe from burglars if it was sup-
posedly securely locked and guarded by
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three trained watchdogs as an added
precaution? If so, observe the follow-
ing tale told to me by a confirmed
burglar serving thirty years for his
latest brush with the law.

Second-story Sam is an old and
cunning master in the gentle art of
cracking a joint. He started as a juve-
nile delinquent and if it hadn’'t been
made so easy for him perhaps he
wouldn’t have been successful in getting
into many of the establishments he bur-
glarized. His experiences are many and
varied and he has a long prowler’s pedi-
gree. Of all the tales he has told, I
think the most interesting is the one of
the three dogs.

It seems that one evening Sam got a
hot tip on a home in the suburbs of a
well-to-do neighborhood, the tipster
telling him that this job would be a
“cold slough”— a residence where the
inhabitants are absent. Not one to let
opportunity slip through his fingers,
Second-story Sam immediately got on
the job and drove out to case the
place.

First he ran the roads, and finding
everything clear, he parked the car a
short distance from the residence and
proceeded cautiously on foot. The
finger had told him he could expect
to score for considerable loot on this job,
so Sam wasn’t going to crumb the deal
by any carelessness in giving the
“panny” (residence) the double O.

It was a moonless night, ideal for a
prowler. As Sam approached the dwell-
ing with its spacious grounds, he kept
a sharp lookout for a “bugster’—
watchman. The nearest dwelling was at
least a quarter-mile away and Sam knew
that in such well-to-do isolated sections
the owners usually hired a watchman to
guard the property in their absence.
Therefore, Second-story was somewhat
surprised when there was no bugster to
be seen.
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“gVERYTHING seems to be jake

Sam muttered to himself as he
carefully cased the surrounding
grounds. But he soon learned that this
assumption was a bit premature. Cau-
tiously working his way into the
grounds he stopped when within a short
distance of the building, observing it
closely.

Then he got the scare of his life.

Out of nowhere, it seemed, an
obscure, snarling body came hurtling
out of the darkness straight at his
throat. Sam stood petrified. But only
for a second. With a quick twist he
flung himself into the shrubbery on the
side. Then regaining his feet he scam-
pered towards the street, with not one
but now three huge, vicious police dogs
yelping madly at his heels.

After gaining a safe distance he
stopped and reflected. So that’'s why
they didn’t have a bugster guarding the
joint!

This was no new occurrence in Sam'’s
long and precarious career, but pre-
viously he always knew beforehand if
any dogs were guarding the premises
and had never gotten such a scare be-
fore.

This didn’t discourage him. He had a
remedy for such a situation. However
he silently cursed the finger for neglect-
ing to warn him about the dogs as this
would necessitate a trip back into town
for some “bait.”

ANETER making a fast trip to town,

x Sam was back shortly, this time
parking the car in the driveway leading
to the house. Stashing his keister in the
weeds near the car, he again approached
the building with a small package
tucked under his arm. He smiled con-
fidently, knowing very well what was
about to happen. For Sam had discov-
ered early in his career that dogs, espe-
cially police dogs, had an overwhelming
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craving for “Aunt Jenny’s Brandy Fruit
Cake!”

Thereupon, Sam whistled gleefully
for the dogs and as they came tearing
in his direction he threw several small
pieces of the fruit cake toward them.
One of the dogs stopped, sniffed the
cake, then gulped it hungrily down. The
others, apparently afraid that they were
missing something, began sniffing
around and soon there was a mad
scramble among them for the remaining
pieces.

Sam headed for the car leaving a
trail of fruit cake in his wake with the
dogs following and eagerly snapping
up the pieces. Soon they were at the
car. Opening the front and rear doors
of the sedan Sam dropped several
crumbs on the running board. With his
front paws on the running board one
of the dogs devoured the crumbs then
looked inquisitively into the car at Sam
who was spreading more crumbs on the
car seats.

After a bit of hesitation one of the
dogs jumped into the car; then the
others quickly followed suit Sam felt
that these quarters were a bit cramped,
so leaving the fruit cake for the dogs
he squirmed his way out and slammed
both doors shut. The windows were
open only enough to allow air to circu-
late.

Thus Sam was left free to concentrate
on the job at hand— which was mere
routine from here on. He had to work
fast before the dogs started howling
again. Retrieving his keister he quickly

made his way to tire rear of the house. .

CAM always liked to work on the

second-story windows because he
knew people seldom locked them, think-
ing the height made entry impossible.
Before proceeding any farther Sam
slipped on his gloves. He was too hep
to leave any calling cards behind.
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With his keister strapped to his back,
Sam nimbly shinnied up the drain pipe
and onto the porch-roof. Burglars hate
unnecessary noise, and Sam was grate-
ful for the thoughtlessness of the owner
when the first window he tried was un-
locked; in a moment he was inside a
luxuriously furnished bedroom. It was
amazing, thought Sam, as he rooted
through dresser drawers, how careless
some people were with their property.
Valuables were strewn haphazardly
throughout the compartments. The
closet disclosed furs and other expen-
sive clothing.

Sam knew that the heavy stuff was
downstairs in the safe. So, after clean-
ing up the light stuff on the upper story,
he hurried below. The safe turned out
to be a can which could be opened
with a “come-along,” or puller—a
special tool used by burglars for pulling
out safe combinations. In a few min-
utes Sam had the combination off. He
inserted a long-handled tool for setting
back the tumblers. In another minute
Sam was cleaning out the interior of the
safe, which turned out to be a hot one
just as the finger had told him.

The dogs were becoming restless and
he could hear them yapping outside in
the car. Very shortly he was outside,
released the dogs and made his getaway.

The loot turned out to be $15,000 in
cracked ice and cash. Sam turned the
ice over to the shifter who sold it at
one-third its value. Deducting ten per-
cent for the finger's end, it left Sam a
tidy sum for his evening’s work.

Sam was later apprehended for this
job when the shifter was nabbed while
transferring some hot stuff, turned
stoolie and fingered Sam.

Moral of this story is: Don’t make
it easy for the burglar. If you leave
your home for any length of time, keep
all the windows locked— especially the
upper-story ones. Place expensive jew-
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elry and other valuables in a safe-de-
posit vault. While watchdogs are okay,
don't rely too much on them; they can
be bribed|

rJ"HE foregoing yarns illustrate how

the big time burglars operate. But
there are many varieties of burglars:
one type being the sneak thieves, who
require only a minute or so while your
back is turned, to lift your purse or
rings which you so carelessly leave on
the table.

Sneak thieves usually operate in pairs.
They ring your doorbell and ask to
come in: some as gas inspectors who
send you downstairs to turn on the hot
water while they help themselves.

In the Southwest, a man appeared at
a back door soon after the children had
been sent to school.

“I'm from the gas company. May I
look over your water heater?”

Because he had on a uniform, the
lady let him in. He began to poke
around the heater. The bell of the front
door rang and she went to speak to a
polite man who said he was looking for
a family named Cooper. He kept her
at the door for a few minutes, thanked
her and left. The gas man was just
wiping his hands. “Everything will be
all right now,” he said.

A few minutes later the woman
looked in her purse which she had left
on the kitchen cabinet and found it
empty. The rings she had put on the
window sill were gone also.

Midnight burglars are silent as cats
and just as agile. They are known as
“cat men” to the police. They shinny
up poles and trellises, and they’re adept
at getting from fire escapes to windows,
often along dizzy ledges. To leave a
ladder in the yard is just asking for
trouble.

No window is too high for them and
even skyscraper windows should be
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kept locked.

The greatest single factor contribut-
ing to the large number of burglaries
committed each day is the negligence
of property owners in locking and safe-
guarding their properties.

“An ounce of prevention is worth
a pound of cure,” is an old adage es-
pecially worthy of consideration today,
with transgressions of the law by juve-
niles on the ascent throughout the na-
tion. With welfare agencies pulling
their hair in an effort to curb the rise,
it would seem logical to try to prevent
some of these crimes by preventive
measures, such as the one | read in a
local newspaper a couple of months ago.

Seven boys burglarized the home of a
well-to-do Die and Tool company owner
in a large city of the Central States.

The boys, all of juvenile age, entered
the house through a basement window
which was supposed to be locked. No
one being home, the boys took their
time and ripped the wall safe from the
wall and hauled to a nearby field in a
car they had another boy help them
steal; giving him $1.50 for his share of
the loot. Disposing of the car, they
took a pickaxe and bursted open the
safe, which contained $28,000 an in-
credible amount to leave in a cheap wall
safe. Evidently this was more money
than the boys knew what to do with, so
they left half of it in the owner’s garage,
only to return for it later.

One of the youths, picked up in an-
other state with only $585.00 on him,
told police he had spent nearly $6,000
in less than a month. He said he spent
over $500.00 for War Bonds and the
rest buying clothes, guns, and showing
the girls a good time.

Another one of the boys, when picked
up, said he gave a taxi driver $47.50
tip on a $2.50 trip.

The boy who received only $1.50 for
helping steal the car, was sentenced to
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a boys’ farm, while the others were un-
der sentence at the Boys’ Industrial
School.

J HAVE lived and associated with
burglars for over a decade and |
hope my article has served the purpose
of acquainting the public with the
various methods used by burglars im
gaining entrance into establishments
and how they dispose of the loot, etc.

It is said that an army of 500,000
criminals is at large in the United
States today. They commit 1,000,000
crimes each year which costs the nation
billions of dollars. The Department of
Justice reports that a serious crime is
committed in the United States every
twenty-one seconds of each hour every
day of the year. A burglary takes place
every one and two-thirds minutes, the
average loot being worth $59.19.

This year, figures on crime are in-
creasing tremendously.

Almost every large city has its law-
breakers. Who's to blame? Some per-
sons blame press publicity. They be-
lieve that newspapers and magazines

QUISLING

CCORDING to Chester A. Bowles, Admini-
A strator of OPA, the distribution of counter-
m feit and stolen gasoline rations coupons
has become one of the most profitable rackets in
America. A man can carry as much pay-cargo
in a satchel as the prohibition era gangs could
transport in several trucks. OPA has set up a
special machinery to deal with this racket, includ-
ing enforcement officers organized with the advice
of the U.S. Secret Service and backed with all the
resources of that agency. However, the flow of
gasoline into the black market cannot be con-
trolled effectively without the full cooperation of
the American motorist. “The simple fact,” Mr.
Bowles says, “is that there would be no black
market in gasoline if every motorist bought gas-
oline only with coupons issued to him by bis ration
board, and if he endorsed his coupons as soon as
the board issued them.”
Gasoline is vitally needed not only for military
operations aboard which day by day are increas-
ing in magnitude, but also for farm tractors and
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should play down stories and pictures
that deal with crime. Each new story,
they say, leads others to follow suit.
Radio and movies, too, have come in for
their share of criticism. Lurid films and
exciting radio dramas have influenced
impressionable young minds, critics
claim.

These charges, sociologists reply, are
only partially true. Press, radio and
films may be responsible in some in-
stances, but their sin is slight compared
to the guilt of irresponsible parents, bad
companions, poor housing, lack of
proper school training and unusual war-
time conditions.

I have known convicted criminals
of all types for years and have yet to
find one who blames his start in crime
on a movie he saw or a magazine he
read. In almost every case its the same
old story: disunity in the home which
drives the boy out on the streets where
he unites with others in the same plight.
Then come a series of petty thefts, in-
creasing in seriousness until ultimately
the boy ends up in a penitentiary. |
know, for | started the same way.

RACKET

other war-essential transportation needs without
which our fighting forces would be hamstrung. In
this connection, an extract from a recent broadcast
by Mr. Bowles is of interest, or should be, to
every American.

“Earlier today, | was asked a rather startling
question: ‘Have you any evidence that the coun-
terfeiting and sale of ration stamps and coupons
is being carried on in this country by German
agents?’ To that question | can only answer this.
Our enemies know only too well how much ac-
tivity might confuse and demoralize our people. A
long list of German works on psychological war-
fare, such as Colonel Blau’s famous secret prop-
aganda textbook, makes this only too clear. So
does the German shortwave radio which often
urges and instructs Americans on how to beat
the rationing and price control laws. Draw your
own conclusions. | can only say that an American
who buys any coupons, counterfeit or legitimate,
may very well ask himself, ‘Am | by this act
giving direct aid to our enemies?’”—C. S. Rice
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LADY IN BLACK

By VINCENT AAGAABD

though almost any other male in

the country would have glady
traded places with him at the moment.
Corbin was dunking screenland’s num-
ber one glamour gal, the gorgeous de-
lovely Laura Lee in a tub of icy water.
And, strangely enough, the lady in
question did not object to this ungodly
procedure. Not right away, anyhow.
She was very nicely swacked, com-
pletely blotto, and had been on the point
of passing out before Corbin resorted
to this drastic treatment in an effort to
shock her out of it.

Laura Lee was a natural redhead
with hair that glowed like polished ma-
hogany. She was a mixture of angel
and devil, and the devil peeked out of
her eyes— when they were able to focus.
She possessed everything necessary to
give her sex appeal in colossal quanti-
ties and even now, when there was no
inner spark to make it glow, Corbin
felt the attraction that made her tops
as a box-office draw all over the coun-

J ACK CORBIN was not having fun,
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try. He had known her for years,
when her name was Gertrude Stumpf
and before she had clicked in pictures
and been sky-rocketed to stardom.

He knew that ordinarily she did not
drink to excess, but now she had been
hitting the bottle steadily for a week,
ever since a rising young leading man,
Don Galbraith has been found dead in
his garage from breathing exhaust
fumes. She and Galbraith had been
building up a romance that looked
serious, and Laura was taking his death
hard.

She came suddenly to life in the tub.
She jerked up straight and let out a
blood-curdling yell. With a heaving
splash she surged up out of the tub and
landed on her feet on the tile floor,
splattering water all over Corbin and
the carrara-glass bathroom. She be-
gan to dance up and down, cursing
him.

“Damn you, Jack Corbinl1” she
yelled and stopped dancing. Instead
she just shivered and shook, standing

She wad beautiful
anyway, but Smnk
and Soaked to the
shut in Uud oledct
well you, knyot alout
Such U tinyiaSmu/idefi,
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there with water streaming off her to
form a lake on the tiles.

Corbin gulped; he couldn’t help it.
The immersion caused the satin of her
dinner gown to cling like wet tissue
paper, molding every curve of her
shapely body. He was gazing on the
female form divine and no fooling.

“Weill” she got out through chat-
tering teeth. “Don’t just stand there.
Do something. 1I'm freezing.”

He jumped, noticing that goose
pimples had popped out all over the
wet alabaster of her skin and that her
lips were actually turning blue. He
grabbed up a towel the size of a
blanket, slung it around her and
growled:

“This would be your maid’s night
off. Here. Peel off those duds and
give yourself a rubdown.”

/"X)RBIN was Laura Lee’s business

manager— had been Galbraith’s
too — which meant he practically
played nursemaid to her, straightening
out all her grief, like this now. He did
it for others too. He was the John
Corbin, money manager for the stars,
personal budgeteer for half the big
shots in Hollywood. They turned
their pay checks over to him and he
budgeted their money, paid all bills
and taxes, and doled out a small amount
weekly for personal expenses. That was
as far as his service was supposed to
go, but it always went farther. He
was friend and personal adviser, and
the first one they telephoned when
they got into any kind of a jam.

“What a dirty trick to play on a lady
when she isn’'t looking!” Laura said, a
smile sparkling in, her eyes and rip-
pling her generous mouth.

She seemed entirely sober now; no
hangover yet and her eyes weren’t
even bloodshot. Exhilarated by her
ducking, 6he was a vision wrapped in a
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towel and the dampness of her hair
released a perfume that went to his
head. Drawn irresistibly, Corbin
gripped her shoulders, leaned to Kiss
her— and a voice from the next room
spoiled the moment.

The voice said, “Here’s the coffee.
How’s she coming?”

The voice belonged to Bob LeFever.
He was Laura’s agent and he took a per-
sonal as well as a financial interest in
her, and had been actively consoling her
since Don Galbraith’s death. It was
he who had called Corbin to help
straighten her out, knowing the two
were old friends and that Corbin had
a way with drunks and ladies.

“Okay,” Corbin grumbled, releasing
Laura and swinging to the door. He
said, “Snap it up, Gertrude,” over his
shoulder and went out into the master
bedroom of the new Lee domicile.

LeFever was setting a tray on a
stand beside the bed. He was a little
guy with shiny black hair and a smooth
olive face. He looked clean and imma-
culate and had a flair for expensive,
conservative clothes. He was big time.
He made money and he spent it.

“How is she?” he asked, straighten-
ing up.

“She’ll do,” Corbin muttered and
leaned against the wall with hands
sunk in his pockets. His freckled, pleas-
antly homely face was set in dour lines
now and looked almost petulant. There
was a steaming pot of coffee, a cup and
saucer, on the tray. LeFever had been
down in the kitchen brewing the java
and Corbin was griped because he'd
come back just when he did.

When Laura Lee walked out of the
bathroom wrapped in another towel,
LeFever blinked surprised dark eyes
and whistled.

“Hiya, Bobby,” she greeted him,
waving a casual hand.

“Holy jumped-up Moses, what a
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quick comeback!l” He looked admir-
ingly at Corbin. “l've got to hand it
to you, boy. You know how to bring
'em out of it. What'd you do to her?”

“What didn’'t he do to me?” Laura
said and Corbin grunted, shoving her
toward the four-poster.

“Get in there, Lady Trouble. And
don’t get out till morning. You're all
through this little binge.”

She tumbled obediently into bed,
snuggling under the covers, and
LeFever slid the tray onto her lap.

“There you are, kiddo. Drink that,
hot and black.”

He poured the cup full and, smiling
at him, she lifted it and tested the heat
with a sip while Corbin scowled at
them. LeFever waggled an admonish-
ing finger at her, lectured:

“Listen: I've got to tear along; I
have an appointment early in the morn-
ing and | need shut-eye. But you lay
off the bottle and get straightened out,
darling. They start shooting on your
next picture in three days. |If you
aren’t ready they just might not pick
up your option, and it’s almost option
time.”

“I'll be ready, Bobby,” she promised,
murmuring into her coffee.

“Okay. Take care of her, will you,
Jack?”

“Yeah,” Corbin said and watched
LeFever leave the room, heard him go
along the hall and start down the stairs.
The house was two-storied but not
overly large, a modest New England
Colonial shack.

Laura crooked a finger at him. “Come
here, Jack.”

I|_TE CAME to the edge of the bed
A A and she pulled him down to a sit-
ting position. “I'm sorry 1've been
such a stinker, Jack,” she told him
wistfully.

“Sure, baby, | understand.” His face
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began to relax in a smile, but before he
could say anything else a telephone
bell rang. Laura indicated the tele-
phone on a near table with her eyes
and he got it, lifted the receiver. “Yes?”

“Jack? That you, Corbin? | called
your secretary and she said you might
be at Laura Lee’s house. This is Cleve
Tuttle.”

Tuttle had been Don Galbraith’s pal;
they had lived together and he had
acted as the leading man’s stand-in.
Interest sparked in Corbin’s brain.

“Yes. What is it?”
“Listen! | wantyou to come out and
see me. |I’'ve found something: a letter

Don left hidden in my things and ad-
dressed to me. | just found it and it's
marked ‘Not to be opened while | live.’
In it he tells that his life was threatened
and he tells who did it and why. This
is almost proof that he was murdered—
get it? But | want to talk to you about
it before calling the police. You’ll know
how to handle it better than | do.”

“What? Who does he say----- ?”

“l don’t want to name any names
over the phone.” Tuttle’s voice was
tense with suppressed excitement. “I
might be overheard. Besides, | want
to be sure I'm right. But you’'ll be
bowled over when you learn------ "

“I'll be right out,” Corbin said.
your place, huh?”

“Check,” Tuttle replied and Corbin
slowly cradled the receiver.

He had never been satisfied that Gal-
braith’s death was accidental, the ver-
dict the coroner’s jury had returned.
Galbraith had been found behind the
wheel of his car and the ignition was
still switched on, the gas tank empty.
The garage doors were closed, which
made it look funny, but a post mortem
had disclosed enough alcohol in his
brain to make him thoroughly intoxi-
cated. The jury figured Galbraith had
been too cockeyed to know what he was

“At
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doing, that he had come home that night
or in the early hours of the morning,
driven into the garage and closed the
doors, got back in behind the wheel with
the motor running and gone to sleep.
Monoxide gas from the exhaust had
done the rest. They passed over the
contusion on his forehead on the as-
sumption it had been caused by his
head falling against the steering wheel.

Corbin looked at Laura and instantly
knew she had heard most, at least, of
what Tuttle had said over the phone.
Her face was strained and her lips be-
gan to work. She choked out:

“It’s about Don!”

Staring at him, an unnatural bright-
ness shimmered into her eyes. He
moved back to the bed and gripped her
arm.

“No,” he lied soothingly.
ing, kid. Nothing . .

Her chin quivered and two big tears
spilled out of her eyes, dropping to the
counterpane. She wept quietly, with-
out sound or motion. Corbin had to
spend quite a little time comforting her
before he could get away.

“1t’s noth-

T EAVING the house finally, he

pointed the nose of his Packard to-
ward the beach and lead-footed the ac-
celerator. The convertible made a blue-
gray streak through the night, shooting
out Wilshire from Beverly Hills. Cor-
bin was in a tearing hurry, and when-
ever you're in that much of a hurry
something is sure to happen. It hap-
pened to him.

His left rear tire picked up a nail or
something and went flat. He was about
halfway to the beach then and on a
lonely stretch of road. He got out,
~cursing himself and his luck. He al-
ways remembered in times like this that
he'd been bom on a pool table in Reno,
and it seemed he’d been behind the eight
ball ever since.
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Changing to the spare took him fif-
teen minutes or so, and then he was on
his way again. Cleve Tuttle still lived
in the bachelor quarters he had shared
with Galbraith, a miniature castle
perched on the side of the palisades
north of Santa Monica. You had to
climb a winding, torturous road from
the beach level below to reach it.

Corbin was zooming up this road in
second gear when headlights shot out
of a curve ahead of him. A car going
like a bat out of hell rushed down at
him and for one tight second it looked
like a head-on collision. The other
car’s brakes wailed and it swayed, head-
light glare momentarily blinding Corbin
as he veered over to the right edge of
the paving.

Then the car was whistling past him
and his lights picked up an instantane-
ous flash of the driver. Itwas a woman
in black, veiled, and he got the impres-
sion she looked like Laura Lee. That
was crazy of course, because he'd left
her home in bed.

He cursed the woman driver, who-
ever she was, then dismissed her from
his mind and gunned the motor again.
In front of Tuttle’s place he pulled up
behind a parked small coupe, cut lights
and ignition, jack-knifed out and looked
up the long flight of stone steps to the
house. The front door was open and
a shaft of bright light poured out of it.
He started up the steps.

When he got halfway up them a girl
suddenly appeared in the doorway. She
was a tiny girl with smooth blue-black
hair and an exquisitely voluptuous fig-
ure, the contours of which showed
through a flame-colored evening gown,
silhouetted by the bright inner light.

But Corbin didn't pay much atten-
tion right then to that interesting sil-
houette. His attention was caught by
the wicked glitter of a little gun in her
right hand; in her left she clutched a
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piece of white paper. She was as sur-
prised as he and they both stood mo-
tionless for a tense moment. Then he
said, “Hey! Don’t point that thing at
mel”

Her face was in shadow and he
couldn’t see the expression on it, but a
sort of shudder jerked her body and the
little gun in her hand began to spit at
him. A slug went phhtl past Corbin’s
ear and he- yelped and dived for the
shrubbery alongside the steps. Not in
the habit of packing artillery, he was
unarmed.

Lead whistled after him, peppering
the underbruth as he burrowed through
it. Then he heard heels clicking a fast
tattoo down the steps. When he stood
up and fought his way out of the shrubs
so he could see, the biddy with the
heater was in the coupe down below
and had got it started rolling downhill.

Corbin whistled with relief and
swabbed the sweat off his brow. He
went cautiously and slowly on up to the
front door and peeked inside. The long
low-ceilinged living room was uninhabi-
ted. He slid in, then saw an open door
—and a pair of legs stretched out on
the rug beyondit.

T _TE FELT suddenly weak and empty

and something in the pit of his
stomach began churning over and over.
He knew whom those legs belonged to
even before he crossed the room to the
open doorway. Standing there, look-
ing down, Corbin swore in a harsh
whisper.

Cleve Tuttle lay face down on the
floor of a bedroom. He had been shot
in the back twice. There wasn’t much
blood but he was just as dead as if
there had been.

Corbin, thinking of the letter Tuttle
had told him about over the phone,
knelt and began reluctantly to search
the dead man’s clothes for it. He didn't
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expect to find it and he didn’'t. He re-
membered the piece of paper the im-
pulsive gal with the gun had clutched
in one hand. He had a hunch who the
babe was and, when in a further half-
hearted search of the room he discov-
ered a jeweled Spanish comb on the
floor behind the door, he was certain.

Nita Vasquez: a hot tamale in any
language, and hers happened to be
Mexican. A featured player in pic-
tures, she’d been on the make for Don
Galbraith who had given her the go-by
for Laura Lee. Corbin thought of the
old saw about the fury of a woman
scorned. And the Vasquez biddy was
full of the old hot Spanish Wood. She
was passionate and emotional, a spit-
fire. Hell, she could easily have plotted
Don Galbraith’s death in revenge for
his having spurned her. She’d hate him
for that. And she had killed Tuttle
too, to get the letter that would incrimi-
nate her in Galbraith’s death.

This was a matter for the police.
Corbin strode out into the living room
and spotted the telephone. He dialed
operator before noticing there was no

power hum. The line was dead. It had
been cut somewhere outside.
He swore, then an idea hit him.

From a shelf under the telephone he
fished out a leather-bound directory of
confidential unlisted numbers belonging
to prominent picture players and offi-
cials in the industry, flipped the pages
to the Vs. Nita Vasquez was entered
with an address at Malibu.

Malibu wasn’t many miles away, and
the important thing was to get that let-
ter if possible before Nita destroyed it.
The cops could wait. Corbin recalled
she had emptied her gun at him, and he
thought he could handle her if she didn’t
have any other artillery concealed on
her person. He decided to take a
chance and was on his way. Dousing
the lights and closing the front door, he
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took the steps down to his car two at
a time.

ripHE Vasquez shack was a low bun-

galow facing a smooth sandy beach
that sloped down to be caressed by roll-
ing ocean breakers. The house was in
darkness when Corbin approached it
after leaving his car back on the high-
way. He soft-footed up to the front
door, tried it. Locked.

The back entrance proved to be se-
cured also, but it was a warm night and
he found a window open at the side. He
got out a penknife, sending a look down
the beach before using it on the screen.
Three houses away a midnight bathing
party was sending shrill screams of
laughter into the night, and in the light
cast from the windows he caught the
white flash of figures running for the
water. But they were intent on their
play and no one had noticed him. Rip-
ping open the screen, he thrust a hand
inside and found the catch, and in a
moment was standing within. A de-
liciously intimate scent engulfed him
and he guessed he had entered a bed-
room.

Then, above the sounds of the beach
party, he heard the purr of an approach-
ing motor along the road from the high-
way, saw the jouncing glare of head-
lights as they flashed past the window.
The car was pulling up outside.

Corbin’s nerves tightened and he
stayed put, beside the window, listen-
ing. A key made clicking sounds at
the front door. Somebody entered,
closed the door and switched on lights
in the living room. The light filtered
back here through an open doorway,
showing Corbin the bedroom he was in.

There was movement in the front
room, the clink of glass against glass.
Corbin moved to the bedroom door,
peered across a hallway and through
another door into a living room fur-
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nished in modern rattan, Hawaiian
style. Nita Vasquez was standing in
the middle of the room in her flame-
colored evening gown. She had a drink
in one hand which she downed in a gulp,
and in a flare of emotion threw the
empty glass at the divan.

Then she began to pace back and
forth like a little jungle cat, glaring at
the piece of paper she held in one hand.
Her eyes had a hot flashing brightness
and the turbulence of her breathing
stirred her breasts, flared her nostrils.

Corbin could see her tjag and white
fur evening wrap which she had dropped
on one end of the divan, but the gun
wasn't there, and she did not have it in
her hand now either. The only thing
she had in her hands was that piece of
paper, which he was sure was the letter
Tuttle had phoned him about. He
slipped out into the hall and waited till
she approached the doorway. When
she turned on her heel away from it he
stepped out and said:

“Hold it, Nita.”

She jumped and whirled to face him.
He grabbed her and she was suddenly
a fighting, clawing fury in his arms.
But he clamped her to him, smothered
her in his embrace, pinning her arms
down to her sides. She spat out inco-
herent Spanish oaths at him, climaxing
them with:

“Let me go, you—you peeg! You
sonofadog!” Then her eyes widened
and her struggles gradually subsided
as she stared up into his face. “You—
you are Jack Corbin!”

“Right, baby,” Corbin admitted. He
was famous in his own way among the
celebrities of pictureville. “And I'm
turning you in to the cops for knocking
off Cleve Tuttle and Don Galbraith.
How do you like them grapenuts?”

“No! I—1 deed not do it.
no!”

“Don’t jive me, Nita. If you didn’t

No—
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do it, why’d you snipe at me when you
came out of Tuttle’s place? If | hadn’t
taken a dive when | did, 1I'd be with
Tuttle and Galbraith now.”

“1 deed not know it was you. | deed
not know what I was doing. All I could
think of was to get away from there.”

“Yeah?” he said skeptically. “Let
me see that letter.”

" | 'HE letter had fallen to the floor.

Pushing her away, but watching her
closely, he stooped and picked it up.
He saw at once that he held only the
upper portion of the note. The bottom
part was missing, had been torn away.
Quickly he read the lines of inked script
on the crumpled piece he held.

Dear Cleve,

If you read this | will be dead.
My life has been threatened and 1
don’'t know whether to take the
threats seriously or not. But I
am writing this to make sure my
murderer win be brought to justice
m ease any of the threats are car-
ried out.

It has been my fortune, or mis-
fortune, to become embroiled in a
couple of love affairs since | be-
came a “discovery” in this dizzy
cinema world. But you know and
I know that I never did and do not
plan to ever marry anyone. But
it seems a guy in the public eye
can't play around without getting
involved rather deeply and having
to face some pretty serious (threat-
ened) consequences. However, no
matter what the consequences, my
career still comes first.

If I am found dead under mys-
terous or questionable circum-
stances, look for
threatened my life b

Corbin looked up. “Where’s the rest
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of this?”
Nita was standing still, staring at
him with her dark glowing eyes. “She

— she has eet. The senorita who keel
Cleve.”
“Yeah?” Corbin made his voice

rough. “What senorita?”

“l do not know. | go to see Cleve
tonight and he tell me he 'ave a visitor
coming, that I should not 'ave come.
Then someone she drive up outside and
he send me into bedroom, tell me to

stay there. Then thees senorita, she
comes in. | hear her ask heem for a
letter. She ’ave a throaty, deep voice.

And | peek out. She is dressed all in
black with a veil and | cannot tell who
eet ees, but she 'ave a gun and she is
point it at Cleve and he is handing her
thees note— thees paper. She take it
weeth one hand, but he does not let go
thees part, and very queek he hit her,
whirl and jump for the door where I
am. The paper tears in two pieces. He
'ave one and she ’'ave one, as she falls
down. But on the floor she shoot t'ree
times and Cleve fall forward through
door. | slam the door and lock heem
queeck. I am very frightened, but I
find gun in the table drawer by the bed,
and | shoot through the door as she
tries to open it. | shoot some more and
I scream, and she become frighten and
run away.”

N L L this was told in a swift rush of

words, with gestures, and Nita’s
eyes were shining with excitement.
“Then | see Cleve is dead and | take
the paper in his hand, but I no can
make die sense from it. Pretty soon I
open the door and creep out to the next
room. The front door is open. | go out
and then you are coming up. I am much
frightened still, so | shoot at you and
run away. | did not know where to go,
what to do. | drove around for a while

(Continued on page 262)



258 MAMMOTH DETECTIVE

Acting in cooperation witK .the Federal Bureau ol
Investigation, Mammoth Detective presents the
following line-up of wanted';'criifii*als. If you have
a clue that might result 'ihVthejr*apture, notify
your local FBI office or MammothDetective at once.



WANTED
MAURICE DENNING, with mUm;; C.
BUSH. MAUBICE DEEMING. U® DKN-
NINQ. LEO DENNING. HEON DKNNINQ.
M. DENNING. MORRIS DENNING, —
IS ’
DESCRIPTION
Age, 36 years, born March 21. 1907; Hough-

ton.” Lee County, lowa; Height, 5 feet,” 6
inches; Weight. 145 pounds; Eyes, blue; Hair,
light brown; Cum_plexion,_ruqu/; Build, me-
ium; Race, white: Nationalify, American;
Occupation, salesman, farmer; ~Peculiarities,
possesses likeable disposition, dresses neatly.

CRIMINAL RECORD

Maurice Denning has been arrested
convicted three times in lowa.

An indictment was returned by a Federal
Grand Jury at Lincoln. Nebraska, December
14. 1934, “charging suhjeet and others with
robbery of the Security National Bank, Supe-

and

rior, Nebraska on November 22, 1934. He Is
also wanted for numerous other bank rob-
beries.

WANTED

ALLAN EBAMER

IMPERSONATION

DESCRIPTION

Age, 41 years, date and place of birth not
Known; Height, 5 feet, 7 inches: Weight, 160
pounds; Eyes, blue-gray; Hair, dark brown,
wavy, thin on top, gray at temples; Com-
plexion. ruddy; Build, medium; Race, white
(Jewish); Nationality, American; Occupation,
confidence man; Scars and marks, several
teeth missing right upper jaw, several lower
teeth chipped; ~ Peculiarities, ahort pudgy
hands, persuasive, manner, convincing talker
with slight Southern accent but uses poor
grammar, complains of backache, usually
wears small mustache, sometimes wears rim-

less glasses, usually wears sweaters, borrows
money on various pretexts representing him-
self as member ef wealthy family, good duck-

pin bowler.

RELATIVES

(none known)

CRIMINAL RECORD

(none known)

An Indictment in four counts was returned b

falsely assuming and pretendin
An’indictment wa*s returned

MAMMOTH DETECTIVE

U. S. Government.

WANTED

BROADDS BAILEY MfOTRBY. with tliaMt:
BROADDUS McCURRY. B . cCCRBY.
PETE McCUBRY. "PETE."

FEDERAL RESERVE
ACT

DESCRIPTION

Age. 34 years, born May 18, 1909, Coryell
County, Texas; Height, 5 feet. 7 inches;
Weight, 135 pounds; Eyes, brown: Hair,
brown, slightle/ wavy; Complexion, dark, sal-
low; Build, slender;” Race, white; Nationality.
American: Education, high school; Occupa-
tion, bans teller: Scare and marks, % inch
indistinct scar on forehead, appendectomy
scar: Peculiarities, enthusiastic baseball and
foothall fan.

CRIMINAL RECORD
(none known)

An indictment was returned by a Federal
Grand Jury at El Paso, Texas, January 5,
1943, charging subject with a violation of
the Federal Reserve Act In that he did on or
about February 10, 1940, wilfully, unlawfully,
and with intent to defraud, embezzle and
convert to his own use certain_monies of the
First State Bank, Monahans. Texas.

a Federal Grand Jury at Boston, Massachusetts, on March 1. 1940. charg-
ing subject as Allan Kramer with violation of the Federal Impersonation Statute in that he did.
15, and 16. L940, at Boston, Massachusetts, unlawfully and with
to be an officer of the

a Federal Grand Jury at Shelby, North Carolina, on March 18, 1941, charging subject as

on or about February 13,

intent to defraud, obtain certain services and money hr

Allan Kramer with violation of the Federal Impersonation Statute”in that he did, between February 26. 1940." and April 16,
1940, at Charlotte* North Carolina, unlawfully and with intent to defraud, obtain certain money "hy falsely a&gunrfh* and

pretending to be an officer of the U. S.

Government,
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WANTED
LEE WELLINGTON OSBORNE, with aliases:
LEE HUDSON, L. W. OSBORN. LEE OS-
BORN. L. W. OSBOBNB, LEE OSBORNE.
LEE W. OSBORNE, LEO OSBORNE. LEON-
ARD STRONG. LEE OSBORNE WELLING-

UNLAWFUL FLIGHT
TO AVOID
PROSECUTION

(BURGLARY)
DESCRIPTION

Age, 48 years (born January' 21. 1899. San
Jose, California); Height, 5 feet. 8 inches;

Weight. 1G0 pounds; Eyes, graBy-bmwn; Hair,
brown; Complexion, medium; Bu

ild, medium;

Race, white; Nationality. American; Educa-
tion, third grade; Occupation, painter; Scars
and marks, cut scar rear scalp, cut scar right

chin, vaccination scar upper left arm,

scars left breast, scar left hip. scar back left

shoulder.

CRIMINAL RECORD
. " No. 28420. arrested Police Department. San Francisco. California. September 22. 1918; charge, grand lar-

ceny; disposition, indeterminate sentence, escag)ed January 12. .

_As L.IW, %sborne, No. 712, arrested Sheriff's Office. Redwood City. California. February 9, 1928; charge, bigamy; dispo-
sition, 1 to ears.

As Lee WeIIinygton Osborne, No. 44956, received State Penitentiary. San Quentin, California, February 28, 1928; crime,
bigam{; sentence, | to 10 years, paroled April 24, 1930, discharged from parole April 4. 1931.

As Lee Wellington Osborne, No. 2006, arrested Police Department, Berkeley. California, December 16, 1931; charge, out-

o . . " . . Piedmont, California, December 16, 1931; charge, in*
testigation. burglajy; disposition, released to Sheriff’s Office, ,-wuouu, v~uxmma.

As Lee Wellington Osborne, No. 16T24, arrested Sheriff’s Office, Oakland, California, January 2, 1932; charge, burglary;
ms}yoerltlon, 1 to 5 years. ) . ) . .

s Lee Wellington Osborne, No. 17668, received Folsom Prison, Repress, Califomit, February 27, 1932; crime, burglary;
sentence, 1 to 5 years, paroled March 35.

_*As Lee Osborne, No. 28420, arrested Police Department. San Francisco, California. November 7, 1935; charge, posses-
sion firearms; disposition, parole revoked, sentenced 1 to 5 years concurrent with unexpired term.

As Lee Osborne, No. 20362, received Folsom Prison, Repress, California, May 19, 1936; crime, possession firearms, parole
violation; sentence. 1 to 5 years concurrent with unexpired term, transferred to Highway Camp No. 32, October 1, 1938, dis-
charged July 24. 1939.

As Lee Osborne, No. 64. arrested Police Department, North Platte, Nebraska. May 9. 1940; charge, investigation, short-
change; disposition, released on bond, forfeited.

_ An indictment was returned by a Federal Grand Jury at San Francisco, California, on October 29. 1941, charging sub-

ject as Lee Osborne with a violation of the unlawful Flight to Avoid Prosecution Statute in_that he did on or about May

11, 1940, unlawfully travel in interstate commerce from San Francisco. California, to North Platte. Nebraska, to avoid pros-
tiglary, said crime having been committed at San Francisco, California, on the night of April 13, 1940.
notation unsupported by fingerprints.

WANTED
with aliases; CORNELIUS
UArCLPE BROWN,

NATIONALMOTOR

VEHICLE THEFT ACT

DESCRIPTION

Age. 24 years, bom June 5. 1918. Cincin-
nati. Ohio; Height, 5 feet, 10 inches; Weight,
192 pounds; Eye*, light gray; Hair, brown;
Complexion, fair; Build, medium, muscular;
Race, white; Nationality, American; Occupa-
tion, painter, laborer; Scars and marks, tat-
too, heart and word "Bud” inner right fore-
arm; tattoo, "C.L." upper right arm; tattoo,
"M.R.” inner left forearm; “soar first Joint
right thumb; Peculiarities, has been confined
as feeble minded, heavy drinker, frequents
poolrooms.

CRIMINAL RECORD

*As Cornelius Clyde Brown, No....... ar-
rested Juvenile authorities, Cincinnati, Ohio,
July 8, 1927; charge, Juvenile delinquency;
disposition, confined Glenview Boys School,
Glendale. Ohio, -------- ! . o . X
*As Comelilus Brown. No. 21958, arrested Pelice Department, Cincinnati, Ohio, November 9. 1930; charge, assault and
battery, '  die delinquent, escape; disposition, returned Glenview Boys School, Glendale, Ohio, November 20, 1930, escaped,
«AS i Brown. No. 8515, arrested Police Department, .Cincinnatj,. Qhip, May 8, 1931; charge, juvenile delinquency,
escape;(ﬂ‘_lspo_smm—remrned Glenview Boys school, Glendale, ORio, refeased March 7, 1933. X .
*As Cornelius Brown. No. 6488, arrested Police Department, Cincinnati, Ohio. April 27, 1933; charge. Juvenile delin-
quency; disposition, indefinite probation. . o . . .
_lgAs CIIy e c‘Brown‘ No. 2370, arrested Police Department, Cincinnati, Ohio. February 12, 1935; charge, auto theft; dispo-
sition, released.
*«As Clyde Bream, No. 1205, arrested Police Department, Cincinnati, Ohio. July 22. 1935; charge. Juvenile delinquency;
dis/gosilion, committed to Institution for Feeble-Minded, Columbus, Ohio, July 25, 1035, escaped. . .
s Clyde Brown. No. 10165, arrested Police Department, Kent. Ohio, December 20, 1935; charge, escape; disposition, re-
turned to Institution for Feeble-Minded. Columbus, Ohio, escaped. o . .
*As Cornelius Clyde Brown, No. 20752, arrested Police Department, Cincinnati, Ohio, August 1, 1936; charge, escape;
di?osition, returned to Institution for Feeble-Minded, Columbus, Ohio. i
_s»CIydeIBm\évn, No. 32294, arrested Police Department, Cincinnati, Ohio. September 12, 1936; charge, auto theft; dis-
osition. released.
p_-_As Clyde Brown, No. .....arrested Police Department, Berea, Kentucky, December 4, 1936; charge, auto theft; dispo-
sition, released to U. 8. Marshal, Lexington. Kentucky. . .
‘4 de Brown, No. 195, arrested U. S. Marshal. Lexington, Kentuckh/, December 5, 1936; charge. National Motor Ve-
, Act; disposition, released to Juvenile authorities, Cincinnati. Ohio. . .
d de Brown, No.......... arrested Police Department, Cincinnati, Ohio, July 12, 1937; charge, petty larceny; disposi-
tion, 5 days.
« As Clyde Brown, No. 59294. received Workhouse, Cincinnati, Ohio. July 12, 1937; crime, petty larceny; sentence, 5 days.
* As Clyde Brown, No. 32294, arrested Police Department. Cincinnati, Ohio, November 7, 1938; charge, auto theft; dispo-

T r 11’ -* years.

- — - January 18, 1939; crime, auto theft; sentence,
1940

Grand Juyry at’ Denver, Colorado, charging subject as
o Teft Act _in that he did on or about June 19, 1940, unlawfully
; @ Stolen automobile in interstate commerce from Sandusky, Ohio, to Denver, Colorado, knowing same to have been
* Represents notations unsupported by fingerprints.
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How Increasing Your Vocabulary
Will Help You Get Ahead In Life

. . F YOUB vocabulary is limited, your chances
_VVWTh'S Book Will Do For You I of success are limited. The greatei your

dvocabulary the more likely you are to suc-
cee

The truth of this has been proved time t:nd

ain, by experts who have given thousands f
SCIeI’\tIfIC tests comparing the vocabularies ct
successful executives with run-of-the-mill em-
ployees.

In fact, man?l leading psychologists use vo-
cabulary tests alone to determine a person's in-
telligence. Stanford University has found that
such tests are 90% as accurate in determining
your |meII|gence quotient as the Stanford-Binet

Q.”
AND IN BOTH THE ARMY AND NAVY a
man’s rating in his vocabulary quizzes over-
shadows an){ other single test in deciding his

Dr. Wilfred Funk

is the well-known
author and_ lexi-
cographer, Jor 16
){ﬁarsfPresmen& of
€ ramous aiC-  zdvanceme
}lonaryf E ml?k'” Regardless of the field of endeavor in which
VI\Irm of ““” ﬁ” Kou are engaged, the number of words you
”a na 15 MIS now and can use correctly is the most impor-
(l:\lo a DraLUr I tant single measurement by which others judge
Orml?nk eWis, IS your “ability. Therefore, a better command of
tahwe rah tB aﬁ' words will ‘not only help you get ahead faster,
ar?é (%eaceﬁerooosf it will also give you assurance; build your
English self- confldence lend color to your personality;
nglish. increase your popularity.

How to Acquire a Larger Vocabulary
—1In Only 15 Minutes A Dayl

However, the proof that you doubtless already realize the truth of
these statements is indicated by the fact that you have probably
always wanted to incret.se your vocabulary. But, up to now, per-
haps” you have never found a method which would actually make
you eager to do it. That is why you will welcome this announce-
ment of a wonderful new book, “SO Days to a More Powerful Vocab-
ulary,” which really makes it exciting fun— a fascinating game
— to learn new words!

This book is divided into 30 delightful daily chapters. Each
d%/ you spend 15 enjoyable minutes with this book— and it does

R you, and for your vocabulary, the things you will read about
in the 30 little boxes shown here at the left.

"l Like This Book Immensely"

Perhaps the best outline of what this new book will do forhh/ou is
;Uven in an |nlerest|ng review written for the Sprln(r\qllfleld ( aSS)

nion by Mr. A. L. Wood. “This book,” tes ood,
really somethlng n goes ai the business of giving you a better
command of English in something of a novel way. You'll master
not only a number of words, but use them properly, and improve
not only your speech but your thinking.

“The more you know about words, the more you know how to use
and to understand, the better you will get along. For life depends
upon thought; thought must precede action. The clearer our think-
ing, the more effective our acts. We cannot think clearly unless we
think in words.

“1 like this book immensely. In 30 days it really would give
you a more powerful vocabulary. It will give almost anyone a better
understanding of his language, a closer grasp of its infinite variety,
and a greater love for this English language of ours.”

You'll Enjoy Yourself With This Book

As the review you have just read indicates, *“SO Days to a More

Powerful Vocabulary” doés many more

things than merely add words fo your

speaking and writing “toolbox.” It digs

into your present vocabulary, and roots out

the mispronunciations you have been mak-

ing for years. It tells you the intensely

interesting stories behind many of our

words, so that you'll understand them

better, use them more expressively. You

will find scores of tests for checking your-

self— even a whole section that will make a lively parlor game for
your friends!

If you will enjoy yourself with this unique volume for just 15 min-

utes a day and for lust 30 days— you will (as proven by tests) add

“A First Aid to Better Speech”

“This book not only provides practical
ideas for enlarging any vocabulary, but
shows up the short-comings by progressive
tests. The arrangement of the material in
a thirty day course towards ‘a more pow-

more new ~and useful
words to your vocabulary
than the average adult

erful vocabulary’ successfully avoids mak-
ing the exercises monotonous. The authors
show how every day can contribute its
quota.”— Virginia Kirkus, Eminent Lit-
erary Critic.

“Simple, Clearly, Directly Written”

in the

Examine It 5 Days FREE

It costs only a postage stamp to have
this book delivered to you for FREE EX-
AMINATION. No money need be sent now.
“SO Days to a More Powerful Vocabulary”
will be sent to you with the understandlng
that you may keep it for 5 days. If, even

tion Coupon at once. WILFRED FUNK,

acquires in 25 years.

PWILFRED FUNK, In-.. Dept. NG8
354 Fourth Ave., New York 10, N. Y.

Please send me “30 Days to a More Pow-

for 5 days’ EE EX-

“1t makes a strong appeal to the read- a crful Vocabulary”
er's own desire for self-improvement and Itﬂ|sthgvtaof<hoorftferlsm;e/ouyotuhedomgs?T|nfteeilesilrr?é I AMINATION. "If | keep the book 1will T
it stimulates him Step kB/ step to work way to increase your vocabulary you have 1 send you $2 plus actual postage. Otherwise 1
through the exercises. onald L. Clark, ever seen or heard of— then simply return j 1 will return it without further obligation, j
/L\Jssoclate Pli\?fess$r ?(ch”g“Sh Columbia the book to us without the slightest obliga- .
niversity, New York City tion. Otherwise, it is yours to keep for only | Name ]
“Benefits in An Incredibly Short Time” g’gs dollars, plus the few cents actual post- | address ... s |
“Seldom, if ever, does one come across Get into this fascinating book without | City State |
a book of this type whose many pages delay— and out of it you'll get the kind of
fairly bristle with practical knowledge mastery of words that will mean much to | - 1 Check hpre if enclosing $2 WITH this 1
so ‘entertainingly and forcefully pre- you all your life! Mail the Free Examina- 1_I coupon, ‘and we will pay the postage.
| Tne same 5-day return privilege, for full |
A

sented.” — Joseph A. Loewinsohn,
Atlanta Constitution.

Inc., Dept. NG8, 354 Fourth Avenue,
Y

New York 10. N

refund, applies.
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Here is a picture mystery tc test your powers of deduction. All the clues necessary to
make a decision are shown in the picture. Study them carefully. In five minutes you should
have the solution. However, to aid you in deducing the facts, the dead man is George
Preston, a prominent manufacturer. The girl is Marguerite W eatherali, his private secre*
Tory, who discovered the body upon entering his office in the morning, and immediately

celled police. Was Preston murdered, or not? Answer on p. 272. an olg.



